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Public Utilities Commission of Ohio
Docketing Division
180 East Broad Street,

Columbus, Ohio 43215-3793

Re: 2012 Renewal Application for Commerce Enerey. Inc, d/b/a Just Energy
To whom it may concern,

Please see the attached filing for the 2012 renewal of Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy
along with 10 (ten) copies inlcudig all the required exhibits, affidavit and other attachments.

incerely,

/ /
Trent Sluiter

Regulatory Affairs Specialist
905-670-4440 ext. 74278

tsluiter @ justenergy.com

Should you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to contact me directly.
S
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The Public Utilities Commission of Ohio

Case Number- L

RENEWAL APPLICATION FOR RETAIL GENERATION PROVIDERS

AND POWER MARKETERS

Please print or type all required information. Identify all attachments with an exhibit label and
title (Example: Exhibit A-11 Corporate Structure). All attachments should bear the legal name
of the Applicant. Applicants should file completed applications and all related correspondence
with the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, Docketmg D1v1smn 180 East Broad Street,
Columbus, Ohio 43215-3793.

A-2

A-3

This PDF form is designed so that you may input information directly onto the form.
You may also download the form, by saving it to your lecal disk, for later use,

RENEWAL INFORMATION

Applicant intends to be renewed as: (check all that apply)

DRetail Generation Provider OPower Broker
EIPower Marketer O Aggregator

Applicant’s legal name, address, telephone number, PUCQO certificate number, and
web site address

Legal Name Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy

Address 1 Centerpointe Drive, Suite 350, La Palma, CA 90623

PUCQ Certificate # and Date Certified 01-074 8/5/03

Telephone #(905) 670-4440 Web site address (if any)_www.justenergy.com

List name, address, telephone number and we b site address under which Applicant
does business in Ohio

Legal Name_Just Energy
Address Crosswood Center, 100 E. Campus Blvd. #250, Columbus, OH 43235
Telephone #(866) 587-8674 Web site address (if any) www.justenergy.com



http://www.instenergy.com
http://www.iustenergy.com

A-4  List all names under which the applicant does business in North America
Commerce Energy
Just Energy

A-5  Contact person for regulatory or emergency matters

Name Gretchen Fuhr

Tifle Manager, Regulatory Affairs

Business address 6345 Dixie Rd., Suite 200, Mississauga, ON L5T 2E6, Canada
Telephone # (413) 626-9712 Fax # (905) 564-6069

E-mail address (if any) _gfuhr@ustenergy.com

A-6  Contact person for Commission Staff use in investigating customer complaints

Name Vanessa Anesetti

Title _Manager, Corporate and Consumer Relations

Business address_6345 Dixie Rd., Suite 200, Mississauga, ON L5T 2E6, Canada
Telephone # (905) 795-3574 Fax # (905) 564-6069

E-mail address (if any) vanesetti@justenergy.com

A-7  Applicant's address and toll-free number for customer service and complaints

Customer Service address 100 E, Campus Blvd. #250, Columbus, OH 43235
Toll-free Telephone # (866) 587-8674 Fax #_(905) 564-6069
E-mail address (if any) cswest@justenergy.com

A-8  Applicant's federal employer identification number # 33-0769555

A9 Applicant’s form of ownership (check one)

DSole Proprietorship OPartnership
ULimited Liability Partnership (LLP) UlLimited Liability Company (LLC)
K Corporation O Other

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED:

A-10 Exhibit A10 "Principal Officers, Directors & Partners" provide the names, titles,
addresses and telephone numbers of the applicant’s principal officers, directors, partners,

or other similar officials.

A-11 Exhijbit A-11 "Corporate Structure," provide a description of the applicant’s corporate
structure, including a graphical depiction of such structure, and a list of all affiliate and
subsidiary companies that supply retail or wholesale electricity or natural gas to
customers in North America.
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B-3

B4

B-5

MANAGERIAL CAPABILITY AND EXPERIENCE

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED:

Exhibit B-1 “Jurisdictions of Operation,” provide a list of all jurisdictions in which
the applicant or any affiliated interest of the applicant is, at the date of filing the
application, certified, licensed, registered, or otherwise authorized to provide retail or
wholesale electric services.

Exhibit B-2 "Experience & Plans,” provide a description of the applicant’s experience
and plan for contracting with customers, providing contracted services, providing billing
statements, and responding to customer inqguiries and complaints in accordance with
Commission rules adopted pursuant to Section 4928.10 of the Revised Code.

Exhibit B-3 "' Disclosure of Liabilities and Investigations,"” provide a description of all
existing, pending or past rulings, judgments, contingent liabilities, revocation of
authority, regulatory investigations, or any other matter that could adversely impact the
applicant’s financial or operational status or ability to provide the services it is seeking to
be certified to provide.

Disclose whether the applicant, a predecessor of the applicant, or any principal officer of
the applicant have ever been convicted or held liable for fraud or for violation of any
consumer protection or antitrust laws within the past five years.

No O Yes

If yes, provide a separate attachment labeled as Exhibit B4 '"Disclosure of Consumer
Protection Violations” detailing such violation(s) and providing all relevant documents.

Disclose whether the applicant or a predecessor of the applicant has had any certification,
license, or application to provide retail or wholesale electric service denied, curtailed,

suspended, revoked, or cancelled within the past two years.
No dYes

If yes, provide a separate attachment labeled as Exhibit B-5 ''Disclosure of
Certification Denial, Curtailment, Suspension, or Revocation” detailing such
action(s) and providing all relevant documents.

FINANCIAL CAPABILITY AND EXPERIENCE

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LARBREL AS INDICATED:
Exhibit C-1 “Annual Reports,” provide the two most recent Annual Reports to

Shareholders. If applicant does not have annual reports, the applicant should provide
similar information in Exhibit C-1 or indicate that Exhibit C-1 is not applicable and why.



C-2

C3

C4

CS5

C-6

C-7

C-8

Exhibit C2 “SEC Filings,” provide the most recent 10-K/8-K Filings with the SEC. If
applicant does not have such filings, it may submit those of its parent company. If the
applicant does not have such filings, then the applicant may indicate in Exhibit C-2 that
the applicant is not required to file with the SEC and why.

Exhibit C-3 “Financial Statements,” provide copies of the applicant’s two most recent
years of audited financial statements (balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow
statement). If audited financial statements are not available, provide officer certified
financial statements. If the applicant has not been in business long enough fo satisfy this
requirement, it shall file audited or officer certified financial satements covering the life
of the business.

Exhibit C4 “Financial Arrangements,” provide copies of the applicant's financial
arrangements to conduct CRES as a business activity (e.g., guarantiees, bank
commitments, contractual arrangements, credit agreements, efc.,).

Exhibit C-5 “Forecasted Financial Statements,” provide two years of forecasted
financial statements (balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement) for the
applicant’s CRES operation, along with a list of assumptions, and the name, address, e-
mail address, and telephone number of the preparer.

Exhibit C-6 “Credit Rating,” provide a statement disclosing the applicant’s credit rating
as reported by two of the following organizations: Duff & Phelps, Dun and Bradstreet
Information Services, Fitch IBCA, Moody’s Investors Service, Standard & Poors, or a
similar organization. In instances where an applicant does not have its own credit ratings,
it may substitute the credit ratings of a parent or affiliate organization, provided the
applicant submits a statement signed by a principal officer of the applicant’s parent or
affiliate organization that guarantees the obligations of the applicant.

Exhibit C-7 “Credit Report,” provide a copy of the applicant’s credit report from
Experion, Dun and Bradstreet or a similar organization.

Exhibit C-8 “Bankruptcy Information,” provide a list and description of any
reorganizations, protection from creditors or any other form of bankruptcy filings made

by the applicant, a parent or affiliate organization that guarantees the obligations of the
applicant or any officer of the applicant in the current year or within the two most recent
years preceding the application.

Exhibit G9 “Merger Information,” provide a statement describing any dissolution or
merger or acquisition of the applicant within the five most recent years preceding the
application.



D. TECHNICAL CAPABILITY

D-1

D-2

D-4

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED:

Exhibit D-1 “Operations” provide a written description of the operational nature of the
applicant’s business. Please include whether the applicant’s operations include the
generation of power for retail sales, the scheduling of retail power for transmission and
delivery, the provision of retail ancillary services as well as other services used to arrange
for the purchase and delivery of electricity to retail customers.

Exhibit D2 “Operations Expertise,” given the operational nature of the applicant’s
business, provide evidence of the applicant’s experience and technical expertise in
performing such operations.

Exhibit D-3 “Key Technical Personnel,” provide the names, titles, e-mail addresses,
telephone numbers, and the background of key personnel invoived in the operational
aspects of the applicant’s business.

Exhibit D4 “FERC Power Marketer License Number,” provide a statement

disclosing the applicant’s FERC Power Marketer License number. (Power Marketers
only)
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1. The Applicant herein, atfests under penalty of false statement that all statements made in the
application for certification renewal are true and complete and that it will amend its application while
the application is pending if any substantial changes occur regarding the information provided in the
application.

2. The Applicant herein, attests it will timely file an annual report with the Public Utilities Commission
of Ohio of its intrastate gross receipts, gross carnings, and sales of kilowatt-hours of electricity
pursuant o Division (A) of Section 4905.10, Division (A) of Section 4911.18, and Division (F) of
Section 4928.06 of the Revised Code.

3. The Applicant herein, attests that it will timely pay any assessments made pursuant to Sections
4905.10, 4911.18, or Division F of Section 4928.06 of the Revised Code.

4. The Applicant herein, attests that it will comply with all Public Utilities Commission of Ohio rules or
orders as adopted pursuant to Chapter 4928 of the Revised Code.

5. The Applicant herein, attests that it will cooperate fully with the Public Utilities Commission of Ohie,
and its Staff on any wtility matter including the investigation of any consumer complaint regarding any
service offered or provided by the Applicant.

6. The Applicant herein, attests that it will comply with all state and/or federal rules and regulations
concerning consumer protection, the environment, and advertising/promotions.

7. The Applicant herein, attests that it will fully comply with Section 4928.09 of the Revised Code
regarding consent to the jurisdiction of Ohio Courts and the service of process.

8. The Applicant hercin, attests that it will use its best efforts to verify that any entity with whom it has a
contractual relationship to purchase power is in compliance with all applicable licensing requirements
of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio.

9. The Applicant herein, attests that it will cooperate fully with the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio,
the electric distribution companies, the regional transmission entities, and other electric suppliers in the
event of an emergency condition that may jeopardize the safety and reliability of the electric service in
accordance with the emergency plans and other procedures as may be determined appropriate by the
Commission.

10. If applicable to the service(s) the Applicant will provide, the Applicant herein, attests that it will adhere
to the reliabilify standards of (1) the North American Electric Reliability Council (NERC), (2) the
appropriate regional reliability council(s), and (3) the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio. (Only
applicable if pertains to the services the Applicant is offering)



11. The Applicant herein, attests that it will inform the Commission of any material change to the
information supplied in the renewal application within 30 days of such material change, including any
change in contact person for regulatory purposes or contact person for Staff use in investigating
customer complaints,

That the facts above set forth are frue and correct to the best of his/her knowledge, information, and belief and that
hefshe expects said Applicant to be af prove the same at any hearing hereof,
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Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy, CRS # 01-1123
EXHIBIT A-10
PRINCIPAL OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY

Directors

| 6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200
Mississauga, Ontario
L5T 2E6

“Ken Hartwick

James Lewis 5333 Westheimer Rd, Suite 450
Houston, Texas
777056

Deborah Merril 5333 Westheimer Rd, Suite 450
Houston, Texas
777056

Difizers

KenHartwick | Chief Executive Officer | 6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200

Mississauga, Ontario
15T 2E6
James Lewis President and Chief 5333 Westheimer Rd, Suite 450
Operating Officer Houston, Texas
7717056
Beth Summers Chief Financial Officer 6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200
Mississauga, Ontario
15T 2E6
Gord Potter Executive Vice President | 6345 Dixie Road, Suite 2060
— Legal & Regulatory Mississauga, Ontario
Affairs L5T 2E6
Deborah Merril Executive Vice President | 5333 Westheimer Rd, Suite 450
— Commercial Houston, Texas
777056
Blake Lasuzzo Vice President — Supply | 5333 Westheimer Rd, Suite 450
Houston, Texas
777056
Andrew Weiner Senior Vice President and | 100 King Street West, Suite 2630
General Manager — US Toronto, Ontario
Midwest M5X 1E1
Robert Donafdson Corporate Secretary 100 King Street West, Suite 2630
Toronto, Ontario
MS5X 1E1
Jonah Davids Vice President and 6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200
General Counsel Mississauga, Ontario
L5T 2E6




Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy, CRS # (01-1123

EXHIBIT A-11 (b)
CORPORATE STRUCTURE/NAME OF AFFILIATES AND LICENSES

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY

. Business

- baté

Company Name Jurisdiction | Actvity/License. | | I;L“;';ﬁ‘;ﬂ;ﬁ%’f;"bﬁ‘ | Tssued
ype. . R mm/dd/yy

Alberta Energy Savings L.P. Alberta Gas 314219 10/22/2010
Alberta Energy Savings L.P. Alberta Electricity 314218 10/22/2010
Just Energy Alberta L.P. Alberta (Gas 325637 11/3/2010
Just Energy Alberta L.P. Alberta Electricity 325638 11/3/2010
Hudson Energy Canada Corp. Alberta Electric 331458 8/1/2012
Hudson Energy Canada Corp. Alberta Gas 331459 8/1/2012
Just Energy (B.C.) Limited British
Partnership Columbia Gas A-20-10 9/23/2010
Cominerce Energy, Inc. California Electric 1092 8/18/1997
Commerce Energy, Inc. California Gas No license reguirement 8/18/1997
Commerce Energy, Inc. Delaware Electric Order No. 7330 12/19/2007
Commerce Energy, Inc. Georgia Gas GM-30 7/6/2005
Just Energy lllinois Corp. 1llinois Gas Docket 03-0720 12/17/2003
Commerce Energy, Inc, 1llinois Electric Docket 06-0723 1/17/2007
Commerce Energy, Inc. Nlinois Gas Docket (7-0501 10/28/2007
Hudson Energy Services, LLC Ilinois Electric Docket (47-0455 912612007
Just Energy Indiana Corp. Indiana Gas No license requirement
Just Energy Manitoba L.P. Manitoba Gas 552 10/30/2009
Commerce Energy, Inc. Maryland Electric IR-639 71772004
Contmnerce Energy, Inc, Maryland Gas IR-737 6/1/1999
Hudson Energy Services, LLC Maryland Electric IR-1114 10/10/2007
Hudson Energy Services, LLC Maryland Gas IR-1120 1072472007
Just Energy Massachusetis Corp. Massachusetts | Electric CS-069 6/1/2009
Hudson Energy Services, LLC Massachusetts | Electric CS-061 82772010
Hudson Energy Services, LLC Massachusetts | Gas GS5-034 12/10/2007
Commerce Energy, Inc. Michigan Electric U-13203 10/29/2009
Just Energy Michigan Corp. Michigan Gas U-15980 10/29/2009
Commerce Energy, Inc. Nevada Gas G-13 11/30/2006
Commerce Energy, Inc. New Jersey Electric ESL-0046 6/18/2010
Commerce Energy, Inc. New Jersey Gas GSL-0116 3/12/2012




CORPORATE STRUCTURE/NAME OF AFFILIATES AND LICENSES

EXHIBIT A-11 (b)

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC, D/B/A JUST ENERGY

Hudson Energy Services, LLC New Jersey Gas GSL- 0069 1/20/2010
Hudson Energy Services, LLC New Jersey Electric ESL - 0083 1/20/2010
Fulervm Retail Energy New York,
L1LC 1/19/2011
New York Gas Approved ESCO
Fulcrum Retail Energy New York,
LLC /1972011
New York Electric Approved ESCO

Just Energy New York Corp. New York Electricity Approved ESCO 10/27/2008
Just Energy New York Carp. New York Gas Approved ESCO 10/27/2008
Just Energy U.S. Comp New York Electricity FERC - ER10-379 3/3/2010
Commierce Energy, Inc New York Electricity FERC - ER97-4253

3/15/2002

and
Commerce Energy, Inc. New York Electricity Approved ESCO 97712005
Commerce Energy, Inc. New York Gas Approved ESCO 5/18/1999
Hudson Energy Services, LLC New York Gas Approved ESCO 972572002
Hudson Energy Services, LLC New York Electric Approved ESCO 12/16/2002
Commerce Epergy, Inc, (Ohio Electric Certificate 01-074 6/10/2001
Commerce Energy, Inc, Chio Gas Certificate 02-023 11/22/2010
Hudson Energy Services, LLC Ohio Gas Certificate 12-271G (1) 10/11/2012
Hudson Energy Services, LI.C Ohio Electric Certificaie 12-538 E (1) 742512012
Universal Energy Corporation Ontario Electricity ER-2010-0034 6/17/2010
Universal Energy Corporation Ontario Gas GM-2009-0364 4/1/2010
Just Energy Ontario L.P. Ontario Gas GM-2010-0152 8/27/2010
Just Energy Ontario L.P. Ontario Electricity ER-2010-0153 8/27/2010
Hudson Energy Canada Corp. Ontario Electricity ER-2010-0223 9/15/2010
Hudson Energy Canada Corp. Ontario Gas GM-2010-0224 9/15/2010
Commerce Energy, Inc. Pennsylvania | Electric (PECO) A-110117 9/15/1999
Commeice Energy, Inc. Pennsylvania Gas (PECO) A-125138 5/19/2005
Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. Pennsylvania Gas (Columbia) A-2009-2008011 12/28/2000
Electric

Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. Pennsylvania (Duguesne) A-2009-2097544 12/28/2009
Just Energy Quebec L.P /Juste
Energie Quebec S.E.C Quebec Gas No license requirement 05/412004
Hudson Energy Canada
Corp./Energie Hudson Canada Quebec Gas No license requirement 12/07/2011
Just Energy Quebec L.P /Juste Just Clean ( non-
Energie Quebec §.E.C Quebec commodity) PERMIS NO. 119517 7/6/2011
Just Energy Texas L.P. Texas Electricity REP Certification No. 10052 712/2007
Hudson Energy Services, LLC Texas Electric REP Certification No. 30061 | 9/14/2004

2




EXHIBIT A-11 (b)
CORPORATE STRUCTURE/NAME OF AFFILIATES AND LICENSES
COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY

Hudson Energy JV, LLC Texas Electric REP Certification No. 36644 3/5/2009
(5-22 (lapsed; renewal

Commerce Energy, Inc. Virginia Gas pending) 2/26/1999
E-14 (lapsed; renewal

Commerce Energy, Inc. Virginia Electric pending) 10/8/2004

Hudson Energy Services, LL.C Pennsylvania | Electric A-2010-2192137 2/11/2011
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Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy, CRS # 01-1123

EXHIBIT B-1
JURISDICTIONS OF OPERATION

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY

The applicant is licensed to provide retail or wholesale electricity service in California,
Delaware, Illinois, Michigan, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Ohio, Maryland and
Virginia. Please see further details below. The applicant is also licensed to provide retail gas
service in California, Delaware, Georgia, New York, Nevada, Maryland, Ohio and Pennsylvania.
Please see specifics below.

Commerce Energy, Inc.

California
Delaware
Illinois
Maryland
Michigan
New Jersey
Nevada
New York
Ohio
Pennsylvania
Virginia

Registered October 7, 1997. License #1092
Registered December 12, 2007. Docket No. 07-275
Registered 1/17/07. Electric Docket #06-0723
Registered July 7, 2004. License #IR-639
Registered November 20, 2001. Case No. U-13203
Registered November 9, 2000, License #ESL.-0046
Registered November 30, 2006. License No. G-13
Registered September 9, 2004. Case No. 93-G-0932
Registered June 10, 2001. Certificate #01-074(1)
Registered September 15, 1999. License #A-110117
Registered October 8, 2004, License #E-14



Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy, CRS # 01-1123

EXHIBIT B-2
EXPERIENCE & PLANS
COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY

The applicant has held a CRES license in Ohio for nine vears and began marketing in the
territory as of March 7™, 2012. Since that time the applicant has acquired over 18,000 contracts
as of October of 2012. All systems and contracting processes described in Exhibit B-2 of our
original CRES application (dated May 23, 2001) have been implemented and refined during the
course of our operations.



Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy, CRS # 01-1123

EXHIBIT B-3
DISCLOSURE OF LIABILITIES AND INVESTIGATIONS
COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY

The following is information regarding resolved actions taken by any and all state U.S,
Government agencies or Canadian equivalents against Commerce Energy, Just Energy, U.S.
Energy Savings and Commerce Energy’s former parent company Universal Energy and other
associated entities in the last five (5) years, At this time, there are no pending actions.

Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy

Public Utility Commission of Ohio (PUCO) and Ohio Consumers’ Counsel (OCC) — During
Commerce Energy’s (d/b/a Just Energy) Ohio natural gas license renewal process the PUCO
issued a Staff Report expressing concerns over the Commerce Energy’s possible misleading sales
practices for door to door sales and requested an increase in consumer protections for the
Company. The PUCO, OCC and Commerce reached agreement on a set of consumer protections
and safeguards. The settlement included a forfeiture of $111,000, the possibility of an additional
$200,000 if the number of complaints exceeds a certain threshold over the next 12 months, the
implementation of an in-state quality assurance program and the requirement to provide all
customers who have signed up between April and September 2010 to leave or alter their contract
without fees. The settlement also required Commerce to make adjustments to its contracts and
third party verification process. In addition the PUCO granted the license renewal for a two year
term,

Universal Energy Corporation (UEC)

British Columbia Utilities Commission (BCUC) — March 2008, In Commission Order no.G-47-
08 UEC was found in violation of Articles 14 & 29 of the Commission's Code of Conduct, The
incident in question involved allegation that an independent agent representing UEC conducted
himself in an aggressive manner towards a customer. UEC acknowledged the incident, and was
ordered to pay a penalty of $7,000.00, re~train and certify all agents in British Columbia within
14 days of the Order, and train all new agents in accordance with the Order,

Ontario Energy Board (OEB) — EB — 2009-0005-January 20th 2009; pursuant to section 112.7 of
OEB Act, 1998 and as part of the QEB reaffirmation audit, it was determined that misleading
statements were used during reaffirmations completed within the time frame of March 2007 to
June 2008. The misleading statements included “the cap will be removed in May 2008” and
“RPP is currently subsidized by the government”. For a period of 18 months Universal
committed to repott on any disciplinary action taken as a results of it quality assurance audits of
all positive reaffirmation calls. UEC was ordered to pay an initial penalty $200,000 later reduced
to $127,500.

EB — 2009-0118- on April 29th 2009, Pursuant to section 112.5 of OEB Act, 1998 a penalty
pertaining to two specific instances of making false and misleading statements, and one instance
of a breach of section 2.3 of the Code of Conduct for Gas Marketers related to natural gas supply
submission without the consumers written permission. UEC was fined $60,000.

Michigan Public Utilities Commission (MPUC) — February 2008. Commission Order no, U-
15509 directed a formal investigation into the marketing and customer service practices of
Universal Gas and Electric Corporation (UGE) (which is an affiliate of UEC and was acquired



Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy, CRS # 01-1123

by Just Energy along with UEC in 2009). The primary catalyst for this investigation was the
number of complaints received by the Commission relating to the marketing practices of UGE.
The bulk of the allegations in these complaints were that independent contractors were not
describing the product offering fully or in a manner that a customer could understand. The
Commission and UGE reached a settlement in which UGE agreed to; i) offer to terminate
without charge contracts with certain customers or, alternatively, provide a $50 credit to those of
the affected customers who chose to remain with UGE; ii) reimburse certain customers for their
time; iii) reimburse the State of Michigan $300,000; iv) submit its marketing materials to the
MPUC staff for review; and v) change certain products and marketing practices. Universal also
agreed to file a quarterly report, for a period of two years (ending February 2010), with the
MPUC outlining the number of customer complaints, types of concerns, resolutions and any
reimbursements paid, and to include in such reports proposals for improvement in its processes to
address any systemic issues found to give rise to such complaints.

Illinois Energy Savings Corp. {now — Just Energy Illinois Corp.)

Two separate actions regarding the substantially similar aliegations for a similar time period
were pursued separately by the Illinois Attorney General and the Citizen’s Utility Board in the
Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois and before the Illinois Commerce Commission,
respectively.

Illinois Attorney General (ILAG) —The ILAG brought suit against Illinois Energy Savings
Corporation (IESC) related to allegations that IESC used deceptive sales tactics and promised
savings to customers, which conduct, if proven, would in ILAG's view have amounted to
conduct in violation of the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act. In
May 2009, the ILAG and IESC entered into a settlement agreement. The ILAG and IESC
agreed to a stipulated final judgment and consent decree. Although IESC denied the allegations
in the suit, it agreed to: i) pay restitution to Illinois consumers; ii) provide eligible consumers
with notice of the settlement within 30 days and notice regarding the submission of claim forms
to access the restitution funds; iii) allow cusrent eligible customers to cancel contracts without
paying an early termination fee; iv) ensure that all marketing material had full disclosures
regarding the type of product, the conditions of service and any existence of carly contract
termination fees; v) cap any early termination fees at $50; and vi) investigate and terminate sales
representatives who were proven to have misled consumers, to have provided false information
during solicitations or to have forged contracts or agreements. No violations of the Consumer
Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act were found in this proceeding.

Ilinois Commerce Commission {ICC) - In ICC Docket No. 08-0175, the Citizen’s Utility Board
(“CUB”) and other parties filed a complaint against [ESC alleging violations of Article XIX of
the Illinois Public Utilities Act, including non-compliance with Section 2 of the [Hlinois
Consumer Fraud and Deceptive business Practices Act, the Illinois Deceptive Trade Practices
Act, the common law prohibition against unreasonable liquidated damages, and the supplier
Standards of Conduct contained in utility tariffs. In April 2010, the Ilinois Commerce
Commission issued its Final Order in Docket No. 08-0175, which found eight individual
violations of subsection 19-115(c) by failing to obtain verifiable authorization of a switch, a
single violation of subsection 19-115(f) for inaccurate price disclosures in marketing materials,
and a single violation of the Standards of Conduct in gas utility tariffs. There was no finding of a
violation of the Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act. Further, there was a
finding that IESC had not violated the common law prohibition against unreasonable liquidated
damages. IESC was ordered to pay a fine of $90,000, undergo an audit, and implement
corrective measures to ensure future adherence to Illinois laws and regulations.




Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy, CRS # 01-1123

Although this issue was not part of a formal investigation or an action against Just Energy
New York Corp.’s license, in the interest of full disclosure please see the below summary and
enclosed Attorney General settlement agreement with a copy of an internal Just Energy memo
that was circulated as a result of this issue.

New York Energy Savings Corporation (now - Just Energy New York Corp.

New York Attorney General (NYAG) — February 2008. The NYAG conducted an informal
review related to consumer complaints alleging that independent contractors representing New
York Energy Savings Corporation (NYESC) had made promises of savings to consumers. A
voluntary settlement resulted in an Assurance of Discontinuance which was accepted in July
2008 (AOD-08-84), in which NYESC agreed to cancel customers without fees, and pay
$100,000 in penalties and an additional $100,000 in costs to NYAG. NYESC also agreed to ; i)
provide to every new customer a letter setting out the contract cancellation period and early
termination fees; ii} confirm all details and qualifiers of its agreements with consumers either by
recorded call or in writing; iii) obtain background and/or reference checks for all potential sales
contractors; iv} review all consumer complaints and provide a response within 30 days of receipt;
v) terminate any independent contractor who was proven to have misled consumers more than
twice; and vi} waive termination fees for any consumer who cancelled an agreement within 60
days of the date of the AOD.



Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy, CRS # 01-1123

EXHIBIT B-3 AND B-4
DISCLOSURE OF LIABILITIES AND INVESTIGATIONS
COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY

The applicant or a predecessor of the applicant or any principal officer of the applicant or its
parent company have never been convicted or held liable for fraud or for violation of any
consumer protection or antitrust laws within the past five years.



Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Just Energy, CRS # 01-1123

EXHIBIT C-1
ANNUAL REPORTS
COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY

Attached are Just Energy’s two most recent Annual Reports filed with the Canadian Securities
and Exchange Commission. Financial data is maintained on a consolidated company basis and
therefore cannot be produced to reflect Commerce Energy business only,
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At Just Energy, we're fuelled by the power of innovative ideas. More than
a decade ago, we came to the market with a new way for consumers to
enjoy peace of mind and energy price security. Since then, we have been
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2012 Highlights

+ Gross additions through marketing were a @ Gross margin of $517.5 million, up 7%

record 1,091,000 customers, up 9% from
the 999,000 added in fiscal 2011 and up

116% from 505,000 added in fiscal 2010.

# Net customer additions, including
customers acquired with Fulcrum, were
556,000 for the year. Excluding Fulcrum
customers, net additions were 316,000.
Energy customer base reached 3,870,000
RCEs, up 17% year over year.

4 Annual customer attrition improved to
13% in fiscal 2012, down from 15% in
fiscal 2011. Renewal rates for the year
were 64%, down slightly from 65%.

Gross Margin
($ millions)

$415

$275

| 2006 JENEIS

2007 $229

2008

EEEE $323

2010
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year over year (5% per share), equaling
our published guidance.

+ National Home Services water heater and

HVAC installed base up 39% to 165,400.
NHS revenue and gross margin were up
58% and 78%, respectively, year over year.

¢ Adjusted EBITDA of $283.1 million,

up 9% (7% per share), exceeding our
published guidance of 5% growth
per share.

+ Dividends of $1.24 per share were paid

in fiscal 2012, equal to the dividends/
distributions paid in fiscal 2011.

Adjusted EBITDA

($ millions}

T §236
I §2°0
ETNE §283

ETH 5116
2007 $142
2008
TN 5205

JUST ENERGY  ANMLUIAL REPORT 2012

—



JUST ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 2012

M

Message from the Executive Chair

“Qur growth expenditures
generally pay back in less
than 18 months resulting
in the very high returns on
invested capital for which
Just Energy is known. We
have access to adequate
financing to fund any
realistic level of accelerated
growth without impacting
our ability to pay dividends.
Continued profitable
growth and high income
will be the result.”

Dear Feliow Shareholders,

I am pleased to report cur results for the year ended March 31, 2012. It was & year of
success with our customer growth and expenditure control allowing us to outpace the
challenges of yet another extremely warm winter,

In last year’s annual report, we provided guidance as to our expected growth for fiscal
2012. Qur expectation was 5% per share growth in both gross margin and Adjusted
EBITDA. We chose these measures carefully.

Margin growth represents the annual profitability of our growing base of customers. it
is important to ensure that adding more customers results in higher margin. This requires
pricing discipline in a period of very law commodity prices. This is particutarly true given
that more than half the new customers we added were commercial customers wha
generate lower margins per customer. Because of this, our customer growth will exceed
our margin growth. Accordingly, while cur custorner base grew by double digits for the
year, our expectation was for 5% margin growth per share and, just as the Company has
in the past, we met this target. In fact, without the extremetly warm winter in our key
markets and its impact on gas consumption, we would have exceeded that goal.

In addition to pricing discipline, management is charged with controlling costs. Adjusted

EBITDA takes gross margin and deducts administrative expenses, bad debt costs and that
portion of our selling and marketing expense that allowed us to replace all annual margin
lost to attrition. We were largely successful in controlling costs. As a result, we were able
to exceed our target with a 7% growth in Adjusted EBITDA per share.

Some in the capital markets look at our overall payout ratio including expenditures to
grow the business and think that a rising trend threatens our dividend. Ngthing could be
further from the truth. Cur growth expenditures generally pay back in less than 18 months
resulting in the very high returns on invested capital for which Just Energy is known. We
do not believe that these sales efforts should be curtailed even if small amounts need to
e borrowed to finance them. We have access to adequate financing to fund any realistic
level of accelerated growth withcut impacting our ability to pay dividends at the current
rate of $1.24. Continued profitable growth and high income will be the result.

THE FUTURE

Just Energy is not in the business of standing still. Three years ago, we saw the growing
demand for green energy from our Consumer division customers and developed our
JustGreen and JustClean products. These products have been a tremendous success, with
green sources making up 12% of our current Consumer electricity portfolic and 10% of
our Consumer natural gas portfolic. While the take-up of green by new customers slowed
slightly this year due to pricing pressures in a challenging economy, green products remain
a focus of the Company.



We continue to initiate new products and
options for green oriented customers. Our
new Hudson Energy Solar business has
committed to more than $30 million in
capital projects, placing large sclar arrays
on rocfs of corporate and public buildings.
We expect that this business will double in
the coming year.

Today, we continue to look to the future and
see many changes coming in how customers
use energy. Time-of-use meatering makes
control of hame consumption an important
goal of hcmeowners and an opportunity
for Just Energy to provide products which
assist customers in using energy effectively,
Looking further out, we see growth in the
sales of electric cars and other vehicles as

a majer driver of Narth American power
consumption. Again, our executive team is
looking for ways to have Just Energy products
at the forefront of this growth sector.

. Canada - energy marketing {C$}
Home Services division (C$)
Canada - total (C$)

U.S. - enargy marketing (US$)

Total embedded margin (C$) _

DIVIDEND POLICY AND

PAYQUT RATIO

On January 1, 2011, cur Board
implemented a dividend policy in which
monthly dividends have been initially set
at $0.10333 per share {$1.24 annually),
equal to our former distribution rate as
an income trust. This allowed many of
aur sharsholders to benefit from a more
attractive tax treatment on dividends, as
opposed to the previous distributions.

Many of our shareholders lock to Just
Energy as an important scurce of steady,
predictable income. This will not change.
While the past year saw the worst weather
conditions for our operating resufts, we
were able to meet our guidance and
continued to pay our $1.24 dividend. Our
payout ratio on Adjusted EBITDA declined
for the third straight year reaching 62 %,
down from 66% in fiscal 2011 and 78%
in fiscal 2010.

2042

592.1
3930

985.1
994.1
1,976.8

15%

I want to thank Ken Hartwick and his
team for an excellent year. Our efforts
and expenditures to broaden our sales
channels and geographic footprint have
resulted in renewed growth without
sacrificing the stability that Just Energy
is known for. Just Energy has become a
North American leader in the deregulated
commodity supply and green energy
markets. The future has never been
brighter for your Company.

Thank you for your support.

Yours truly,

Rehecca MacDonald
Executive Chair

2010

7831
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959.8
414.6
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Message from the Chief Executive Officer

“As we have every year,
management provides
guidance on growth
expected for the upcoming
fiscal year. For fiscal 2013,
based on strong customer
growth, management
expects growth of
approximately 10% to 12%
in gross margin and 8% to
10% for Adjusted EBITDA.
This is substantially higher
than the 5% growth rates
we expected and achieved
in fiscal 2012.”

Dear Fellow Sharehoiders,

t am pleased to report our operating results for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012.
It was a year of record performance with the highest gross margin, Adjusted EBITDA
and custocmer additions in the Company’s history. The results are a culmination of our
efforts over the past three years to diversify cur marketing channels and to broaden
our product line while maintaining a focus on the customer's energy use and price.

A number of factors have driven our success. First and foremost is customer
aggregation. Customer additions through marketing were a record 1,091,000 for

the year. As can be seen in the graph cpposite, the past two years have seen a

“sea change” in the Company’s marketing capability. Including the customers added
through marketing and the customers acquired with Fulcrum in Qctober, cur customer
base has reached 3,870,000, up 17% from a year prior.

Each of the steps we have taken to add additional channels has been successful. Qur
core Consumer division residential marketing generated 429,000 new customers,

up 1,000 from the previous record 428,000 added in fiscal 2011. This increase is in
addition to the significant role our sales force plays in renewing customers.

Commercial additions were 662,000, up 16% from the previous record 571,000 added
in fiscal 2011. Qur growth in Commercial has far exceeded our expectations when

we acquired Hudson Energy twe years ago. The 1.2 millicn additiens in fiscal 2011

and 2012 were on top of the 561,000 customers we acquired with Hudson, building
our Commercial division into a sizable business in just two years. We understand that
these customers generate, by design, lower per customer margins than our traditional
residential base but their payback on aggregation cost is less than 18 months, just like
a residential customer. While this results in slower margin growth than the growth in
customer base, this is a very lucrative business as each customer equivalent brings lower
customer aggregation costs and lower ongoing customer care expenses.

Other new marketing channels include our initial steps into Internet marketing and
telemarketing. A particularly exciting vehicle is our network marketing unit, Momentis.
From a standing start with 3,500 independent representatives at the beginning of the
year, Momentis has grown tc 47,800 independent representatives at year-end. With
the rapid ramp-up, we are only now starting to see the benefit of this division in new
customer contracts and sales of ather products.

The year also saw the acquisition of Fulcrum which, along with 240,000 new
custemers, brought an expertise in affinity marketing which we hope to roll out in our
cther major markets in coming years.

Clearly, energy marketing is seeing exciting returns from all its channels. With cur continued
cenfidence in these sales channels, we intend to invest to grow each te its potential.

A second area of growth is National Home Sarvices. Qur water heater and HVAC
rental divisicn saw installed units increase by 32% year over year. Revenue and gross
margin are ug 58% and 78%, respectively. This product is & natural extension of cur



focus on the customer's enargy needs
and tremendous value is being built daily
within this division, with steps being
taken to move outside of Ontario.

Other aspects of cur business aiso showed
improvement. Qur level of attrition in

our customer base again declined to an
annual rate of 13%, down from 15%
across our bock. Improving economic
conditions and higher numbers of more
stable commercial customers cause us to
believe that this trend will continue.

Renewal rates slipped slightly, falling to
an average of 64% this year from 65%
in fiscal 2011, Renewals are challenging
in @ market where customers are coming
off very high cost contracts to new
market pricing which is often half what
they had been paying. Once these high
price contracts all roll off, we expect an
improvement in renewal rates,

We invested in a number of future
expansions which increased administrative
costs during the year. Excluding these

and the back cffice which came with the

Fulcrum acquisition, these costs grew by
far less than the growth in our custemer
base. Bad debt expense also saw an
improvement, falling to 2.4% of relevant
saies from 2.7% a year ago.

A very important measure of our operating
success is embedded margin, a calculation
of the cash flow that will be generated by
existing contracts over their life. At the
end of fiscal 2011, our embedded margin
stood at $1,726 million. During the year,
$484 million in gross margin was realized.
Our successful sales and marketing efforts
added new embedded margin, ending the
year with $1,977 million, up 15% from
fiscal 2011.

EXPECTATIONS FOR FISCAL 2013
We expect continued profitable growth
for Just Energy in the year to come.

As we have evary year, management
provides guidance on growth expected
for the upcoming fiscal year. For fiscal
2013, based an strong customer
growth, management expects growth
of approximately 10% tc 12% in gross

margin and 8% to 10% for Adjusted
EBITDA. This is substantially higher than
the 5% growth rates we expected and
achieved for fiscal 2012.

Our more diversified product offering and
geographic footprint gives & solid base for
cantinued growth in the future. You will
seg us begin to use technclogy to expand
our relationship with a customer leading
tc a deeper customer commitment. As
Rebecca has pointed out, Just Energy is
poised to expand its position as a market
{eader in deregulated commaodity supply.

| lock forward to seeing as many of
you as possible at our Annuat General

Meeting on June 28, 2012.

Yaurs truly,

Vo Noockook

Ken Hartwick
Chief Executive Officer and President




Consumer Business




When customers do business with just Energy, they benefit
from our extensive experience, competitive products and
pricing, record of dependable energy supply, outstanding
customer service and seamless delivery of energy from their
focal utility.

JAMES LEWIS
Just Energy’s price-protected electricity and natural gas contracts give customers greater Executive Vice President and

contrel over their energy costs. With our standard fixed-rate and price-protected products, Chief Operating Officer

customers can lock in energy prices for up to five years. Qur variable-rate products let
them enjoy lower prices while market rates are down and lock in the price at any time if
market rates start to rise.

“Each of the steps the Company
has taken over the past three years
to add additional sales channels

Consumer products are primarily sold by a network of approximately 1,000 independent have been successful. The core
contractors calling on homes and smail susinesses. In 2007, 100% of sales were generated ~ Consumer division marketing
docr-te-door. New sales channels have reduced this dependence, with Momentis, generated a record 429,000 new
telemarkating and Internet sales growing sharply. Including commercial additions, docr-to- customers in fiscal 2012. This

dogr sales accounted for only 50% of new customers in fiscal 2012. . . -
increase is in addition to the

Our consumer energy customers account for approximately 51% of our total base at the significant role the sales force

end of the fiscal year. Potential growth has been limited by the current low commaodity plays in renewing customers.”
price environment but many residential and smail business customers now view the

low prices as an ideal opportunity to sign up with a retaiier. During the year, we added a

record 429,000 consumer customers, showing clear evidence of this continued demand

for our products.

JUST ENERGY MARKETS

#® Natural Gas “  Electricity 4 Electricity & Natural Gas
€ ustClean only @ Green Energy
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New Sales Channels

In addition to traditional door-to-doar sales, consumer products are sold through direct
mail and telesales, online activations, network marketing and affinity marketing.

Momentis, cur network marketing channel, was launched in 2010. independent
representatives earn an initial bonus for enrolling customers (who are tygically friends

ANDY McWILLIAMS and family) and a recurring monthly income for those customers wheo continue to use our
President and CEQ, Marmentis products. By the end of fiscal 2012, the Momentis sales base had grown to over 47,800

representatives, a more than ten-fold increase from the beginning of the year. While these
“Momentis is becoming a key representatives tend to generate fewer contracts than our sales agents, the overall cost
saies channe! for just Energy. and profitability of the channel is attractive. Momentis gross margin accounted for roughly
In the coming year, we expect 3% of Just Enargy’s total gress margin in 2012 and is expected to grow in significance in
continued rapid growth from the coming years.

Momentis. And that's just the
beginning. The model of families
helping friends and families

is one that resonates with
people everywhere.”

Product innovation is critical for both attracting new customers and renewing existing ones.
Just Energy has a strong track record of introducing new products and pricing options that
address market realities and anticipate customer needs.

Predict-a-Bill Affinity Marketing

Introduced in fiscal 2012, the revolutionary  Just Energy moved into affinity marketing with the acquisition of Fulcrum Retail Holdings
Predict-z-Bill plan is designed to keep Inc. in fiscal 2012. Operating in the state of Texas, Fulcrum has built a strong business
natural gas supply costs exactly the same selling energy products under its Tara Energy and Amigo Energy brands through online,
each and every month. Homeowners pay targeted affinity marketing channels. Affinity sales are custcmers acquired through a

a flat monthly charge no matter what customer relationship with an entity based on ethnicity, profession or buying habits.
their usage, even during cold winter Key partners include trade associations and consumer-centric associations. We intend to
months when natural gas consumption expand Fulcrum’s proven marketing model beyond Texas, starting with the Ontario,
normally goes up. The monthly charge New York, New Jersey and lllinois markets.

is based on the consumption profile of a

typical residential customer. Predict-a-Bill Product Innovation

is ideal for customers on a fixed income

or a tight budget. Product innovaticn is critical for both attracting new customers and renewing existing

ones. Just Energy has a strong track record of introducing new products and pricing
options that address market realities and anticigate customer needs.

We were gne of the first major energy retailers to offer green energy products in 2008
and continue to expand ouwr product line. Take-up of JustClean, one of our newest green
products, has been streng among customers who want green supgply but choose not to
lock into a term commodity contract. JustClean is & green-oniy program in which we



purchase renewable energy credits and/or carbon offsets on behalf of our customers, as a
means of helping them reduce their household carbon footprint. The product generates
contract life margins per customer that are very similar to those of our standard offerings.
See pages 14-17 for more information about our green energy business.

To address the challenge of a stable, low-price commadity environment, which lessens the
appeal of fixed-rate contracts, we added a Blend and Extend option that allows existing
customers to blend their current contract rate with a new, lower rate and extend it out

far a longer term to take advantage of current reductions in market price. We also added
variable rate and shorter-term alternatives for our core electricity and natural gas contracts,
which proved to be highly successful. Approximately two-thirds of tatal new sales in fiscal
2012 were variable rate, term contracts.

One of our latest innovations is the Predict-a-Bill product which affers a flat monthly
charge for naturaf gas usage. We alse launched the MyTime electricity pregram in Ontario,
which is our core product invelving the installation of smart meters. With tima-of-use
pricing, residents normally pay maore for electricity during peak usage periods. With our
product, subscribers’ supply rate remains the same throughout the day, regardless of
when they use their electricity.

Product innovation Preserves Margins

F2012

Realized Margins F2008 F200% F2010 F2011

Natural Gas 17% 19% 17% 15% 16%
Electricity 14% 14% 19% 17% 18%
Total - 16% 17% 18% 16% 18%
New Customer Margins F2008 F2009 F2010 F2011 F2012
Consumer $ M $ 187 $ 208 3 195 i o
Large Commercial - - - $ 88 $ 82

Innovation in Technology

We continue to examine how censumers will use technology to ensure their energy
usage is efficient. As Just Energy has in the past, we will adapt cur offering to meet the
consumers’ needs through consumption contrcl technology.

National Home Services

Just Energy has a fast-growing Naticnal Home Services division in Ontario, which rents out
high efficiency water heaters, furnaces and air concitioners for the home. Products are
marketed through a strong door-to-door network of 180 independent contractors. Cur
installed base grew by 39% in fiscal 2012, reaching 155,800 water heaters and 9,800
furnaces and air conditioners installed, at year-end.

MARK SILVER
President, Natiochal Home Services

“The graphs on this page

show that NHS has grown to
substantial profitahility, The
fong-term nature of NHS cash
fiows means that, with continued
marketing success, our division
will be a significant contributor
to Just Energy’s financial results
for years to come.”

NHS INSTALLED UNITS

165,400

118,600

77,000

NHS EBITDA

19,106
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Just Energy offers commercial customers competitive pricing
options, the potential for savings when market rates rise
above their contracted price, and flexible terms so that they
can choose the short- or long-term contract that best meets
their needs. Our track record of reliable energy supply is also
an important selling feature.

Cur commercial customers are typically price sensitive and purchase their electricity
and natural gas contracts through energy consultants, independent contractors and
independent brokers, Just Energy’s products for this market segmenit range from standard
fixed offerings to "one off” offerings, which are tailored to meet customers' specific
needs. They can be either fixed or floating rate, or a blend of the two, and normally
have terms of less than five years.

Commercial margins per residential custormmer equivalent are lower than traditional
consumer margins. However, aggregation and annual customer service costs are also
commensurately lower because of economies of scale that can be realized, greater
systern automation and the fact that third-party brokers perform some of the service
functions that would otherwise fall to Just Energy for commercial customers. In fact,
administrative expenses to support the commercial business are approximately half
that of the cansumer business.

Our commercial customer base grew to 1,901,000 in fiscal 2012, a 43% increase over the

previous year. Growth was strongest in the United States electricity market, led by Texas
and New Jersey.

COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS

o
S
O-\-
L
o
m‘
-

4 Acquired
€ Added through Marketing
# Total at Year-End

o
o)
Dl.
o
M
m
!

I 561,000
I 571,000

Bl 164,000
M 662,000

2011 2012
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“Just Energy is at the cutting-
edge of technological innovation
when it comes to our commercial
saies portal. We continually invest
in new technoelogy and try to
make it as easy as possibie for
brokers and customers 1o do
business with us.”

JUST ENERGY ANMUAL REPORT 2012
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¢ 2012 average annual
gross margin of
$82 per RCE

4 Average aggregation
costs of $35 paid annually

¢ Consumption patterns are
more predictable and less
weather sensitive

¢ Commercial administrative
costs are approximately
half that of the consumer
business

Commercial Markets
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Broker-Friendly Service

Commercial sales are increasingly made through the broker channel using the platform
acquired with the Hudson Energy Services acquisition in fiscal 2011. We also acquire
customer sales through commercial independent contractors and inside sales.

Just Energy offers our sales partners a number of unique advantages. The Hudson portal is
a state-of-the-art platform that gives sales agents the ability to do business with us in an
efficient and expeditious manner, at the time of their chcosing. We provide brokers with
flaxibility to offer multiple products at the most competitive prices. We use an automated
system that is connected to the pertal platform to provide exact and timely commission
payments. We also go to great lengths to ensure that our brokers’ customers receive top-
notch service and stay through the contract term. This includes regional sales support teams
and an account management team that provides post-transaction support for brokers

and customers.

W ST




The Hudsaon portal is a state-of-the-art platform that gives sales partners the ability to do
business with us in an efficient and expeditious manner, at the time of their choosing. We

provide brokers with flexibility to offer multiple products at the most competitive prices.

Long-Term Relationships

Commercial customers tend to have combined attrition and failed-to-renew rates that
are lower than those of residential customers — and we work hard tc keep it this way.

A dedicated team of more than 30 customer retention staff are focused on keeping and
recovering custormners. Additicnally, account managers and representatives generate loyalty
with our brand and manage key relationships to ensure that customers know us as more
than a name on a bill; when it comes time to renew, the customer will be more likely to
stay with Just Energy.

Renewal discussions begin six to twelve months out, together with the broker and the
customer as appropriate. If a renewal decision has not been made within two to four months
of a contract expiring, written renewal offers are sent to the customer. We also work with
the broker on pricing and attempt to gain advantage from being the incumbent supplier.

Expanding Reach

There is tremendous opportunity for growth in the commercial business. In additien

to increasing market share in existing geographic markets, we plan to expand to all
deregulated markets in the U.S. over the next three years. Ohio, Connecticut, Maryland,
Washingteon {D.C.) and California represent over 400 terawatt hours (TWh) of annual
deregulated consumption and will round out our coverage of the U.S.

Potential expansion into the United Kingdom also represents a significant growth
opportunity. It is a farge market and could be a springboard into other European countries
in future years. The Commercial division has put together a team to work toward a UK.
entry and significant progress is expected this year.

Reliable Supply

Reliable energy supply is critical for our customers. To ensure their needs are met, we back
demand with supply. For residential and small business customers, commodity supply is
purchased in advance of marketing, based on forecasted customer aggregation. For our
largest commercial customers, commodity supply is generally secured concurrently with the
execution of a contract. Consumption patterns are carefully menitored and any variances
from the contracted supply are addressed through the spct market.

To further enhance supply reliability, we spread our business acress a variety of high-
credit-quality commedity suppliers. We have longstanding relationships with our major
suppliers, namely Shell, B, Bruce Power, Constellation, Société Générale, National Bank
Financial and The Bank of Nova Scotia. We also regularly investigate opportunities to
identify and secure additional suppliers.

COMMERCIAL CUSTOMER ADDITIONS
(thousands}

JUST ENERGY ANMUAL REPORT 2012

iy
w



Green Energy




While Just Energy’s green customers are currently a relatively
small proportion of our overali customer base, our JustGreen
and JustClean products make up a fast-growing sector of

our business.
In fiscal 2012, 29% of new residential customers purchased an average of 84% of their ABE GROHMAN
commadity needs as green energy supply. Overal!, JustGreen now makes up 10% of Executive Director,

the Cansumer gas portfalio, up from 6% & year ago. JustGreen makes up 12% of the Hudson Energy Solar

Consumer electricity portfolio, up from 10% a year ago. »Qur solar offering gives

The JustGreen electricity product gives customers the aption to have all or a portion of customers a unigue way 1o

their electricity requirements derived from certified renewable sources such as wind, hydro, participate in green energy
solar or biomass. With the JustGreen natural gas product, customers can purchase carbon generation. The panels installed
offset credits from green sources such as methane capture projects. JustClean products oroduce sclar energy and make

are carbon offsets from carbon capture and reduction projects and/or renewable energy
certificates (RECs) from green power generators, which customers can purchase from us as a
means of raducing their carben footprint, without buying our energy commadity products.

a powerful and visible statement
about a company’s commitment
to the environment.”

Just Energy purchases carbon offsets and renewabie energy credits to match customer
demand. Our green supply is procured from facilities that would otherwise not be financed
without the sale of these instruments. These facilities are third-party certified and meet the
highast environmental standards, Where possible, we ensure that supply is matched to the
same jurisdiction as the corresponding customer consumption. Our green purchases are
reviewed annually by an independent, third-party acceunting firm to verify that they match
our green sales.

Our JustGreen product line helps build strong relationships with customers whao have
willingly paid a premium for their commodity 1o benefit the environment. It also generates
higher per customer margins. As well, both our JustGreen and JustClean products open
deors to customers who might not otherwise be inclined to do business with us.

We believe when our customers make a decision to support green sources of energy, they

expect to support renewable energy projects in their own communities. This is why our
JustGreen product line is sourced from innovative focal projects.

GREEN ENERGY
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Energy from renewable sources such as wind, hydro and other low
pellutien sources.
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Solar Power

Launched in fiscal 2012 by our subsidiary
Hudsan Energy Solar, the Solar Power
Program is ideal for businessas looking to
reduce their carbon footprint and support
the generation of renewable power. The
program gives customers the benefits of
solar electricity without the upfront costs
and risks. Promoted properly, it can also
enhance an organization’s reputation.

Innovative Solar Offering

Hudson Energy Solar is a new addition to the Just Energy Group. The company was
founded in an effort to target the 1.5, goal of meeting increasing energy demands while
also satisfying the world's appetite for the development of renewable energy.

Hudson Energy Solar offers customers the benefits of solar electricity without the costs and
risks usually asscciated with solar photovoltaic (PV) installations. Selar panels are installed
on the customer’s property at no cost to the customer. We maintain the ownership of
the panels and responsibility for all maintenance and monitcring for 15 to 20 years,

after which the ownership of the system may transfer to the custemer. Through a Power
Purchase Agreerment {PFA), the electricity produced from the program is sold 1o the
customer at a savings compared to utility rates.

Solar panels draw cn energy from the sun, a free and virtually unlimited source. Solar
power creates no pollution and is odorless. It allows for remote regions that are not
connacted to the grid to receive electricity. It also provides long-term savings on energy
costs and adds value to a property, whether it be a home or business facility.

In addition to generating profit thraugh the sale of power and solar renewable energy
certificates, we benefit from tax credits associated with investments in solar technology.
At the end of fiscal 2012, we had $30.7 million of solar projects under contract, with
completed contracts of $20.5 million.

Hudson Energy Solar currently operates in New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Massachuseits,
and is looking to expand into other markets. We are uniguely positicned to capitalize on the
strategic advantages provided by our existing sales and marketing force and our proven
energy marketplace expertise.

As a leader in the provision of green energy, Just Energy has made a commitment to
offering our customers an opportunity to directly reduce or eliminate their carbon footprint

and, thereby, contribute to an improved planet. Our Hudson Energy Solar program is a
natural extension of this commitment.




Renewable Energy Projects

Just Energy has invested over $50 million in more than 7C renewable energy and carbon
offset projects across North America, including wind, run-of-the-river hydro, solar,
geothermal and biomass projects. This investment has helped inject 2.8 million MWh of
renewable power into the electricity grid {encugh to power 280,000 homes for a year)
and offset 667,000 metric tans of carbon amissions (equal to taking 128,000 passenger
vehicles off the road for & year). We are actively pursuing new projects to meet our
growing demand far green energy alternatives.

We also own the Terra Grain Fuels facility in Saskatchewan, which groduces and sells
ethanol, a clean-burning, renewable fuel made from wheat. Ethanol is primarily used as a
gasoline fuel additive to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases. In fiscal 2012, the facility
produced 119.3 million litres of athanol,

GREEN PROJECTS

€9 Wind Power Facilities
L 4 Hydro Power Facilities
4  Emission Reduction Projects

& Aternative Energy Source Projects

Green Certifications

lust Energy has been awarded the
internationally recognized Ecologo
certification for our renewable products
in Canada. The renewable energy and
carbon offset projects in Canada and

the United States that we invest in

meet the highest industry standards,
some of which include verification
methodologies from CAR (Climate Acticn
Reserve), VCS (Verified Carbon Standard},
IS0 {International Organizaticn for
Standardization} and Green-e Energy.
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fram left to right): Darren Pritchett, Executive Vice Prasident, Consumer Sales; Deborah Merril, President, Hudson Energy,
Ken Hartwick, President and Chief Executive Officer; Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair, James Lewis, Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer,
Beth Summers, Chief Financial Gfficer, and Gard Potter, Executive Vice Prasident, Regufatory and Legal Affairs.

Officers

Rebecca MacDonald was a founder of Just
Energy Group Inc. and has held the pasition of
Executive Chair since the IPO. From Just Energy’s
IPO to March 2005, Ms. MacDonaid also held the
position of Chief Executive Officer.

Ken Hartwick joined the Company in April 2004
as Chief Financial Officer, was promoted to
President in 2006 and assumed the additional
position of Chief Executive Officer in June 2008.
Prior to this, Mr. Hartwick was Chief Financial
Officer of Hydro One Inc.

James Lewis became Executive Vice President
and Chief Operating Officer of Just Energy Group
Inc.in June 2011. Prior to this position, he held
the position of Senior Vice President and General
Manager, Eastern U.5. and was also Senior

Vice President for North American Cperations

at Enron.

Beth Summers joined Just Energy in February
2009 as Chief Financial Officer. Prior 1o this,
Ms. Summers was Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of Hydro Cne Inc.

GORD PCTTER

Executive Vice President, Regulatory and
Legal Affairs

Gord Potter joined the Company in June 2003
and currently holds the position of Executive Vice
President, Regulatory and Legal Affairs. Prior to
joining Just Energy, Mr. Potter was Director, Utility
Relations at Direct Marketing Limited.

Deborah Merril became President, Hudson
Energy, in April 2009. Prior to this, she held the
nosition of Senior Vice President, Marketing
during the time period of April 2002 to March
2009, Prior to joining Just Energy, Ms, Merril was
Vice President, Commodity Structuring at Enron
Energy Services.

ST A s e L e B
Darren Pritchett joined Just Energy as Executive
Yice President, Consumer Sales in April of 2008.
Prior 1o this, Mr. Pritchett ran a successful direct
marketing organization, contracted by Just Energy.



Just Energy is committed to providing stability and peace of mind. To achieve
these goals — and remain wortny of the confidence of our shareholders — we have
established an active Board to guide our operations and make sure that they are
transparent to investors. Our corporate governance meets all the recommended
standards established by the Canadian Securities Administrators.

Outside directors

Hugh Segal is a member of the Senate of Canada
and is a Senior Fellow at the School of Policy
Studies, Queen’s University, where he also serves
as an Adjunct Professor of Public Policy at the
School of Business, and is Senior Research Fellow
at McMillan LLP. Mr. Segal also serves as Director
of the Canadian Defence and Foreign Affairs
Institute in Calgary, Alberta, and is a member

of the Atlantic Council. Mr. Segal has been a
director of Just Energy since 2001.

BRIAN R.D. SMITH, Q.C.

Federal Chief Trealy Negotiator and
Energy Consultant

Brian Smith is the Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator
and Energy Consultant, associated with the law
firm of Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP. Prior to
this, Mr. Smith was the Chair of British Columbiz
Hydro, a position he held from 1996 to June 2001
Mr. Smith has been a director of Just Energy
since 2001.

The Honourable Michael Kirby is the Chairman
of Partners for Mental Health, a national mental
health charity. Mr. Kirby was a member of the
Senate of Canada from 1484 to 2006. Mr. Kirby
has been a director of Just Energy since 2001.

Semor Partner Bum at, Duckworth &
Palme! LLP

John Brussa is a senior partner in the Calgary-
based energy law firm of Burnet, Duckworth &
Paimer, specializing in the area of energy and
taxation law. He is also a director of a number
of energy and energy-related corporations.

Mr. Brussa has been a director of Just Energy
since 2001,

AMBASSADOR GORDON D. GIFFIN

Senior Partner, McKenna Long &
Aldridge LLP

The Henourable Gorden D. Giffin is a senior
partner in the Washingten, D.C. and Atlanta,
Georgia—-based law firm, McKenna Long &
Aldridge LLP. Mr. Giffin served as United States
Ambassador to Canada from 1997 to 2001, and
has been a director of Just Energy since 2006.

The Honourable R. Roy McMurtry currently serves
as counsel, Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP. Prior
1o this, he served as the Chief Justice, Province of
Ontario from 1996 to 2007, Mr. Mchurtry has
been a director of Just Energy since 2007.

Attorney, W\cDemrolt Wil & Enery

William F. Weld is an attorney with the law firm
of McDermott, Will & Emery, specializing in
government strategies, corporate investigations
and comgliance, and international business
matters. Mr. Weld served twg terms as Governor
of Massachusetts, being elected in 1990 and
re-elected in 1994, Prior to his election as
governor, Mr. weld was a federal prosecutor
serving as the Assistant U.5. Attorney General
in charge of the Criminal Division of the Justice
Department in Washington, D.C. and the

U.S. Attorney for Massachusetts. Mr. Weld was
appointed to the Board on April 2, 2012.
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were 556 OGG for the year up ?7% I in. ﬁsm% 2011, exceedmg publis .ﬁed
year over year. ‘ guidance of 5% per share. '

Customer Aggregation

Failed March 31, % increase
Aprit 1, 2011 Additions Acquired Attrition to renew 2012 (decrease)

Natural gas
Canada 656,000 63,000 - (61,000) {100,000} 558,000 {15)%
United States 574,000 135,000 ) - {134,000} {24,000} 551,000 {4)%
Total gas 1,230,000 198,000 - (195,000 (124,000} 1,109,000 (10)%

Electricity

Canada 736,000 102,000 - (62,000) (78,000) 698,000 (5)%
_United States 1,348,000 791,000 240,000 (13,0000 {103, ODO)__ 2,063,000 53%
Total electricity 2,084,000 0 240,000 (2750000 (181,000) 2,761,000  32%
Combined o 3,314,000 1 091 000 240,000 (470_,0@_0) (305, OOO)‘_ 3,870,000 17%

Consumer customer additions amounted to 429,000 for the fiscal year, effectively unchanged from fiscal 2011. Commercial additions
were 662,000 for the year, a 16% increase from the previous fiscal year.

ADJUSTED EBITDA PAYOUT RATIO ON ADJUSTED EBITDA
{thousands of dcliars)

N 783,125 E N 0o

EXN 253,954 66%

236,604 . /2%




Attrition
For the years ended March 31

Renewals

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Consumer Commercial

Natural gas Natural gas

Canada 10% 10% Canada 52% 61%

_United States 24% 23% United States 85% 62%

Electricity Electricity

Canada 9% 10% Canada 51% 59%
_United States o 13% 17% United States 8/% 64%

Total attrition 13% 15% Total renewals —

consumer and commercial 64%

The primary contributing factor to attrition rates experienced in
fiscal 2012 is that most customers signed in the past three years
are on prices consistent with current market prices. The attrition
from these customers and their evantual renewal will benefit
from this pricing. As well, there are generally lower attrition
rates among the growing base of commercial customners, The
average rate of attrition improved by 2% to 13%, reflecting
better economic conditions and higher numbers of more stable
commercial customers.

Future Embedded Gross Margin

{millions of dollars)

Management’s targeted renewal rates for consumer customers are to
be in the range of 70% overall, assuming commodity price volatility
remains low. Renewal rates for commercial customers are expected
to be more volatile than those of consumer customers. The combined
renewat rate for all customers was 64%, down slightly from 65% in
fiscal 2011. It is anticipated that Canadian renewal rates and overall
averages will improve fowards target levels as maore customers begin
to renew off market priced contracts in coming periods.

As at
March 31, 2011

As at
March 31, 2012

March 2012 vs.
March 2011 variance

Canada - energy marketing (C$) $ 592.1 $ 632.6 (6%
Home Services divisicn (C$} ~ 393.0 o 2827 39%
Canada — total (C$) $ 985.1 $ 915.3 8%
_U.S. —energy marketing (us$) 9941 8356 19% )
Total {C$) $ 19768 $ 1,7255 15%

Embedded gross margin is a rolling five-year measure of
management's estimate of future contracted energy gross margin
as well as the margin associated with the avarage remaining life of
Nationai Home Services” customer contracts. The energy marketing
embedded margin is the difference between existing customer
contract prices and the cost of supply for the remainder of term,
with appropriate assumptions for customer attrition and renewals.
itis assumed that expiring contracts will be renewed at target
margin and renewa! rates.

Management’s estimate of the future embedded gross margin
amounted to $1,976.8 million, a 15% increase from fiscal 2011,
The decline in embedded Canadian energy marketing margin was
entirely due to a net customer loss of 10% during the year. The
increase in the Home Services’ embedded margins reflected a 39%
increase in installed units. U.S. future embedded gross margin grew
19% to US$594.1 million. Excluding growth from the Fulcrum
acquisition, the growth in energy marketing embedded gross
margin was lower than the 10% organic growth in customer base
s the commercial customers, which make up a growing percentage
of new additions, by design have lower margins and shorter base
contract terms than residential customers.
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Management’s discussion and analysis
(“MD&A") -~ May 17, 2012

Overview

The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy Group Inc. ("JE” or

" Just Energy” or the “Company™} {(formerly Just Energy Income Fund (the “Fund”)) for the year ended March 31, 2012, and has been
prepared with all information available up to and including May 17, 2012, This analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2012. The financial information contained herein has been prepared in
accordance with International Financiat Reporting Standards (“(FRS“}, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“1ASB ).
Just Energy’s date of transition to IFRS was April 1, 2010. All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Quarterly reports, the annual
report and supplementary information can be found on Just Energy’s corporate website at www justenergygroup.com. Additional
information can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or EDGAR at www.sec.gov.

Just Energy is a corporation established under the laws of Canada and holds securities and distributes the income of its diractly or indirectly
owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Effective January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed the conversion from the Fund to Just Energy
{the "Conversion ). As part of the Conversion, Just Energy Exchange Corp. (JEEC") was amalgamated with JE and, like the unitholders of
the Fund, the holders of JEEC’s Exchangeable Shares received common shares of JE on a one for one basis. JE also assumed all of the
obligations under the $90m convertible debentures and $330m convertible debentures.

On October 3, 2011, Just Energy completed the acquisition of Fulcrum Retail Holdings LLC (“Fuicrum”) with an effective date of October 1,
2011, Fulcrum is a retail electricity provider operating in Texas and focuses on residential and smali to mid-size commercial customers.,
Fulcrum markets primarily online and through targeted affinity marketing channals. Just Erergy used the proceeds from the issuance of
$100 millicn of convertible unsecured subordinated debentures issued on September 22, 2012, which bear interest at a rate of 5.75% per
annum, to fund the Fulcrum acquisition and for other general corporate purposes.

Just Energy’s business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under long-term
fixed-price, price-protected or variable-priced contracts. Just Energy markets its gas and electricity contracts in Canada and the U.S. under
the following trade names: just Energy, Hudson Energy, Commerce Energy, Amigo Energy and Tara Energy. By fixing the price of natural gas
or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period of up to five years, just Energy’s customers offset their
exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Variable rate products allow customers to maintain competitive rates while
retaining the ability ta lock into a fixed price at their discretion. Just Energy derives its margin ar gross prafit from the difference between
the price at which it is able to seil the commodities to its customers and the related price at which it purchases the asscciated volumes frem
its suppliers.

Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen and JustClean programs. The electricity JustGreen product cffers customers the
option of having ail or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or biomass.
The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits that allow customers to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of their homes

or businesses. JustClean products allow customers in certain jurisdictions to offset their carbon footprint without purchasing commodity
from Just Energy. JustClean can be offered in all states and provinces and is not dependent on energy deregulation. Management believes
that the JustGreen and JustClean products will not only add 1o profits but will also increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates.

In addition, Just Energy sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters, air conditioners and furnaces to Ontario residents, through
a subsidiary under the trade name National Home Services (“NHS ™). Just Energy alsc cperates a network marketing division under the trade
name Momentis. Through its subsidiary, Terra Grain Fuels, Inc. {*TGF"), Just Energy produces and sells wheat-based ethanol. Just Energy’s
subsidiary, Hudson Energy Solar Corp {“HES"), alsc provides a solar project development platform cgerating in New Jersey, Pennsylvania and
Massachusetts, under the trade name Hudson Energy Solar. Just Energy alsc holds a 50% ownership in Just Veritures LLC and Just Ventures
L.P (collectively “Just Ventures”), a jointly cantrolled entity, which is involved in the marketing of Just Energy’s gas and electricity contracts.

Forward-looking information

This management’s discussicn and analysis ("MD&A") contains certain forward-looking information pertaining to customer additions and
renawals, customer consumption levels, EBITDA, Base EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes.
These statements are based on current expectations that invelve a number of risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual resuits to
differ from those anticipated. These risks include, but are not limited to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, extreme
weather conditions, rates of customer additions and renewals, customer attrition, fluctuations in natural gas and electricity prices, changes
in regulatory regimes, decisions by regulatory authorities and competition, and dependence on certain suppliers. Additional information on
these and other factors that could affect Just Energy's operations, financial results or distribution levels are included in the May 31, 2012
Annual Information Form and other reports on file with Canadian security regulatory authorities, which can be accessed on our corporate
website at www.justenergygroup.com or thraugh the SEDAR website at wwwi.sedar.com or EDGAR at www.sec.gov.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Key terms

“$90m convertible debentures” represents the $90 million in convertisle debentures issuad by Universal Energy Group Ltd. (*Universal”} in
October 2007. just Energy Exchange Corp. assumed the obligations of the debentures as part of the Universal acguisition on july 1, 2009
and Jjust Energy assumed the abligations of the debentures as part of the Conversion. See “Long-term debt and financing” on page 46 for
further details.

“$100m convertible debentures” represents the $100 million of convertible debentures issued by the Company to finance the purchase of
Fuicrum, effective October 1, 2011. See “Long-term debt and financing” on page 45 for further details.

“$330m convertible debentures” represents the $330 million in convertible debentures issued by the Fund to finance the purchase of
Hudson, effective May 1, 2010. Just Energy assumed the obligations of the debentures as part of the Conversion. See “Long-term debt and
financing” on page 45 for further details.

“customer” does not refer to an individual customer but instead an RCE.
“Failed to renew" means customers who did not renew expiring contracts at the end of their term.

" Gross margin per RCE” represents the gross margin realized on Just Energy’s customer base, including both low margin customers
acquired through various acquisitions and gains/losses from the sale of excess commodity supply.

“Large commercial customer” means customers representing more than 15 RCEs.

"LDC" means a local distribution company; the naturat gas or electricity distributor for a regulatory or governmentally defined
geographic area.

“RCE" means residential customer eguivalent which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as regards natural gas,

2,815 m? (or 106 GJs or 1,000 Therms or 1,025 CCFs) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity, 10 Mwh {or 10,000 kwh)
ot electricity on an annual basis, which represents the approximate amount of gas ang electricity, respectively, used by a typical household
in Ontario.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
Just Energy’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with IFRS. All non-GAAP financial measures do not have
standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers.

Just Energy converted from an income trust to a corporation on January 1, 2011. Under the corporate structure, management believes that
Adjusted EBITDA is the best basis for analyzing the financial results of Just Energy.

EBITDA
“EBITDA” represents earnings before finance costs, taxes, depreciation and amortization. This is & non-GAAP measure that reflects the
pre-tax profitability of the business.

BASE EBITDA

"Base EBITDA" represents EBITDA adjusted to exclude the impact of mark to market gains (losses) arising from IFRS requirements for
derivative financial instruments on future supply positions. This measure reflects operating profitability as mark to market gains (losses; are
associated with supply already sold at future fixed prices.

Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protected by entering intc fixed-price supply contracts. Under IFRS, the customer margins are
not marked te market but there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized gains (losses)
depending upon current supply pricing. Management believes that these short-term mark to market non-cash gains (losses) do not impact
the long-term financial performance of Just Energy and have therefore excluded it from the Base EBITDA calculation.

ADJUSTED EBITDA

*Adjusted EBITDA” represents Base EBITDA adjusted to deduct selling and marketing costs sufficient to maintain existing levels of gross
margin and maintenance capital expenditures necessary to sustain existing operaticns. This adjustment results in the exciusion of the
marketing that Just Energy carried cut and the capital expenditures that it had made to add to its future productive capacity. Management
helieves this is a useful measure of operating perfermance for investors.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCLSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

“Funds from operations” refers to the net cash available for distribution to shareholders. Base funds from operations is calculated by

Just Energy as gross margin adjusted for cash items including administrative expenses, selling and marketing expenses, bad debt expenses,
finance costs, corporate taxes, capital taxes and other items. The gross margin used includes a seasonal adjustment for the gas markets in
Cntaric, Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan in order tc include cash received.

ADJUSTED FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

“Adjusted funds from operations” refers to the funds from operations adjusted to deduct the selling and marketing costs sufficient to
maintain existing levels of gross margin and maintenance capital expenditures necessary to sustain existing operations. This adjustmant
results in the exclusion of the marketing carried out and the capital expenditures made by Just Energy to add te its future productive

capacity.

EMBEDDED GROSS5 MARGIN

"Embedded gross margin” is a rolling five-year measure of management’s estimate of future contracted energy gross margin as well as the
margin associated with the average remaining life of National Home Services’ customer contracts. The energy marketing embedded margin
is the difference between existing customer contract prices and the cost of supply for the remainder of term, with appropriate assumptions
for customer attrition and renewals. [t is assumed that expiring contracts will be renewed at target margin and renewal rates.

Financial highlights

For the years ended March 31
{thousands of dofiars, except where indicated and per sharefunit amounts}

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010
Per Per
share shareunit
$ Pershare change $ Pershare  change $  Perunit
Sales 2,785,269 $19.70 (8)% 2,953,192 § 21.38 20% 2,299,231 $17.77
Gross margin 517,489 3.66 5% 481,562 3.49 9% 415,333 3.21
Administrative expenses 122,397 0.87 9% 109,400 0.79 16% 88,423 0.68
Finance costs 60,935 0.43 14% 52,0853 0.38 202% 16,134 0.12
Net income {loss)! (126,643) (0.90) (135)% 352,940 2.56 43% 231,496 1.79
Dividends/distributions (including
Special Distributions)* 175,382 1.24 0% 170,004 1.24 (14)% 185,205 1.43
Base EBITDA? 208,982 1.48 (12)% 231,344 1.68 (1)% 220,000 1.70
Adjusted EBITDA? 283,125 2.00 7% 258,954 1.88 3% 236,304 1.83
Payout ratio on Base EBITDA 84% . 73% 84%
Payout ratio on Adjusted EBITDA 62% 66% 78%

" Net income (loss) indludes the impact of unrealized gains (losses), which represents the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover future
customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices, minimizing any realizable impact of mark to market gains and losses.

25ee discussion of “Non-GAAP financial measures” on page 24.
3 Excludes distributions paid to holders of Exchangeable Shares prior to Conversion included as finance costs under IFRS.
*No Special Distribution was paid in fiscal 2012 or 2011. Fiscal 2010 included a one-time Special Distribution of $26.7 million.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Just Energy has adopted IFRS as the basis for reporting its financial results commencing with the interim consclidated financial statements
of fiscal 2012 and using April 1, 2010, as the transition date. The comparative figures for fiscal 2011 have been restated in accordance with
the Company’s IFRS accounting policies.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Acquisition of Fulcrum Retail Holdings LLC
On Qctober 2, 2011, Just Energy completed the acquisition of Fulcrum with an effective date of October 1, 2011. The acquisition was
funded by an issuance of $100 millicn in convertible debentures.

The consideration for the acquisition was US$79.4 million paid at the time of closing and subject to customary working capital adjustments.
Just Energy will also pay up to US$11.C million in ¢cash and issue up to 867,025 common shares {collectively the "Earn-Out” amount) to
the seiler 18 months following the closing date, provided that certain EBITDA and billed volume targets are satisfied by Fulcrum during the
Earn-Out period.

in addition, the Company witl pay, as part of the contingent consideration, an additional 4.006% on the cash portion of the contingent
consideration and $1.86 for each of the commaon shares that are issued at the end of the Earn-Out period.

The acquisition of Fulcrum was accounted for using the acquisition methed of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase price to the
identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows:

Fair value recognized on acquisition

Current assets {including cash of $2,875) $ 43,5528
Property, plant and eguipment 758
Software 215
Customer contracts and relationships 39,533
Affinity relationships 42,359
Brand 13,034
Contract initiation costs 156
Non-controlling interest 540
140,123
Current liabilities (44,856)
Cther liabilities — current (12,430)
Cther liabilities — long term (3,768)
Deferred lease inducements (322)
Long-term debt 4(583)
(61,962)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 78,161
Goodwill arising on acquisition 21,106
Total consideration $ 99,267
Cash paid, net of estimated working capital adjustment $ 80,940
Centingent consideration 18,327
Total consideration $ 99,267

The electricity customer contracts and affinity relationships are amartized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The
electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 3.5 years. The affinity relationships are amortized over eight years,
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Acquisition of Hudson Energy Services, LLC

In May 2010, Just Energy completed the acguisition of all of the equity interests of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC, and all of the common
shares of Hudson Energy Services, LLC (“Hudson™), with an effective date of May 1, 2010. The acquisition was funded by an issuance of
$330 million in convertible debentures.

The acquisition of Hudson was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The Company allocated the purchase price to the
identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition, as follows:

Fair value recognized on acquisition

Current assets (including cash of $24,003) $ 88,656
Property, plant and equipment 1,648
Software 91
Electricity contracts and customer relationships 200,653
Gas contracts and customer relationships 26,225
Broker network 84,400
Brand 11,200
Information technology system development 17,954
Contract initiation costs 20,288
Other intangible assets 6,545
Unbilled revenue 15,092
Notes receivable ~ long term 1,312
Security deposits — long term 3,544
Other assets — current 124
Other assets — iong term 100
478,692
Current liabilities (107,817)
Cther abilities - current (74,683)
Cther liabilities - long term (40,719
(223,219}
Total identifiable net assets acquired 255,473
Goodwill arising on acquisition 32,317
Total consideration $ 287,790
Cash outflow on acquisition:
Cash paid $ 287,790
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (24,003)
Holdback (9,345)
Net cash outflow $ 254,442

All contracts and intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas and
electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 30 months and 35 months, respectively. Other intangible assets,
excluding brand, are amortized over periods of three to five years. The brand value is considered to be indefinite and, therefore, not subject
to ameortization. The purchase price allocation is considered final and, as a result, no further adjustments will be made.

Operations

NATURAL GAS

Just Energy offers natural gas customers a variety of products ranging from month-to-month variable-price offerings to five-year fixed-price
contracts, For fixed-price contracts, Just Energy purchases gas supply through physical or financial transactions with market counterparts in
advance of marketing, based on forecast customer aggregation for residential and small commercial customers, For larger commercial
customers, gas supply is generally purchased concurrently with the execution of a contract.

The LDC provides historical customer usage which, when normalized to average weather, enables Just Energy to purchase the expected
normal customer load. Furthermore, Just Energy mitigates exposure to weather variations through active management of the gas portfolio,
which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase of options including weather derivatives. Just Energy’s ability to mitigate weather affects
is limited by the severity of weather from normal. To the extent that balancing requirements are outside the forecast purchase, just Energy
bears the financial responsibility for fluctuations in customer usage. Volume variances may result in either excess or short supply. In the case
of under consumption by the customer, excess supply is sold in the spot market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted
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average cost of supply. Further, customer margin is lowered preportionately to the decrease in consumgtion. In the case of greater than
expected gas consumption, Just Energy must purchase the shert supply in the spot market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to
the weighted average cost of supply. Consequently, customer margin increases proportionately to the increase in consumption. To the
extent that supply balancing is not fully covered through active management or the options employed, Just Energy’s customer gross margin
may be reduced or increased depending upon market conditions at the time of balancing. Under some commercial contract terms, this
balancing may be passed onto the customer.

Just Energy entered intc weather index derivatives for the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2012 with the intention of reducing gross
margin fluctuations from extreme weather. The maximum payocut associated with the weather derivatives for fiscal 2012 was $15 million,
with the total cost of these aptions being $2 million.

Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan

In Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan, the volumes delivered for a customer typically remain constant throughout the year.
Just Energy does not recognize sales until the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at a rate
that is greater than delivery and, in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer consumption. Just Energy receives cash from
the LDCs as the gas is delfivered, which is even throughout the vear.

Manitoba, Alberta and Saskatchewan

In Manitoba, Alberta and Saskatchewan, the vclume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month. Therefore,
the amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently, cash received from
customers and LDCs will be higher in the winter months.

New York, lllinois, Indiana, Ohio, California, Georgia, New Jersey and Pennsylvania

In New York, lllinais, indiana, Ohio, California, Geergia, New Jersey and Pennsylvania, the volume of gas delivered is based an the estimated
consumption and starage requirements for each month. Therefore, the amcunt of gas delivered in winter manths is higher than in the
spring and summer months. Consequently, cash flow received from these states is greatest during the third and fourth {winter) quarters, as
cash is normally received from the LDCs in the same period as custemer consumpticn.

ELECTRICITY

In Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas, lllincis, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Michigan, California and Massachusetts, Just Energy
offers a variety of solutions te its electricity customers, including fixed-price and variable-price products on both short-term and fonger-term
electricity contracts. Some of these products provide customers with price-protection programs for the majority of their electricity
requirements. The customers may experience either a small balancing charge or credit {pass-through) on each bill due to fluctuations in
prices applicable to their volume raquirements not covered by a fixed price. Just Energy uses historical usage data for all enrofled customers
to predict future customer consumption and to help with long-term supply procurement decisions.

Just Energy purchases power supply through 'bhysical or financial transactions with market counterparties in advance of marketing for
residential and small commercial custemers based cn forecast customer aggregation. Power sugply is generally purchased concurrently with
the execution of a contract for farger commercial customers. The LDC provides historical customer usage which, when normalized to
average weather, enables Just Enargy to purchase to expected normal customer load. Furthermore, Just Energy mitigates exposure to
weather variations through active management of the power portfolio. The expected cost of this strategy is incorporated into the price to
the customer. Our ability to mitigate weather effacts is limited by the severity of weather from normal. In certain markets, to the extent that
balancing requirements are cutside the forecast purchase, Just Energy bears the financial respensibility for excess or short supply caused by
fluctuations in customer usage. In the case of under consumption by the customer, excess supply is sold in the spot market resulting in
either a gain or loss in relation te the criginal cost of supply. Further, customer margin is lowered proportionately to the decrease in
constmption. In the case of greater than expected power consumption, Just Energy must purchase the short sugply in the spot market
resulting in either a gain or toss in relation to the fixed cost of supply. Custoemer margin generally increases proportionately to the increase
in consumption. To the extent that supply balancing is not fully covered through customer pass-throughs or active management or the
options employed, Just Energy’s customer gross margin may be impacted depending upon market conditions at the time of balancing.

JUSTGREEN
Customers have the ability to choose an appropriate JustGreen program to supplement their electricity and natural gas contracts, providing
an effective metheod to offset their carbon footprint associated with the respactive commeodity consumption.

JustGreen programs for electricity customers involve the purchase of power from green generators {such as wind, sclar, run of the river
hydro or biomass) via power purchase agreements and renewable energy certificates. JustGreen programs for gas customers involve the
purchase of carbon offsets from carbon capture and reduction projects.
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JUSTCLEAN

In addition to its traditional commodity marketing business, Just Energy allows customers to effectively manage their carbon footprint
without buying energy commodity products by signing a JustClean contract. The JustClean products are essentially carbon offsets from
carban capture and reduction projects as well as green power renewable energy certificates from green generators. This product can be
offered in all states and provinces and is not dependent on energy deregulation.

BLEND AND EXTEND PROGRAM

As part of Just Energy’s retention effarts, electricity and natural gas customers may be contacted for early renewal of their contracts under a
Blend and Extend offer. These custorners are offered a lower rate, compared to their current contracted rate, but the term of their contract
is extended up to five more years. Consequently, Just Energy may experience a reduction in margins in the short termn but will gain
additional future margins.

CONSUMER (RESIDENTIAL) ENERGY DIVISION

The sale of gas and electricity to customers of 15 RCEs and less is undertaken by the Consumer Energy division. The marketing of energy
products of this division is primarily done door-to-door through 1,000 independent contractors, the Momentis network marketing operation
and Internet-based and telephone marketing efforts. Approximately 51% of Just Energy’s customer base resides within the Consumer
Energy division, which is currently focused on longer-term price-protected and variable rate offerings of commedity products, JustGreen and
JustClean. To the extent that certain markets are better served by shorter-term or enhanced variable rate products, the Consumer Energy
independent contractors aisg offer these products.

COMMERCIAL ENERGY DIVISION

Customers with annual consumption over 15 RCEs are served by the Commercial Energy division. These sales are made through three main
channels: door-to-door commercial independent contractors; inside commercial sales representatives; and sales through the broker channel
using the commercial platform acquired with the Hudson purchase. Commercial customers make up about 49% of Just Energy’s customer
base. Products cffered to commercial customers can range from standard fixed-price offerings to "one off” offerings, which are tailored to
rmeet the customer's specific needs. These products can be either fixed or floating rate or a blend of the two, and normaily have terms of
less than five years. Margin per RCE for this division is lower than consumer margins but customer aggregation costs and ongoing customer
care costs are lower as well on a per RCE basis. Commercial customers tend to have combined attrition and faited-to-renew rates that are
lower than those of consumer customers.

HOME SERVICES DIVISION

NHS began aperations in April 2008 and provides Ontario residential custermers with a long-term water heater, furnace and air conditioning
rental, offering high efficiency conventional and power vented tanks and tankless water heaters and high efficiency furnaces and air
conditioners. NHS markets through approximately 190 independent contractors in Ontario. See page 40 for additional information.

ETHANOL DIVISION

Just Energy owns and operates Terra Grain Fuels, a 150-million-litre capacity wheat-based ethanct plant located in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan.
The plant preduces wheat-based ethanol and high protein distillers” dried grain {"DDG*). On January 4, 2011, Just Energy acquired the
33.3% interest in TGF that was previously owned by EllisDon Design Build Inc. (“EllisDen”) pursuant to a put option exercised by EflisDon.
See page 40 for additional information on TGF.

NETWORK MARKETING DIVISION

Just Energy owns and cperates Momentis, a network marketing company operating within Canada and the U.S. Independent reprasentatives
educate consumers about the benefits of energy deregulation and sell them products offered by Just Energy as well as a number of other
products. Independent representatives are rewarded through commissions earned based on new customers added. As of March 31, 2012,
there were approximately 47,800 independent represertatives.

SOLAR DIVISION

Hudson Energy Solar, a solar project development platform operating in New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts, brings renewable
energy directly to the consumer, enabling them to reduce their environmental impact and energy costs. HES installs solar systems on
residential or commercial sites, maintaining ownership of the system and providing maintenance and monitering of the system for a period
of up to 20 years, HES sells the energy generated by the solar panels back to the customner. This division will contribute to operating metrics
through commodity sales, renewable energy credit offset sales and tax incentives. As of March 31, 2012, the division has made commitments
of approximately $90.7 million with the status of the associated projects ranging from contracted to completed.
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Adjusted EBITDA

For the years ended March 31
{thousands of doflars, except per share/unit amounts)
Fiscal 2012 Per share Fiscal 2011 Per share Fiscal 2010 Per unit

Reconciliation to income statement
Profit attributable to shareholders

of Just Energy $ (126,522) % {(0.89) § 355,076 § 257 % 231,49 1.79
Add:
Finance costs 60,935 59,883 16,134
Provision for income tax expense 37,527 173,439 (100,260}
Capital tax - 188 522
Amortization 140,697 148,805 70,826
EBITDA $ 112637 % 080 §$§ 737391 % 534 § 218,718 1.69
Add (subtract):
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 96,345 {506,047) 1,282
Base EBITDA 208982 § 1.48 231,344 % 1.68 220,00C 1.7¢
Add (subtract):
Selling and marketing expenses

to add gross margin 80,007 36,428 32,967
Maintenance capital expenditures {5,864) (8,818} {16,663)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 283125 % 200 § 258954 % 1.88 § 236,304 1.83
Adjusted EBITDA
Gross margin per financial statements $ 517489 § 366 $ 481562 § 349 3§ 415333 3.21
Add (subtract):
Administrative expenses (122,397} (109,400) (88,423)
Selling and marketing expenses (177,302) (133,607} (35,760)
Bad debt expense (28,514) (27,650} {17,940)
Share-based compensation (10,662) {2,914} {4,754)
Amortizaticn included in cost of sales/selling

and marketing expenses 26,617 22,266 4,381
Other income 6,702 7,235 3,515
Transaction costs (1,101} {1,284) -
Proportionate share of loss from

the joint venture (1,971} - -
Minority interest 124 2,136 3,648
Base EBITDA $ 208982 ¢$ 148 § 231,344 % 1.68 § 220,000 1.70
Selling and marketing expenses

to add gross margin 80,007 36,428 32,967
Maintenance capital expenditures (5,864} (8,818) (16,663)
Adjusted EBITDA § 283125 § 200 § 2585954 § 188 § 235,304 1.83
Cash distributions/dividends

{includes Special Distribution)
Distributions and dividends § 171,381 $ 161,585 $ 175517
Class A preference share distributions - 4,896 7,580
Restricted share grants/unit appreciation

rights and deferred share grant/unit

grant distributions 4,001 3,523 2,108
Total distributions/dividends $ 175382 § 1.24  § 170004 § 1.24 $ 185205 1.43
Adjusted fully diluted average number

of shares/units outstanding’ 141.4m 138.1m 129.4m

1 The per share/unit amounts are calculated on an acdjusted fully diluted basis, removing the impact of the $330m, $100m and $30m convertible debentures as

all will be anti-diutive in future periods.
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Base EBITDA differs from EBITDA in that the impact of the mark to market gains {iosses) from the financial instruments is removed. This
measure reflects operating profitability as mark to market gains ({losses} are associated with supply already sold at future fixed prices.
Just Energy ensures that the value of customer contracts is protected by entering into fixed-price supply contracts. Under (FRS, the vaiue
of the customer contracts is not marked to market but there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates
unrealized gains {josses) depending upon current supply pricing volatility. Management believes that these short-term mark to market
non-cash gains (losses) do not impact the long-term financial performance of just Energy.

For Adjusted EBITDA, selling and marketing expenses used for increasing gross margin are also removed along with maintenance capital
expenditures being deducted. As a corporation, management believes that Adjusted EBITDA is the best measure of operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDA amounted to $283.1 million ($2.00 per share) for fiscal 2012, an increase of 3% {7% per share) from $259.0 million
($1.88 per share} in the prior year. The increase is attributable to the increase in gross margin, offset by higher operating expenses. Gross
margin increased 7% (5% per share) overall with energy marketing gross margin increasing by 1% and margin contributions from NHS and
TGF increasing 78% and 31%, respeactively, versus the prior fiscal year.

Administrative expenses increased by 12% from $109.4 million to $122.4 million year over year. The increase over the prior comparable year
was due to the inclusion of the administrative expenses relating to Fulcrum of $5.9 million and investments in growth for sclar and network
marketing expansion. Excluding the Fulcrum-related expenses, administrative expenses amounted to $416.5 million, a 6% increase over prior
vear in order to suppert the 10% organic growth in the customer base. A portion of the 6% non-Fulcrum growth is attributable to the
Company's expansion into new markets where investments have been made but the customer growth is not yet reflected in the resuits.

Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended March 31, 2012, were $177.3 million, a 33% increase from $133.6 million reported in
the prior comparative year, This increase is attributable to the 9% increase in customer additions as well as the increased investments
related to the build-out of the independent recresentative network by Morentis. Exciuding the $37.3 million of costs associated with the
building of Momentis, sales and marketing expenses increased by 5% to $140.0 million.

The sales and marketing expenses regresenting the costs associated with maintaining gross margin, which are deducted in Adjusted
EBITDA, were $83.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2012, 2% lower than $84.8 million in the prior fiscal year. Customers lost
through attriticn and failure to renew were 775,000 for the year, up from 638,000 for the year prior, reflecting a 17% higher customer
base. Margin growth from NHS and the TGF contributed to the offset of lost margin at a relatively low sales and marketing cost.

Bad debt expense was $28.5 million for the year ended March 31, 2012, a 3% increass from $27.7 million recorded for the pricr comparable
year. This increase is a result of the 15% increase in revenue for markets for which Just Energy bears the bad debt risk year over year. Far
the year-end March 31, 2012, the bad debt expense of $28.5 million represents approximately 2.4% of revenue in the jurisdictions where
the Company hears the credit risk.

Dividends and distributions paid for the year ended March 31, 2012, were $175.4 million, an increase of 3% from the prior comparative year
as a result of a higher number of shares outstanding. The payout ratio on Base EBITDA was 84% for the year ended March 31, 2012, versus
73% in fiscal 2011, For the year ended March 31, 2012, the payout ratic on Adjusted EBITDA was 62%, versus 66% in the prior year.

For further information on the changes in the gross margin, please refer to " Gas and electricity marketing” on page 35 and “Administrative
expenses”, “Selling and marketing expenses”, “Bad debt expense” and “Finance costs”, which are further clarified on pages 41 through 43,

For the year ended March 31, 2010, gross margin was $415.3 million for the year, reflecting lower gas consumption from the winter
months being warmer than expected. Administrative, sales and marketing and bad debt expenses amounted to $88.4 million, $95.8 miillion
and $17.9 million, respectively. For fiscal 2010, Adjusted EBITDA amounted to $236.3 million {$1.83 per unit} and payout ratio on Adjusted
EBITDA was 78% for the year, reflecting higher distributions of $1.43 per unit due to a Special Distribution of $C.20 per unit being paid.

FUTURE EMBEDDED GROSS MARGIN
Management's estimate of the future embedded gross margin is as follows:

(mitlions of dollars)

. Mar 2012 vs. Mar 2011 vs.

As at Mar 31,  Asat Mar 31, Mar 2011 As at Mar 31, Mar 2010

2012 201 Variance 2010 Variance

Canada - energy marketing (CAD$) 5 5921 % 632.6 6% 3% 783.1 (19%
Home Services division {CAD$) 393.0 2827 39% 176.7 60%
Canada - total (CADY) 9851 915.3 8% 959.8 (5)%
U.5. — energy marketing (US$) 994.1 835.6 19% A414.6 102%
Total (CADS) $ 19768 § 11,7255 15% $ 13810 25%
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Management's estimate of the future embedded gross margin amounted to $1,976.8 million as at March 31, 2012, from $1,725.5 million,
an increase of 15% from fiscal 2011. This is over and above the $484.4 million in margin realized by the energy marketing and home
services divisions in fiscal 2012. The future embedded gross margin for Canada was up 8%, with 39% higher embedded margin from the
Home Services division more than offsetting 6% lower margins from energy marketing. The decline in Canadian energy marketing
embedded margin was primarily due to a pet customer loss of 10% during the year. NHS embedded margins were up 39% in the year
reflecting a 39% increase in installed customers aver the year. The embedded margin for NHS represents the margin associated with the
remaining average life of the customer contracts.

U.S. future embedded gross margin grew 13% over the year from US$835.6 million tc US$994.1 million. Tha growth in energy marketing
embedded margins for the year includes US$76 million of future margin associated with customers acquired from Fulcrum. Excluding this
growth from the Fulcrum acquisition, the growth in energy marketing embedded gross margin was lower than the 10% organic growth in
customer base as the commercial customers, which make up a growing percentage of new additions, by design have lower margins and
shorter base contract terms than residential customers. However, the addition of commercial customers also results in lower customer
aggregation costs and lower annual customer servicing costs, neither of which is captured in embedded margin.

The U.S. dollar strengthened 3% against the Canadian doliar over fiscal 2012, resulting in an increase of $27.7 million in future embedded
gross margin when stated in Canadian dollars.

Funds from operations

For the years ended March 3!
(thousands of dolfars, except per sharefunit amounts)

Fiscal 2012 Per share Fiscal 2011 Per share Fiscal 2010 Per unit

Cash inflow from operations $ 144390 ¢ .02 5 145555 % 1.05 § 1858273 % 1.22
Add:
Increase in non-cash working capital 27,032 39,063 35,523
Dividend/distribution classified as finance cost - 7.798 -
Other 121 354 -
Tax adjustment 3,957 (161) 3,237
Funds from operations $ 175500 % 1.24 % 192609 % 139 % 197,033 4§ 1.52
Payout ratio 100% 88% 94%
Add: marketing expense to add

new gross margin 80,007 36,428 32,967
Less: maintenance capital expenditures (5,864) (8,818} {16,663}
Adjusted funds from operations $ 249643 % 177 % 220219 % 159 % 213,337 % 1.65
Payout ratio 70% 77% 87%
Adjusted fully diluted average number

of shares outstanding’ 141.4m 138.1m 129.4m

¥ The per sharefunit amounts are calculated on an adjusted fully diluted basis, removing the impact of the $330m, $100m and $90m convertible debentures as
all wilt be anti-dilutive in future periods.

Funds from operations represents the cash available for distributicn to the sharehclders of Just Energy. For the year ended March 31, 2012,
funds from cperations were $175.5 million ($1.24 per share), a 9% decrease from $192.6 million ($1.39 per share} in the prior year. This
decrease is a result of the additional spending associated with the expansion of the solar and network marketing divisions in the current
fiscal year, for which the benefit will not be recegnized unti! future periods. The payout ratio on funds from operations was 100% for the
year ended March 31, 2012, versus 88% in the prior year, reflecting investments made for future growth during the year.

Adjusted funds from cperations is adjusted to deduct only the sales and marketing expenses associated with maintaining gross margin as
well as the maintenance capital‘éxpenditures for the year. These expenditures totalled $85.9 million and, with the acquisition of Fulcrum,
resulted in an increase in embedded future margin of $251.3 million. For the year ended March 31, 2012, adjusted funds from operations
was $249.6 million ($1.77 per sharg}, an increase of 13% over $220.2 million ($1.59 per share} in the prior year. Payout ratios were 70%
for the year ended March 31, 2012, and 77% in the prior fiscal year.

For the year ended March 31, 2010, funds from operations amounted to $197.0 million {$1.52 per unit}, resulting in a payout ratio of
94%, including the Special Distribution. Adjusted funds from cperations was $213.3 miltion ($1.65 per unit) for fiscal 2010, resulting in a
distribution payout ratio of 87%.
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Selected consolidated financial data

(thousands of dolfars, except where indicated and per share/unit amounts)

Just Energy has adopted (FRS as the basis for regorting financiai resuits for fiscal 2012, The comparative figures for fiscal 2011 have been
restated in accordance with the Company's IFRS accounting policies tut fiscal 2010 results are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP,
The following table provides selected financial information for the last three fiscal years.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA
For the years ended March 31

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010
Sales $2,785269 $2,953,192 $2,299231
Gross margin 517,489 481,562 415,333
Net income (loss) (126,643) 352,340 231,496
Net income (loss) per share/unit — basic (0.92) 2.77 1.81
Net income (loss) per share/unit — diluted (0.92) 240 1.79
BALANCE SHEET DATA
As at March 31

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010
Total assets § 1,543,044 1,590,026 $1,353,095
Long-term liabilities 999,608 890,657 824,393

2012 COMPARED WITH 2011

Sales decreased by 6% from $3.0 hillion in fiscal 2011 to $2.8 billien in fiscal 20712. The sales decline was the result of a gradual reduction
in average price within the customer base as new custamars signed, and customer renewals, are at lower prices than that of custorners
expiring or lost through attrition primarily as a result of the decrease in commodity market prices.

For the year ended March 31, 2012, gross margin increased by 7% to $517.5 million from $481.6 million reported in fiscal 2011. Gross
margin related to energy marketing increased 1% year over year despite @ 17% increase in customer base as a result of the warm winter
temperatures impacting gas consumption across all markets and the increasing percentage of lower margin commercial customers within
the overall book, Gross margin from TGF and NHS increased by 31 % and 78%, respectively, for the year ended March 31, 2012.

Net loss for fiscal 2012 amounted to $126.6 millien, compared with net income of $352.9 million in fiscal 2011. The change in net income
{loss} is due 1o the change in fair value of the derivative instruments, which showed a loss of $96.3 millicn in fiscal 2012, versus a gain in
fiscal 2011 of $506.0 million. Under {FRS, the customer margins are not marked to market, but there is 2 requirement to mark tc market
the future supply contracts, creating unrealized gains or losses depending on the suppty pricing.

Total assets slightly decreased to $1.5 billion in fiscal 2012 as a result of the amortization of the intangible assets acquired through the
Hudson acquisiticn.

Total long-term liabilities as of March 31, 2012, were $999.6 million representing a 12% increase over fiscal 2011. Just Energy funded the
Fulcrum acquisition effective October 1, 2011, by issuing $100 million in convertible debentures, which as at March 31, 2012, were valued
at $85.9 million in long-term deht. Offsetting this increase, other long-term liahilities have decreased in fiscal 2012 primarily due to the
mevement from long-term liabilities to short-term liabilities as at March 31, 2012,

2011 COMPARED WITH 2010

Just Energy adopted IFRS effective April 1, 2010. As a result, fiscal 2011 results were prepared in accordance with IFRS. For the year ended
March 31, 2010, the financial results were reported using Canadian GAAP. This 2011 to 2010 comparison considers the changes between
the fiscal 2011 results reported under IFRS and the fiscal 2010 results reported under Canadian GAAP.

Sales increased by 28% in fiscal 2011 due to a 45% net increase in customers as a result of 999,000 new additions and the acguisition

of Hudscn, Effective May 1, 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of 660,000 largely commercial Hudson customers and issued

$330 million of convertible debentures in order to finance the acquisition. For further information on the acquisition, see page 27. As at
March 31, 2011, commercial customers made up 40% of the Just Energy customer base, and while there are lower margins associated with
these customers, the associated expenses to acquire and maintain are lower on a per RCE basis. Gross margin increased to $481.6 million
or 16% over fiscal 2010.
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Net income increased by 52% from $231.5 miliion {$1.79 per unit) in fiscal 2010 to $352.9 million ($2.56 per share} in fiscal 2011,

The change in net income relates primarily to the change in fair value of the derivative instruments, which showed a gain in fiscal 2011
of $506.0 million versus a loss of $1.3 miliion in fiscal 2010, as wel! as strong operating results for the year. Offsetting this increase is the
income tax provision of $173.4 million for fiscal 2011, versus an income tax recovery of $100.3 million in fiscal 2010.

Total assets increased by 21% to $1.6 billion in fiscal 2011. The largest components of this change relate to the property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and contract initiation costs recorded as part of the Hudson acguisition.

Total iong-term liabilities of $890.7 miliion represent an 8% increase over fiscal 2010Q. Just Energy funded the Hudsan acquisition by issuing
$330 million in convertible debentures, which as at March 31, 2011, were valued at $286.4 million and recorded in long-term debt.
Other long-term liabilities also decreased in fiscal 2011 primarily due to the change in mark to market valuation of future supgly positions.

Summary of quarterly results

(thousands of dolfars, except per share/unit amounts)

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

fiscal 2012 fiscal 2012 fiscal 2012 fiscal 2012

Sales $§ 820412 § 738614 § 600,043 $ 626,200
Gross margin 173,260 147,407 102,561 94,261
Administrative expenses 34,031 31,308 28,774 28,284
Finance costs 16,426 16,377 14,340 13,792
Net income (loss) (76,895) (97,386) (3,494) 51,132
Net income {loss) per share - basic (0.55) (0.70) (0.03) 0.37
Net income (loss) per share - diluted (0.55) (0.70) (0.03) 0.35
Dividends/distributions paid 44,152 43,934 43,691 43,605
Base EBITDA 76,948 63,563 38,604 29,867
Adjusted EBITDA 109,287 88,513 47,894 37,431
Payout ratic on Base EBITDA 57% 69% 113% 146%
Payout ratic on Adjusted EBITDA 40% 30% 91% 116%
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

fiscal 2011 fiscal 2011 fiscal 2011 fiscal 2011

Sales $ 941,334 $ 744296 $ 657878 $ 609,684
Gross margin 172,599 132,084 896,719 80,355
Adrinistrative expenses 28,367 26,299 25,963 28,841
Finance costs 13,646 5,679! 12,823 9,937
Net income (loss} 37,119 178,468 {133,436) 270,789
Net income (loss) per unit — basic 0.27 .41 (1.07) 219
Net income (Joss} per unit — diluted 0.23 1.16 (1.07) 1.78
Distributions paid 43,208 42,450 42,276 42,070
Base EBITDA 109,282 68,823 31,441 21,798
Adjusted EBITDA 114,934 76,800 37,497 29,726
Payout ratio on Base EBITDA 40% 62% 134% 193%
Payout ratio on Adjusted EBITDA 38% 55% 113% 142%

¥ Excludes distributions paid to holders of Exchangeable Shares prior to Conversion included as finance costs under IFRS.

Just Energy’s results reflect seasonality, as consumption is greatest during the third and fourth quarters (winter quarters). While year over
year quarterly comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters wil' vary materially. The main impact of this will be higher Base EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA and lower payout ratios in the third and fourth quarters and lower Base EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA and higher payout
ratios in the first and second quarters.

ANALYSIS OF THE FOURTH QUARTER

Sales decreased by 13% quarter over quarter to $820.4 million from $941.3 million. Sates from gas and electricity marketing decreased by
14% quarter over quarter primarily as a resuit of lower commaodity prices as well as lower gas consumption due to the extremely warm
winter temperatures across Just £nergy’s gas markets versus relatively cold weather of the prior year. This decrease was partially offset by
higher sales for NHS and TGF. Gross margin was flat quarter over quarter due to the increase in gross margin contribution from NHS and
TGF offsetting the 4% lower gross margin from energy marketing. The decline in energy marketing gross margin was attributable to the
extremely warm winter weather in Just Energy markets and the impact on natural gas consumption. Heating degree days in Just Energy’s
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primary gas markets were 10% to 15% warmer than normal in January and February, with March being 38% warmer than normal. Gross
margin percentage increased to 21% for fiscal 2012 versus 18% for fiscal 2011 due to improved margin per customer in energy marketing
and improved results at NHS and TGF,

The change in fair value of derivative instruments resulted in a loss of $30.2 million for the current quarter, in comparison with a gain of
$139.7 million in the fourth quarter of the prior fiscal year. Net loss for the three months ended March 31, 2012, was $76.9 million,
representing a loss per share of $0.55. For the prior comparative quarter, net income was $37.1 million, representing income of $0.27 and
$0.23 on a basic and diiuted per share basis, respectively. The fair value of derivative instruments represents the mark to market of future
commodity supply acquired to cover future customer demand. The supgly has been sold to custormners at future fixed prices, minimizing any
impact of mark to market gains and losses.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased by 5% to $109.3 million for the three menths ended March 31, 2012. This decrease is attributable to the
weather impact on energy marketing and higher administrative, bad debt and selling and marketing expenses to maintain gross margin.
Base EBITDA (after all selling and marketing costs) decreased by 30% to $76.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2012, down
from $105.3 million in the prior comparable quarter primarily as a result of higher investment in the solar and network marketing divisions
as well as investments to open new geographic territaries for energy marketing. These expenditures will support future growth for the
Company. For the three months ended March 31, 2012, the provision for income tax expense amounted to $15.8 million versus the prior
comparative period expense of $162.0 miliion, which was a result of a change in the deferred tax rate due to the Conversion.

Dividends/distributions paid were $44.2 million, a 2% increase from $43.2 million paid in the prior comparative quarter. The increase is due
to the higher number of cutstanding shares as the annual dividends/distribution rate was unchanged at $1.24 per year. Payout ratio on
Adjusted EBITDA was 40% for the three menths ended March 21, 2012, compared with 38% in the pricr comparable quarter.

Gas and electricity marketing

For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)
Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Sales Gas Electricity Total Gas Electricity Total
Canada $ 476,020 § 489043 $ 965063 $ 660,036 $ 619985 § 1,280,021
United States 407,037 1,230,810 1,637,847 525,714 1,015,347 1,541,061
$ 883,057 §1,719853 §2602910 §$1,185750 §$1,635332 $2821082
Increase {decrease) (26)% 5% {8)%
Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Gross margin Gas Electricity Total Gas Electricity Total
Canada $ 85222 § 93151 § 178373 § 94200 § 94749 § 188,949
United States 54,918 223,081 277,999 78,563 183,922 262,485
$ 140140 $ 316232 § 456372 § 172763 § 278671 $ 451,434
Increase {decrease) {19)% 13% 1%

Sales for the year ended March 31, 2012, were $2.6 billion, a decrease of 8% from $2.8 hillion in the prior year. The sales dedline reflects
the impact of the decrease in commadity prices within contracts signed in recent periods and the impact on gas consumption of the
extremely warm temperatures during the third and fourth quarters. Because of the lower commodity prices, Just Energy has experienced a
gradual reduction in average price within the customer base as new customers signed and custemer renewals are at lower prices than that
of customers expiring or lost through attrition.

Gross margins were $456.4 million for the year, an increase of 1% from the $451.4 million earned during the year ended harch 31, 2011.
The increase in grass margin is primarily a result of the record number of customers added through marketing and the Fulcrum acquisition,
offset by the impact from the warm winter partially mitigated through weather derivative options.
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GAS

Sales were $883.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2012, down 26% from $1,185.8 million in the prior year. Gross margins were
$140.1 million for fiscal 2012, a decrease of 19% from $172.8 million in the prior year. The number of gas customers has decreased by
10% during the fiscal year.

Just Energy entered intc weather index derivatives for the period from November 1, 2011, through to March 31, 2012, with the intention
of reducing grass margin fluctuations from extrerne weather. The maximumpayout cap on the options was $15 million. The weather during
the third quarter was approximately 10% to 15% warmer than normal and accounted for appraximately $9 million of the total option
payout. For the fourth quarter, weather remained approximately 10% to 15% warmer for January and February, abserbing the remainder
of the payout cap, but then the weather was approximately 38% warmer than normal in the month of March. The impact from the record
warm winter was lost gross margin of approximately $28 miliion, offset by the $15 million payout from the weather index derivative.

Canada

Canadian gas sales were $476.0 millicn, a decrease of 28% from $660.0 million recarded for the year ended March 31, 2011. Gross
margin totalled $85.2 million, down 10% from the prior comparative year. The decrease in sales is a result of the decline in commodity
prices reflected in recent contract offerings, the 15% smaller customer base and lower consumpticn due te the extremely warm winter,
Gross margin was 10% lower in fiscal 2012 than the prior year due to the smaller customer base and lower consumption of gas, offset by
higher realized margin per customer.

After aliowance for balancing and inclusive of acquisitions, realized average gross margin per customer (*GM/RCE") for the year ended
March 31, 2012, amounted to $178/RCE compared to $160/RCE for the prior year. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance
for the bad debt expense in Alberta.

United States

Far the year ended March 31, 2012, gas sales totalled $407.C million, a decrease of 23% from $525.7 million in the prior year. Gross
margin for the gas markets in the U.S. was $54.9 million, a 30% decrease versus $78.6 million reported in the prior year. Total gas
customers in the U.S. decreased by 4% during fiscal 2012. The lower sales and gross margin were the result of lower consumption due to
warmer than usual winter weather and the overall decrease in customer base. The lower commaodity price environment and its impact on
recently signed contracts also contributed to the decline in gas sales in the U.S. year over year.

Average realized gross margin after al! balancing costs for the vear ended March 31, 2012, was $113/RCE, a decrease from $141/RCE. In
addition to the impact from weather, a higher proportion of commercial customers were added which have lower margins per RCE by
design. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for bad debt exgense in lllinois, Georgia and California.

ELECTRICITY
Sales for fiscal 2012 were $1,719.9 million, an increase of 5% from $1,635.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2011, Gross margin was
$316.2 million, up 13% from $278.7 million in the prior year. The number of electricity customers has increased by 32% during the past year.

Canada

Electricity sales were $4839.0 million for the year ended March 31, 2012, a decrease of 21% from the prior comparatle year due to a 5%
decline in RCEs as well as new variable rate products offered at lower sales prices. Gross margin cecreased by 2% vear over year to
$93.2 million versus $94.7 million in the priar year. The substantially iower decline in margin versus customers was largely due to higher
margins associated with the JustGreen product offerings as well as some attractive variable rate products.

Realized average gross margin per custemer in Canada, after all balancing and including acquisitions for the year ended March 31, 2012,
amounted tc $141/RCE, an increase from $127/RCE in the prior year. The GM/RCE vaiue includes an appropriate allowance for the bad
debt expense in Alberta.

United States

Electricity sales in the U.S. were $1,230.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2012, an increase of 21% from $1,015.3 miliion in the prior
year. Gross margin for electricity in the U.S. was $223.1 million, a 21% increase from $183.9 million recorded in fiscal 2011. Driving sales
growth was the 53% increase in customer base during the vear, as a result of strong additions through marketing and 240,000 RCEs added
through the Fulcrum acquisition, effective Gctober 1, 2011, These Fularum customers had a limited impact on sales and margins as they will
generate the majority of their annual reverue and margin in the first and second quarters (summer months}.

Average gross margin per customer for electricity during the year decreased to $132/RCE, compared to $149/RCE in the prior year, as a
result of a higher properticn of commercial customers added which have iower margins per RCE by design. The GM/RCE value for Texas,
Pennsylvania, Massachusetts and California includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense.
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Long-term customer aggregation

Failed March 31, % increase
April 1, 2011 Additions Acquired Attrition 1o renew 2012 (decrease}
Natural gas
Canada 656,000 63,000 - {61,000) (100,000} 558,000 (15)%
United States 574,000 135,000 - {134,000} {24,000} 551,000 (4%
Total gas 1,230,000 198,000 - (195,000) (124,000} 1,109,000 (10)%
Electricity
Canada 736,000 102,000 - {62,000 (78,000} 698,000 (5)%
United States 1,348,000 791,000 240,000 (213,000} (103,000} 2,063,000 53%
Total electricity 2,084,000 833,000 240,000 (275,000) (181,000) 2,761,000 32%
Combined 3,314,000 1,091,000 240,000 (470,000} (305,000} 3,870,000 17%

Gross customer additions for the year were 1,091,000, up 9% from the previous record 999,000 customers added through marketing in
fiscal 2011. Net additions from marketing were 316,000 for the year versus 361,000 net customers added in fiscal 2011, The custormer
base increased by 17% during fiscal 2012, including the 240,000 customers acquired from Fulcrum effective October 1, 2011.

Consumer customer additicns amounted to 429,000 for the fiscal year, effectively unchanged from the 428,000 customer additions
racorded in fiscal 2011. Management continues to diversify its sales ptatform beyond door-to-deor sales to include the Momentis network,
telegchone and online marketing channels.

Commercial additions were 682,000 for the year, a 16% increase from 571,000 additions in the previous fiscal year. The broker sales
channel continues to expand across Just Energy’s existing markets.

Net additions from marketing exceeded 100,000 in both the third and fourth guarters, following growth of 45,000 and 44,000, respectively,
for the first and second quarter. This reflects improved performance across each of the sales channels in both the Consumer and
Commercial divisions.

Total gas customers decreased by 10% during the vear, reflecting a difficult price erwironment with a large disparity between utility spot
prices and the five-year prices. The extended period of low, stable gas prices has reduced the customer appetite for the stability of higher
priced long-term fixed contracts. As a result, Just Energy has moved to a variety of consumer preducts that provide a different value
proposition in the current environment. Successful new variable and monthly flat rate contracts ara being scld white spot market prices
rernain stable.

Total electricity customers were up 32% during the year, with a 53% growth in the U.5. market and a 5% decrease in customers in the
Canadian markets. The growth in the U.S. is a result of the strong additions and the 240,000 acquired Fulcrum customers, while the
Canadian electricity market, particularly in Cntaric, continues to face competitive challenges due to fow utility pricing,

JUSTGREEN AND JUSTCLEAN

Sales of the JustGreen products remain strong despite premium pricing in a low-price environment. The JustGreen program allows customers
to choose to purchase units of green energy in the form of renewable energy or carbon offsets, in an effort to reduce greenhouse gas
emissicns. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy, it creates a contractual obligation for Just Energy to purchase a supply of
green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer’s purchase. A review was conducted by Grant Thornton LLP of

Just Energy’s Renewable Energy and Carbon Offsets Sales and Furchases report for the period from January 1, 2011, through December 31,
2011, validating the match of Just Energy’s renewable energy and carbon offset purchases against customer contracts. Just Energy has
contracts with over 70 carbon offset and renewable energy projects across North America and is actively pursuing new projects to meet cur
growing demand for green energy alternatives. Just Energy purchases carbon offsets and renewable energy credits for the current and
future use of our customers. Qur purchases help developers finance their projects.

The Company currently sells JustGreen gas in the eligible markets of Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia, Alberta, Michigan, New York, Ohio,
lllinois and Pennsylvania. JustGreen electricity is sold in Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas and Pennsylvania. Of ail consumer customers who
contracted with Just Energy in the past year, 29% took JustGreen for some or all of their energy needs. On average, these customers elected
10 purchase 84% of their consumption as green supply. In the previous year, 36% of the consumer customers who contracted with Just
Energy chose to include JustGreen for an average of 90% of their consumption. The reduction in green take-up is primarily related to our gas
consumers and the high premium on the product in a low commaodity price envirenment. Qverall, JustGreen now makas up 10% of the
Consumer gas portfolio, up from 6% a year ago. JustGreen makes up 12% of the Consumer electricity portfolio, up frem 10% a year ago.
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In addition, JustClean products are being offered in some markets within Canada. JustClean products are carbon offsets from carbon
capture and reduction projects as well as green power renewable energy certificates from green generators. The JustClean product can be
offered in all states and provinces and is nct dependent on energy deregulation. The Company is exploring opportunities to expand this
praduct offering to new markets throughout the U.5. and Canada, beth regulated and deregulated.

ATTRITION

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Natural gas
Canada 10% 10%
United States 24% 23%
Electricity
Canada 9% 10%
United States 13% 17%
Total attrition 13% 15%

The primary contributing factor to attrition rates experienced in fiscal 2012 is that most custorners sighed in the past three years are on
prices consistent with current market prices. The atirition from these customers and their eventual renewal will benefit from this pricing; in
zddition, there are generally lower attrition rates among the growing base of commercial customners. The average rate of attrition declined
by 2% tc 13%, continuing the trend of improvement seen since the real estate crisis of 2008,

Natural gas
The annual natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% for the year, unchanged from the attrition rate reported in the prior year. In the U.S.,
annual gas attrition was 24%, a slight increase from 23% experienced a year prior.

Electricity

The annual electricity attrition rate in Canada was 9%, slightly lower than the 10% reported in the prior year. Electricity attrition in the U.S.
was 13% for fiscal 2012, a decrease from 17% reported for the prior fiscal year, due to the increasing commercial customer base which has
historically experienced tower attrition rates.

RENEWALS
Consurner Commercial

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Natural gas
Canada 52% 69% 61% 49%
United States 85% 73% 62% 77%
Electricity
Canada 51% 63% 59% 58%
United States 87% 75% 64% 60%
Total renewals - consumer and commercial divisions 64% 65%

The Just Energy renewal process is a multifaceted program that aims to maximize the number of customers who choose to renew their
contract prior to the end of their existing contract term. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance, allowing a customer to renew for an
additienal period. Management’s targeted renewal rates for consumer customers are to be in the range of 70% overall, assuming
commodity price volatility remains low. Renewal rates for commercial customers are expected to be more volatile than those of consumer
customers as a commercial renewal is often a function of a competitive bid process and these customers regularly change suppliers. The
combined renewal rate for all customers, both consumer and commercial, was 64% for fiscal 2012, down slightly from 65% for the prior
year. t is anticipated that Canadian renewal rates and overall averages will improve towards target levels as mare customers begin to renew
off of market priced contracts in coming years.
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GAS AND ELECTRICITY CONTRACT RENEWALS
This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in each of the following fiscal years:

Canada ~ Canada - us. - us. -

gas electricity gas electricity

2013 33% 34% 24% 35%
2014 18% 15% 11% 16%
2015 18% 13% 13% 15%
2016 18% 20% 19% 15%
Beyond 2016 13% 18% 33% 19%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

All menth-to-menth customers, which represent 294,000 RCEs, are excluded in the tabte above.

Gross margin earned through new marketing efforts

ANNUAL GROSS MARGIN PER CUSTOMER FOR NEW AND RENEWED CUSTOMERS

The table below depicts the annual margins on contracts of residential and commercial customers signed during the quarter. This table
reflects all margin earned on new additions and renewals including both the brewn commodity and JustGreen. Customers added through
marketing or renewal had lower margins than the customers lost through attrition or failure to renew due tc the need to price closer to the
very low utility floating rate alternative and substantially lower commaodity prices on new contracts versus those up for renewal or lost
through attriticn. For large commercial customers, the average gross margin for new customers added was $82/RCE. The aggregation cost
of these customers is commensurately lower per RCE compared to a residential customer.

ANNUAL GROSS MARGIN PER CUSTOMER'

Number of
Fiscal 2012 customers
Censumer customers added in the year
Canada - gas $ 169 35,000
Canada - electricity 123 46,000
United States - gas 1986 112,000
United States — electricity 168 236,000
Average annual margin 170
Consumer customers renewed in the year
Canada - gas S 165 49,000
Canada - electricity 140 55,000
United States - gas 205 38,000
United States — electricity 163 41,000
Average annual margin 162
Consumer customers lost in the year
Canada — gas $ 193 117,000
Canada — electricity 150 103,000
United States — gas 211 142,000
United States — electricity 210 158,000
Average annual margin 194
Commercial customers added in the year $ 82 662,000
Commercial customers lost in the year . 3 147 254,000

' Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt.
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Home Services division (NHS)

NHS provides Ontario residential customers with long-term water heater rental programs that offer conventional tanks, power vented tanks
and tankless water heaters in a variety of sizes as well as high efficiency furnaces and air conditioners. NHS continues its strong customer
growth with installations for the year amounting to 40,400 water heaters and 6,400 air conditioners and furnaces, compared with 38,200
water heaters and 3,400 air conditioner and furnace units installed in the prior comparable year. Overall, installations increased by 13%,
although the incraase in margin from the increased base is greater as the average monthiy rental revenue for HVAC products is 2.5 times
that of a water heater. NHS currently markets through approximately 190 indegendent contractors.

As NHS is a high growth, relatively capital-intensive business, Just Energy's management believes that, in order to maintain stability of
dividends, separate non-recourse financing of this capital is approgriate. NHS entered into a long-term financing agreement with Home Trust
Company ("HTC") for the funding of the water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners in the Enpridge Gas {January 2010) and Union Gas
{July 2010} distribution territories. Under the HTC agreement, NH5 receives funds equal to the amount of the five-, seven- or ten-year cash
flow {at its option) of the water heater, furnace and air conditioner contracts discounted at the contracted rate, which is currently 7.99%.
HTC is then paid an amount that is equal to the customer rental payments on the water heaters for the next five, seven or ten years as
applicable. The funding received from HTC up to March 31, 2012, was $187.4 million. As at March 31, 2012, the balance outstanding was
$147.2 million, with an average term of 6.1 years.

Management’s strategy for NHS is to self-fund the business through its growth phase, building value within the customer base. This way,
NHS will not require significant cash from Just Energy’s core operations nor will Just Energy rely on NHS's cash flow to fund dividends.

The result will be an asset, which will generate strong cash returns following repayment of the HTC financing. The embedded margin within
the NHS contracts grew 39% to $393.C million as at March 31, 2012, up from $282.7 million a year prior. NHS also realized a margin of
$28.0 million during the year in addition to the growth in embedded margin.

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

for the years ended March 31
{thousands of dofiars, except where indicated)

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Sales per financial statements $ 35642 $ 22566
Cost of sales 7,663 6,869
Gross margin 27,979 15,697
Selling and marketing expenses 4,188 3,302
Administrative expenses 12,901 12,083
Finance costs 10,018 6,468
Capital expenditures 35,685 30,625
Amortization 1,799 1,802
Total number of water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners installed 165,400 118,600

RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS

For the year ended March 31, 2012, NHS had sales of $35.6 million for the year, up 58% from $22.6 million reported in fiscal 2011. Gross
margin amounted to $28.0 million for the year ended March 31, 2012, an increase of 78% from $15.7 million reported in the prior year.
The increase in sales was greater than the 39% increase in the number of units instalied year cver year due to a full year of revenue being
earned from the installations during the pricr year as well as the fact that revenue associated with HVAC installations is approximately

2.5 times that of a water heater unit. The cost of sales for the year ended March 31, 2012, was $7.7 million, of which $6.8 million represents
the non-cash amortization of the installed water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners for the customer contracts signed to date.
Administrative costs, which relate primarily 1o administrative staff compensation and warehouse expenses, were $12.9 million for the year
ended March 31, 2012, an increase of 7% year over year due to business growth.

Finance costs amounted to $10.0 million as a result of the financing arangement with HTC. Cagital expenditures, including installation
costs, amounted to $35.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2012.

Ethanol division (TGF)

TGF continues to remain fecused on improving the plant production and run time of the Belie Plaine, Saskatchewan, wheat-based ethanol
facility. For the year ended March 31, 2012, the plant achieved an average production capacity of 80%, an increase from average
production capacity of 78% in the prior year as a result of efficiencies gained.

Ethanol prices were, on average, $0.72 per litre and wheat prices averaged $213 per metric tonne for the year ended March 31, 2012. For
the prior comparable year, average ethano! prices were $0.57 per litre and wheat prices were $168 per metric tonne. As at March 31, 2012,
ethanol was priced at $0.59 per litre.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

For the years ended March 31
{thousands of dollars, except where indicated)

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Sales per financial statements $ 130491 § 108526
Cost of sales 112,659 94,301
Gross margin 17,832 13,625
Administrative expenses 8,229 11,231
Finance costs 6,485 6,862
Capital expenditures 250 267
Amortization 1,337 1,193

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended March 31, 2012, TGf nhad sales of $130.5 million, a 20% increase from $108.5 million in the prior comparable year.
Cost of sales ameunted to $112.7 million, an increase of 19% from $24.9 million in the prior comparable year. During fiscal 2012, the
plant produced 119.3 milticn litres of ethanol and 111,104 metric tonnes of DDG, resulting in a productive capacity of 80%. In the prior
comparable year, TGF produced 117.7 milficn litres of ethanol and 111,417 metric tonnes of DDG and experienced an average producticn
capacity of 78%. Administrative expenses declined 27% due 1o a reclassification of certain costs to cost of sales.

TGF receives a federal subsidy related to the ecoEnergy for Biofuels Agreement initially signed on February 17, 2009, based on the volume
of ethancl produced. The subsidy is $0.08 per litre for fiscal 2012. The subsidy amount declines through time to $0.05 per litre of ethanol
produced in fiscal 2015, the last year of the agreement.

Overall consolidated results

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
For the year ended March 31, 2012, administrative expenses were $122.4 million, an increase of 12% from $109.4 million in the prior year.

% increase

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 {decrease)
Energy marketing $ 97085 ¢ 83558 16%
NHS 12,901 12,083 7%
TGF 8,229 11,231 (2%
Other 4,182 2,528 65%
Total administrative expenses $ 122,397 $ 105,400 12%

Energy marketing administrative costs were $97.1 million for fiscal 2012, an increase of 16% from $83.6 million for the year ended March 31,
2011, This increase is primarily attributable to the inclusion of $5.2 million in administrative costs related to the Fulcrum acquisition.
Management did not anticipate any material synergies to be gained from the Fulcrum acguisition with respect to the administrative
expenses, Excluding the Fulcrum-related costs, administrative expenses amounted to $31.2 million, a $% increase in administrative
expenses year over year as a result of the additional costs associated with supporting the growth in customer base. A portion of the 9%
non-Fulcrum growth is attributed to the Company's expansion inte new markets where investments have been made but the customer
growth is not yet reflected in the results.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Selling and marketing expenses, which consist of commissicns paid to independent sales contractors, brokers and independent representatives
as well as sales-related corporate costs, were $177.3 million, an increase of 33% from $133.6 million in fiscal 2C11. Excluding the $37.3 million
of costs associated with the expansicn of Momentis, sales and marketing expenses increased by 5% to $140.0 million. New customers
signed by the sales force totailed 1,091,000 during fiscal 2012, an increase of 9% compared to 999,000 customers added through our
sales channels in the prior year. The increase in sales and marketing costs was less than the increase in customers due to the large
component of commercial customers added. Commissions per RCE for commercial customers are lower than those of consumer customers.

Commissions related to obtaining and renewing Hudson commercial contracts are paid all or partially upfront or as residual payments over
the life of the contract. If the cormmission is paid all or partially upfront, the amortization is included in seiling and marketing expenses as
the associated revenue is earned. If the commission is paid as a residual payment, the amount is expensed as earned. Of the current total
commercial customer base, approximately 62% are commercial broker customers and approximately 63% of these commercial brokers are
being paid recurring residual payments. During the year ended March 31, 2012, $11.9 million in commission-related expenses was
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capitalized to contract initiation costs. Of the capitalized commissions, $2.8 million represents commissions paid to maintain gross margin
and therefore is included in the maintenance capital deducted in the Adjusted EBiTDA calculation.

Selling and marketing expenses to maintain gross margin are allocated based on the ratic of gross margin fost from attrition as compared to
the gross margin signed frem new and renewed customers during the year. Selling and marketing expenses to maintain gross margin were
$83.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2012, a slight decrease from $84.8 million in fiscal 2011 as a result of the lower commission
assaciated with the commercial customer additions.

Selling and marketing expenses to add new gross margin are allocated based on the ratic of net new gross margin earned on the customers
signed, less attrition, as compared to the total gross margin signed from new customers during the period. Selling and marketing expenses
to add new gross margin in the year ended March 31, 2012, totalled $80.0 million, of which $37.3 million related to the building of the
Netwark Marketing division.

In contrast to door-to-door marketing, there is an initial cost of building the Momentis channel as a result of the expansion of an
independent representative hase that will contribute to the number of customers on a go-forward basis. This cost is expensed immediately,
with the margin for customer aggregation recognized over future periods. The customers signed by independent representatives are not
customers that would ncrmally have been signed by the traditional door-to-door marketing channel and typically experience lower attrition
and better renewal rates. it is expected that this division will become a significant cash flow generator in future periods.

Selling and marketing expenses inciuded in Base EBITDA exclude amortization related to the contract initiation costs for Hudson and NHS.
For the year ended March 31, 2012, the amortization amounted to $14.0 million, an increase of 13% from $12.4 million reported in the
prior year.

The aggregation costs per customer for the year ended March 31, 2012, for residential and commercial customers signed by independent
representatives and commercial customers signed by brokers were as follows:

Commercial
Residential Commercial braker
customers customers customers
Matural gas
Canada $ 223/RCE % 136/RCE § 66/RCE
United States $ 188RCE § 76/RCE §$ 25/RCE
Electricity
Canada $ 210RCE $ 140/RCE $ 35/RCE
United States $ 161/RCE $ 151RCE § 35RCE
Total aggregation costs $ 181RCE $ 135/RCE § 35/RCE

The aggregation cost per customer added for all energy marketing for the year ended March 31, 2012, was $103/RCE. The $35/RCE
average aggregation cost for the commercial broker customers is based on the expected average annual cost for the respective customer
contracts. it should be noted that commercial broker contracts are paid further commissions averaging $35/RCE per year for each additicnal
year that the customer flows. Assuming an average life of 2.8 years, this would add approximately $64 (1.8 x $35/RCE) to the quarter’s
$35/RCE average aggregation cost for commercial broker customers reported above. For the pricr comparable year, total aggregation costs
per residential, commercial and commercial brokers were $173/RCE, $122/RCE and $35/RCE, respectively, with a combined cost of $104/RCE.

BAD DEBT EXPENSE

In lllinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, California, Massachusetts, Michigan and Gecrgia, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with
the collection of customer accounts. In addition, for commercial direct-billed accounts in British Columbia, New York and Ontario, Just
Energy is responsible for the bac debt risk. NHS has also assumed credit risk for customer account collection for certain territories within
Ontaric. Credit review processes have been established tc manage the customer default rate. Management factors default frem credit risk
into its margin expectations for all of the above-noted markets. During the year ended March 31, 2012, Just Energy was exposed to the risk
of bad debt on approximately 43% of its sales.

Bad debt expense is included in the consolidated income statement under other operating expenses. Bad debt expense fer the year ended
March 31, 2012, was $28.5 million, an increase of 3% from $27.7 million expensed for the year ended March 31, 2011. The bad debt
expense increase was a result of a 15% increase in total revenues for the current year for the markets where Just Energy bears the credit
risk to $1,187.2 million, including the additional revenue earred in Texas from the customers acquired from Fulcrum. Management integrates
its default rate for bad debts within its margin targets and continuously reviews and monitors the credit approval process to mitigate
customer delinquency. For the year ended March 31, 2012, the bad debt expense of $28.5 million represents 2.4% of relevant revenue,
lower than the bad debt for fiscal 2011, which represented 2.7% of relevant revenue.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Management expects that bad debt expense will remain in the range of 2% to 3% of relevant revenue. For each of Just Energy’s other
markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debt owing from Just Energy’s customers for a regulated fee.

FINANCE COSTS

Total finance costs for the year ended March 31, 2012, amounted to $60.9 million, an increase from $59.9 million recorded in fiscal 2011.
Excluding the $7.8 million of dividend payments made to holders of Exchangeable Shares and equivzlents classified as finance costs under
IFRS in the prior vear, finance costs increased by 17%. The increase in costs primarily relates to the interest associated with the $330m
convertible debentures (which was not in place for all of fiscal 20113}, the $100m canvertible debentures (which were issued in fiscal 2012)
and the increase in NHS financing. These costs were partially offset by the lower finance costs related to the credit facility.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Just Energy has an exposure to U.S. dollar exchange rates as a result of its U.S. operations and any changes in the applicabie exchange rate
may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income. For the year ended March 31, 2012, a foreign exchange unrealized loss
of $2.4 million was reported in other comprehensive income (loss) versus $0.4 million in the prior year.

Overall, a weaker U.5. dollar decreases the value of sales and gross margin in Canadian dollars, but this is partially offset by lower operating
costs denominated in U.S. dellars. Just Energy retains sufficient funds in the U.S. to support ongoing growth and surplus cash is repatriated
to Canada. U.S. cross border cash flow is forecasted annually, and hedges for cross borger cash flow are placed. Just Energy hedges
between 25% and 30% of the next 12 months’ cross border cash flows depending on the level of certainty of the cash flow.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
For the years ended March 31

(thousands of dollars)

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Current income tax provision $ 662 3 8,182
Future tax expense 36,865 165,257
Provision for income tax $ 37527 $ 173,439

Just Energy recorded a current income tax expense of $0.7 million for the year, versus $8.2 million of expense in fiscal 2011. The change is
mainly attributatle to a U.S. income tax recovery generated by higher tax losses incurred by the U.S. entities during the current year.

During this fiscal year, the mark tc market losses from financial instruments decreased as a result of a change in fair value of these
derivative instruments and, as a result, a deferred tax expense of $36.9 million was recorded for the year. During the first three quarters of
fiscal 2011, Just Energy was an income trust and as a result its timing differences between accounting and tax were pooked at the income
trust tax rate of 46.41%. At the beginning of the fourth guarter of fiscal 2011, Just Energy was converted 10 a taxable Canadian
corporation (see further comments below) and as a result, from that point on its timing differences were booked at the corporate tax rate
of approximately 25% for deferred tax purposes. As a resulft, there was a significant reduction of its deferred tax assets balance during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2011. In addition, after the Conversion, the deferred tax assets related ta the Class A preference shares were
eliminated due to the redemption of those shares as part of the Conversion process. The combined effect of these factors led to a very
significant deferred tax provision of $165.3 million recorded in fiscal 201 1. No such issues arose during fiscal 2012 and as a consequence
the deferred tax expense of the current year is much lower than that of the previous year,

After the Conversion on January 1, 2011, Just Energy was taxed as a taxable Canadian corperation. Therefore, the deferred tax asset or
liability associated with Canadian liabilities and assets recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as at that date will be realized over time
as the temporary differences between the carrying value of assets in the consclidated financial statements and their respective tax bases
are realized. Current Canadian income taxes are accrued to the extent that there is taxable income in Just Energy and its underlying
corporations. For fiscal 2012, taxable income of Canadian corporations under Just Energy is subject to a tax rate of approximately 27% for
current tax purposes.

Under IFRS, Just Energy recognized income tax liabilities and assets based on the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary
differences between the carrying value of the assets and liabilities on the consclidated financial statements and their respective tax bases,
using substantively enacted income tax rates. A deferred tax asset will be recagnized for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused
tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be availabie against which the unused tax iosses and unused tax
credits can be utilizeg. The effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating deferred income tax liabilities and assets is
recognized in income during the period in which the change occurs.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and capital resources
SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS

{thousands of doflars)

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Qperating activities $ 144390 § 145,555
Investing activities (205,247) (318,847}
Financing activities, excluding distributions/dividends 162,940 346,290
Effect of foreign currency translation 326 (908)
Increase in cash before distributions/dividends 102,409 172,090
Distributions/dividends (cash payments) (146,822) (134,589}
Increase (decrease) in cash (44,413) 37,501
Cash - beginning of year 97,633 60,132
Cash - end of year $ 53220 § 97,633

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash flow from aperating activities for the year ended March 31, 2012, was $144.4 millior, a slight decrease from $145.6 million in the
prior year. The increase in gross margin was offset by higher selling and general and administrative expenses resulting in cash flow from
operations being relatively flat year over year.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Just Energy purchased capital assets totalling $74.8 miliion during the year, an increase from $33.4 miliion in the prior fiscal year. Just
Energy’s capital spending related primarily to the Home Services and Sclar divisions.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Financing activities, excluding distributions/dividends, relatas primarily to the issuance and repayment of long-term debt. During the year,

$464.5 million in long-term debt was issued, fargely resulting from the $100m convertible debentures issued on September 22, 2011, for
funding the Fulcrum acquisiticn and additional funding received by NHS for financing. Long-term debt amounting to $288.0 million was

repaid during the year. In the prior year, $484.8 million was issued in long-term debt relating to tha $330 million in debenture to finance

the acquisition of Hudson, the credit facility and NHS financing with $150.4 million being repaid.

As of March 31, 2012, Just Energy had a credit facility of $350 million expiring on December 31, 2C13. As Just Energy continues tc expand
in the U.S. markets, the need to fund working capital and collateral posting requirements will increase, driven primarily by the number of
customers aggregated and, to a lesser extent, by the number of new markets. Based on the markets in which Just Energy currently operates
and others that management expects the Company to enter, funding requirements will be fully supported through the credit facility.

Just Energy’s liquidity requirements are driven by the delay from the time that a customer contract is signed until cash fiow is generated.
For residential customers, approximately 60% of an independent sales contractor's commission payment is made following reaffirmation or
verbal verification of the customer contract, with most of the remaining 40% being paid zfter the energy commadity begins flowing to the
customer. For commercial customers, commissions are paid either as the energy commodity flows throughout the contract or partially
upfront once the customer begins tc flow.

The elapsed period between the time a customer is signed to when the first payrnent is received from the customer varies with each
market. The time delays per market are approximately two to nine months. These periods reflect the time required by the various LDCs to
enrall, flow the commodity, bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy. In Alberta and Texas, Just Energy receives payment
directly from the customer.

DISTRIBUTIONS/DIVIDENDS {(CASH PAYMENTS)
During the year ended March 31, 2012, Just Energy made cash distributicns/dividends tc its sharehctders and holders of restricted share
grants and deferred share grants in the amount of $146.8 million, compared to $134.6 million in the prior year.

Just Energy maintains its annual dividend rate at $1.24 per share, the same rate that was previously paid for distributions. Investors should
note that in the past, due to the dividend reinvestment plan ("DRIP”), a portion of dividends (and prior to January 1, 2011, distributions)
declared are not paid in cash. Under the program, shareholders can elect to receive their dividends in shares at a 2% discount to the
prevailing market price rather than the cash equivalent. For the year ended March 31, 2012, $28.4 million of the dividends were paid in
shares under the DRIP. The DRIP was suspended as of February 1, 2012, with the approval of the normal course issuer bid and remained
suspended as at March 31, 2012,



MANAGEMENT'S DiSCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Just Energy will continue to utilize its cash resources for expansion into energy markets; grow its existing energy marketing customer base,
JustGreen and JustClean preducts and Solar and Home Services divisions; make accretive acquisitions of customers; and add dividends to
its shareholders.

At the end of the quarter, the annual rate for dividends per share was $1.24. The current dividend policy provides that shareholders of
record on the 15th day of each month or the first business day thereafter receive dividends at the end of the month.

Balance sheet as at March 31, 2012, compared to March 31, 2011

Cash decreased from $97.6 million as at March 31, 2011, to $53.2 million. The utilization of the credit facility increased from $53.C million
to $98.5 million. The decrease in cash and the increase in the utilization of the credit facility is a result of the funding requirements of the
Solar and Networking Markating divisions.

As at March 31, 2012, trade receivables and unbiiled revenue amounted to $299.9 million and $130.8 million, respectively, compared to
one year earlier whan the trade receivables and unbilled revenue amounted tc $281.7 million and $112.1 million, respectively. Trade
payables have increased from $275.5 million to $287.1 million in the past year. The increase in accounts receivable and payable are a result
of the Fulcrum acquisition.

As at March 31, 2012, Just Energy had delivered more gas to the LDCs than had been consumed by custemers in Ontario, Manitoba,
Quebec and Michigan, resulting in gas delivered in excess of consumption and deferred revenue of $12.8 million and $12.0 million,
respectively. This build-up of inventory at the LDCs is a result of the consumption being lower than expected with the much warmer than
normal temperatures experienced in the winter months. At March 31, 2011, Just Energy had accrued gas receivable and payable amounting
10 $26.5 million and $19.4 million, respectively, as a result of customers’ gas consumption being greater than that which had been
delivered to the LDCs. In addition, gas in storage increased fram $6.1 million as at March 31, 2011, to $11.5 million as at March 31, 2012,
due to lower consumption as a result of the mild winter temperatures.

Other assets and other liabilities relate entirely to the fair value of the financial derivatives. The mark to market gains and losses can result in
significant changes in net income and, accordingly, shareholders’ equity from year to year due to commodity price volatility. Given that

Just Energy has purchased this supply to cover future customer usage at fixed prices, management believes that these non-cash quarterly
changes are not meaningful,

Intangible assets include the goodwill, acguired customer contracts as well as other intangibles such &s brand, broker network and
information technology systems, primarily related to the Hudson and Universal purcheses, As a result of the Fulcrum acquisition, the intangible
assets increased by $116.2 million during the year. The total intangible asset balance decreased to $543.8 million, from $640.2 million as at
March 31, 2011, as a result of amortization.

Long-term debt (excluding the current portion) has increased from $507.5 million to $679.1 million in the year ended March 31, 2012,
primarily as a result of the issuance of the $100 million convertible debentures during the year as well as an increase in NHS financing,

Long-term debt and financing

(thousands of dcllars)
As at As at
March 3t, March 31,
2012 2011
Just Energy credit facility $ 98,455 $ 53,000
TGF credit facility 32,046 36,680
TGF debentures 35,818 37,01
NHS financing 147,220 105,716
$90m convertible debentures 86,101 84,706
$330m convertible debentures 291,937 286,439
$100m ccnvertible debentures 85,879 -

JUST ENERGY CREDIT FACILITY

Just Energy holds a $350 million credit facility to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of lenders includes Canadian Imperial
Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Société Générale, The Bank of Nova Scotia, Teronto Dominion Bank
and Alberta Treasury Branches. Under the terms of the credit facility, Just Energy was able to make use of Bankers’ Acceptances and LIBOR
advances at stamping fees that vary between 2.88% and 3.38%, prime rate advances at rates of interest that vary between bank prime
plus 1.88% and 2.38%, and letters of cradit at rates that vary between 2.88% and 3.38%. Interest rates are adjusted quarterly based on
certain financial performance indicators.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Just Energy's obligations under the credit facility are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates, excluding among others,
TGF and NHS, and secured by a pledge of the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is
required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. As at March 31, 2012, and 2011, ail of these
covenants had been met.

TGF CREDIT FACILITY

A credit facility of up to $50 million was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Cradit Union and was arranged to
finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, and was converted to a fixed repayment
term of ten years, commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a prime rate plus 3% with principal repayments scheduled
to commence an March 1, 2010, The cradit facility is secured by a demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all
assets and undertakings of TGF, a mortgage on title to the land owned by TGF and a general security interest on all other current and
acquired assets of TGF. The cradit facility includes certain financial covenants, the most significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to
equity ratio, debt service coverage and minimum sharehoiders’ capital. The covenants were measured as of March 31, 2012, and TGF failed
to meet all required covenants. The non-compliance was waived by the lenders but did result in a non-compliance fee of $0.1 million
representing 0.25% of the loan balance as of March 31, 2012. The non-compliance fee was accrued as at March 31, 2012,

TGF DEBENTURES

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40 million aggregate principal
amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. On April 1, 2011, the interest rate was increased to 12%. The agreement includes certain
financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt t¢ capitalization ratio, debt service coverage, debt to EBITDA
and minimum shareholders’ equity. Compliance with the new covenants has been extended to May 15, 2014, with a call right any time
after April 1, 2013. On March 31, 2012, TGF agreed with the debenture hoiders to increase the quarterly blended payments to $1.2 miflion.
TGF also agreed to make an additicnal debt repayment after March 31, 2012, if the cash flow from operations exceeds $0.5 million for
fiscal 2013, provided that this type of payment will not create a non-compliance issue for the corporation under the TGF credit facility.

NHS FINANCING

NHS has entered into a long-term financing agreement with HTC for the funding of new and existing rental water heater, furnace and air
conditioner contracts. Pursuant to the agreement, NHS will receive financing of an amount equal to the net present value of the first five,
seven or ten years (at its option) of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upen financing rate of 7.99%, and is required to remit
an amount equivalent to the rental stream from customers on the water heater and air conditioner and furnace contracts for the first five,
seven or ten years, respectively. Under the agreement, up tc one-third of rental agreements may be financed for each of the seven- or ten-
year terms. As at March 31, 2012, the average term of the HTC funding was 6.1 years.

The financing agreement is subject tc a holdback provision, whereby 3% in the Enbridge Gas distribution territory and 5% in the Union Gas
distribution territory of the outstanding balance of the funded ameunt is deducted and deposited to a reserve account in the event of
default. Once all of the obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be released
to NHS. HTC holds security over the contracts and equipment it has financed. NHS is required to meet a number of non-financial covenants
under the agreement and, as at March 31, 2012, all of these covenants had been met.

$90M CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

In conjunction with the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009, Just Energy assumed the obligations of the convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures issued by Universal in October 2007, which have a face value of $90 million. The fair value of the convertibte
debenture was estimated by discounting the remaining centractual payments at the time of acquisition. This discount wiil be accreted using
an effective interest rate of 8%. These instruments mature on Septernber 30, 2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at
an annual rate of 6%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 of each year. As at March 31, 2012, each $1,000 principal
amount of the $90m convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option
of the halder, into approximately 34.09 Just Energy common shares, representing a conversion price of $29.33 per share, Pursuant to the
$90m canvertible debentures, if Just Energy fixes a record date for the payment of a dividend on its shares, the conversion price shall be
adjusted in accordance therewith.

On and after October 1, 2010, but prior to September 30, 2012, the $90m convertible debentures are redeemabie, in whola or in pant, at a
price equal to the principal amount therecf, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s sole option on not more than 60 days’ and
not less than 30 days’ prior notice, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less
than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30, 2012, but prior to the maturity date, the $90m convertible debentures are
redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal tc the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s sole
optian on pot more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days’ prior natice.



MANAGEMENT'S BISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

$330M CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

To fund the acquisition of Hudson, Just Energy entered into an agreement with a syndicate of underwriters fer $330 million of convertible
extendible unsecured subordinated debentures issued on May 5, 2010. The $330m convertible debentures bear an interest rate of 6.0%
per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 in each year, with maturity on June 3G, 2017. Each $1,000 of
principal amount of the $330m convertible debentures is convertible at any time pricr to maturity or on the date fixed for redemptior, at
the option of the holder, into approximately 55.6 shares of Just Energy, representing a conversion price of §$18 per share.

The $330m convertible debentures are not redeemable prior to June 30, 2013, except under certain conditions after a change of conitrol
has occurred. On or after June 30, 2013, but prior to June 30, 2015, the debentures may be redeemed by Just Energy, in whole or in part,
on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of regemption is given is not less than
125% of the conversion price. On or after June 30, 2015, and prior to the maturity date, the debentures may be redeemed by Just Erergy,
in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

$100M CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

On September 22, 2011, Just Energy issued $100 million of convertible unsecured subordinated debantures which were used to purchase
Fulcrum. The $100 million convertible debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 5.75%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and
September 30 in each year, commencing March 31, 2012, and have a maturity date of September 30, 2018, Each 31,000 principal amaourt
of the $100 million convertible debentures is convertible at the option of the holder at any time prior to the close of business on the earlier
of the maturity date and the last business day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption into 56.0 common shares of Just
Energy, representing a conversion price of $17.85.

The $100 million convertible debentures are not redeemable at the option of the Company on or before Septernber 30, 2014. After
September 3C, 2014, and prior to September 30, 2016, the $100 million convertible debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part from
iime 1o time at the optian of the Company on not more than &0 days’ and not less than 30 days’ pricr notice, at a price equal to their
principal amount pius accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the weighted average trading price of the common shares of Just Energy
on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days ending five trading days preceding the date on which the notice of
redemption is given is at least 125% of the conversion price. On or after September 30, 2016, the $100 million convertible debentures may
be redeemed in whole or in part from time to time at the option of the Company on not mare than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’
prior natice, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accruad and unpaid interest.

Contractual obligations
In the nermal course of business, Just Enargy is obligated to make future payments for contracts and other commitments that are known
ang non-cancellable.

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD
{thousands of dallars)

Total Less than 1year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 287,145 § 287145 % ~  § - 3 -
Bank indebtedness 1,060 1,060 - - -
Long-term debt (contractual cash flow) 833,962 87,61 252,570 26,433 457,348
Interest payments 261,069 47,800 84,304 67,215 61,750
Property and equipment lease agreements 35,184 8,296 12,231 7,570 7,087
Grain production contracts 8,236 7.876 360 - -
Commodity supply purchase commitments 2,596,314 1,363,421 1,057,222 175,049 622

$4,022,970 $1,813209 §1,406687 $ 276,267 $ 526807

OTHER OBLIGATIONS

in the opinion of management, Just Energy has no material pending actians, claims or proceedings that have not been included in either its
accrued liabilities or in the consolidated financial statements. in the normal course of business, Just Energy could be subject to certain
contingent obligations that become payable only if certain events were to occur. The inherent uncertainty surrounding the timing and
financial impact of any events prevents any meaningful measurement, which is necessary to assess any material impact on future liguidity.
Such etligations include potential judgments, settlements, fines and other penalties resulting from actions, claims or proceedings.

Transactions with related parties
Just Energy does not have any material transactions with any individuals or companies that are not considered independent of Just Energy
or any of its subsidiaries and/cr affiliates.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Critical accounting estimates

The consolidated financial statements of Just Energy have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Certain accounting policies require
management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost of sales, selling and
marketing, and administrative expenses. Estimates are based on historical experience, current information and various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The emergence of new informaticn and changed circumstances may result in
actual results or changes tc estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates.

The fellowing assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. Just Energy might realize different results fram the
application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making hodies.

ACCRUED GAS RECEIVABLE/ACCRUED GAS PAYABLE

Accrued gas receivable resufts when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Just Energy te the LDCs. These estimates are
stated at net realizable value. Accrued gas payable represents Just Energy’s obiigation to the LDC with respect to gas consumed by
customers in excess of that delivered and valued at net realizable value. This estimate 15 required for the gas business unit only, since
electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price and the current average
supply cost as a basis for the valuation.

GAS DELIVERED IN EXCESS OF CONSUMPTION/DEFERRED REVENUES

Gas deiivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by custemers is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Coliections from LDCs
in advance cf their consumption results in deferred revenues, which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas
business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price
and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation,

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of all customers” accounts in Alberta, Hllinois, Texas, Pennsylvania,
California, Massachusetts, Michigan and Gecrgia. In addition, for large direct-hilled accounts in 8ritish Columbia, New York and Ontario,
Just Energy is responsible for the bad debt risk. NHS has alsc assumed credit risk for customer accounts within certain territcries in Ontario.
Management estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts in these markets based on the financia! conditions of each jurisdiction, the
aging of the receivables, customer and industry concentrations, the current business environment and historical experience.

GOODWILL

in assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Just Energy's future cash fiow. If the estimates
change in the future, just Energy may be required to record impairment charges related to goodwill. An impairment review of goodwill was
performed as at March 31, 2012, and as a result of the review, it was determined that nc impairment of goodwill existed.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments and risk management

Just Energy has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments as part of the business of purchasing and seiling gas, electricity and
JustGreen supply. Just Energy enters into contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices and provide assurance to
certain customers that a specified amount of energy will be derived from green generation or carbon destruction. These customer contracts
expose Just Energy to changes in market prices to supply these commaodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity market price
changes, Just Energy uses derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixed-price commodity supply to cover its estimated fixed-
price delivery or green commitmant.

Just Energy’s objective is to minimize commodity risk, other than consumption changes, usually attributable to weather. Accordingly, it is
Just Energy’s policy to hedge the estimated fixed-price requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of natural gas and electricity at
fixed prices for terms egual to those of the customer contracts. The cash flow from these supply contracts is expected to be effective in
offsetting Just Energy’s price expasure and serves to fix acquisition costs of gas and electricity to be delivered under the fixed-price or price-
protected customer contracts. Just Energy’s policy is not 1o use derivative instruments for speculative purposes.

Just Energy's 1.S. operations intreduce foreign exchange-related risks. Just Energy enters into foreign exchange forwards in order to hedge
its exposure to fluctuations in cross border cash flows.

The consolidated financial statements are in compliance with 1AS 32, Finzncial Instruments: Presentation; 1AS 39, Finandial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement; and IFRS 7, Financial [nstruments: Disclosure. Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy ceased the utilization of
hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark tc market changes on Just Energy’s derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the
consclidated income statement. Due to the commodity velatility and size of Just Energy, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these
positions will increase the volatility in Just Energy’'s earnings.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Just Energy common shares
As at May 17, 2012, there were 139,348,926 common shares of JE outstanding.

Normal course issuer bid

During the year, Just Energy announced that it had received approval to make & normal course issuer bid to purchase for cancellation up to
13,200,917 of its common shares, approximately 10% of the public float, during a 12-month period commencing December 16, 2011, and
ending December 15, 2012, A maximum of 82,430 shares, epproximately 25% of the average daily trading velume, may be purchased cn
any trading day. As at March 31, 2012, Just Energy purchased and cancelled 84,1C0 shares at an average price of $11.36 for total cash
consideration of $1.0 million.

Recently issued accounting standards

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ADOPTED
Fiscal 2012 is Just Energy’s first fiscal year reporting under IFRS. Accounting standards effective for annual raperting periods ended on
March 31, 2011, have been adopted as part of the transiticn to IFRS.

RECENT PRONOUNCEMENTS ISSUED

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments

As of April 1, 2015, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is the result of the first phase of the IASB's
project to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The new standarg replaces the current multiple dassification
and measurement models for financial assets and liabilities with a single mode! that has only two classification categories; amortized cost and
fair value. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or deterrmined whether it will adopt the standard early,

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements

As of April 1, 2018, IFRS 10, Censolidated Financial Statements, will replace paortions of 1AS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements and Interpretation SIC-12, Consolidation ~ Special Purpose Entities. The new standard requires consolidated financial statements
to include all controlled entities under a single centrol model. The Company will be considered to cantrol an investee when it is exposed, or
has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the current ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee.

As reguired by this standard, control is reassessed as facts and circumstances change. All facts and circumstances must be considered to
make a judgment about whether or not the Company contrels anather entity; there are no clear lines. Additional guidance is given on how
to evaluate whether certain relationships give the Company the current ability to affect its returns, including how to consider optfons and
convertible instruments helding less than a majority of voting rights, and how te consider protective rights and principal-agency
relationships {including remaoval rights), alt of which may differ from current practice. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the
standard or determined whether it will adopt the standard early.

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, which applies to accounting for interests in joint
arrangements where there is joint control. The standard raquires the joint arrangements to be classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The structure of the joint arrangement would no lenger be the most significant factor when classifying the joint arrangement as
either a joint operation or a joint venture, In addition, the option to account for joint ventures (previously called “jointly controlled entities”}
using proportionate consolidation will be removed and replaced by equity accounting.

Due to the adoption of this new section, the Company will transition the accounting for joint ventures from the proportionate consolidation
method to the equity method by aggregating the carrying values of the proportionately consolidated assets and liabilities into a single line
item, The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or determined whether it will adogt the standard early.

IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be requirec to adopt IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Cther Entities, which includes disclosure
requirements about subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates as well as unconsolidated structured entities and replaces existing disclosure
requirements. Due to this new section, the Company will be required to disclose the following: judgments and assumptions made when
deciding how to classify involvement with ancther entity, interests that non-controlling interests have in consclidated entities, and nature of
the risks asscciated with interests in other entities. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or determined whether it
will adopt the standard early.

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 13, Fair Value Measuremant. The new standard will establish a single source of
guidance for fair value measurements, when fair value is required or permitted by IFRS. Upon adoption, the Company will provide a single
framework for measuring fair value whiie reguiring enhanced disclosures when fair value is applied. in adgition, fair value will be defined as
the “exit price” and concepts of “highest and best use” and “valuation premise” weuld be relevant only for non-financial assets and
liabilities. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or determined whether it will adopt the standard early.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements
On Agril 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt 1AS 27, Separate Financial Statements. As a result of the issue of the new consolidation
suite of standards, 1AS 27 has been reissued to reflect the change as the consolidation guidance has recently been included in IFRS 10.

In addition, 1AS 27 will now only prescribe the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates when the Company prepares separate financial statements. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or
determined whether it will adopt the standard early.

IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

On Aprif 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt 1AS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. As a conseguence of the issue
of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, 1AS 28 has been amended and will further provide the accounting guidance for investments in associates
and wili set out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in asseciates and joint ventures.

The Company will apply this standard when there is joint contro! or significant influence over an investee. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but does not include control or joint control of those policy
decisions. When determined that the Company has an interest in a jeint venture, the Company will recognize an investment and will account
for it using the equity method in accordance with 1AS 28. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or determined
whether it will adopt the standard early.

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, was amended in 2011 to expand on the disclosures required of iters within Other Comprehensive
income. The revised standard reguires that an entity distinguishes between those items that are recycied to profit and loss versus those items
that are not recycled. Retraspective application is required and the standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012.
The Cempany does not expect the amendments to IAS 1 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Risk factors
Described below are the principal risks and uncertairties that Just Energy can foresee. it is not an exhaustive list, as some future risks may
be as yet unknown and other risks, currently regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be material.

CREDIT, COMMODITY AND OTHER MARKET RELATED RISKS

Availability of supply

The risk of supply default is mitigated through credit and supply diversity arrangements. The Just Energy business model is based on
contracting for supgly to lock in margin. There is a risk that counterparties could not deliver due to business failure or supply shortage or be
otherwise unable to perform their obligations under their agreements with Just Energy, or that Just Energy could not identify aiternatives to
existing counterparties. Just Energy continues to investigate opportunities to identify or secure additional gas suppliers and electricity
suppliers. Just Energy’s commodity contracts are prademinantly with Shell, BR, Bruce Power, Constellation, Société Générale, EDF Trading
North America, LLC and National Bank of Canada. Other suppliers represent less than 3% of commadity supply.

Volatility of commadity prices - enforcement

A key risk to Just Energy’s business model is a sudden and significant drop in the market price of gas or electricity resulting in some
custamers renouncing their contracts, Just Energy may encounter difficulty or political resistance for enforcement of liquidated damages
and/or enactment of force majeure provisions in such a situation and be exposed to spot prices with a material adverse impact to cash flow,
Continual monitoring of margin and exposure allows management of Just Energy time to adjust strategies, pricing and communications to
mitigate this risk.

Availability of credit

In several of the markets in which Just Energy operates, payment is provided by LDCs only when the customer has paid for the consumed
commodity (rather than when the commaodity is delivered). Also, in some markets, lust Energy must inject gas inventory into storage in
advance of payment. These factors, along with the seasonality of customer consumpticn, create working capital requirements necessitating
the use of Just Energy’s available credit. In addition, some of Just Energy's subsidiaries and affiliates are required to provide credit assurance,
by means of providing guarantees or posting collateral, in connection with commedity supply contracts, iicense obligations and obligations
owed to certain LDCs and pipelines. Cash flow could be impacted by the ability of Just Energy to fund such requirements or to provide
other satisfactory credit assurance for such cbligations. To mitigate credit availability risk and its potential impact to cash flow, Just Energy
has security arrangements in place pursuant t¢ which commodity suppliers and the lenders under the credit facility hold security over
substantially all of the assets of Just Energy {other than NHS, TGF and HES). The maost significant assets of Just Energy consist of its contracts
with customers, which may not be suitable as security for some creditors and commodity suppliers. To date, the credit facility and related
security agreements have met the collateral posting and operational requirements of the business. Just Energy continues to monitor its
credit and security requirements. Just Energy’s business may be adversely affected if it is unable to meet cash obligations for operational
requirements or its collateral posting requirements.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Market risk

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or
commodity. Although Jjust Energy balances its estimated custormer requirements net of contracted commodity, it is exposed to market risks
associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer reguirements do not match actual customer requirements
of where it has not been able to exactly purchase the estimated customer requirements. Just Energy is also exposed to interest rates
associated with its credit facility and foreign currency exchange rates associated with the repatriation of U.S. dollar denominated funds for
Canadian dollar denominated dividends. Just Energy's exposure to market risk is affected by a number of factors, incfuding accuracy of
estimation of customer commodity requirements, commadity prices, volatility and fiquidity of markets, and the absolute and relative levels
of interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to
changes in commodity prices and foreign currency rates; current exposure to interest rates does not econorically warrant the use of
derivative instruments. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity
demand and thereby fix margins such that the payment of dividends to shareholders can be appropriately established. Derivative
instruments are generally transacted over the counter, The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks
could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy.

Market risk governance

Just Energy has adopted a corperate-wide Risk Management Policy governing its market risk management and any derivative trading
activities. An internal Risk Committee, consisting of senior officers of Just £nergy, monitars company-wide energy risk management
activities as well as foreign exchange and interest rate activities. There is also a Risk Committee of the Board that oversees management.
The Risk Office and the internal Risk Committee monitor the results and ensure compliance with the Risk Management Policy. The Risk
Office is responsible for ensuring that Just Energy manages the market, credit and operational risks within limitations imposed by the Board
of Directors in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. Market risks are monitored by the Risk Office and internal Risk Committee
utilizing industry accepted mark to market techniques and analytical methodologies in addition to company-specific measures. The Risk
Office operates and reports independently of the traders. The failure or inability of Just Energy to comply with and monitor its Risk
Management Policy could have an advérse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy.

Energy trading inherent risks

Energy trading subjects just Energy to some inherent risks associated with future contractual commitments, including market and
operaticnal risks, counterparty credit risk, product location differences, market liquidity and votatility. There is continuous monitoring and
reporting of the valuation of identified risks to the internal Risk Committee, Executive Committee and the Risk Committee of the Board of
Directors. The failure or inability of just Energy to monitor and address the energy trading inherent risks could have a material adverse effect
on its operations and cash flow.

Customer credit risk

n Alberta, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, Catifornia, Texas, Georgia, Michigan and Hlinois, credit review processes have been implemented to
manage customer default as Just Energy has credit risk in these markets. The processes are also applied to commercial customers in all of
Just Energy’s jurisdictions. In addition, there is a credit policy that has been established to govern these processes. If a significant number of
residential customers or a collection of larger commercial customers for which Just Energy has the credit risk were to default on their
payments, it could have a material adverse affect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. Management factors default from credit
risk in its margin expectations for all customers in thase markets and for commercial customers where Just Energy has that credit risk.

For the remaining customers, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy's customers
for & fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no assurance that the
LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future.

Counterparty credit risk

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual obligations.
This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting the related customer
margin or replacing contracted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates impacting the related Canadian dollar denominated cash flows.
Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any excepticn to these limits requires approval from the Board of
Directors of Just Energy. The Risk Office and internal Risk Committee monitor current and potential credit exposure te individual
counterparties and also menitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. The failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations
could have a materiai adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Electricity supply — balancing risk

It is Just Energy’s policy to pracure the estimated electricity requirements of its customers with offsetting electricity derivatives in advance of
obtaining customers. Depending on several factors, including weather, Just Energy’s customers may use more or less electricity than the
volume purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy is able to invoice some of its existing electricity customers for balancing
charges or credits when the amount of energy used is greater than or less than the amount of energy that Just Energy has estimated. For
other custorers, just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors consumption and has a balancing
and pricing strategy to accommodate the estimated associated costs. Just Energy has developed a policy of entering into weather-related
derivative contracts which are intended to reduce margin volatifity in situations of materially higher or lower than forecast consumer
censumption. In certain circumstances, there can be balancing issues for which Just Energy is respensible when customer aggregation
forecasts are not realized.

Natural gas supply — balancing risk

It is Just Energy’s policy to procure the estimated gas requirements of its customners with offsetting gas derivatives in advance of obtaining
custamers. Depending on several factors including weather, Just Energy’s customers may use more or less gas than the volume purchased
by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy does not invoice its natural gas customers for balancing and, accordingly, bears the risk of
fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors gas consumption and actively manages forecast differences in customer
consumption due 10 weather variations as well as forecast LDC balancing requirements, To the extent that forecast balancing requirements
are beyond injtial estimates, Just Energy will bear financing responsibility, be exposed to market risk and, furthermore, may also be expesed
to penatties by the LDCs. The inability or faiture of just Energy to manage and monitor these balancing risks could have a material adverse
effect on its operations and cash flow. Just Energy has developed a policy of entering into weather-related derivative contracts which are
intended to reduce margin volatility in situations of materially higher or lower than forecast consumer consumption. In addition, for certain
commercial customers, Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors consumption and has a
balancing and pricing strategy to accommedate for the estimated associated costs.

JustGreen - balancing risk

It is Just Energy’s policy to procure the estimated carbon offsets or renewable energy requirements of its customers in advance of obtaining
the customers, The balancing risk associated with this product is different in that there is no utility reconciliation of the reguirements

and public perception of the product is a more significant risk. The Risk Management Policy requires that there be no short positions for
this product ang management ensures that there is an independent review performad annually of the match of purchased supply to
committed delivery.

OPERATIONAL RISKS

Information technology systems

lust Energy operates in a high volume business with an extensive array of data interchanges and market requirements. Just Energy is
dependent cn its management information systems to track, monitor and correct or otherwise verify a high volume of data tc ensure the
reported financial results are accurate. Management also relies on its management information systems to provide its independent
contractors with compensaticn information, provide its brokers with pricing and compensaticn information and to electronically record each
customer telephone interaction. Independent representatives in Just Energy’s network marketing division rely entirely on information
systems for sales and compensation as all interaction is performed online. Just Enargy’s informaticn systems also help management forecast
new customer enrollments and their energy requirements, which helps ensure that Just Energy is able to supply its new customers’
estimated average energy requirements without exposing the Campany to the spot market beyond the risk tolerances established by the
Risk Management Policy. The failure of Just Energy to install and maintain these systems could have a material adverse effect on the
operations and cash flow of Just Energy.

Reliance an third party service providers

In most jurisdictions in which Just Energy operates, the LDCs currently perform billing and collection services. In some areas, Just Energy is
required to invoice and receive payments directly from its customers; in others, Just Energy is responsible for collection of defaulted
amounts; in others, Just Energy is reguired to invoice and receive payments from certain commercial customers; and in others, Just Energy is
responsible for collection of defaulted amounts. If the LDCs cease to perform these services, Just Energy would have to seek a third party
billing provider or develop internal systems to perform these functions, There is no assurance that the LDCs will continue to provide these
services in the future.

Outsourcing arrangements

Just Energy has outsourcing arrangements to support the call centre’s requirements for business continuity plans and independence for
regulatory purposes, billing and settlement arrangements for certain jurisdictions, and operation support for its network marketing and
solar installation monitoring efforts. Contract data input is also outsourced as is some business continuity and disaster recovery. As with any
contractual relationship, there are inherent risks to be mitigated, and these are actively managed predominantly through quality control
measures and regular reporting.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Competition

A number of companies {including Direct Energy, NRG, Superior Energy, Constellation and NewEnergy) and incumbent utility subsidiaries
compete with Just Energy in the residential, commercial and small industrial market. It is pessible that new entrants may enter the market as
marketers and compete directly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing or reducing its market share. If the LDCs are
permitted by changes in the current regulatory framework to sell natural gas at prices other than at cost, their existing customer bases

could provide them with a significant competitive advantage. This could limit the number of customers available for marketers including
Jjust Energy.

Dependence on independent sales contractors and brokers

Just Energy must retain qualified independent sales contractors to conduct its door-to-door sales as well as brokers and inside salespeople
to market tc commercial customers despite competition for these sales professionals from Just Energy’s competitors. If Just Energy is unable
to atiract & sufficient number of independent sales contractors ar brokers, Just Energy’s customer additions and renewals may decrease and
the Company may not be able to execute its business strategy. The continued growth of Just Energy is reliant on distribution channels,
mnclugding the services of its independent sales contractors and brokers. There can be no assurance that competitive conditions will allow
these independent contractors and brokers, who are not employees of Just Energy or its affiliates, to achieve these customer additions.
Lack of success in these marketing programs would limit future growth of the cash flow of Just Energy.

Just Energy has consistently taken the position that its independent sales contractors act independently pursuant to their contracts for
service, which provide that Just Energy does not control how, where or when they provide their services. On occasion, an independent
contractor may make a claim that they are entitied 16 emgployea benefits pursuant to legislation even though they have entered into &
contract with Just Energy that provides that they are nat entitled to benefits normally available to employees and Just Energy must respond
to these claims. Just Energy’s position has been confirmed by regulatory bodies in many instances, but some of these decisions are under
appeal. Should these appeals be ultimately successful, Just Energy would be required to remit unpaid tax amounts plus interest and might
be assessed a penalty. It could also mean that Just Energy would have to reassess its position in respect of other regulatory matters affecting
its independent sales contractors, such as income tax treatment. Such a decision could have a material adverse effect on the operaticns and
cash flow of Just Energy.

Electricity and gas contract renewals and attrition rates

As at March 31, 2012, Just Energy held long-term electricity and gas contracts reflacting approximately 3,870,000 long-term RCEs. The
renewal schedule for the contracts is noted on page 29. In fiscal 2012, Just Energy experienced contract attrition rates of approximately
10% in Canada and 24% in the U.S. for gas with rates of 9% and 13% being realized for Canada and the L5, respectively, for electricity.
Management forecasts using a combination of experienced and expected attrition per year; however, there can be no assurance that these
rates of annual attrition will not increase in the future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing electricity and gas contracts at
the expiry of their terms. Changes in customer behavicur, government regulation cr increased competition may affect (potentially adversely)
attrition and renewal rates in the future, and these changes could adversely impact the future cash flow of Just Energy. See page 38 for
further discussion on “Renewals”. Just Energy's fiscal 2012 experience was that approximately 64% its customers have renewed at the
expiry of the term of their contract, compared with 65% renewing in fiscal 2011.

Cash dividends are not guaranteed

The ability to pay dividends and the actual amount of dividends will depend upcn numerous factors, including prefitability; fluctuations in
working capital; debt service requirements (including compliance with credit facility obligaticns); the sustainability of margins; the ability of
Just Energy to procure, at favourable prices, its estimated commitment to supply natural gas and electricity to its customers; the ability of
Just Energy to secure additional gas and electricity contracts; and other factors beyond the control of Just Energy. Management of Just
Energy cannot make any assurances that the Company’s affiliates will be able to pass any additional costs arising from legislative changes
{or any amendments) on to customers. Cash dividends are not guaranteed and will fluctuate with the performance of the Company’s
affiliates and other factors.

Earnings volatiiity

Just Energy’s business is seasonal in nature. in addition to regular seascnal fluctuations in its earnings, there is significant volatility in its
garnings associated with the requirement to mark its commodity contracts to market. The earnings volatility associated with seasonality and
mark to market accounting may impact access to capital. Management ensures there is adequate disclosure for both the mark to market
and seascnality to mitigate this risk.

Model risk

The approach to calculation of market value and customer forecasts reguires data-intensive modelling used in conjunction with certain
assumptions when independently verifiable information is not available. Althaugh Just Energy uses industry standard approaches and
validates its internally developed models, results could change significantly should underlying assumpticns prove incorrect or an embedded
rnodeiling error go undetected in the vetting process.
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Commaodity alternatives

To the extent that natural gas and electricity enjoy a price advantage over other forms of energy, such price advantage may be transitory
and consumers may switch to the use of another form of energy. The inherent volatility of natural gas and electricity prices could result in
these other sources of energy providing more significant competition to Just Energy.

Capital asset and replacement risk

The retail business does not invest in a significant capital asset pregram; however, the Home Services division, the ethanol plant and the
Solar division are more capital-intensive businesses. The risk associated with water heater, heating and air conditioning units and solar panel
replacement is considered minimal as there are several suppliers of high efficiency home services appliances as well as solar panels to source
replacements and, individually, the units are not material. The risk asscciated with the capital assets of the ethanol plant are maore significant
as parts are not standard, components have a significant associated vaiue and capital asset replacements could significantly impact
operations during periods of upgrade or repair. Managemeant monitors this risk in the ethanol business ta ensure continuity of operations.
Each division is adequately insured including provisions for business continuity while replacement assets are being sourced and installed,

Credit facilities and other debt arrangements

The credit facility maintained by Just Energy Ontario L.P. and Just Energy U.S. Corp. is in the amount of $350 million. The lenders under
such credit facility together with certain of the suppliers of Just Energy and its affiliates are parties to an intercreditor agreement and related
security agreements which provide for a joint security interest over all customer contracts. There are varicus covenants pursuant to the
credit facility that govern the activities of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The borrowers are required to submit monthly
reports addressing, among other things, mark to market exposure, their borrowing base and a supply/demand projection. To date, Just
Energy’s subsidiaries have met the requirements of the credit facility; however, should those subsidiaries default under the terms of the
credit facility, the credit facility becomes unavailable and could have a significant material adverse effect on the business of those subsidiaries
and on the results of eperations and financial performance of Just Energy if it is not able to obtain other financing on satisfactory terms.

TGF alse has a credit facility of up to $50 million and a debenture purchase agreement providing for the issuance of up to $40 million
associated with the Belle Plaine facility. Security for these facilities includes a first priority security interest on all assets and undertakings
of TGF. There is a risk that these credit facilities, including the debenture purchase agreement, may not continue to be available on the
same terms.

NHS has also entered into a long-term financing agreement with respect to the installation of water heaters. In the event this financing
became unavailable, Just Energy would have to otherwise fund the Home Services business.

Disruptions to infrastructure

Customers are reliant upen the LDCs to deliver their contracted commodity. LDCs are reliant upon the continuing availability of the
distribution infrastructure. Any disruptions in this infrastructure would result in counterparties and thereafter Just Energy enacting the force
majeure clauses of their contracts. Under such severe circumstances there could be no revenue or margin for the affected areas.

Expansion strategy and future acquisitions
The Company plans to grow its business by expansion inte additional deregulated markets through organic growth and acquisitions. The
expansion into additional markets is subject to a number of risks, any of which could prevent the Company from realizing its business stratagy.

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any one of which could harm the Company’s business, including dfficulties in integrating the
operations, technologies, products, existing contracts, accounting processes and personnel of the target and realizing the anticipated
synergies of the combined businesses; difficufties in supporting and transitioning customers, if any, or assets of the target company may
exceed the value the Company realizes, or the value it could have realized if it had allocated the purchase price or other resources to
another opportunity; risks of entering new markets or areas in which Just Energy has limited or no experience aor are outside its cora
competencies; potential loss of key employees, customers and strategic alliances from either Just Energy’s current business or the business
of the target; assumption of unanticipated problems or latent liabilities, such as problems with the quality of the products of the target; and
inability to generate sufficiant revenue to offset acquisition costs.

Future acquisitions or expansion couid result in the incurrence of additional debt and related interest expense, as well as unforeseen
liabilities, ail of which could have a material adverse effect on business, results of operations and financial condition. The failure to
successfully evaluate and execute acquisitions or otherwise adequately address the risks associated with acquisitions could have a material
adverse effect on Just Energy’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Just Energy may require additional financing should
an appropriate acquisition be identified and it may not have access to the funding required for the expansion of its business or such funding
may not be available to Just Energy on acceptable terms. There is no assurance that Just Energy wili determine to pursue any acquisition or
that such an opportunity, if pursued, will be successful.
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LEGAL, REGULATORY AND SECURITIES RISKS

Legislative and regulatory environment

Just Energy operates in the highly reguiated natural gas and electricity retail sales industry in all of its jurisdictions. It must comply with the
legislation and regulations in these jurisdictions in order to maintain its licensed status and to continue its operations. There is potential for
change to this legislation and these regulatory measures that may, favourably or unfavourably, impact Just Energy’s business mode!l. As part
of doing business door-to-door, Just Energy receives complaints from consumers which may involve sanctions from regulatory and legal
authorities including those which issue merketing licenses. Similarly, changes to consumer protection legislation in those provinges and
states where Just Energy markets to non-commercial customers may, favourably or unfavourably, impact Just Energy’s business model.

Although the rule-making for the recent financial reform act in the United States has not been campleted, it is expected that when final, Just
Energy will be required to comply with certain aspects regarding reporting of derivative activity. Furthermore, it is expected that several of Just
Energy’s counterparties will be impacted by this legislation in a significant manner. The costs associated with Just Energy’s increased reporting
requirements as well as doing business with counterparties more significantly impacted than Just Energy cannot yet be fully determined.

In addition to the litigation referenced herein and occurring in the ordinary course of business, Just Energy may in the future be subject to
class actions, other litigation and other actions arising in relation to its consumer ¢antracts and marketing practices. See the “Legal
proceedings” section on page 56 of this report. This litigation is, and any such additional litigation could be, time consuming and expensive
and could distract the executive team from the conduct of Just Energy’s daily business. The adverse resolution or reputational damage of
any specific lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to favourably resolve other lawsuits and on the
Company’s financial condition and tiquidity.

The Company may issue additional shares, diluting existing shareholders’ interests
The Company may issue additional ar unlimited number of common shares and up to 50,000,000 preferred shares without the approval
of shareholders.

Financial markets

Significant events or volatifity in the financial markets could result in the lack of (i) sufficient capital to absorb the impact of unexpected
losses and/or (i) sufficient liguidity or financing to fund operations and strategic initiatives, Furthermore, significant volatility in exchange
rates and interest rates couid have an adverse impact on preduct pricing, gross margins and net interest expense. In additian, inappropriate
hedging strategies for mitigating foreign exchange, interest rate and equity exposuress could cause a significant impact on earnings.

TGF’s dependence on commodity prices

TGF's results of operations, financial position and business outlook are substantially dependent on commodity prices, especially prices for
wheat, natural gas, ethanol and dried distillers’ grains. Prices for these commaodities are generally subject to significant volatility and
uncertainty. As a resuft, TGF's results may fluctuate substantially, and TGF may experience periods of declining prices for TGF's products and
increasing costs for TGF's raw materials, which could result in operating losses. TGF may attempt to offset a portion of the effects of such
fluctuations by entering into forward contracts to supply ethano! or to purchase wheat, natural gas or other items cr by engaging in other
hedging transactions; however, the amount and duration of these hedging and other risk mitigation activities may vary substantially over
time. in agdition, these activities invalve substantial costs and substantial risks and may be ineffective to mitigate these fluctuations.

TGF’s dependence on federal and provincial legistation and regulation

Various laws, regulations and programs of the U.S. federal government and certain provincial and state governments are intended to lead
to increased use of ethanol in gasoline. In both the U.S. and Canada legislators and environmental regulators could adopt or modify existing
or proposed taws, regulations or programs that could adversely affect the use of ethanol. There can be no assurance that existing laws,
regulations or programs will continue in the future, or that proposed laws, regulations or programs will be adopted or implemented as
currently anticipated or at all. In addition, certain jurisdictional governments may oppose the use of ethanol because those jurisdictions
might have to acquire ethanol from other jurisdictions, which could increase gasoline prices in those jurisdictions.

Environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and liabilities

TGF owns the land on which it has built the Belle Plaine facility. TGF is subject to various federal, provingial and local environmental laws
and regulations, including those relating to the discharge of materials into the air, water and ground; the generation, storage, handling,
use, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials; and the health and safety of TGF's employees. These laws and requlations require
TGF te maintain and comply with numerous environmental permits to eperate its Belle Plaine facility. These laws, regulations and permits
can often require expensive pollution control eguipment or operational changes to limit actuai or potential impacts on the environment. A
violation of these laws, regulations or permit conditions or contamination to the land or neighbouring lands can result in substantial fines,
natural resource damages, criminal sanctions, permit revocations, litigation andfor facility shutdowns. In addition, new laws, new
interpretations of existing laws, increased governmental enforcement of environmental laws or other developments could require TGF to
make additional significant expenditures. Continued government and public emphasis on environmental issues may result in increased
future investments for environmental controis at the Belle Plaine facility.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The hazarcs and risks {such as fires, natural disasters, explosions, and abnormal pressures and blowouts) associated with producing and
transporting TGF's products may also result in personal injury claims by employees, thirg parties or damage to property owned by TGF or by
third parties. As protection against operating hazards, TGF maintains insurance coverage against some, but nat all, potential losses.
However, TGF could sustain losses for uninsurable or uninsured events, or in amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage.

Alternative fuels

Alternative fuels, additives and oxygenates are continually under development. Alternative fuel additives that can replace ethanol may be
developed, which may decrease the demand for ethanol. It is also possible that technological advances in engine and exhaust system design
and performance could reduce the use of oxygenates, which would lower the demand for ethanol, in which case TGF's business, results of
operations and financial condition may be materially adversaly affected.

Sacial or technological changes affecting home services

Within Canada, the Ontario marketplace is unigue in that the vast majority of homeowners rent their water heaters which sets precedence
for acceptance of furnace and air conditioning rentals. There can be no assurance that NHS's customers wilt continue to accept the home
appliance rental concept. It is 2lso possible that more economicat or efficient technology than that which is currently used by customers wiil
be developed or that the econcmic conditions in which the current technology is applied will change resuiting in a reduction in the number
of installed water heaters, air conditioner and furnace units. A prolenged downturn in the Ontaric ecanomy and a corresponding
slowdown in new home construction could have an adverse effect on the demand for additional water heaters in Ontaric. Management
has developed zlternative means of product delivery (fong-term leases) and is expanding outside the Ontario territory to mitigate these risks.

Concentration of home appliance suppliers and product faults

Although there are a number of manufacturers of horme appliances, NHS relies principally on GSW Inc. for its supply of water heaters and
Lennox for its furnaces and air conditioners. Should these suppliers fail to deliver in a timely manner, delays or disruptions in the supply and
installation of water heaters could result.

Although NHS maintains what it believes to be suitatle preduct liability insurance, there can be no assurance that NHS will be able ta
maintain such insurance on acceptable terms or that any such insurance will provide adequate protection against potential liabilities,
including with respect to product recalls.

HES dependence on federal and state legisiation and regulation

Various laws, regulations and programs of the U.S. federal government and certain state governments are intended to tead to increased use
of renewable resources, including solar energy. For example, certain existing and proposed laws, regulations and programs provide (or if
implemented will provide) economic incentives to solar installation. However, existing and proposed laws, regulations and pregrams have
limited time horizons and are constantly changing. In both the U.5. and Canada legislators and environmental regulators could adopt or
modify existing or proposed laws, regulations or programs that could adversely affect the economic viability of soiar projects. There can be
ne assurance that existing laws, regulations or programs will continue in the future, or that proposed laws, regulations or programs will be
adopted or implemented as currently anticigated.

Legal proceedings

Just Energy’s subsidiaries are party to a number of legal proceedings ather than as set out below, Just Energy believes that each proceeding
constitutes a routine legal matter incidental to the business conducted by Just Energy and that the ultimate disposition of the proceedings
will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated earnings, cash flows or financial position.

The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (*FERC”) against many suppliers of
electricity, including Commerce Energy Inc. {"CEl"}, a subsidiary of Just Energy, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy crisis
in California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC's enforcement of its market-based rate system.
Although CEI did not own generation facilities, the State of California is claiming that CEl was unjustly enriched by the run-up in charges
caused by the alleged market manipulation of other market participants. On March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge in the matter
granted a moticon to strike the claim for all parties in one of the complaints, holding that California did not prove that the reperting errors
masked the accumulation of market power. California has appealed the decision. CE! continues to vigorously contest this matter which is
not expected to have a material impact on the financial condition of the Company.

Controls and procedures

At March 31, 2012, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, along with the assistance of senior
management, have designed disclosure controls and pracedures to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to Just
Energy is made known to the CEO and CFO, and have designed internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS. During the
year, there have been no changes in Just Energy’s policies and procedures that comprise its internal control over financial reporting that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYS!S

The disclosure controls and procedures are evaluated annually through regular internal reviews which are carried out under the supervision
of, and with the participation of, the Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure controls
were effective as of March 31, 2012.

LIMITATION ON SCOPE OF DESIGN

Section 3.3(1) of Naticnal Instrument 52-1089, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings, states that the Company may
limit its design of disclosure contrals and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting for a business that it acquired not more
than 365 days before the end of the financizl period to which the certificate relates. Under this section, the Company’s CEQ and CFO have
limited the scope of the design, and subseguent evaluation, of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial
reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of Fulcrum, acguired effective October 1, 2011,

Summary financial information pertaining to the Fulcrum acquisition that was included in the censolidated financial statements of the Just
Energy as at March 31, 2012, is as follows:

(thousands of doliars)

_ Toal
Sales' $ 107,305
Net loss! {5,082)
Current assets 27,151
Non-current assets 103,235
Current liabilities 42,015
Non-current liabilities 3,418

¥ Results from October 1, 2011, to March 31, 2012

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Just Energy is committed to transparency in our operations and our approach to governance meets all recommended standards. Full
disclosure of our compliance with existing corporate governance rules is available on our website at www justenergygroup.com and is
included in Just Energy’s May 18, 2012, Managerment Proxy Circular. Just Energy actively monitors the corporate governance and disclosure
envircnment to ensure timely compliance with current and future requirements.

Outlook

Fiscal 2012 showed the ability of Just Energy to continue to grow profitaply as it has in past years. As in the past, at the start of the fiscal
year, management provided guidance as to expected customer additions, margin growth and Adjusted EBITDA growth for fiscal 2012.
Margin and Adjustad EBITDA were each expected to grow by approximately 5% per share while net customer additions were expected to
exceed that growth. The higher customer growth would be necessary in order to offset lower margins from commercial customers who
were expected to be a substantial portion of the net additions.

Realized results met or exceeded this guidance. Customer additions through marketing were a record 1,091,000 with a further 24¢,000
customers added through the acquisition of Fulcrum. As a result, the total customer base was up 17% year over year. As expected, gross
margin and Adjusted EBITDA were up by a lower percentage, 5% and 7% per share, respectively. Were it not for a near record warm
winter, these measures would have been ahead of guidance.

A key trend in Just Energy's business, which management expects t¢ continue, is the success of the Hudson acquisition and the growth of
the Commercial division. The Commercial division added 571,000 customers in fiscal 2011 with new customer aggregatian by the division
far exceeding management’s expectations. At the end of fiscal 2011, the Commercial divisicn had 1,330,000 customers. At the end of fiscal
2012, the Commercial division had 1,901,000 RCEs, up 43% year over year. Management believes that opportunities for both channel and
geographic expansion will cause Commercial division growth to exceed that of the Consumer division for the next several years.

The growth of commercial as a percentage of the overall book will cause margins to grow less quickly than customers. There are factors
which will both add to and detract from expected growth in fiscal 2013. The warm winter just experienced will create negative
reconciliations in the first and second quarters of the fiscal year, similar to those experienced after the racord warm winter of 2009/2010.
Offsetting this will be gross margin from Fulcrum's Texas electricity customers over the summer moenths because the fiscal 2012 summer did
not include Fulcrum as the acquisition was effective October 1, 2011.

The Consumer division saw a decline in its customer base as Canadian renewal rates were lower than historic levels. Renewals were hurt by
customners coming off very high five-year fixed-price contracts well above current prices. Qverall, renewals were down slightly to 64% for
fiscal 2012 from 65% in fiscal 2011. This decline was offset by improved attrition rates, Total attrition was an annal 13%, down from
15% a year earlier. Management believes that new products and any return to commodity price volatility will stem the dedline in the
Censurner division base and should result in improved renewal rates and continued lower attrition.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Qverall embedded margin in Just Energy’s contracts rose 15% tc $2.0 billion over the year, This was the result of a number of positive
factors with all sales channels generating strong results. The impact of the fourth quarter net customer additions will not be seen until
future pericds and management is confident that the strong growth seen in the year will accelerate in the year to come.

Growth at NHS remained steady with substantial value created in the business over the year. The installation base grew by 3% to 165,400.
Gross margin was up by 78% reflecting both growth and higher margin furnace and air conditioner unit installations. The best measure

of the success of NHS is the growth of embedded margin within customer contracts. Over the year, embedded margin began the year at
$282.7 miillion. Of this, $28.0 million was realized in the year and NHS ended at $393.0 million, up 39% for the fiscal 2012. NHS is testing
its preducts for geographic expansion outside Ontaric. While the rate of growth is expected tc slow on the more substantial customer base,
the impact of new markets is expected to be positive over the coming years.

TGF had improved results for the year. Sales and gross margin were up 20% and 31%, respectively. Going forward, the results at TGF will
be dependent on underlying commedity prices. Management is focused on maximizing operating ratios at the plant and cantrolling costs.

Overall, management’s expectation for fiscal 2013 is growth of approximately 10% to 12% in gross margin and approximately 8% to 10%
in Adjusted EBITDA. Customer growth should exceed these levels. Management anticipates that investment tax credits and the accelerated
deductibility of HES capital expenditures should result in higher current tax expense for fiscal 2013 than fiscal 2012 but will still be below
the effective corporate tax rates.

Take-up on Just Energy's green offerings declined frem 34% of new consumer customers taking 90% their consumpticn in green supply
in fiscal 2011 to 29% of new consumer customers taking 84% of suppty in fiscal 2012. However, the green book continues to grow.
JustGreen makes up 12% of the Consumer division electricity portfolio, up from 10% a year earlier. Ten percent of the Consumer division
gas portfolio is green, up from 6% in fiscal 201 1. Currently, fewer new customers are elacting green supply largely because of the
substantial premium cn lower commodity price bills. Management believes that there is a certain percentage of the public that will always
elect green and that any increase in underlying “brown” electricity or gas will result in a return to traditional take-up levels.

The Company made a substantial investment in the Momentis network marketing division. Total expenditures of $37.1 million were

made to build the network’s platform and establish an initial base of independent representatives. The business has grown from having
3,5C0 independent representatives on March 31, 2011, to 47,800 at fiscal year-end. On average, a representative should generate four to
six contracts and product sales. Given the fast growth in independent representatives in the last half of the year, total Momentis additions
were Jess than 50,000 RCEs to date. Management believes that the expenditures on Momentis will generate high returns as new customer
additions and the independent representative base continue to ramp up.

For the past quarters of fiscal 2012, Just Energy’s payout ratio on Adjusted EBITDA has been down significantly from the prior year. The
fourth quarter saw a small increase in the ratio to 40% from 38% in the prior comparable quarter. Net additions of 112,000 resulted in an
increase of 3% in the total customer base for the quarter. For the year, the ratio payout for Adjusted EBITDA declined from 66% to 62%, a
positive trend for the Company dividend. Base EBITDA had a payout ratio of 84%, up from 73% a year prior. This was due to record
customer additions which resulted in a net increase of embedded margin within customer contracts of 15% for the year. Management's
view is that while the Adjusted EBITDA payout ratio should dedline annually, the same is not true of Base EBITDA. Given Just Energy’s high
return on invested capital, the more spent on adcing long-term margin, the greater the Company’s growth and long-term value. Given the
current payout ratio and expected growth in the coming year, management sees no reason for any change to the current dividend policy
and current dividend rate.

The Company continues to actively monitor possible acquisition opportunities within its current business segments.

Effective January 30, 2012, Just Energy’s common shares were listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange. Management believes
this will expose the shares to a wider investment audience and that the result, over time, will be greater liquidity in the market.

Just Energy has partnered on a power-purchase-agreement basis with a number of green energy projects and plans to enter into more such
partnerships concentrated in jurisdictions where the Company has an established customer base. Just Energy continues to menitor the
progress of the deregulated markets in various jurisdictions, which may create the opportunity for further geographic expansion.



Management'’s responsibility
for financial reporting

The accompanying consclidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc. and all the information in this annual report are the
responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards. The consolidated financial statements include some amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. Management has
determined such amounts on a reascnable basis in order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all
material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report has been prepared on a consistent basis with that in
the consolidated financial statements.

Just Energy Group Inc. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls. These systems are designated to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Company assets are properly accounted
for and adeguately safeguarded.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately
respensible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally thraugh
its Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and is composed entirely of non-management directors, The Audit Committee
meets periodically with management and the external auditors, to discuss auditing, internal controls, accounting palicy and financial
reporting matters. The committee reviews the consolidated financial statements with beth management and the external auditors and
reports its findings to the Board of Directors before such statements are approved by the Board.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the sharehclders. The external auditors have full and free access tc the Audit
Committee, with and without the presence of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the financial
reporting and the effectiveness of the system of internal controls.

On behalf of Just Energy Group Inc.

o Weoizsk B~

Ken Hartwick Beth Surmmers
Chief Executive Officer and President Chief Financial Officer
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Independent auditors’ report

To the Shareholders of Just Energy Group Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consclidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc., which comprise the corsolidated statements
of financial position as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, and April 1, 2010, and the consolidated staternents of income (loss), comprehensive
income (loss), shareholders’ deficit and cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, and a summary of significant accounting
paticies and othar explanatory infermation.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due te fraud or error,

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits
in accerdance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves perferming procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial staterments.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consclidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal contrel relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate tc grovide a basis for cur audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinicn, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material raspects, the financial position of Just Energy Group Inc.

as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, and April 1, 2010, and the results of its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended March 31,
2012 and 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

binat ¥ oy 1ot

Toronto, Canada, Chartered Accountants
May 17, 2012 Licensed Public Accountants



Consolidated statements of financial position

As at
(thousands of Canadian dollars)
March 31, March 31, Aprif 1,
Notes 2012 2011 2010
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 % 291,061 § 234002 $ 216676
intangible assets & 543,775 640,219 528,854
Contract initiation costs 44,225 29,654 5,587
Other non-current financial assets 11 15,215 5,384 5,027
Non-current receivables 6,475 4,569 2,014
Deferred tax asset 16 78,398 121,785 265,107
979,249 1,035,613 1,023,265
Current assets
Inventory 8 g,088 6,906 6,323
Gas delivered in excess of consumption 12,844 3,481 7.410
Gas in storage 11,453 6,133 4,058
Current trade and other receivables 299,945 281,685 232,579
Accrued gas receivables 2,875 26,535 20,793
Unbilled revenues 130,796 112,147 61,070
Prepaid expenses and deposits 9,451 6,079 20,038
Other current assets 1 12,799 3,846 2,703
Corporate tax recoverable 8,225 9,135 -
Restricted cash 7 12,199 833 18,650
Cash and cash equivalents 53,220 97,633 60,132
563,795 554,413 433,756
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,543,044 $1,590,026 § 1,457,021
DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES
Deficit attributable to equity holders of the parent
Deficit ${1,652,188) $(1,349,928) $(1,556,669)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 12 70,293 123919 221,969
Unitholders’ capital - - 777,856
Shareholders’ capital 13 993,181 963,982 -
Equity component of convertible debenture 15 25,795 18,186 -
Contributed surplus 62,147 52,723 -
Shareholders' deficit (500,772) {191,118} (556,844)
Non-controlling interest {637) - 20,421
TOTAL DEFICIT (501,409) {191,118) (536,423)
Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt 15 679,072 507,460 231,837
Provisions 17 3,068 3,244 3,124
Deferred lease inducements 1,778 1,622 1,984
Other non-current financial liabilities 1" 309,617 355,412 590,572
Deferred tax liability 16 6,073 22,519 6,776
Liability associated with Exchangeable Shares and equity-based compensation 29 - - 181,128
999,608 890,657 1,015,421
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness 1.060 2,314 8,236
Trade and other payables 287,145 275,503 177,368
Accrued gas payable 2,960 19,353 15,093
Deferred revenue 11,985 - 7,202
Unit distribution payable - - 13,182
incomne taxes payable 4,814 9,788 6,410
Current portion of long-term debt 15 97,611 94,117 61,448
Provisions 17 3,226 4,006 3,884
Other current financial liabilities 11 636,044 485,406 685,200
1,044,845 890,487 978,023
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,044,453 1,781,144 1,993,444
TOTAL DEFCIT AND LIABILITIES $1,543,044  §1,590,026  § 1,457,021

Guarantees {Note 23) Commitments {(Note 26)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Approved on behalf of Just Energy Group Inc.
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Consolidated statements of income (loss)
For the years ended March 31
{thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated and per share amounts)

Notes 2012 2011

SALES 19 52785269 §2953,192
COST OF SALES 18(b) 2,267,780 2,471,63C
GROS5 MARGIN 517,489 481,562
EXPENSES

Administrative expenses 122,397 109,400

Selling and marketing expenses 177,302 133,607

Other operating expenses 18{a} 154,357 165,575

454,056 408,582

Operating profit 63,433 72,980
Finance costs 15 (60,935) {59,883)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 11 (96,345) 506,047
Proportionate share of loss from jeint venture 10 {1,971) -
Other income 6,702 7,235
Income (loss) before income taxes (89,116} 526,379
Provision for income taxes 16 37,527 173,439
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR $ (126,643) § 352,940
Attributable to:
Shareholders of Just Energy $ (126,522) $ 355,076
Non-controlling interest {121} {2,136)
PROF{T {LOSS) FOR THE YEAR $ (126,643) § 352,940
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
Profit {loss} per share 21
Basic $ {0.92) § 2.77
Diluted $ (0.92) ¢ 2.40



Consolidated statements of comprehensive
income (loss)

For the years ended March 31
(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Notes 2012 2011

Profit {loss) for the year $ (126,643) 352,940
Other comprehensive income (loss} 12
Unrealized gain on translation of foreign operations 2,386 449
Amortization of deferred unrealized gain of discontinued hedges, net of

income taxes of $13,150 (2011 - $21,384) (56,012) {98,499)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax {(53,626) {98,050)
Total comprehensive income {loss) for the year, net of tax $ {180,269) 254,890
Total comprehensive income (foss) attributable to;
Shareholders of Just Energy $ (180,148) 257,026
Non-controlling interest (121) {2,136}
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax $ (180,269) 254,890

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statements of shareholders’ deficit

For the years ended March 31
(thousands of Canadian dollars}

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHCLDERS/UNITHOLDERS
Accumulated deficit

Accumulated deficit, beginning of year

Loss on cancellation of shares

Profit (loss} far the year, attributable to the shareholders

Accumulated deficit, end of year

DISTRIBUTIONS/DIVIDENDS
Distributions and dividends, beginning of year
Distributions and dividends

Distributions and dividends, end of year
DEFICIT

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of year
Other comprehensive loss

Accumulated other comprehensive income, end of year

SHAREHOLDERS/UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL
Sharehaiders'/Unitholders’ capital, beginning of year
Shares/units exchanged and issued

Shares/units issued on exercise/exchange of unit compensation
Repurchase and cancellation of shares

Dividend reinvestment plan

Shareholders’/Unitholders’ capital, end of year

EQUITY COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES
Bafance, beginning of year

Allocations of new convertible debenturas issued

Future tax impact on convertible debentures

Balance, end of year

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

Balance, beginning of year

Reclassification on conversion

Gain on acguisition of non-contrelling interest

Add: Share-based compensation awards
Non-cash deferred share grant distributions

Less: Share-based awards exercised

Balance, end of year

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Balance, beginning of year

Non-contrelling interest acquired

Foreign exchange on non-controlling interest

Acquisition of non-controlling interest

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest

Balance, end of year

Notes 2012 201
$ {315934) § (671,010)
13 (356) -
{126,522) 355,076
{442,812) (315,934)
(1,033,994) {885,659)
25 {(175,382) (148,335)
(1,209,376)  (1,033,994)
$(1,652,188) § (1,349,928
12
$ 123919 § 221,969
{53.626) (98,050)
$ 70,293 § 123919
13
§ 963,982 § 777,856
- 158,520
1,385 1,559
(599) -
28,413 26,047
$ 993,181 $ 963,982
15
$ 1818 § -
10,188 33,914
{2,579) (15,728
$ 25795 § 18,186
$ 52723 % -
- 43,147
- 7,957
10,662 2,683
147 33
{1,385) (1,007
$ 62,147 3§ 52,723
$ - $ 2041
9 (540) -
24 -
- {18,285)
{121 (2,138)
$ 637) 3 —

See accompanying notes o the consclidated financial statements



Consolidated statements of cash flows

For the years ended March 31
(thousands of Canadian dollars}

Notes 2012 201
Net inflow {outflow} of cash related to the following activities
QPERATING
Income befcre income taxes $ (89,116) $ 526,379
items not affecting cash
Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts 108,233 120,841
Amortization of contract initiation costs 13,977 12,429
Amartization of property, plant and equipment 5.847 5,698
Amortization included in cost of sales 12,640 9,837
Share-based compensation 10,662 9,914
Financing charges, non-cash portion 8,760 7,799
Transaction costs on acquisition 1,101 1,284
Other {150} 6,860
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 96,345 {506,047)
257,415 {331,385)
Adjustment required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales 27 7,740 (1,725)
Changes in non-cash working capital 28 (27,032) (39,063)
149,007 154,206
Income tax paid {4,617) (8,651)
Cash inflow from cperating activities 144,390 145,555
INVESTING
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (74,829) (33,412)
Purchase of intangible assets {5.867) (5,784)
Acguisitions, net of cash acquired 9 {93,325) (261,389)
Proceeds (advances} of long-term receivables {1.881) 2,232
Transaction costs ch acquisition {1,101) (1,284)
Contract initiation costs (28,244} (19,210)
Cash outflow from investing activities (205,247} {318,847)
FINANCING
Dividends paid (146,822) {134,589)
Shares purchased for cancellation (955) -
Decraase in bank indebtedness {1,254) (5,922)
Issuance of long-term debt 464,520 484,844
Repayment of long-term debt (288,005) {150,449)
Restricted cash (11,366) 17,817
Cash inflow from financing activities 16,118 211,71
Effect of foreign currency iransiation on cash balances 326 (908)
Net cash inflow (outflow) {44,413) 37,501
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 97,633 60,132
Cash and cash eguivalents, end of year $ 53220 §$ 97,633
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interast paid $ 52810 § 39,167

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended March 37, 2012
{thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated and per share/unit amounts)

NOTE 1

NOTE 2

NOTE 3

ORGANIZATION
lust Energy Group Inc. ("JEGI", “Just Energy” or the “Company”) is a corporation established under the laws of Canada to hold
securities and to distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates.

Effective January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed the conversion from an income trust, Just Energy Income Fund (the “Fund”},
to a corporation {the " Conversion”). A plan of arrangemen? was approved by unitholders on June 29, 2010, and by the Alberta
Court of the Queen’s 8ench on June 30, 2010, and going forward cperates under the name Just Energy Group Inc. JEGI was a
newly incorporated entity for the purpose of acguiring the outstanding units of the Fund, Exchangeable Shares of Just Energy
Exchange Corp. (“JEEC") and the Class A preference shares of Just Energy Corp. {"JEC"), in each case on a one for one basis for
common shares of JEGI. There was nc change in the ownership of the business, and therefore, there is no impact to the
consolidated financial statements except for the elimination of unitholders’ equity, the recording of shareholders’ equity and the
rezllocation of the fiability associated with the Exchangeable Shares and equity-based compensation to shareholders’ equity.

The registered office of Just Energy is First Canadian Place, 100 King Street West, Toronto, Ontario, Canada. The consolidated
financial statements consist of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The financial statements were approved by the Board
of Directors on May 17, 2012

OPERATIONS

Just Energy’s business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under
long-term fixed-price, price-protected or variable-priced contracts. Just Energy markets its gas and electricity contracts in Canada
and the U.S. under the following trade names: Just Energy, Hudson Energy, Commerce Energy, Amigo Energy and Tara Energy.
By fixing the price of naturai gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period of up to five
years, fust £nergy’s customers offset their exposure t¢ changes in the price of these essential cornmodities. Variable rate products
allow customers to maintain competitive rates while retaining the ability to lock into a fixed price at their discretion. Just Energy
derives its margin or gross profit from the diffarence between the price at which it is able to sell the commaodities to its customers
and the related price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers.

Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen and JustClean programs. The electricity JustGreen product offers
customers the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the
river hydro or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits that allow customers to reduce or eliminate the
carbon footprint of their homes or businesses. JustClean products allow customers in certain jurisdictions to offset their carbon
footprint without purchasing commodity from Just Energy. JustClean can be offered in all states and provinces and is not
dependent on energy deregulation. Management believes that the JustGrean and JustClean products will not only add to profits
but will also increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates.

In addition, Just Energy seils and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters, air conditioners and furnaces to Cntario
residents, through a subsidiary under the frade name Naticnal Home Services ("NHS"). Just Energy also operates a network
marketing division under the trade name Momentis. Through its subsidiary, Terra Grain Fuels, Inc. (“TGF"), Just Energy produces
and sells wheat-based ethanol. Just Energy’'s subsidiary, Hudson Energy Solar Corp ("HES*), also provides a solar project
development platform operating in New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts under the trade name Hudson Energy Solar.

Just Energy also holds a 50% ownership in Just Ventures LLC and just Ventures L.P. {collectively "Just Ventures”), a jointly
controlled entity, which is invelved in the marketing of Just Energy’s gas and electricity contracts. The ather 50% is owned by
Red Ventures LLC, a South Carolina-based entity which specializes in Internet-based marketing.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In 2010, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (*CICA™) Handbook was revised to incorporate international Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and requires publicly accounzable enterprises t¢ apply such standards effective for years beginning
on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company has commenced reporting an this hasis in these cansolidated financial
statemnents. in the consolidated financiat statements, the term “CGAAP” refers to Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles before the adoption of IFRS.
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NOTES TQ THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board {“IASB“). Subject to certain transition elections, the Cornpany has consistently appiied the same accounting
policies in fts opening IFRS consolidated balance sheet at April 1, 2010, and throughout all periods presented, as if these policies
had always been in effect. Note 31 discloses the impact of the transition to {FRS on the Company’s reported financial position,
firancial performance and cash flows, inciuding the nature and effect of significant changes in accounting policies from those used
in the Company's audited annual consciidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2011, prepared under CGAAP.

Basis of presentation

The consclidated financial statements are presented in Canadian doliars, the functional currency of Just Energy, and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand. The consolidated financial statements are prepared on an historical cost basis except for the
derivative finandial instruments, which are stated at fair value.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consoiidated financial
statements and in preparing the opening IFRS consolidated statement of financial position as at Aprit 1, 2010, for the purposes of
the transition.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incluge the accounts of Just Energy and its directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries and
affiliates as at March 31, 2012. Subsidiaries and affiliates are consclidated from the date of acquisition and control, and continue
0 be consoiidated until the date that such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries and affiliates are prepared
for the same reporting pericd as Just Energy, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances, income, expenses,
and unrealized gains and losses resulting from intercompany transactions are eliminated on consclidation.

Cash and cash equivalents

All highly liguid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to
be cash equivalents. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Accrued gas receivables/accrued gas payable or gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues

Accrued gas receivables are stated at estimated rezlizabie value and result when customers consume more gas than has been
delivered by Just Energy to local distribution companies (“LDCs”). Accrued gas payable represents the obligation to the LDCs with
respect to gas consumed by customers in excess of that delivered to the LDCs.

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections
fram customers in advance of their consumption of gas result in deferred revenues.

Due to the seasonality of operations, during the winter months, customers will have consumed mare than what was delivered
resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas payable; however, in the summer months, customers will have
consumed less than what was delivered, resulting in the recognition of gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues,

These adjustments are applicable solely to the Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan gas markets.

Inventory

Inventory consists of water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners for selling purposes, gas in storage, ethanol, ethanol in process
and grain inventory. Water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners are stated at the iower of cost and net realizable value with cost
being determined on a weighted average basis.

Gas in storage represents the gas delivered to the LDCs. The balance will fluctuate as gas is injected or withdrawn from storage.

Gas in storage, ethanol, ethanoi in process and grain inventory are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost
being determined on a weighted average basis. Net realizable valug is the estimated seliing price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

() Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and eguipment are stated at cost, net of any accurnulated depreciaticn and impairment losses. Cost includes the
purchase price and, where relevant, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the locaticn and condition necessary
andfor the present value of all dismantling and removal costs. Where major components of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the components are recegnized and depreciated separateiy, Just Energy recognizes, in the carrying amount,
the cost of replacing part of an item when the cest is incurred and if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied
with the item can be reliably measured. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the consolidated income
statement a5 an exgense when incurred. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Asset category Depreciation method Rate/useful iife
Furniture and fixtures Declining balance 20%

Office equipment Declining balance 20%
Computer equipment Declining balance 30%
Buildings and ethanol glant Straight fine 15-35 years
Water heaters Straight line 15 years
Furnaces and air conditioners Straight line 15 years
l.easehold improvements Straight line Term of lease
Vehicles Straight line 5 years

Sofar equipment Straight line 15-20 years

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or [oss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in
the consolidated income statement when the asset is derecognized.

The useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

{g) Business combinations and goodwill
Business comizinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acguisition is measured as the fair vaiue of
the assets given, equity instruments and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition costs for business
combinations incurred subsequent to April 1, 2010, are expensed as incurred, Identifiable assets acquired and liahilities and
contingent liakilities assumed in a business combination are measurad initially at fair values on the date of acquisition, irrespective
of the extent of any nan-controlling interest.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, which is the excess of the cost of the business combinaticn over just Energy’s share in the
net fair valua of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Any negative difference is recognized directly
in the consolidated income statement. If the fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities can orly be calculated on
& provisional basis, the business combination is recognized using previsional values. Any adjustments resulting from the
completion of the measurement process are recognized within 12 months of the date of acquisition.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairmant
testing, goodwill acguired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of Just Energy’s operating
segments that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets and liabilities of
the acquiree are assigned to those segments.

Cn first-time adoption of IFRS, Just Energy elected to not apply IFRS 3, Business Combinaticons, to transactions that occurred prior
to the transition date. Accordingly, the goodwill associated with acquisitions carried out prior te Aprit 1, 2010, is carried at that
date, at the amount reported in the last consolidated financial statements prepared under CGAAP as at March 31, 2010.

(hy Intangible assets
intangible assets acquired outside of & business combination are measured at cost on initial recognition. Intangible assets acguired
in a business combination are recorded at fair value on the date of acguisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortizaticn and/or accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization method and amortization period of an intangible asset
with a finite useful life is reviewed at least once annually. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate,
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortizaticn expense related to intangible assets with finite lives is
recognized in the consolidated income statement in the expense category associated with the function of the intangible assets.
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Intangible assets consist of gas customer contracts, electricity customer contracts, water heater customer contracts, sales network,
brand and goodwil), all acquired through business combinations, as well as software, commodity billing and settlement systems
and information technology system development.

Internally generated intangible assets are capitalized when the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and
Just Energy has sufficient resources to complete development. The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all
directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management.

The brand and goodwill are considered to have an indefinite useful life and are not amortized, but rather tested annually
for impairment. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to
be supportable.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in the consolidated income statement when the asset is derecognized.

Asset category Amortization method Rate

Customer contracts Straight line Term of contract
Contract initiation costs Straight line Term of contract
Commadity billing and settlement systems Straight line 5 years

Sales network Straight fine 5 years
Information technology system development Straight line 5 years
Software Declining halance 100%

Other intangible assets Straight line 5 years

impairment of non-financial assets

lust Energy assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired at each reporting date. If such an indication
exists or when annual testing for an asset is required, Just Energy estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, if any, as well as intangible assets not yet available for use,
are estimated at least annually. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs to
sell and its value-in-use. Value-in-use is determined by discounting estimated future cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the specific risks of the asset. In determining fair value less
costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model has to be used. The recoverable amount of assets that do not generate independent
cash flows is determinad based an the cash-generating unit te which the asset belongs.

An impairment foss is recognized in the consolidated income statement if an asset’s carrying amount or that of the cash-
generating unit to which it is allocated is higher than its recoverable amount. Impairment losses of cash-generating units are
first charged against the value of assets, in proportion to their carrying amount.

In the consolidated income statement, an impairment [oss is recognized in the expense category associated with the function of
the impaired asset.

For assets excluding goodwiil, an assessment is made at each reporting date 25 to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer axist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, Just Energy estimates the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recaverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has keen a
change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The
reversal is limited so that the carrying ameunt of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying
armount that would have been determined, net of amartization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior
years. Such a reversal is recognized in the consclidated income staterment.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at March 31 and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each segment to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the segment is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recogrized.
Imgairment losses relating to goodwill cannct be reversed in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the
inception date and whether fulfilment of the arrangernent is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets, or the
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Just Energy as a lessee
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense i the consolidated income statement en a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Just Energy as a lessor

Leases where Just Energy does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as
operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities

Just Energy classifies its financial instruments as either (i) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss instruments, or

(i) loans and receivables, and its financial liabilities as either (i) financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or (i) other
financial liabilities. Appropriate classification of financial assets and liabilities is determined at the time of initial recognition or
when reclassified in the consotidated statement of financial position.

Financial instruments are recognized cn the trade date, which is the date on which Just Energy commits to purchase or sell
the asset.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held-for-trading and financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held-for-trading if they are acguired for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into that are
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement {"1AS 39”). Included in this class are primarily physical delivered energy contracts, for which the own-use exemption
could not be applied, financially settied energy contracts and foreign currency forward contracts.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in Note 11,
Related realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in the consolidated income statement.

Loans and recejvables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not guoted in an active
market. Assets in this category include receivables. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction
costs, They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective
interest amortization is included in finance costs in the consolidated income staterent.

Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or when just Energy has
transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset,

Impairment of financial assets

tust Energy assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired at each reporting date. A financial asset
is deemad to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have
occurred after the initial recogrition of the asset {an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the fund of financial assets that can be refiably estimated.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, Just Energy first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively, for financial assets that are not individually significant. If Just
Energy determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset
in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The prasent value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
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The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in
profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part
of other income in the consclidated income statement.

Loans and receivables, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment ioss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after
the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
account. f a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other operating casts in the consolidated income statement.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held-for-trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by Just Energy that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by 1AS 39. Included in this ciass are primarily physically delivered energy contracts, for which the own-use
exempticn could be not applied, financially settled enargy contracts and foreign currency forward contracts.

Gains or losses on liabilities held-for-trading are recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities include long-
term debt issued, which is initially measured at fair value, which is the consideration received, net of transaction costs incurred,
trade and other payables and bank indebtedness. Transaction costs related to the long-term debt instruments are included in the
value of the instruments and amortized using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest expense is included in
finance costs in the consolidated income statement.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the kiability is discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing
financial liabitity is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, cr the terms cof an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or medification is treated as a derecognition of the origina! liability and the recognition
of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Derivative instruments

Just Energy enters into fixed-term contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices. These customer contracts
expose Just Energy to changes in cansurmption as well as changes in the market prices of gas and electricity. To reduce its
exposure to movements in commadity prices, just Energy enters into derivative contracts.

Just Energy analyzes all its contracts, of both a financial and non-financial nature, to identify the existence of any "embedded”
derivatives. Embedded derivatives are accounted for separately from the underlying contract at inception date when their risks
and characteristics are not closely related to those of the underlying contracts and the underlying contracts are not carried at fair
value. An embedded derivative is a provision in a contract that modifies the cash flow of a contract by making it dependent on an
underlying measurement.

All derivatives are recognized at fair value on the date on which the derivative is entered into and are re-measured to fair value at
each reporting date. Derivatives are carried in the consolidated statements of financial position as other financial assets when the
fair value is positive and as other financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. Just Energy does not utilize hedge accounting.
Therefore, changes in the fair value of these derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated income statement and are included
within change in fair value of derivative instruments.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reparted in the consclidated statements of financial pesition
if, and only if, there is currently an enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settie on a
net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose of these contracts in an arm’s length
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under nc compulsion to act. The fair value of financial instruments
that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted market prices, without any
deduction for transaction costs.
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For financial instruments not traded in &n active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques that
are recagnized by market participants. Such technigues may include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to
the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, or other valuation models.
An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are grovided in Note 11.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer. In the case of gas and
electricity, transfer of risk and rewards genarally coincides with consumption. Ethancl and dried distillery grain sales are recognized
when the risk and reward of ownership passes, which is typicaily cn delivery. Revenue from sales of water heaters, furnaces and
air conditioners is recognized upon installation. Just Energy recognizes revenue from water heater and HVAC leases, based on
rental rates over the term commencing from the instaltation date.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and sales taxes.

The Company assumes credit risk for all customers in lllinois, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Massachusetts, California and
Georgia and for large-volume customers in British Columbia and Ontaric. In these markets, the Company ensures that credit
review processes are in place prior to commodity flowing to the customer.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consclidated financial statements of each of the Company's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Canadian dollars, which is the parent company’s presentation and functional currency.

Transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the axchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the transiation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated
income statemant, except when deferred in other comprehensive income (loss} as qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation of foreign operations
The results and consolidated financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

+ assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that consclidated statement of financial position; and

+ income and expenses for each consolidated income statement are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings
and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to other comprehensive income {loss).

When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (foss) are recognized in the consolidated income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Per sharefunit amacunts

The computation of income per unit/share is based on the weighted average number of units/shares outstanding during the vear.
Diluted earnings per unit/share are computed in a similar way to basic earnings per unit/share except that the weighted average
units/shares cutstanding are increased to include additional units/shares assuming the exercise of stock options, restricted share
grants {"RSGs"), deferred share grants (“DSGs”) and convertible debentures, if dilutive.
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Share-based compensation plans

Equity-based compensation liability

Prior to the Conversion to a corgoration on January 1, 2011, Just Energy’s equity-based compensation plans entitled the holders
to receive trust units, which were considered puttable financial instruments under {FRS, and thus the awards were classified as
liability-based awards. The liability was measured at the redemption value of the instruments and re-measured at each reporting
date with the gain or loss associated with the re-measurement recorded within profit. When the awards were converted inte trust
units, the conversions were recorded as an extinguishment of the liability and accerdingly, the re-measured amount at the date of
conversion was then reclassified to equity.

Subseguent to the Conversion, Just Energy accounted for its share-pased compensation as equity-settled transactions as a result
of the stock-based plans that were no longer convertible inte a puttable financial liability. The cost of a share-based compensation
is measured by reference 1o the fair value at the date on which it was granted. Awards are valued at the grant date and are not
adjusted for changes in the prices of the underlying shares and other measurement assumptions. The cost of eguity-settled
transactions is recognized, together with the corresponding increase in eguity, over the period in which the performance or service
conditions are fulfiled, ending on the date on which the relevant grantee becomes fully entitled to the award. The cumulative
expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reperting date until the vesting period reflects the extent to which

the vesting period has expired and Just Energy’s best estimate of the number of the shares that will ultimately vest. The expense
or credit recognized for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of

that period,

When options, RSGs and DSGs are exercised or exchanged, the amounts credited to contributed surglus are reversed and credited
to shareholders' capital.

Employee future benefits

Just Energy established a long-term incentive plan {the "Plan”) for all permanent full-time and part-time Canadian employees
{working more than 20 hours per week) of its subsidiaries. The Plan consists of twe components, & Deferred Profit Sharing Plan
("DPSP") and an Employee Profit Sharing Plan {"EPSP"}. For participants of the DPSP. Just Energy contributes an amcunt equal to
a maximurm of 2% per annum of an employee's base earnings. For the EPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum
of 2% per annum of an employee's base earnings towards the purchase of shares of Just Energy, on a matching one fer one basis.

For U.S. employees, Just Energy has established a long-term incentive plan (the “Plan”} for all permanent full-time and part-time
employees {working more than 26 hours per week) of its subsidiaries. The Plan censists of two components, & 401{k) and an
Employee Share Purchase Plan (“ESPP™). Far participants of the ESPR, Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 3%
per annurm of an employee's base earnings towards the purchase of Just Energy shares, an a matching one for one basis. For
participants in the 401(k), Just Energy contributes an amount up tc a maximum of 4% per annum of an employee's base
earnings, on a matching one for one basis. In the event an employee participates in both the ESFP and 401(k), the maximum Just
Energy will contribute tc the 401¢k) is 2%.

Participation in the plans in Canada or the U S is voluntary. The plans have a two-year vesting period beginning from the later of
the plan's effective date and an emgloyee’s starting date. During the year, Just Energy contriputed $2,034 (2011 - $1,572) to the
plans, which was paid in full during the year.

Otbligatiens for contributians to the Plan are recognized as an expense in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

Trust units of the Fund

Prior to the Conversion which occurred on January 1, 2011, the Fund’s outstanding equity instruments consisted of publicly traded
trust units of the Fund, Class A preference shares of JEC and Exchangeable Shares of JEEC, Pursuant to applicable legislation,
those trust units included a redemption feature which required Just Energy to assess the appropriate presentation of those units
under IFRS.

Generally, IFRS requires that financial instruments, which include a redemption feature, making the instruments puttable, should
be presented as a financial liability rather than an equity item. However, an exception to this requirement is available if the
financial instrument meets certain criteria. Just Energy determined that its trust units met the reguirements for this exception and
accordingly, the trust units are presented as equity for the periods prior to the Canversion.
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Liabilities associated with the Class A preference shares of JEC and the Exchangeable Shares of JEEC (collectively

the “Exchangeable Shares™)

Prior to the Conversion, the outstanding Exchangeable Shares did not meet the criterla to be recorded as equity because the
Exchangeable Shares were ultimately required to be exchanged for trust units, which were considered puttable financial instruments.
Accordingly, the Exchangeable Shares were recorded as a liability until exchanged for trust units, The liability was measured at the
redemption value of the instruments and re-measured at each reporting date with the gain or loss associated with the re-measurement
recorded within profit. When the Exchangeable Shares were converted into trust units, the conversions were recorded as an
extinguishment of the liability, and accordingly, the re-measured amount at the date of conversion was then reclassified to equity.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs incurred by Just Energy in issuing, acquiring or selling its own equity instruments are accounted for as a
deduction from equity to the extent that they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise
would have been avoided.

lncome taxes

Just Energy follows the liability method of accounting for deferred taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are
recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable te the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets
and liabifities on the consolidated financial statements and their respactive tax bases.

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

* Where the deferred tax asset/liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting prefit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

» Inrespact of taxable tempoerary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foresesable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses, can be utilized, except:

* Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

¢ Inrespact of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognized
only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying armount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utifized. Unrecognized
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxaple profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are
recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Provisions

Provisicns are recognized when Just Energy has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event and it is
probable that an outfliow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligaticn and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where Just Energy expects some or al! of a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any
provision is presented in the consolidated income statement, net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is
material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the fiability.
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NOTES TG THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost in the
consolidated income statement,

Selling and marketing expenses and contract initiation costs
Commissions and various other costs related 1o obtaining and renewing customer contracts are charged to income in the period
incurred except as disciosed below:

Commissions related to obtaining and renewing commercial customer contracts are paid in one of the following ways: all or
partially upfront or as a residual payment over the life of the contract. If the commissicn is paid all or partially upfrent, it is
recorded as contract initiation costs and amortized in selling and marketing expenses over the term for which the associated
revenue is eamed. If the commissicn is paid as a residual payment, the amount is expensed as earned.

In addition, commissions related to obtaining customer contracts signed by NHS are recorded as contract initiation costs and
amortized in selling and marketing expenses over the remaining life of the contract.

Investment in joint venture

Just Energy accounts for its interest in joint ventures using the equity methcd. Under this method any investments made increases
the asset value, the proportionate share of income/losses, increases/decreases the asset value, with an cffsetting adjustment in the
consclidated statements of operations, and any dividends received decreases the asset value.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions to be made in applying
the accounting policies that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and the disclosure of contingent
liabitities. The estimates and related assumptions are based on previous experience and other factors consicered reasonable under
the circumstances, the resuits of which form the basis for making the assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumgtions are reviewed or an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which the estimate is revised. Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements relate to the foliowing:

Impairment of non-financial assets

Just Energy’s impairment test is based on value-in-use calculations that use a discounted cash fiow model. The cash flows are
derived from the budget for the next five years and are sensitive to the discount rate used as well as the expected future cash
inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

Deferred taxes
Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon
the likely timing and the leve! of future taxalle income realized, including the usage of tax-planning strategies.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalized in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 3¢(h). (nitial capitalization of costs is based on
management's judgment that technical and economicat feasibility is confirmed, usually when a project has reached a defined
milestone according to an established project management model. As at March 31, 2012, the carrying amount of capitalized
development costs was $13,343 (2011 — $16,275). This amcunt primarily includes costs for the internal development of software
tools for the customer billing and analysis in the various operating jurisdictions. These software tools are developed by the internal
information technclogy and operations department, for the specific regicnal market requirements.

Useful life of key property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The amortization methad and useful lives reflect the pattern in which management expects the asset’s future economic benefits
to be consumed by Just Energy. Refer to Nate 3(f) and Nate 3(h) for the estimated useful lives.

Provisions for litigation

The State of California has filed a number of compfaints to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") against many
suppliers of electricity, including Commerce, a subsidiary of Just Energy, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy
crisis in California, Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC’s enforcement of its market-based
rate system. At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if any, with respect to this litigation
are not certain; however, an estimated amount has been recorded in these consolidated financial statements as at March 31,
2012. In the general course of operations, Just Energy has made additional provisions for litigation matters that have arisen. Refer
to Note 17 for further details.
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Trade receivables

Just Energy reviews its individually significant receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment ioss should be
recorded in the consalidated income statement. In particular, judgment by management is reguired in the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. in estimating these cash flows, Just Energy makes
judgments about the borrower’s financial situation and the net realizable value of collateral. These estimates are based on
assumptions about & number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position cannot
be derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation technigues including discounted cash flow models. The
inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possibie, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is
reguired in establishing fair values. The judgment includes consideration of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Refer to Note 11 for
further details about the assumptions as well as sensitivity analysis.

Acquisition accounting

For acquisition accounting purposes, alt identifiable assets, lisbilities and contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination
are recognized at fair value on the date of acquisition. Estimates are used to calculate the fair value of these assets and liabilities
as at the date of acguisition.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET APPLIED

IFRS ¢, Financial Instrurments

As of April 1, 2015, Just Energy will be reguired to adopt IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is the result of the first phase of the
IASB’s project to replace 1AS 39, Financial instruments: Recagnition and Measurement. The new standard replaces the current
multigle classification and measurement models for financial assets and fiabilities with a single model that has cnly two
classification categories: amortized cost and fair value. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or
determined whether it will adopt the standard early.

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements

As of April 1, 2013, IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements will replace portions of 1AS 27, Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements and interpretation 51C-12, Consclidation — Special Purpose Entities. The new standard requires consolidated
financial statements to include all controlled entities under a single control modei. The Company will be considered to contrel an
investee when it is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its invelvernent with the investee and has the current ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee.

As required by this standard, control fs reassessed as facts and circumstances change. All facts and circumstances must be
considered to make a judgment about whether the Company controls another entity; there are nc clear lines. Additional guidance
is given on how to evaluate whether certain relationships give the Company the current ability to affect its returns, including how
to consider options and convertible instruments, helding less than a majerity of voting rights, how to consider protective rights,
and principal-agency relationships {including removal rights), all of which may differ from current practice. The Company has not
yet assessed the impact of the standard or determined whether it will adopt the standard early.

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, which applies to accounting for interests in
joint arrangements where there is joint control. The standard requires the joint arrangements to be classified as either joint
operatians or joint ventures. The structure of the joint arrangement would no longer be the most significant factor when
classifying the joint arrangemant as either a joint operation or a joint venture. In addition, the option to account for joint ventures
(previously called jointly controlled entities) using proportionate consolidation will be removed and replaced by equity accounting.

The adoption of this new section will have no impact on the Company as joint ventures are currently accounted for using the
equity methad.
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IFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in Other Entities

Cn April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 12, Disclosura of Interests in Other Entities, which includes disclosure
requirements about subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associates, as well as unconsclidated structured entities, and replaces existing
disclosure reguirements. Due to this new section, the Company will be reguired to disclose the following: judgments and
assumptions made when deciding how to classify involvement with another entity, interests that non-centrolling interests have in
consolidated entities, and nature of the risks associated with interests In other entities. The Company has not yet assessed the
impact of the standard or determined whether it will adopt the standard early.

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. The new standard will establish a single
source of guidance for fair value measurements, when fair value is required or permitted by IFRS. Upon adoption, the Company
will provide a single framework for measuring fair value while requiring enhanced disclasures when fair value is applied. In
addition, fair value wilt be defined as the "exit price’ and concepts of ‘highest and best use’ and "valuation premise’ would be
relevant only for non-financial assets and liabilities. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or determined
whether it will adopt the standard early.

IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements. As a result of the issue of the new
consclidation suite of standards, 1AS 27 has been reissued to reflect the change as the consolidation guidance has recently been
included in IFRS 10.

In addition, IAS 27 will now only prescribe the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint
venturas and associatas when the Company prepares separate financial statements. The Company has not yet assessed the impact
of the standard or determined whether it will adopt the standard early.

IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. As a consequence of
the issue of IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and 1AS 28 have been amended and will further provide the accounting guidance for
investments in associates and will set out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for
investments in associates and joint ventures.

This standard will be applied by the Company when there is joint control or significant influence over an investee. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating pclicy decisions of the investee but does not include control or
joint control of those policy decisions. When determined that the Company has an interest in a joint venture, the Company will
recognize an investment and will account for it using the equity method in accordance with 145 28. The Company has not yet
assessed the impact of the standard or determinad whether it will adopt the standard early.

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 1, Presentation of Finangial Statements, was amended in 2011 to expand on the disclosures required of items within other
comprehensive income. The revised standard requires that an entity distinguishes between thase items that are recycled to profit
and loss versus those items that are not recycled. Retrospective application is required and the standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The Company does not expect the amendments to IAS 1 1o have a significant impact
on its consclidated financial statements.
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As at March 31, 2012

Cost:

Operating balance -
April 1, 2011

Additions/(Disposals)

Acquisition of
sLibsidiary

Exchange differences

March 31, 2012

Accumulated
Amortization:

Opening baiance -
April 1, 2011

Amortization charge
to cost of sales

Amortization charge
for the year

Disposals

Exchange differences

Ending balance,
March 31, 2012

Net book value,
March 31, 2012

As at March 31, 2011

Cost:
QOperating balance -
April 1, 2010
Additions/(Disposals)
Acquisition
of subsidiary
Exchange differences

Ending balance,
March 31, 2011

Accumaulated
Amortization:
Operating balance -
Apri 1,2010
Amgrtization charge
to cost of sales
Amortization charge
for the year
Exchange differences

Ending balance,
March 31, 2011

Net book value,
March 31, 2011

Net book value,
April 1, 2010

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

noTE 5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings Furnaces
and Furniture and air  Leasehold
Computer  ethanol and Office Water con-  improve- Solar

equipment plant Land fixtures  Vehicles equipment heaters  ditioners ments equipment Total
$ 7,750 $158,482% 299 § 6090% 215 % 17,976 § 78,223 § 3B13 § 8567 % 283 § 281,698
1,347 - - 441 {32} 1,668  2B,048 7,671 62 35624 74,829

348 - - 8 3 n - - - - 758
8 18 - 33 (2} 13 - - 13 {118) {35)

9,453 158,500 299 6,572 212 20,028 106,271 11,484 8,642 35,789 357,250
(4,958) (17,426) - (3,561) {88) (9,520) (6,887) {179y  (5,097) - {47,696)
- {5,871) - - - - {5,961) (808) - - (12,640)
(1,20%)  (1,201) - {569) {41} (1,90%) - - (913) {13) (5.847)
12 - - - 21 Q)] - - - - 32

)] - - (1 - )] - - (9 - (38)
(6,160) (24,4498) - {4,141) (108) {11,435) (12,848) {987y  (5,999) {13} (66,189)

$ 3,293 $134,002%

299 % 2,431%

1044 8593 % 93423 § 10497 § 2,643 § 35776 $ 291,061

Buildings Furnaces
and Furniture and air  Leasehold
Computer athanot and Office Water con-  improve- Solar
equipment plant Land fixtures Vehicies equipment heaters  ditioners ments eguipment Total
$ 6,417 $159,897 % 299 § 5581 % 197 $ 15,724 § 51,052 § 317 $ 8409 % - $ 248,500
1,137 (2,055) - 468 18 684 27,164 3,496 148 297 31,357
233 670 - 94 -~ 621 - - 30 - 1,648
(37} (30 - {53) - (53) - - {20) (14) (207)
7,750 158,482 299 6,090 215 17,976 78,223 3,813 8,567 283 281,698
(3,887) (11,104 - (2,972) @46) (7.614y (2,4B1) @ 4.1186) - (32,224
- (5,256} - - - - (4,406} (179) - - (9,837
{1,086) {1,066) - {60h) (42) (1,923 - - (975) - {5,698}
15 1 - 17 - 16 - - 14 - 63
{4,958) (17.425) - (3,561} (88) {9,521} (6,887) (179)  (5.077) - (47,696)
3 2,792 $141,057 % 2998 2529 % 127§ 84555% 71,336 % 3634 % 3490 % 283 $ 234,002
$ 2,530 §$148,793 % 299% 2609 % 151§ 9,110 % 48,578 % 313 % 4293 % - $216,676




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

note & INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Commaodity
Water billing and  IT system
Electricity heater Sales settlement  develop-
As at March 31, 2012  Gascontracts  contracts  contracts  Goodwill  network Brand Software  systems ment Other Total
Cost:
Operating balance -

April 1, 2011 $ 248,828 $ 436,339 § 23,164 §$ 227,467 § 80,561 § 10692 § 9540 % 6,515 $ 19,691 § 9,006 $1,071,803
Acqguisition of a subsidiary - 39,533 - 21,106 42,359 13,034 215 - - - 116,247
Write-down of fully

amortized assets (1,842) - - - - - - - - - (1,842)
Additions - - 879 - - - 4,084 15 773 116 5,867
Exchange differences 3,759 3,981 - 592 158 (357) 83 51 433 248 9,008
Ending balance,

March 31, 2012 250,745 479,853 24,043 249,165 123,078 23,369 13,922 6,581 20,957 9,370 1,201,083
Accumulated

Amartization:

Opening balance -

April 1, 2011 (144,568) (248,673) (2,813) - (14,770 - (6,616} (6,453) (3,478) {4,213) (431,584)
Write-down of fully

amartized assets 1,842 - - - - - - - - 1,842
Amartization charge

for the year (23,902) (54,468}  (1,631) - (19,006} - (2,890} (18)  {(4089) (2,229 (108,233)
Amortization in mark

to market (38,663) (74,330) - - - - - - - - (112,993)
Exchange differences {2,856)  (2,668) - - (508) - 22) 51} {106) (129)  (6,340)
Ending balance,

March 31, 2012 (208,147) (380,139) {4,444} -~ (34,284) - (9,528) (6,522) (7.673) {6,571} (657,308)
Net book value,

March 31, 2012 $ 42508 § 99,714 % 19,599 $ 249,165 % 88794 % 23,369 % 4,3% 594 132844 2,799 % 543,775

Commodity
Wvater billing and [T system
Electricity heater Sales settlernent  develop-
As at March 31, 2011 Gascontracts  contracts  contracts  Goodwill  network Brang  Software Systems ment Other Total
Cost:
Operating balance -

April 1, 2010 $472756 % 266,700 § 23,081 § 186,832 § -3 -4% 5523% 65459% 605 § 2,377 § 964,458
Acguisition of a

subsidiary 26,225 200,653 - 32,317 84,400 11,200 911 - 17.954 6,545 380,205
Write-down of fully

amortized assets {243,929y (21,083) - - - - - - - - {265,011
Adjustments to

goodwil! - - - 8,877 - - - - - - 9,877
Additions - - 83 - - - 3,208 54 1,949 490 5,784
Exchange differences {6,224) {9,931} - (1,559) (3,839 (508) (141) (84) 817 (406) (23,509}
Ending balance,

March 31, 2011 248,828 436,339 23,164 227,467 80,561 10,692 9,540 6,515 19,691 9,006 1,071,803
Accumulated
Amgrtization:

Opening balance —

Aprl 1, 2010 {307,413y (113,862) (1,218) - - - {4,198} (6,515) 2n {2,377) {435.604)
Write-down of fully
amortized assets 243,929 21,083 - - - - - - - - 265012
Amortization charge
for the year {31,841) (B3,642) (1,595 - {15511) - {2,576} (22) {3,614) (2,040) (120,841)
Amortization in mark
to market {53,757) (96,064} - - - - - - - - (149,821)
Exchange differences 4,514 3,812 - - 741 - 158 84 157 204 9,670
Ending balance,

March 31, 2011 (144,568) {248,673} (2,813} - (14,770 - (6,616} {6,453) {3,478} (4,213) (431,584
Net book value,

March 31, 2011 $ 104,260 § 187,666 § 20,351 §2274673% 65791 % 10692 § 2924 % 62 § 16213 § 4,793 § 640,219
Net book value,

April 1, 2010 $ 165,343 $ 152,838 § 21,863 % 186832 § -3 -% 1364 % 30% 584 § - $ 528,854
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NCTE 7

NOTE 8

NOTE 9
(a}

The capitalized internally developed cosis relate to the development of new customer billing and anaiysis software solutions for
the different energy markets of Just Energy. All research costs and development costs not eligible for capitalization have been
expensed and are recognized in administrative expenses.

RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash consists of the following:

i} As part of the acquisition of Newten Home Comifort inc. in 2009, the Company was required to transfer cash into a trust
account, in trust for the vendors, as part of the contingent consideration. The contingent consideration payments, which will
become payable in July 2012, are based on the number of completed water heater installations. As of March 31, 2012, the
amoeunt of restricted cash is $1,250.

i) As part of the acquisition of Fulcrum Retail Holdings LLC ("Fulcrum®), Note 9(a), Just Energy was reguired to transfer $10,249
into a restricted cash account untit such transfer time that the amount of the contingent consideration is known.

INVENTORY
The amount of inventery recognized as an expense during the year ended March 31, 2012, was $94,349 (2011-$77,376). There
have been no write-downs of inventory. Inventory is made up of the following:

March 31, March 31, April 1,

2012 2011 2010

Raw materials 5 1,220 % 2,224 % 2,308
Work in progress 775 518 463
Finished goods 7.993 4,164 3,552

$ 9,988 § 6906 % 6,323

ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition of Fulcrum Retail Holdings LLC

On October 3, 2011, Just Energy completed the acquisttion of the equity interest of Fulcrum with an effective date of October 1,
2011. The acquisition was funded by an issuance of $100 million in convertible debentures (Note 15(f).

The consideration for the acquisition was U$$79.4 million paid at the time of closing, subject to customary working capital
adjustments. Just Energy paid U$$7.3 million in connection with the preliminary working capital adjustrment still subject to
finalization. Just Energy will also pay up to US$11.0 million in cash and issue up to 867,025 commen shares (collectively, the
"Earn-Cut” amount) o the sellers 18 months foliowing the closing date, provided that certain EBITDA and billed volume targets
are satisfied by Fulcrum. On the Earn-Out amount, Just Energy will pay 4.006% interest on the cash portion and $1.86 per share
issued at the end of the Earn-Out period. The $11.0 millicn is being held in a restricted cash account until the amount is finalized.
The fair value of the contingent consideration at acquisition was estimated to be $18,327. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration will be recorded in the consolidated income statement as a change in fair value of derivative
instruments. The contingent consideration was valued at $21,407 as at March 31, 2012, and is included in other non-current
financial liabilities.
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The acquisition of Fulcrum was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase
price to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows:

Fair value recognized on acquisition

Current assets {including cash of $3,875) $ 43,528
Property, plant and equipment 758
Software 215
Customer contracts and relaticnships 39,533
Affinity relationships 42,359
Brand 13,034
Contract initiation costs 156
Non-contralling interest 540
140,123
Current liabilities (44,856)
Cther liabilities — current (12,430)
Other liabilities — long term (3,768)
Deferred lease inducements (322)
Long-term debt {586)
(61,962)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 78,161
Goodwill arising on acguisition 21,106
Total consideration $ 99,267
Cash paid, net of estimated working capital adjustrnent $ 80940
Contingent consideraticn 18,327
Total consideration $ 99,267

The transaction costs related to the acquisition of Fulcrum have been expensed and are included in other operating expenses in
the consolidated income statement. The transaction costs related to the issuance of the convertible debentures have been
capitalized and were allocated to the equity and liability component of the convertible debt in relation to the fair value of both the
components. Goodwill of $21,106 comprises the value of expected ongoing synergies from the acquisition. None of the goodwill
recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill associated with the Fulcrum acquisition is part of the
electricity marketing segment. The purchase price allocation is considered preliminary, and as a result, it may be adjusted during
the 12-month period following the acquisition, in accordance with IFRS 3. Since the last quarter, the Company decreased the
working capital by approximately $4,000, decreased the working capital adjustment by $1,500, increased cther liabilities — current
by approximately $1,700 and increased customer contracts and relaticnships by approximately $3,700, resulting in a net increase
to goodwill of approximately $500.

The fair value of the trade receivables amounted to $20,600 at the date of acquisition. The gross amount of trade receivables
was $27,540.

The customer contracts and relationships and affinity relationships are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of

acquisition. The electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 42 months (3.5 years). The affinity relaticnships
are amortized over eignt years. The brand value is cansiderad to be indefinite and, therefore, is not subject to amortization. Brand
represents the value allocated to the market awareness of the operating names used to sell and promote the Company’s products.

From the date of acquisition, Fulcrum has contributed $107,305 of revenue and a loss of $9,083 1o the consolidated net loss
before tax of Just Energy for the pericd ended March 31, 20712. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the fiscal
year, total consolidatad revenue would have been $2,926,157, and the consolidated net loss before tax would have been $96,327
for the year ended March 31, 2012.

Acquisition of Hudson Energy Services, LLC

On May 7, 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the equity interests of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC, and ali
the common shares of Hudson Energy Corp., thereby indirectly acquiring Hudson Energy Services, LLC {"Hudson®), with an
effective dare of May 1, 2010. The acquisition was funded oy an issuance of $330 million in convertible debantures issued on
May 5, 2010 (Ncte 15(e)). There is no contingent consideration involved in the business acquisition.
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The acquisition of Hudson was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase
price to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows:

Fair value recognized on acquisition

Current assets (including cash of $24,003) $ 88696
Property, plant and equipment 1,648
Software 911
Electricity contracts and customer relationships 200,653
Gas contracts and customer relationships 26,225
Broker network 84,400
Brand 11,200
Information technoiogy system development 17,954
Contract initiation costs 20,288
Other intangible assets 6,545
Unbilled revenue 15,092
Notes receivable - leng term 1312
Security deposits — long term 3,544
Other assets — current 124
Other assets — long term 100
478,692
Current liabilities (107.817)
Other liabilities — current (74,683)
Other liabilities — long term {40,719}
(223,219}
Total identifiable net assets acguired 255,473
Goodwill arising on acquisition 32,317
Total consideration $ 287,790
Cash outflow on acquisition:
Cash paid $ 287,790
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary {24,003}
Holdback (9,345)
Net cash outflow $ 254,442

The transaction costs related to the acquisition of Hudson have been expensed and are included in other operating expenses in
the consolidated income statement. The transaction costs relatad to the issuance of the convertible debentures have been
capitalized and were allocated to the equity and liabitity component of the convertible debt in relation to the fair value of both the
components. Goodwill of $32,317 comprises the value of expected synergies fram the acquisition. None of the goodwill
recoghized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill associated with the Hudson acquisition is part of the
U.S. gas and electricity marketing segments. As at March 31, 2012, all holdbacks have been paid in full.

The fair value of the trade receivables amounted to $62,022 at the date of acquisition. The gross amount of trade receivables is
$67,526. None of the trade receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amount can be collected.

All contracts and intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition.

The gas and electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over periods of 30 months and 35 months, respectively.
Other intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over periods ranging from three to five years. The brand value is
considered to be indefinite and, therefore, nct subject t¢ amortization. Brand represents the value atlocated to the market
awareness of the operating names used o sell and promote the Company’s products,

From the date of acquisition, Hudson has contributed $654,802 of revenue and $5,914 to the net profit before tax of Just Energy
for the period ended March 31, 2011. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the prior fiscal year, consolidated
revenue wouid have been $2,992,331 and the consolidated income would have been $548,793 for the year ended March 31, 2011.
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JOINT VENTURE

Effective July 1, 2011, Just Energy has a 50% interest in Just Ventures LLC and Just Ventures LB (collectively * fust Ventures™),
jointly controlled entities that are involved in the marketing of Just Energy products. The marketing efforts of Just Ventures are
primarily internet- and telemarketing-based, which differs from Just Energy’s traditiona! sales channels.

Just Ventures is currently funded by its investors and all advances are recorded as additional capital contributions.

2012
Share of the associate's revenue and profit:
Revenue eliminated on consolidation $ 335
Loss $  (1,971)

Carrying amount of the investment $ -

At any time subsequent tc the second anniversary of the joint venture agreements, the other participant in the joint venture has
the ability to seil part or all of its interest in Just Ventures (the “Put”}. The amount is determined based on the fair value of the
previous manth’s bifled customers. As at March 31, 2012, the Put was estimated to have a nominal value and is therefore not
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value

Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose of these supply contracts in an arm’s length
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. Management has estimated the value
of electricity, unforced capacity, heat rates, heat rate opticns, renewable and gas swap and forward contracts using a discounted
cash flow method, which emoloys market forward curves that are either directly sourced from third parties or are developed
internally based on third party market data. These curves can be volatile thus leading to volatility in the mark to market with

no impact to cash flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value mode! using the applicable market forward
curves and the implied volatility from other market traded gas options.

Effective July 1, 2008, just Energy ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes

on just Energy’s derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the consolidated income statement. Due to the commodity
volatility and size of Just Energy, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the volatility in

Just Energy’s earnings.
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The following tables illustrate gains/(losses) related to Just Energy’s derivative financial instruments classified as held-for-trading
and recorded on the consolidated statements of financial position as other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values
recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments for the year ended March 31, 2012:

For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended
March 31, March 31, March 31, March 317,
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 2012 2012 {USD) 201 2011 {USD)
Canada
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) S 44,269 nfa $ 232,806 n/a
Renewable energy certificates (i) (60) n/a (987) n/a
Verified emission-reduction credits {ii) 95 n/a (852) n/a
Cptions {iv) (1,330) n/a 333 na
Physical gas forward contracts (v) 52,114 n/a 138,623 n/a
Transportaticn forward contracts {vi) (39) nfa 11,365 na
Fixed financial swaps (vii) {21,134) n/a (1,217) na
United States
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps {viii) (77,879) {76,155) 45,009 44,913
Physical electricity forward contracts (ix) {41,463) {41,192) 46,472 46,421
Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) (2.455) {3,535) (416) (338)
Unforced capacity physical contracts {xi) (2,511) (2,705) {1,955} (1,908)
Renewable energy certificates (xif) 1,494 1,563 {1,077} {1,032}
Verified emission-reduction credits (xjif) 160 137 (140) {136)
Qptions {xiv) (1,611) {1,580) 1,160 1,142
Physical gas forward contracts (xv) 16,525 16,618 118,077 116,831
Transportation ferward contracts (xvi) 1,534 1,547 568 578
Heat rate swaps (xvii) 22,321 22,058 (1,789) (1,592)
Fixed financial swaps (xviii} (34,760) (34,251) {47,792} {45,967}
Fareign exchange forward contracts (xix) (1,213) nfa 1,116 r/a
Ethanol physical forward contracts (135) nfa 135 n/a
Amortization of deferred unrealized gains on
discontinued hedges 62,162 nfa 119,883 n/a
Amortization of derivative financial instruments
related to acquisitions {112,993) n/a {149,821) n/a
Liability associated with Exchangeable Shares
and equity-based compensation - n/a (3.354) n/a
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (5,436) n/a nfa nfa
Change in fair value of derivative instruments $  (96.345) $ 506,047




NOTES TC THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial
statements as at March 31, 2012:

QOther Other Other Other
assets assets liabilities liabilities
{current) (long term) {current) {long term)
Canada
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) % ~ 3 - % 105,794 $ 74,634
Renewable energy certificates {ii} 154 49 158 292
Verifted emission-reduction credits {jii) - - 387 462
Optians {iv) 975 359 1,644 656
Prysical gas forward contracts (v) - - 159,742 89,576
Transportation forward centracts {vi) - - 5,396 2,776
Fixed financial swaps {vii} - - 8,192 14,159
United States
Fixed-far-floating electricity swaps (viii) - 11 90,698 41,425
Physical electricity forward contracts (ix) - - 121,213 30,674
Untarced capacity forward contracts {x) 5 - 1,664 2,086
Unfarced capacity physical contracts (xi} 724 - 4,642 1,225
Renewable energy certificates {xii) 266 305 750 889
verified emission-reduction credits {xiii) 42 80 304 420
Opticns (xiv} 73 - 601 349
Physical gas forward contracts (xv) 40 - 29,442 7,720
Transportation forward contracts (xvi) 34 - 1,137 241
Heat rate swaps (xvii} 10,307 14,511 - -
Fixed financial swaps (xvii)) - - 81,497 42,054
Foreign exchange forward contracts {xix) 179 - - -
Contingent censideration — Newten - - 1,376 -
Contingent consideration — Fulcrum (Note 9} - 21,407
As at March 31, 2012 $ 12799 $ 15315 ¢ 636,044 $ 309,617

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial
statements as at March 31, 2011:

Cther Other Other Other
asseis assets liahilities lighilities
{current) (long term) {current) {long term;}
Canada

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) $ - 3 - % 131279 $ 93397
Renewable energy certificates {ii) 194 196 158 417
Verified emission-reduction credits {iii) - - 315 628
Options (iv) 815 692 4,403 -
Physical gas forward contracts (v) - - 166,634 134,847
Transportation forward contracts (vi) - 24 5,301 2,858
Fixed financial swaps {vii) - 1,037 2,235 19

United States
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) 125 45 29,028 25,719
Physical electricity forward contracts {ix) - 310 55,548 37,535
Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) 309 177 581 18
Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi) 100 410 1,606 1,280
Renewabie energy certificates (xii} 44 49 1,037 1,610
Verified emission-reduction credits {xiii) 13 36 275 491
Options (xiv) 1 - 1,056 165
Fhysical gas forward contracts (xv) 40 - 32,883 19,354
Transportation forward contracts {xvi) - - 1,526 1,281
Heat rate swaps {xvii) 639 2,408 180 131
Fixed financial swaps {xviii) 40 - 51,361 35,562
Foreign exchange forward contracts {xix) 1,391 - - -
Ethanol physical forward contracts 135 - - -
As at March 31, 2011 $ 3,846 3% 5384 $ 485406 § 355,412

JUST ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 2012

o]
Ul



JUST ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 2012

o0
o3}

NOTES TO THE CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial

statements as at April 1, 2010:

Cther QOther Other Other
assets assets liabilities liabilities
{current} (long term) (current} {long term;}
Canada

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) $ - % - $ 244563 $ 212,920
Renewable energy certificates (i) 350 621 30 139
Verified emission-reduction credits (iii} 2 7 - -
Options (iv) 757 416 - -
Physical gas forward contracts (v} - - 237,145 203,088
Transportation forward contracts (vi) - - 11,060 8,439

United States
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps {(viii) - - 31,29 30,464
Physical electricity forward cantracts {ix) - - 38,015 39,035
Unforced capacity forward contracts {x) 523 102 445 9
Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi} 33 146 3 -
Rerewable energy certificates {xii} 107 130 918 945
Verified emission-reduction credits {xiii) - - 167 447
Options (xiv} - - 912 915
Physical gas forward contracts (xv) - - 96,938 75,142
Transportation forward contracts {xvi) - - 1,265 2,262
Heat rate swaps {xvii) 654 3,605 - -
Fixed financial swaps (xviii) - - 21,720 16,767
Foreign exchange forward contracts {xix) 277 - - -
As at Aprit 1, 2010 $ 2,703 % 5027 § 685200 $ 590,572
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The following table summarizes financial instruments classified as held-for-trading as at March 31, 2012, to which Just £nergy
has committed:

Total Fair value
Notional remaining favourable/ Noticnal
Contract type volume volume Maturity date Fixed price  (unfavourable) value
Canada
)  Fixed-for-ficating 0.0001-48 7.536,951 April 30, 2012 - $22.20-§128.13 ($180,408) $438,180
electricity swaps * Mwh Mwh December 31, 2019
(it Renewable energy 10-90,000 780,310 December 31, 2012 - $3.00-$26.00 ($247) $5,151
certificates Mwh MwWh December 31, 2015
Gii)  Verified emission- 6,000-50,000 599,000 December 31, 2013 - $6.25-$11.50 (5849) $5.307
reduction credits tonnes tonnes December 31, 2016
vy Options 119-33,000 713,089 April 30, 2012 - §7.16-$12.39 ($966) $1,832
GJ¥/month (€] February 28, 2014
v} Physical gas forward 1-8,37¢6 64,316,388 April 30, 2012 - $1.35-$10.00 (5245,318) $430,907
contracts Gl/day €] March 31, 2016
(v Transportation forward 74-17,000 35,595,520 April 30, 2012 ~ $0.0025-$1.5600 ($8.172) $18,079
contracts Glrday GJ August 31, 2015
i) Fixed financial swaps  14,000-13%,500 19,853,500 March 31, 2013 - $2.34-%5.20 ($22,351) $88,642
Gl/month G March 31, 2017
United States
wiii)  Fixed-for-floating 0.10-80 9,577,598 April 30, 2012 - $24.49-3136.41 (813212 $488,254
electricity swaps* Mwh Mwh March 31, 2017 {U5$24.55-3136.75)  (US(3132.443)) (U5$489,473)
fix}  Physical electricity 1-100 13,393,411 April 30, 2012 - $26.77-$109.97 ($151,887) $624,024
forwards MwWh Mwh May 31, 2017 (US$26.84-$110.25) (US(5152,268)) (US$625,588)
& Unforced capacity 3-150 118,766 June 30, 2012 - $1,812-$7,980 ($3,745) $7,739
forward contracts MwWCap MWCap May 31, 2014 {US$1,817-$8,000) {(US($3,754)) (US$7,758)
& Unforced capacity 1-280 5,336 April 30, 2012 - $848-19,327 ($5.144) $27,672
physical contracts MWCap MWCap May 31, 2014 (US$850-$9,350) (US{$5,157)}  (US$27,741)
i) Renewable energy 300-160,000 2,987,250  December 31, 2012 - $0.55-342.64 ($1,068) $15,992
certiticates MWh Mwh December 31, 2017 (US$0.55-42.75) (US{81,071)}  (US516,032)
iy Verified emission- 8,000-50,000 658,000 December 31, 2012 - $3.49-%$8.73 (%602) $4,064
reduction credits tonnes tonnes December 31, 2016 {J5%3.50-58.75) (US(3604)) US$4,074)
txiv) Options B80-60,000 1,233,065 April 30, 2012 - $7.73-$13.77 (5877) $166
mmaTUW/menth mmsTU December 31, 2014 (US$7.75-$13.80) (US(5879)) {Us§166)
(xv) Physical gas forward 5-2,500 7,139,328 April 2, 2012 - $2.21-$11.85 ($37.122) $58,701
contracts mmaTU/month mmaTU July 31, 2014 (Us$2.22-311.88)  (US($37,215)}  (U5$58,848)
(i) Transportation forward 15-13,205 10,739,615 April 02, 2012 ~ $0.08-31.50 ($1,344) $22,967
contracts mmBTW/day mmsTU August 31, 2015 {US$0.08-$1.50) (US($1,347))  {US$23,025)
txvil) Heat rate swaps 1-50 3,248,369 April 30, 2012 - $14.10-$65.06 $24,817 $87.111
Mwh MWh QOctober 31, 2016 (US$14.14-$65.22) (US$24,879) {US$97,354)
toviiy Fixed financial swaps 930-60C,000 44,416,997 April 30, 2012 - $2.64-59.24 ($123,549) $265,023
mmBTU/manth mmBTU May 31, 2017 (US$2.65-59.26) (US($123,859)) (US$265,687)
wixy Foreign exchange ($497-$3,614) nfa April 02, 2012 - $0.977-$1.048 4179 $22,630
forward contracts {US$500-13,500} January 2, 2013 {US$22,687)

Some of the electricity fixed-for-floating contracts related to the Province of Alberta and the Province of Onitario are load-following, wherein the
guantity of electricity contained in the supply contract “follows” the usage of customers designated by the supply contract. Notional volumes
associated with these contracts are estimates and are subject to change with customer usage requirements. There are also load shaped fixed-for-
floating cantracts in these and the rest of Just Energy's electricity markets wherein the guantity of electricity is established but varies throughout the
term of the contracts.
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The estimated amortization of deferred gains and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive income that is expected to
be amortized to net income within the next 12 menths is a gain of approximately $32.5 million.

These derivative financial instruments create a credit risk for Just Energy since they have been transacted with a limited number of
counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its cbligations under the contracts, Just Energy may not be able to
realize the other asset balance recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value ("Fv") hierarchy

Level 1

The fair value measurements are classified as Level 7 in the FV hierarchy if the fair value is determinad using quoted, unadjusted
market prices. just Energy values its cash and cash equivalent, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, bank indebtedness, trade
and cther payables and long-term debt under Level 1.

Level/ 2

Fair value measurements that require inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1, either directly or indirectly, are classified as Level 2
in the FV hierarchy. This could include the use of statistical techniques to derive the FV curve from observable market prices.
However, in order to be classified under Level 2, inputs must e substantially observable in the market. Just Energy values its

New York Mercantile Exchange (*NYMEX") financial gas fixed-for-floating swaps under Level 2.

Level 3

Fair value measurements that require uncbservable market data or use statistical techniques to derive forward curves from
cbservable market data and unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy. For the electricity supply contracts,
Just Energy uses qucted market prices as per available market forward data and applies a price-shaping profile to calculate the
maonthly prices from annual strips and hourly prices from block strips for the purposes of mark to market calculations. The profile
is based on historical settlements with counterparties or with the system operator and is considered an unobservable input for
the purposes of establishing the level in the FV hierarchy. For the natural gas supply contracts, Just Energy uses three different
market observable curves: i} Commaodity (predominately NYMEX), ii} Basis and i} Foreign exchange. NYMEX curves extend for
over five years (thereby covering the length of Just Energy’s contracts); however, most basis curves only extend 12 to 15 menths
into the future. In order to caiculate basis curves for the remaining years, Just Energy uses extrapolation, which leads natural gas
supply contracts to be classified under Level 3.

Fair value measurement input sensitivity

The main cause of changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are changes in the forward curve prices used for the fair
value calculations. Just Energy provides a sensitivity analysis of these forward curves under the market risk section of this note.
Other inputs, including volatility and correlations, are driven off historical settlements.

The fallowing table illustrates the classification of financial assetsAliabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at March 31, 2012:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets
Cash and short-term deposits $ 65419 § - 3 - 3 65419
Loans and receivables 437,216 - - 437,216
Derivative firancial assets - - 28,114 28,114
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities - (98,193) (847,468) (945,661)
Other financial liabilities (1,064,888} - - (1,064,888)
Total net derivative liabilities $ (562,253} $ (98,193) % (819,254) $(1,479,800)

The following table illustrates the classification of financial assets/{liabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at March 31, 2011:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets
Cash and short-term deposits $ 98466 % - % ~ $ 98466
Loans and receivables 398,401 - - 398,401
Derivative financial assets - 1,077 8,153 ©,230
Financial liabilHies
Derivative financial liabilities - (82,177) (751,641) (840,818)
Other financial liabilities (386,696) - - (886,696)
Total net derivative liabilities $ (389,829) $ (88,1000 $ (743,488) $(1,221,.417)
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The following table illustrates the dassification of financial assets/liabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at April 1, 2010:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets
Cash and short-term deposits $ 78782 % - 3 - 3 78782
Loans and receivables 295,663 - - 295,663
Derivative financial assets - - 7,730 7,730
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities - (38,487) (1,237,285 (1,275,772
Other financial liabilities (478,889} - - (478,889)
Total net derivative liabilities $ (104,444 $§ (38,487 $(1,229,555) $(1,372,486)

The following table illustrates tne changes in net fair value of financial assets/(liabilities) classified as Leve! 3 in the FV hierarchy for
the year ended March 37:

March 31, March 31,

2012 2011
Opening balance, April 1 $ (743.488) $(1,229,555)
Total gain/losses) — Profit for the period (376,121) 6,891
Purchases (201,235) (256,294}
Sales 41,547 3,795
Settlements 459,943 731,675
Transfer out of Level 3 - -
Closing balance $ {819,354) $ (743,488)

Classification of financial assets and liabilities
The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at amaortized cost.

As at March 31, 2012

Carrying

amount Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 53220 % 53220
Restricted cash 12,199 12,199
Current trade and other receivables 299,945 299,945
Unbilled revenues 130,796 130,796
Non-current receivables 6475 6,475
Other financial assets 28,114 28,114
Bank indebtedness, trade and cther payables 288,205 288,205
Long-term debt 776,683 826,991
Other financial liabilities 945,661 945,661

As at March 2011 and April 1, 2010, the carrying amounts of the above financial assets and liabilities was equal to their fair value,
except for long-term debt which had a fair value of $663,407 as at March 31, 2011, and $302,689 as at April 1, 2010.

For the years ended March 31
2012 201

interest expense on financial liabilittes not held-for-trading $ 60935 $ 59,883

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, current trade and other receivables, unbilled revenues and trade
and other payables approximates the fair value due to their short-term liquidity.

The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value as the interest payable on outstanding amounts is &t rates that
vary with Bankers’ Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate ¢r U.S. prime rate, with the exception of the $90m, $330m and
$100m convertible debentures, which are fair valued, based on market value.
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© Management of risks arising from financial instruments
The risks associated with Just Energy’s financial instruments are as follows:

H Market risk

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument
or commaodity. Components of market risk to which Just Energy is exposed are discussed below.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is created by fluctuations in the fair vaiue or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign
exchange rates and exposure as a result of investment in U.5. operations.

A portion of Just Energy's income is generated in U.S. doliars and s subject to currency fluctuations. The performance of the
Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could positively or negatively affect Just Energy's income. Due to its growing
operations in the U.5., Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure ta U.S. fluctuations i the future than in prior years.
Just Energy has hedged between 25% and 90% of certain forecasted cross border cash flows that are expected to occur
within the next year. The level of hedging is dependent on the source of the cash flow and the time remaining until the cash
repatriation occurs.

Just Energy may, from time to time, experience losses resulting from fluctuations in the values of its foreign currency transactions,
which could adversely affect its operating results. Translation risk is not hedged.

With respect to translation exposure, as at March 31, 2012, if the Canadian doliar had been 5% stronger or weaker against
the U.S. doliar, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, net loss for the year would have been $10,700
higherflower and other comprehensive loss would have been $6,400 higher/lower.

Interest rate risk

Just Energy is aiso exposed to interest rate fluctuations associated with its floating rate credit facility. Just Energy's current
exposure to interest rates does nct economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. Just Energy’s exposure to interest
rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. Just Energy does not currently believe that this long-term debt
exposes it to material financial risks but has set out parameters to actively manage this risk within its Risk Management Policy.

A 1% increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in income before income taxes for the
year ended March 31, 2012, of approximately $1,112, respectively.

Commodity price risk

Just Energy is exposed to market risks associated with commadity prices and market volatility where estimated customer
requirements do not match actual custemer requirements. Management actively monitors these positions on a daily basis in
accordance with its Risk Management Policy. This policy sets out a variety of limits; most importantly, thresholds for open
positions in the gas and electricity portfolios which alsc feed a Value at Risk fimit; should any of the limits be exceeded, they
are closed expeditiously or express approval to continue to hold is cbtained. Just Energy's exposure to market risk is affected
by a number of facters, including accuracy of estimation of customer commedity requirements, commeodity prices, volatility
and liquidity of markets. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order tc manage exposures to changes in commodity
prices. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity
demand and thereby fix margins such that sharehclder dividends can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are
generally transacted over the counter. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks
could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. Just Energy mitigates the exposure for
variances in customer requirements that are driven by changes in expected weather conditions, through active management of
the underlying porticlio, which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase of aptions induding weather derivatives. just Energy’s
ability to mitigate weather effects is limited by the severity of weather frem normal.

Commodity price sensitivity — all derivative financial instruments

If the energy prices including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reducticn credits and renewable energy certificates had
risen (fallen) by 10%, assurning that all the other variables had remained constant, income before taxes for the year ended
March 31, 2012, would have increased (decreased) by $149,312 ($148,598) primarily as a result of the change in the fair value
of Just Energy's derivative instruments.

Commodity price sensitivity — Level 3 derivative financial instruments

If the energy prices including natural gas, electricity, verified emnission-reduction credits and renewable energy certificates had
risen (fallen) by 10%, assurning that all the other variables had remained constant, incaome before taxes for the year ended
March 21, 2012, would have increased (decreased) by $137,213 ($136,512) primarily as a result of the change in the fair value
of Just Energy's derivative instruments.
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(i) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrurnent fails to discharge an obiigation and causes financial loss to
ancther party. Just Energy is exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk.

Customer credit risk

In Alberta, Texas, lllinois, British Columbia, New York, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, California, Michigan, and Georgia,
Just Energy has customer credit risk and, therefore, credit review processes have been implemented to perform credit
evaluations of customers and manage customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on their
payments, it could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. Management factors
default from credit risk in its margin expectations for ali the above markets.

The aging of the accounts receivable from the above markets was as follows:

March 31, March 31, April 1,

2012 2011 2010

Current $ 69738 § 61695 $ 44531
1-30 days 15,530 15,088 13,873
31-50 days 5,681 5,533 4,598
£61-90 days 2,905 5,652 1,768
Over 91 days 19,947 10,322 3,973

$ 113,801 $ 98290 % 68743

Changes in the aliowance for doubtful accounts were as follaws:

March 31, March 31,

2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year $ 25115 % 17,519
Allowance on acquired receivables 6,940 5,591
Pravision for doubtful accounts 28,514 27,627
Bad debts written off (29,215) {23,801}
Other 3,572 (1,821)
Balance, end of year $ 34926 § 25,115

For the remaining markets, the LDCs for a fee, provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts oewing from
Just Energy’s custormers. Management befieves that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal.
There is no assurance that the LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future.

Counterparty credit risk

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual
obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting
the related customer margin. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exceptions to these
limnits require approvai from the Board of Directors of JEGI. The Risk Department and Risk Committee monitor current and
potential credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. However, the
failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash
flows of Just Energy.

As at March 31, 2012, the maximum counterparty credit risk exposure amounted to $141,915, representing the risk relating
to the Company's derivative financial assets and accounts receivable.
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NOTE 12

NCTE 13

@iy Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial cbligaticns as they fall due. Just Energy manages this risk by monitoring
detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolfing six-week pericd, manthly cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and
quarterly forecasts for the following two-year pericd to ensure adequate and efficient use of cash resources and credit facilities.

The following are the contractual maturities, excluding interest paymenss, reflecting undiscounted disbursements of
Just Energy’s financial liabilities as at March 31, 20%2:

Carrying Contractual Less than Mare than

amount cash flows 1 year 11 3 years 410 5 years 5 years

Trade and other payables $ 287,145 $ 287,145 § 287,145 § - % - 3 -
Bark indebtedness 1,060 1,060 1,060 - - -
Long-term debt* 776,683 833,962 97,611 252,570 26,433 457,348
Derivative instruments 545,661 2,596,314 1,363,421 1,057,222 175,049 622
$2,010,549 $3,718,481 $1,749,237 $1,309,792 § 201,482 $ 457,970

* Included in long-term debt is $330,000, $100,000 and $90,000 relating to convertible debentures, which may be settled through the issuance
of shares at the option of the holder or Just Energy upon maturity.

In addition to the amounts noted above, at March 31, 2012, net interest payments over the life of the long-term debt and
bank credit facility are as follows:

Less than More than
1 year 110 3 years 4105 years 5 years
Interest payments $ 47800 $ 84304 % 87,215 §$ 51,750

vy Supplier risk
Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and electricity delivered to its customers through long-term contracts enterad
into with various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to supplier risk as the ability to continue to deliver gas and electricity
to its customners is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contractual obligations.
Just Energy has discounted the fair value of its financial assets by $1,756 to accommadate for its counterparties’ risk of default.

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Foreign currency

translation Cash flow
For the year ended March 31, 2012 adjustment hedges Total
Balance, beginning of year $ 29033 § 9488 §$ 123,919
Unrealized foreign currency transiation adjustment 2,386 - 2,386
Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued
hedges net of income taxes of $13,150 - {56,012) (56,012)
Balance, end of year $ 31419 § 38874 § 70,293
Foreign currency
translation Cash flow
For the year ended March 31, 2011 adjustment hedges Total
Balance, beginning of year $ 28584 § 193385 § 221,969
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 449 - 449
Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued
hedges net of income taxes of $21,384 - (S8,499) (98,499)
Balance, end of year $ 29033 § 94836 § 123919

SHAREHOLDERS' CAPITAL
Subsequent to the Conversion

On January 1, 2011, Just Energy tssued common shares in exchange for the outstanding trust units of the Fund, The exchange of
the trust units of the Fund was accounted for as an exchange of equity instruments at carrying value. The exchange of
Exchangeable Shares for common shares was accounted for as an extinguishment of the liability associated with Exchangeable

Shares at the redemption value measured on the date of the exchange.
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Details of issued shareholders’ capital are as foliows for the year ended March 31, 2012, with comparatives for the year ended
March 31, 2011:

Year ended March 31, 2012 Year ended March 31, 2011
Issued and outstanding Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance, beginning of year 136,963,726 § 963,982 - 3 -
Shares issued pursuant to the Conversion
Trust units - - 126,583,148 808,848
Class A preference shares {Note 29) - - 5,263,728 78,798
Exchangeable shares (Note 29) - - 3,794,154 56,799
Shares issued to minority shareholder in
exchange for interest in TGF () - - 689,940 10,328
Share-based awards exercised 91,684 1,385 85,374 1,097
Dividend reinvestment plan i) 2,377,616 28,413 546,382 8112
Repurchase and cancellation of shares {iii) (84,100} (599} - -
Balance, end of year 139,348,926 $ 993,181 136,963,726 § 963,982

(i} Shares issued

During the year ended March 31, 2011, Just Energy issued 689,940 shares to acquire the interest held by the minority
shareholder of TGF pursuant to the exercise of the minority holders put right. The shares were velued &t $10,328 and the
difference between $18,285 and $10,328 represents the value of the minarity interest of TGF at the time of issuance.
The value of the shares has been recorded as an increase to contributed surplus.

(i} Dividend reinvestment plan

Under Just Energy’s dividend reinvestrnent plan (“DRIP"), Canadian resident shareholders holding a minimurn of 100 common
shares can elect to receive their dividends in common shares rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average closing
price of the common shares for five trading days preceding the applicable dividend payment date, provided that the common
shares are issued from treasury and not purchased on the cpen market. Effective February 1, 2012, the Company has
suspended the DRIP.

{iii) Repurchase and cancellaticn of shares

During the year, Just Energy obtained appraval from its Board of Directors and the Toronto Stock Exchange to make a normal
course issuer bid to purchase up t¢ 13,200,517 common shares for the 12-month period commencing December 16, 2011,
and ending December 15, 2012. A maximum of 82,430 common shares can be purchased during any trading day.

During the year, Just Energy purchased and cancelled 84,100 common shares for a cash consideration of $955. The
average book value of $599 was recorded as a reduction to share capital and the remaining loss of $356 was aliocated to
accumulated deficit.

Prior to the Conversion

Effective January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed the Conversion from an income trust to a corporation. As a result of the
Conversion, Just Energy’s trust units, along with the issued exchangeable and Class A preference shares, were exchanged on a
one for one basis into shares of JEGI.

Frior to the Conversion, the trust units were redeemable at the option of the Fund’s unitholders. The redemption price was
calculated as the lower of the clasing price on the day the units were tendered for redemption and 90% of the market price of the
units for the ten days after redemption. The Fund had no redemptions for the period for which the trust units were outstanding.

tFRS reguires financial instruments which includ2 a redemption feature, making the instruments puttable, to be presented as a
financial liability rather than equity. However, an exception to that requirement is available if the financial instrument meets certain
criteria. Just Energy determined that the Fund's units met the requirements for this exception and accordingly, the trust units are
presented as equity for the periods prior to the Conversicn.
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NOTE 14
(a)

lust Energy is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and 50,000,000 preference shares both with no par value.

Details of issued unitholders’ capital are as follows for the year ended March 31, 2011:

Units Amount
Issued and outstanding
Balance, beginning of year 124,325,307 § 777,856
Unit-based awards exercised 38,989 462
Distribution reinvestment plan 1,324,834 17,935
Exchanged from Exchangeabie Shares 894,018 12,595
Units exchanged pursuant to the Conversion (126,583,148) {808,848)
Balance, end of year - 3 -

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Stock option plan

Just Energy grants awards under its 2010 share option plan (formerly the 2001 Unit Option Plan) to directors, officers, full-time
employees and service providers (non-empioyees) of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates although no share options have
been granted since 2008. In accordance with the share option plan, Just Energy may grant options to @ maximum of 11,300,000
shares. As at March 31, 2012, there were 1,264,166 options still availabie for grant under the plan. Of the aptions issued, 50,000
options remain cutstanding at year-end. The exercise price of the share opticons equals the closing market price of the Company’s
shares on the last business day preceding the grant date. The share options vest aver periods ranging from three to five years from
the grant date and expire after five or ten years from the grant date.

A summary of the changes in Just Energy's opticn plan during the year and status as at March 31, 2012, is outlined below.

Weighted

Qutstanding Range of average
options exercise prices exercise price’

Balance, beginning of year 135,000 $15.00-$17.47 % 16.38
Forfeitedicancelled 85,000 $16.65-$17.47 % 17.13
Balance, end of year 50,600 $1509 % 15.09
' The weighted average exercise price is calculated by dividing the exercise price of options granted by the number of opticns granted.
2012 Optians outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted

average Weighted Weighted

remaining average average

Number contractual exercise Number exercise

Exercise price outstanding life price exercisable price
$15.09 50,000 025 § 15.09 50,000 § 15.09
2011 Options cutstanding Options exercisable

Weighted

average Weighted Weighted

remaining average average

Number contractual exercise Number exercise

Range of exercise prices outstanding life price exercisable price
$15.09-%17.47 135,000 059 % 16.38 98,000 3% 16.51
Opticns available for grant Year ended Vear ended
March 31, March 31,

2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year 1,179,166 961,666
Add: Cancelled/forfeited during the year 85,000 217,500
Balance, end of year 1,264,166 1,179,166
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Restricted share grants

Just Energy grants awards under the 2010 Restricted Share Grants Plan (farmerly the 2004 unit appreciation rights, "UARs") in
the form of fully paid restricted share grants (“RSGs") to senior officers, employees and service providers of its subsidiaries and
affiliates. On June 29, 2010, the unitholders of Just Energy approved & 2,000,000 increase in the number of R5Gs available for
grant. As at March 31, 2012, there were 1,657,354 R5Gs (2011 - 1,969,883) still available for grant under the plan. Of the RSGs
issued, 3,024,023 remain outstanding at March 31, 2012 (2011 - 2,711,494). Except as otherwise provided, (i) the R5Gs vest
from one to five years from the grant date providing, in most cases, on the applicable vesting date the RSG grantee continues as a
senior officer, employee or service provider of Just Energy or any affiliate thereof; (i) the RSGs expire no later than ten years from
the grant date; {jii) a holder of RSGs is entitled to payments at the same rate as dividends paid to JEGI shareholders; and (iv) when
vested, the holder of an RSG may exchange one RSG for one common share. On January 1, 2011, as part of the Conversion, al
unit appreciation rights outstanding on that date were replaced by RSGs.

March 31, March 31,
RSGs available for grant 2012 2011
Balance, beginning of year 1,969,883 74,472
Less: Granted during the year (823,536) (234,620)
Add: increase in RSGs available for grant - 2,000,000
Add: Cancelledfforfeited during the year 419,323 4,668
Add: Exercised during the year 91,684 125,363
Balance, end of year 1,657,354 1,969,883

Deferred share grants

Just Energy grants awards under its 2010 Directors’ Compensation Plan (formerly the 2004 Directors’ deferred compensation
plan, “UARs”) to all independent directors on the basis that each director is required to annually receive $15 of their
compensation entitlement in deferred share grants ("DSGs”) and may elect to receive all or any portion of the balance of their
annual compensation in DSGs and/or common shares. The holders of DSGs andfor common shares are also granted additional
DSGs/common shares on a monthly basis equal to the monthly dividends paid to the sharehoiders of Just Energy. The DSGs vest
on the earlier of the date of the director's resignation or three years following the date of grant and expire ten years following the
date of grant. As at March 31, 2012, there were 54,638 DSGs (2011 — 84,118) available for grant under the plan. Of the DSGs
issued, 146,855 DSGs remain outstanding at March 31, 2012. In accordance with the Conversion, al! outstanding directors’
deferred unit grants were replaced with DSGs.

March 31, March 31,

DSGs available for grant 2012 2011
Balance, beginning of year 84,118 108,248
Less: Granted during the year (29,480) (24,130)
Balance, end of year 54,638 84,118

LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING

March 31, March 31, April 1,

2012 20t1 2010

Credit facility (a) $ 98455 $ 53000 $ 57,500
Less: Debt issue costs (a) {1,196) {1,965} {1,381)
TGF credit facility (b)) 32,046 36,680 41,313
TGF debentures {(bXii) 35,818 37,001 37,001
TGF term/operating facilities (b)iii) - - 10,000
NHS financing (c) 147,220 105,716 65,435
$90 miliion convertible debentures (d) 86,101 84,706 83,417
$330 million convertible debentures {e} 291,937 286,439 -
$100 million convertible debentures {f) 85,879 - -
Capital leases (g) 423 - -
776,683 01,577 293,285

Less: current portion (97,611} 94,117) (61,448)

$ 679,072 $ 507460 $ 231,837
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Future annual minimum repayments are as follows:

More than 5

Less than 1year 1to3years dto5years years Total
Credit facility (a} $ -§ 98455 % - % - § 98455
TGF credit facility (b)(i) 32,046 - - - 32,046
TGF debentures (b} 35,818 - - - 35,818
NHS financing (c) 29,472 63,967 26,433 27,348 147,220
$30 millicn convertible debentures (d) - 90,000 - - 90,000
$330 million convertible gebentures {e) - - - 330,000 330,000
$100 millien convertible debentures (f} - - - 100,000 100,000
Capital leases {g) 275 148 - - 423

$ 97611 % 252570 § 26433 § 457,348 $ 833,962

The following talle details the finance costs for the year ended March 31. Interest is expensed at the effective interest rate.

March 31, March 31,

2012 2011

Credit facility {a) $ 8818 § 9,229
TGF credit facility (b)i) 2,056 2,013
TGF debentures (b)) 4,360 4,269
TGF term/operating facilities {b)iii} - 515
NHS financing {c) 10,011 6,464
$90 million convertible debentures (d) 6,795 6,690
$330 million convertible debentures (e) 25,298 22,638
%100 millicn convertible debentures (f) 3,832 -
Capital lease interest {(g) 32 -
Unwinding of discount on provisions (Note 17) {267) 267
Dividend classified as interest (Note 31) - 7,798

$ 60935 § 59833

(a) As at March 31, 2012, Just Energy has a $350 million credit facility to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of
lenders includes Canadian imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Société Générale,
The Bank of Nova Scotia, The Toronto-Dominior: Bank and Alherta Treasury Branches, The term of the facility expires on
December 31, 2013.

Interest is payable on outstanding toans at rates that vary with Bankers' Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or
U.S. prime rate. Under the terms of the operating credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and
LIBOR advances at stamping fees that vary between 2.88% and 3.38%. Prime rate advances are at rates of interest that vary
between bank prime plus 1.88% and 2.38% and letters of credit are at rates that vary between 2.88% and 3.38%. Interest
rates are adjusted quarterly based on certain financial performance indicators.

As at March 31, 2012, the Canadian prime rate was 3.0% and the U.S. prime rate was 3.25%. As at March 31, 2012, Just
Energy had drawn $98,455 (March 31, 2011 — $53,000) against the facility and total letters of credit outstanding amounted
to $121,054 (March 31, 2011 - $78,209). As at March 31, 2012, unamortized debt issue costs relating to the facility are
$1,196 (March 31, 2011 - $1,965). As at March 31, 2012, Just Energy has $130,491 of the facility remaining for future
working capital and security requirements. Just Energy’s obligations under the credit facility are supported by guarantees

of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a general security agreement and a pledge of the assets and securities
of Just Energy and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates excluding, among others, NHS, Hudson Solar and
TGF. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. As at March 31,
2012, all of these covenants had been met.

(b) In connecticn with an acquisition, Just Energy acquired the debt obligations of TGF, which currently comprise the following
separate facilities;

(i) TGF credit facility

A credit facility of up to $50,000 was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Cradit Union and was
arranged to finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, and was
converted tc a fixed repayment term of ten years, commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a rate of prime



—

NOTES TC THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

plus 3% with principal repayments scheduled to commence on March 1, 2010. The credit facility is secured by a demand
debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on ali assets and undertzkings of TGF, a mortgage on title to the land
owned by TGF and a general security interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF. The credit facility includes certain
financial covenants, the most significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to equity ratio, debt service coverage and
minimum shareholders” capital. The covenants were measured as at March 31, 2012, and TGF failed to meet all required
covenants. The non-compliance was waived by the landers but did result in a non-compliance fee of $90, representing 0.25%
of the loan balance as at March 31, 2012. The non-compliance fee was accrued as at March 31, 2012, As at March 31, 2012,
the amount owing under this facility amounted to $32,046. The lenders have no recourse to the Company or any other

Just Energy entity.

(i TGF debentures

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40,000 aggregate
principal amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. On April 1, 2011, the interest rate was increased to 12%. The
agreement includes certain financial covenants, the mare significant of which relate to current ratio, debt tc capitalization
ratio, debt service coverage, debt to EBITDA and minimum shareholders’ equity. Compliance with the new covenants will be
measured annually beginning with the fiscal 2012 year-end. The maturity date has been extended to May 15, 2014, with a call
right any time after April 1, 2013. On March 31, 2012, TGF agreed with the debenture holders to increase the quarterly
blended principal and interest payments tc $1,186 and to fine tune the financial covenants for fiscal 2013 to be more in line
with the expected financial results of TGF for the year. TGF also agreed to make an additional debt repayment after March 31,
2013, if the cash flow frem operations exceeds $500 for the year 2013, provided that this type of payment will not create a
non-compliance issue for the Company under the TGF credit facility. The debenture holders have no recourse to the Company
or any other Just Energy entity. As at March 31, 2012, the amount owing under this debenture agreement amcunted

t0 $35,818.

{iii) TGF term/operating facilities

TGF's term loan for $10,000 was secured by liquid investments on deposit with the lender. The amount owing under this
facility was bearing interest at prime plus 1% and was repaid in full in the prior year.

{iv) TGF has a warking capital operating line of $7,000 bearing interest at a rate of prime plus 2%. In additicn to the amount
shown on the consolidated statements of financial gosition as bank indebtedness, TGF has total letters of credit issued
of $250.

NHS entered into a long-term financing agreement for the funding of new and existing rental water heater and HVAC
contracts in the Enbridge and Union Gas distrikbution territories. Pursuant to the agreement, NHS receives financing of an
amount equal to the present value of the first five, seven or ten years of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed
upon financing rate of 7.99% and, as settlement, is required to remit an amount eguivalent to the rental stream from
customers on the water heater and HVAC contracts for the first five, seven or ten years. As security for performance of the
obligation, NHS has provided security over the water heaters, HYAC equipment and rental contracts, subject to the financing
rental agreerment, as collateral.

The financing agreement is subject to & hokiback provision, whereby 3% in the Enbridge territory and 5% in the Union Gas
territory of the outstanding balance of the funded amcunt is deducted and deposited into a reserve account in the event of
default. Once all obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately ba
released to NHS.

NHS has $147,220 owing under this agreement, including $6,412 relating to the holdback provision, recorded in non-current
receivables, as at March 31, 2012. NHS is required to meet & number of non-financial covenants under the agreement. As at
March 31, 2012, all of these covenants had been mat.

{d} In conjunction with an acquisiticn, the Company also acquired the obligations of the convertible unsecured subordinated

debentures (the “$90 million convertible debentures”) issued in October 2007. The fair value of the $90 million convertible
debentures was estimated by discounting the remaining contractual payments at the time of acquisition. This discount will be
accreted using an effective interest rate of 8%. These instruments have a face value of $90,000 and mature on Septernber 30,
2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annual rate of 6% payable semi-annually on March 31 and
September 3C of each year. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $90 million convertitle debentures is convertible at any time
prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 34.09 shares,
representing a conversion price of $29.33 per common share as at March 31, 2012. Pursuant to the $90 million convertible
debentures, if the Company fixes a record date for the payment of & dividend, the conversion price shall be adjusted in
accordance therewith. During the year ended March 31, 2012, interest expense amounted to $6,795, respectivaly.
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On and after October 1, 2010, but prior 1o September 30, 2012, the $90 million convertible debentures are redeemable, in
whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount therecf, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s sole
option on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 3G days’ prior notice, provided that the current market price on the date
on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30, 2012, but
prior to the maturity date, the $90 million cenvertible debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the
principal amount thereof, pius accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s sole option on not more than 60 days’ and not less
than 30 days’ prior notice. On January 1, 2011, as part of the Conversion, Just Energy assumed al! of the cbligations under the
$90 million convertible debentures.

The Company may, at its option, an not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, subject 1o applicable
regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay alt
or any pertion of the principal amount cf the $90 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to
mature, Dy issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing
the principal amount of the $90 million convertible debentures being repaid by 5% of the current market price an the date
of redemption or maturity, as applicable.

(e) In arder to fund the acquisition of Hudson, on May 5, 2010, Just Energy issued $330 miliion of convertible extendible unsecured

N

suboardinated debentures (the “$330 million convertible debentures”). The $330 million convertible debentures bear interest at
arate of 6.0% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31, with a maturity date of June 30,
2017, kach $1,000 principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or
on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the hoider, into approximately 55.6 shares of the Company, representing a
conversion price of $18 per share. During the year ended March 31, 2012, interest expense amounted to $25,298. The

$330 miillion convertible debentures are not redeemable prior to June 30, 2013, except under certain conditions after a change
of control has occurred. On or after June 30, 2013, but prior to June 30, 2015, the $330 million convertible debentures may be
redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days' prior notice, at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount thereaof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market
price (as defined herein) on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price
(322.50). Onr and after June 30, 2015, and prior to maturity, the $330 million convertible debentures may be redeemed by Just
Energy, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

The Cempany may, at its own ogtion, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 40 days’ prior notice, subject to applicable
regulatory approval and provided that no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay
alt or any portion of the principal armount of the $330 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to
mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing
the principal amount of the $330 millicn convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date
of redemption or maturity, as applicable.

The conversion feature of the $330 miltion convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of
sharehalders’ deficit in the amount of $33,914. The remainder of the net proceeds of the $330 million convertible debentures
has been recorded as long-term debt, which will be accreted up to the face value of $330,000 over the term of the

$330 million convertible debentures using an effective interest rate of 8.8%. If the $330 million convertible debentures are
converted into commean shares, the value of the conwersion will be reclassified to share capital along with the principal amount
converted. On January 1, 2011, as part of the Conversion, Just Energy assumed all of the obligations under the $330 million
convertible debentures.

As a result of adopting IFRS, Just Energy has recorded a deferred tax liability of $15,728 on its convertible debentures and
reduced the value of the equity component of convertible debentures by this amount.

On September 22, 2011, Just Energy issued $100 million of convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the *$100 million
convertible debentures”) which was used to purchase Fulcrum. The $100 million convertible debentures bear interest at an
annual rate of 5.75%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 in each year commencing March 31, 2012, and
have a maturity date of Septermnber 30, 2018. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $100 million corwertible debentures is
convertible at the option of the holder at any time prior to the close of business on the earlier of the maturity date and the last
business day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption into 56.0 common shares of Just Energy, representing a
conversicn price of $17.85. The $100 million convertible debentures are not redeemable at the option of the Campany on or
before September 30, 2014. After September 30, 2014, and prior to September 30, 2016, the $100 million convertible
debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on not more than &0 days’ and not less than 30 days’
prior natice, at a price equal to their principal amount pius accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the weighted

average trading price of the common shares is at least 125% of the conversion price. On or after September 30, 2016, the
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$100 million convertible debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part from time to time at the option of the Company on
not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a price equal to their principal amourt plus accrued and
unpaid interest.

The Company may, at its option, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, subject to applicable
regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its cbligation to repay all
or any portion of the principal amount of the $100 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to
mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing
the principal amount of the $100 million convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date
of redempticn or maturity, as applicable.

The conversion feature of the $100 million convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of
shareholders’ deficit in the amount of $10,188. Upon initial recognition of the convertible debenture, Just Energy recorded a
defarred tax liability of $2,579 and reduced the equity component of the convertible debenture by this amount. The remainder
of the net proceeds of the $100 million convertible debentures has been recorded as long-term debt, which will be accreted
ug to the face value of $100,G00 over the term of the $100 millien convertible debentures using an effective interest rate of
8.6%. If the $100 million convertible debentures are converted into common shares, the value of the Conversion will be
reclassified to share capital along with the principal amount converted. During the year ended March 31, 2012, interest
expense amounted to $3.832.

(@) The Company, through its subsidiary Fulcrum, leases certain computer, office equipment and software. These financing
arrangements bear interest at rates ranging from 0% to 29% and mature between April 20, 2013 and June 30, 2014.

INCOME TAXES

Prior to January 1, 2011, Just Energy was a specified investment flow through trust (*SIFT*} for income tax purposes. As a result,
Just Energy was subject to current taxes at the top marginal rate applicable to individuals of approximately 46.4% on all taxable
income not distributed to unitholders. Subsequent te January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed the conversion from a SIFT to

a corporation.

Tax expense

2012 2011
Tax recognized in profit and foss $ 662 § 8182
Current tax expense 662 8,182
Deferred tax expense
Qrigination and reversal of temporary differences $ (48861) $ 25289
Benefit (expense) arising from a previcusly unrecognized tax loss or temporary difference 85,726 80,693
Reduction in tax rate resulting from reorganization - 58,673
Deferred tax recovery 36,865 165,257
Total tax expense § 37527 ¢ 173,439

Reconciliation of the effective tax rate
The provision for income taxes represents an effective rate different than the Canadian corporate statutory rate of 27.75%
{2011 — 30%). The differences are as follows:

2012 2011
Income (ioss) befare income taxes $ (89,116) § 526,379
Combined statutory Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate 27.75% 30.00%
Income tax expense (recovery) based on statutory rate (24,730) 157,914
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resuiting from
Taxes on income attributable to shareholders - {15,456)
Benefit (cost) of mark to market loss and other temporary differences not recognized 85,726 (118,200}
Variance between combined Canadian tax rate and the tax rate applicable to U.5. earnings (23,343) 1,910
Fair value adjustment and interest expense on preferred shares - 86,847
Reduction in tax rate resuiting from reorganization - 58,673
Other permanent items (126) 2,751
Total income tax expense $ 37527 § 173,439
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o Recognized deferral tax assets and liabilities
Recognized deferred tax assets and liagilities are attributed te the following:

March 31, March 31,
202 2011
Mark to market losses on derivative instruments $ 113,907 $ 132,486
Tax losses and excess of tax basis over bock basis 17,697 32,012
Total deferred tax asset 131,604 164,498
Offset of deferred taxes {57,754) (54,154)
Net deferred tax asset 73,850 110,344
Partnership income deferred for tax purposes (35.459) (14,046)
Excess of book basis over tax basis on customer contracts {12,604) {49,141}
Mark to market gains on derivative instruments (85) (102)
Excess of book basis over tax basis on other assets {2,075) (2,343)
Convertible debentures (9,056) -
Total deferred tax liability {59,279) {65,632)
Offset of deferred taxes 57,754 54,154
Net deferred tax liability $ (1,525) $ {11,478}
«» Movement in deferred tax balances
Foreign
Balance Recognized in Recognized Recognized exchange Balance
April 1, 2011 profit and loss in equity in OCl impact March 31, 2012
Partnership income deferred fortax §  (14,046) § (21.413) $ - 3 - % - $ {35459
Excess of book over tax ~
customer contracts (49,141) 31,378 - - - (17,763)
Excess of book over tax
on other assets 36,875 {16,486) - 387 - 20,776
Mark to market gains (losses) an
derivative instruments 132,888 {31,577) - 12,961 (445) 113,827
Convertibie debentures {7,710) 1,233 {2,579) - - {9,056)
$ 98866 ¢ (36865 $ (2579) $ 13,348 $ (a45) $ 72,325
Foreign
Balance  Recognized in Recognized Recognized exchange Balance
April 1, 2010 profit and loss in equity in OC1 impact March 31, 2011
Partnership income deferred for tax  $ (483) $ {13563) § - 3 - 3 - § (14,048}
Excess of book over tax —
customer contracts {73,058) 23917 - - - {49,141}
Excess of book over tax
on other assets 19,662 25,094 {15,728} - 137 29,165
Mark to market gains {lasses) on
derivative instruments 228,148 (116,644} - 21,384 - 132,888
Cenvertible debentures 84,062 (84,062) - - - -
$ 258337 $ (185258) $ (15728) $ 21,384 % 137 § 98,866
» Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets not reflected in the current period are as follows:
2012 2011
Losses available for carryforward 18,669 18,406
Mark to market on losses on derivative instruments 124,531 -
Excess of book over tax basis 7,889 -
Excess of book over tax — customer contracts 3,210 -
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Losses available for carryforward {recognized and unrecognized} are set to expire as follows:

2012
2026 11
2027 2,366
2028 34,328
2029 18,345
After 2030 175,518
Total 230,568
Investment Tax Credit (unrecognized) are set to expire as follows:

2012
2030 622

In addition, there are un-deducted and unrecognized Scientific Research and Experimental Development expenses of $14,356,

PROVISIONS
March 31, March 31,
2012 2011

Cost
Balance, beginning of year $ 7,250 % 7,008
Provisions made during the year 663 2,853
Provisions reversed and used during the year (1,506) (2,808)
Unwinding of discount (269) 482
Foreign exchange 156 (265)
Balance, end of year 3 6,294 % 7,250
Current 3,226 4,006
Non-current 3,068 3,244

$ 6294 $§ 7250
Legal issues

The provision for legal issues shown above includes the expected cash outflows from major claims and for several smaller litigation
matters. Just Energy’s subsidiaries are party to a number of iegal proceedings. Just Energy believes that each proceeding
constitutes a routine legal matter incidental to the business conducted by Just Energy and that the ultimate disposition of the
proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated earnings, cash flows or financial position.

In additicn to the routine legal proceedings of Just Energy, the State of California has filed a number of complaints to the FERC
against any suppliers of electricity, including Commerce, a subsidiary of Just Energy, with respect to events stemming from the
2001 energy crisis in California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC's enforcement of its
market-based rate system. Although Commerce did not own generation facilities, the State of California is claiming that
Commerce was unjustly enriched by the run-up caused by the alleged market manipulation by other market participants. The
proceedings are currently ongoing. On March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge granted the motion to strike for all parties
in one of the complaints holding that California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market
power. California has appealed the decision.
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note 18 OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES AND ADJUSTMENTS
@ Other operating expenses

(b)

(d)

NOTE 19

2012 2011
Amortization of gas contracts $ 23902 § 31841
Amortization of electricity contracts 54,468 63,642
Amortization of water heaters and HVAC products 1,631 1,595
Amortization of other intangible assets 28,232 23,763
Amortization of property, plant and equipment 5,847 5,698
Bad debt expense 28,514 27,650
Transacticn costs 1,101 1,284
Capital tax - 188
Share-based compensation 10,662 9,914
$ 154,357 § 165,575
Amortization and cost of inventories included in the consolidated income statement
2012 2011
Included in cost of sales
Amortization 12,640 9,837
Costs recognized as an expense 2,255,140 2,461,793
2,267,780 2,471,630
Included in change in fair value of derivative instruments
2012 2011
Amortization of gas contracts 38,663 53,757
Amortization of electricity contracts 74,330 96,064
Employee benefit expense
2012 2011
Wages, salaries and commissions 186,122 153,463
Benefits 20,631 19,398
206,753 172,861

REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Just Energy operates in the following reportable segments: gas marketing, electricity marketing, ethancl, home services and other.
Other represents Hudson Solar and Momentis. Reporting by products and services is in line with Just Energy’s performance

measurement parameters,

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in @ manner similar to transactions with third parties.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
ailocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured
consistently with operating profit or loss in the consclidated financial statements. Just Energy is not considered to have any

key customers.
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Gas Electricity

2012 marketing marketing Ethanol Home services Other  Consolidated
Sales $ 883057 $1,719853 ¢ 130491 § 35642 § 16,226 § 2,785,269
Gross margin 140,140 316,232 17.832 27.979 15,306 517,489
Amortization of property, plant

and equipment 1,119 3,242 1,294 168 24 5,847
Amortization of intangible assets 31,230 75,323 43 1,631 6 108,233
Administrative expenses 30,822 66,263 8,229 12,901 4,182 122,397
Selling and marketing expenses 34,546 101,236 - 4,188 37,332 177,302
Other operating expenses 7,551 31,078 - 1,432 216 40,277
Operating profit {loss) for theyear § 34,872 § 39,090 § 8,266 § 7659 $§ (26,454} $ 63,433
Finance costs {12,657) (31,769) {6,485) {10,018) {6} (60,935)
Change in fair value of derivative

instruments 31,132 {125,966) (135) {1,376) - (96,345}
Proportionate share of loss

from joint venture {565) (1,406) - - - (1,971}
Other income (loss) (7.038) 12,722 166 - 852 6,702
Provision for {recovery of) income tax 10,236 27,292 - - (1) 37,527
Profit (loss) for the year $ 35508 § (134621) § 1812 $ (3,735) $ (25607) % (126,643)
Capital expenditures $ 966 §$ 1,874 § 250 § 35685 $ 36054 § 74,829
Total goodwill $ 127055 § 121,827 % - $ 283 § - § 249,165
Total assets $ 350915 $ 904504 ¢ 123604 § 159696 § 4,325 § 1,543,044
Total liabilities $ 543,062 $1,250,564 $ 76995 $ 168715 § 5117  § 2,044,453

Gas Electricity

2011 marketing marketing Ethanot  Home services Other Consolidated
Sales $1.185750 $1635332 § 108526 § 22,566 § 1,018  §2,953,192
Gross margin 172,763 278,671 13,625 15,697 806 481,562
Amortization of property, plant

and equipment 1,450 2,741 1,193 307 7 5,698
Amortization of intangible assets 46,092 73,154 - 1,595 - 120,841
Administrative expenses 26,736 56,822 11,231 12,083 2,528 109,400
Selling and marketing expenses 40,930 87,360 - 3,302 2,015 133,607
Cther operating expenses 7,465 29,935 - 1,636 - 39,036
Operating profit (foss) fortheyear $ 50,090 § 28659 § 1,201 § (3,226 § (3744 § 72,930
Finance costs {17,180) {29,393) (6,862) (6,468) - (59,883)
Change in fair value of derivative

instruments 313,265 192,647 135 - - 506,047
Other income (loss} {17.338) 25,989 (875) (575) 34 7,235
Provision for (recovery of) income tax 65,603 110,337 - (2,501) - 173,439
Profit {loss) for the year $ 263,254 § 107,565 § 6,401) S (7,768) 3§ (3,710) § 352,940
Capital expenditures $ 661 % 1,562 § 267 % 30625 3§ 297 § 33412
Total goodwill $ 126668 $ 100516 § - % 283 % - § 227467
Total assets $ 609656 § 688554 § 162252 5 128,152 § 1,412 $ 1,590,026
Total liabilities $ 644692 § 929511 & 95642 5 111,189 § 110 $1,781,144
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NOTE 20

Geographic information
Revenues from external customers

For the year For the year

ended ended

March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011

Canada $ 1,133,244 § 1411534
United States 1,652,025 1,541,658
Total revenue per consolidated income statement $ 2785269 § 2953192

The revenue is based on the iocation of the customer.

Non-current assets
Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and eguipment and intangible assets and are summarized as follows:

As at As at

March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011

Canada $ 480,452 % 542,489
United States 354,384 331,732
Total $ 834,836 § 874,22%

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES WITH INDEFINITE LIVES

Goodwill acquired through business combinations and intangibles with indefinite lives have been allocated to one of five cash
generating units, which are also operating and reportable segments, for impairment testing. These units are gas marketing,
electricity marketing, ethanol, home services and other.

For impairment testing, goodwill and brand hava heen allocated as follows:

Gas marketing Electricity marketing Home services Tatal

2012 2011 2010 2012 20m 2010 2012 2o 2010 2012 201 2010

Goodwill $ 127,055 $ 126,668 $ 126,738 $121,827 $100,516 $ 60,311 § 283 % 283 % 283 $249,165 $227,467 $186,832
Brand 1,338 1,301 - 22,031 9,391 - - - - 23,369 10,692 -

$128,393 $127,969 §126,238 $143,858 109,907 § 60,311 % 283 § 283 % 283 $272,534 $ 238,159 $1386,832

lust Energy performed its annual impairment test as at March 31, 2012. Just Energy considers the relationship between its market
capitalization and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairmant. As at March 31, 2012, the
market capitalization of Just Energy was above the book value of its equity, indicating that a potential impairment of goodwill and
intangibles with indefinite lives does not exist.

The recoverable amount of each of the units has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
from financial budgets covering a five-year period. The projections for the first three years have been approved by the Audit
Committee; the assumptions used in the following two years have been aporoved by the Executive Committee, The calculation of
the value in use for each unit is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

+ Custemer consumption assumptions used in determining gross margin
* New customer additions and attrition and renewals

* Selling costs

* Discount rates

e Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period

Customer consumgtion is forecasted using normaized historical correlation between weather and customer consumption and
weather projections. Just Energy uses weather derivatives to mitigate the risk that weather will deviate from expectations. An

average customer consumption growth rate of 9% was usec in the projections. An isolated 5% decrease in the consumption

assumptions would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.

New customer additions and attrition and renewal rate estimates are based on historical results and are adjusted for new marketing
initiatives that are included in the budget. A 9% average increase in the overal! customer base was used in the projections.
An isolated 5% decrease annually in the overall customer base would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.
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Selling costs fluctuate with customer additions, renewals and attrition. Selling costs used in the financial forecast are based on
assumptions consistent with the above new customer additions, renewals and attritions. Rates used are based on historical
information and are adjusted for new marketing initiatives included in the budget. An average increase of 9% was applied to
selling costs in the projections. An isolated 5% increase annually in selling costs would not have an impact on the results of the
impairment test.

Piscount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to the Company, regarding the time value of money
and individual risks of the underlying assets. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of Just Energy
and its operating segments and is derived from its weighted average cost of cagital (WACC). The WACC takes into account bath
debt ang equity. The cost of equity is derived frorm the expected return on investrent by Just Energy’s investors and the cost of
debt is based on the interest bearing borrowings the Company is obliged to service. Just Energy used a discount rate of 9%.

An isolated 5% increase in the WACC would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.

Financiat projections used in the budget period which covers years 1, 2 and 3 have been approved by the Executive Committee.
The results in years 4 and 5 are based on year 3 results adjusted for inflation. An isclated 5% decrease in the growth rates used to
extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period wauld not have an impact on the results of the impairment test.

INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE/UNIT

2012 2011
Basic income {loss) per sharefunit
Net income {loss) available to sharehclders $ (126,522) % 355,076
Basic shares and units cutstanding 138,227,174 128,171,630
Basic income (loss) per share/unit $ 0.92) % 2.77
Diluted income (loss) per share/unit’
Net income {Joss) available to shareholders $ (126,522) 3 355,076
Adjusted net income for dilutive impact of convertible debentures - 14,000
Adjusted net income for financial liabilities - 9,609
Adjusted net income (loss) (126,522) 378,685
Basic shares and units outstanding 138,227,174 128,171,630
Dilutive effect of:
Weightad average number of Class A preference shares - 4,009,086
Weighted average number of Exchangeable Shares - 3,098,124
Restricted share grants - 2,737,214
Deferred share grants - 93,231
Convertible debentures - 19,541,261
Shares/units outstanding on a diluted basis 138,227,174 157,650,546
Diluted income (loss}) per share/unit $ 0.92) % 2.40

The $9C miliion, $330 millicn, $100 million corvertinle debentures, restricted and deferred share grants are anti-dilutive for fiscal 2012 and the stock
aption rights are anti-dilutive for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011.

CAPITAL DISCLOSURE
Just Energy defines capital as shareholders’ equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income) and long-term debt.
Just Energy’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain flexibility by:

i) enabling it to operate efficiently,
i) providing liquidity and access to capital for growth oppertunities; and
iy providing returns anc generating predictable cash flow for dividend paymens 1o shareholders,

Just Energy manages the capital structure and makes adjustrnents to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not estabiish quantitative return on capital criteria for
management, but rather promotes year over year sustainable and profitable growth. Just Energy’s capital management objectives
have remained unchanged from the prior year. Just Energy is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other
than financial covenants in its credit facilities, and as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, all of these covenants have been met.
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NOTE 23
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(b}

NOTE 24

NOTE 25

GUARANTEES

Officers and directors

Corporate indemnities have been provided by Just Energy to all directars and certain officers of its subsidiaries and affiliates for
various items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or actions due to their association with Just Energy and its
subsidiaries and/or affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. Just Energy has purchased directors' and officers liability insurance to
mitigate the cost of any potential future suits or actions. Each indemnity, subject to certain exceptions, applies for so long as the
indemnified person is a director or officer of one of Just Energy’s subsidiaries and/or affiliates. The maximum amount of any
potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated.

Operations

In the normal course of business, Just Energy and/or Just Energy's subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements that
include guarantees in favour of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and transportation
agreements. These guarantees may reguire Just Energy and/or its subsidiaries to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by
the counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of litigation claims or statutory sanctions
that may be suffered by the counterparty as a conseguence of the transaction. The maximum payable under these guarantees is
estimated to be $112,305.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise influence over the other party
in making financial or operation decisicns. The definition includes subsidiaries, joint ventures and other persons.

Subsidiaries and joint ventures

Transactions between Just Energy and its subsidiaries meet the definition of related party transactions. These transactions are
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in these financial statements. Transactions with joint ventures are disclosed
in Note 10,

Key management personnel

Just Energy’s key management personnel and persons connected with them are also considered to be related parties for disclosure
purposes. Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of Just Energy and comprise the Chair of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the
Chief Financial Officer,

During the year ended March 31, 2012, Just Energy recorded the following as an expense related to these individuals:

March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011

Salaries and benefits $ 4242 § 2,605
Stock-based compensation 5,490 3,530
$ 9,732 3 6,135

As at March 31, 2012, these individuals held approximately 1,631,500 RSGs (2011 - 1,324,000).

DISTRIBUTIONS AND DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

Far the year ended March 31, 2012, dividends of $1.24 (2011 — $1.24) per share/unit were declared and paid by Just Energy.

This amounted to $175,382 (2011 — $148,335), which was approved throughout the year by the Board of Directors and was paid
out during the year.

Declared dividends subsequent to year-end
On April 2, 2012, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amount of $0.10333 per comman share
(31.24 annually). The dividend was paid on April 3C, 2012, to shareholders of record at the close of business on April 16, 2012,

On May 2, 2012, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amount of $0.10333 per common share
(51.24 annually). The dividend will be paid on May 31, 2012, to shareholders of record at the close of business on May 15, 2012.
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COMMITMENTS
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Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

As at March 31, 2012

Exceeding
Lessthan 1year 1to3years 4to5years 5 years Totai
Premises and equipment leasing s 8296 $ 12,231 % 7570 ¢ 7,087 § 35,184
Grain production contracts 7,876 360 - - 8,236
Long-term gas and electricity contracts 1,363,421 1,057,222 175,049 622 2,596,314
$1.379,593 $ 1,069,813 % 182619 § 7,709 $2,639,734
As at March 31, 2011
Exceeding
Less than 1 year 1to3years 4 tob5 years 5 years Totat
Premises and equipment leasing $ 8333 % 10955 § 6,533 % 4841 § 30,662
Master Services Agreement with EPCOR 4,974 - - - 4,974
Grain production contracts 7,082 2,099 - - 9,181
Long-term gas and electricity contracts 1,498,293 1,405,699 267,505 2,292 3,173,789
$1,518682 $1,418,753 § 274,038 § 7,133 $ 3,218,606
As at Aprit 1, 2010
Exceeding
Lessthan 1year 1to3years 4105 years 5 years Total
Premises and equipment leasing $ 8084 3§ 10543 % 5330 % 4828 § 28785
Master Services Agreement with EPCOR 12,132 8,088 - - 20,220
Grain production contracts 36,059 21,438 396 - 57.893
Long-term gas and electricity contracts 1,494,003 1,621,623 415,680 2,065 3,533,371
$1,550,278 § 1,661,692 § 421,406 % 6,893 § 3,640,269

Just Energy is also committed under long-term contracts with customers to supply gas and electricity. These contracts have various
expiry dates and renewal options. Just Energy has entered into leasing contracts for office buildings and administrative equipment.
These leases have a leasing period of between one and eight years, For the main office building of Just Energy, there is a renewal

option for an additional five years. No purchase options are induded in any major leasing contracts.

ADJUSTMENTS REQUIRED TO REFLECT NET CASH RECEIPTS FROM GAS SALES

2012 2011
Changes in:
Accrued gas receivables $ 22033 % (5,749)
Gas delivered in excess of consumption (160,300) 3,763
Accrued gas payable (15,267) 4,266
Deferred revenue 11,274 (4,005)
$ 7740 % (1,725)
CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL
2012 2013
Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues $ 14048 % 4,513
Gas in storage (3,520) (2,355)
Prepaid expenses and deposits 361 15,511
Inventory (3,082) {583)
Trade and other payables and provisions {34,839) (56,149)
$ (27,032) $ (39,063
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NOTE 29 LIABILITY ASSOCIATED WITH EXCHANGEABLE SHARES AND EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

NOTE 30

Liability associated with Exchangeable Shares

Since 2001 and up to and including January 1, 2011, Just Energy had Exchangeable Shares outstanding. These shares did not
meet the definition of an equity instrument in accordance with {1AS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, and accordingly, were
classified as financial liabilities, The Exchangeable Shares were recorded upon transition to IFRS at redemgption value and
subsequent to transition were adjusted to reflect the redemption value at each reporting date. The resulting change from carrying
value to redemption value was recorded at transition and at each reporting period to retained earnings and earnings, respectively,
as a change in fair value of derivative instruments. All dividends attributable te exchangeable shareholders were recorded as
interest expense in the reporting period for which the dividends were declared.

As a result of the Conversion, the Exchangeable Shares were exchanged on a one for one basis into common shares of JEGI.
There were no Exchangeable Shares outstanding following the Conversion.

Equity-based compensation plans

As the award holders were entitled to receive Fund units, which under IFRS were considered puttable financial instruments, the
awards were classified as liability-based awards, The fair value of awards was estimated at gach reporting period using the fair
market value of the Fund units at the reporting date. The resulting measurements of the liability were recorded as change in fair
value of derivative financial instruments.

As a result of the Conversion, Just Energy’s equity-based compensation plan awards are now settled in non-redeemable commaon
shares resulting in equity plan accounting under IFRS, Accordingly, the fair value of the vested portion of outstanding awards was
reclassified from liability to contributed surglus on January 1, 2011.

The following table summarizes the changes in the liability associated with the Exchangeable Shares and the equity-based
compensaticn:

Exchangeable Shares Class A preference
of JEEC shares of JEC Unit based awards Total
Shares $-value Shares $-value Options DDUGS UARs $-value $-value

Opening balance - April 1, 201C 4,688,172  § 66,947 5,263,728 § 75,166 352,500 84,138 2,640,723 § 39,015 181,128

Exchanged (894,018) (12,595} - - - - (38,989) 461) {13,056)
IssuedAorfeited - - - - (217,500) 18,362 175,251 - -
Non-cash deferred unit grant - - - - - - - 87 87
Unit based compensation - - - - - - - 7,231 7231
Change n fair value - 2,447 - 3,632 - - - {2,725) 3,354
Reclassified to share capital on

the conversion to a corporation  (3,794,154) (56,799 {5,263,728) (78,798) - - - — (135,597}

Reclassified to contributed
surplus on the conversion
to a corporation - - - - {135,000y {162,500} (2,776,985) 43,147) (43,147

COMPARATIVE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Certain figures from the comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously
presented to confarm to the presentation of the current year's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO IFRS

Far all periods up to and including the year ended March 31, 2011, Just Energy prepared its financial statements in accordance
with CGAAP. Just Energy has prepared financial statements which comply with IFRS for periods beginning on or after April 1,
2011, as described in the accounting policies set out in Note 3. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, Just Energy’s
opening consolidated statement of finandial position was prepared as at April 1, 2010 {(Just Energy’s date of transition).

in preparing the opening IFRS consolidated statement of financial pesition, Just Energy has adjusted amounts previously reported
in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with CGAAP. An explanation of how the transition from CGAAP to
IFRS has affected Just Energy's financial position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables and the
notes that accompany the tables.

Elective exemptions from full retrospective applications

n preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1"), Just Energy has applied certain optional exemptions from fuil retrospective application of IFRS.
The opticnal exempticns are described below.

(i} Business combinations

Just Energy has applied the business combinations exemption in IFRS 1 to not apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, retrospectively.
Accordingly, Just Energy has not restated business combinations that took place pricr to the transition date.

(i Share-based payments

Just Energy has elected to apply IFRS 2, Share-pased Payments, to equity instruments granted on or before November 7, 2002, or
which are vested by the transition date.

(iii) Barrowing costs

|AS 23, Borrowing Costs, requires that Just Energy capitalize the borrowing costs related to all qualifying assets for which the
commencement date for capitalization is on or after April 1, 2010, Just Energy elected not to adopt this policy early and has,
therefare, expensed all borrowing casts prior to transition.

Mandatory exemptions to retrospective application

in preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, lust Energy has applied certain mandatory
exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRS. The mandatory exceptions applied from fuil retrospective application of IFRS
are described below.

(i) Estimates

Hindsight was not used to create or revise estimates and accordingly, the estimates previcusly made by Just Energy under CGAAP
are consistent with their application under IFRS.

(i} Hedge accounting

Hedge accounting can only be applied prospectively from the transition date to transactions that satisfy the hedge accounting
criteria in 1AS 39 at that date. Hedging relationships cannot be designated retrospectively and the supporting documentation
cannot be created prospectively. Just Energy has not applied any hedge accounting at or after the transition date.

Prior to July 1, 2008, Just Energy utilized hedge accounting for its customer contracts and formally documented the relationship
between hedging instruments and the hedged items as well as its risk management ohjective and strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions. Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. The balance still remaining in
accumulated other comprehensive income relates to the effective portion of the hedges that are still expected to occur as of the
transition date.

JUST ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 2012

109



JUST ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 2012

—a
—
o

NOTES TC THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reconciliation of financial position and equity at April 1, 2010:

Canadian IFRS
GAAP IFRS reclassifi- IFRS
Canadian GAAP accounts balances  adjustments cations balance  IFRS accounts
ASSETS ASSETS
Non-current assets Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment $ 217,223 % 547 % - % 216,676 Property, plant and eguipment
Intangible assets 342,022 - 186,832 528,854 Intangible assets
Goodwill 190,862 {4,030) (186,832) -
Other assets long term 5,027 - - 5,027  Other non-current financial assets
Long-term receivable 2,014 - - 2,014 Non-current receivables
Contract initiation costs 5,587 - - 5,587 Contract initiation costs
Future income tax assets 85,167 150,771 29,139 265,107 Deferred tax asset
847,932 146,194 29,139 1,023,265
Current assets Current assets
Inventory 6,323 - - 6,323 Inventory
Gas in storage 4,058 - - 4,058 Gas in storage
Gas delivered in excess of consumption 7.410 - - 7410 Gas delivered in excess of consumption
Accounts receivable 232,579 - - 232,579  Current trade and other receivables
Accrued gas receivables 20,793 - - 20,793 Accrued gas receivables
Unbitled revenues 61,070 - - 61,070  Unbilled revenues
Prepaid expenses and deposits 20,038 - - 20,038  Prepaid expenses and deposits
Other assets — current 2,703 - - 2,703 Other current assets
Current portion of future income tax assets 29,139 - (29,139) -
Cash 60,132 - 18,650 78,782  (Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash 18,650 - (18,650} -
462,895 - (29,139) 433,756
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,310,827 $ 146,194 3§ - $ 1,457,021 TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Unithaolders’ deficiency Equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent
Deficit $ (1,423,698) $(132,971) 3§ - % (1,556,669} Deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive 221,969 - - 221,969  Accumulated other comprehensive
income income
Unitholders' capital 659,118 118,738 - 777,856  Unitholders' capital
Contributed surplus 18,832 (18,832) - - Contributed surplus
Unitholders’ deficiency (523,779 (33,065) - (556,844} Unitholders' deficiency
Non-controlling interest 20,603 (182) - 20,421 Non-controlling interest
Total Unitholders' deficiency (503,176) (33,247) - (536,423 Total Unitholders’ deficiency
LIABILITIES LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt 231,837 - - 231,837 Long-term debt
Provisions - 3,270 (146} 3,124 Provisions
Deferred lease inducements 1,984 - - 1,984 Deferred lease inducements
Other liabilities — long term 590,572 - - 590,572  Other non-current financial liabilities
Future income taxes - - 6,776 6,776  Deferred tax liability
Liability associated with Exchangeable Liability associated with Exchangeable
Shares and equity-based compensation - 181,128 - 181,128  Shares and equity-based compensaticn
824,393 184,398 6,630 1,015,421
Current liabilities Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness 8,236 - - 8,236 Bank indebtedness
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 184,682 (7.460) 146 177,368 Trade and other payables
Accrued gas payable 15,093 - - 15,093  Accrued gas payable
Deferred revenue 7,202 - - 7,202 Deferred revenue
Unit distributicn payable 13,182 - - 13,182  Unit distribution payable
Corporate taxes payable 6,410 - - 6,410  Income taxes payable
Current portion of long-term debt 62,829 (1,381) - 61,448 Current partion of long-term debt
Provisions - 3,884 - 3,884 Provisions
Current portion future income tax liabilities 6,776 - {6,776} -
Other liabilities — current 685,200 - - 685,200  Other current financial liabilities
989,610 (4,957) {6,630} 978,023
TOTAL LIABILITIES £ 1,814,003 £ 179,441 ) - £ 1,993,444 TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES £ 1,310,827 $ 146,194 3 - $1,457,021  TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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Reconciliation of consolidated income statement for the year ended March 31, 2011:

IFRS
Canadian IFRS reclassifi-
Canadian GAAP accounts GAAP  adjustments cations IFRS  IFRS accounts
SALES $ 2953,192 % - 3 - % 2,953,192 SALES
COST OF SALES 2,470,989 641 - 2,471,630 COST OF SALES
GROSS MARGIN 482,203 (641) - 481,562 GROSS5 MARGIN
EXPENSES EXPENSES
General and administrative 109,407 (7) - 109,400  Administrative expenses .
Marketing expenses 133,607 - - 133,607 Selling and marketing expenses
Other operating expenses - 1,284 164,291 165,575 Cther cperating expenses
Bad debt expense 27,650 - (27,6500 -
Amortization of intangible assets and
related supply contracts 120,841 - (120,841) -

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 5,698 - (5,698) -
Unit-based compensation 5,509 4,405 (9,914) -
Capital tax 188 - {188} -

$ 402900 § 5682 0§ - § 408,582
Income (loss) before the undernoted 79,303 (6,323) - 72,980 Operating profit
Interest expense 50,437 9,446 - 59,882 Finance costs
Change in fair value of derivative Change in fair value of instruments

instruments (509,401) 3,354 - (506,047)  derivative instruments

Other income {7,235} - - (7,235 Gther income
Income before income taxes 545,502 (19,123) - 526,379 income before income taxes
Provision for income tax expense 32,142 141,297 - 173,439 Provision for income tax expense
NET iINCOME FOR THE YEAR $ 513,360 $(160,420) $ - % 352,940 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to: Attributable to:
Shareholders of Just Energy $ 515347 $(160,271) § - % 355076 Unitholders of Just Energy
Non-controlling interests {1,987 {149) - (2,138} Non-controlling interests

$ 513,360 3$(160,420) % - § 352,940

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2011;

IFRS
Canadian IFRS reciassifi-
Canadian GAAP accounts GAAP  adjustments cations IFRS  IFRS accounts
NET INCOME 3 513,360 §${160,420) $ R 352,940 NET INCOME
Unrealized gain on transiaticn of Unrealized gain on translation of
salf-sustaining operations 334 115 - 449  self-sustaining operations
Amortization of deferred unrealized Amortization of deterred unrealized
gain on discontinued hedges — gain on discontinued hedges ~
net of income taxes of $21,384 (98,499) - - {98,499  net of income taxes of 21,384
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (98,165%) 115 - (98,050) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 415195 £{160,305) 3§ - $ 254,890 COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Attributable to: Attributable to:
Shareholders of Just Energy § 417,182 $(180,156) § - % 257,026  Shareholders of Just Energy
Non-controilling interests {1,987) (149) {2,136} Non-controlling interests
$ 415,195  §${160,305) % - 3 254,890
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Reconciliation of financial position and equity at March 31, 2011:

Canadian IFRS
GAAP iFRS reclassifi- IFRS

Canadian GAAP accounts balances  adjustments cations balance  IFRS accounts
ASSETS ASSETS
Non-current assets Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment $§ 235189 % (1,189 % - $ 234002 Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets 412,752 - 227,467 640,219  Intangible assets
Goodwill 224,408 3,058 (227,467) -
Other assets — long term 5,384 - - 5,384 Other non-current financial assets
Contract initiation costs 29,654 - - 29,654  Contract initiation costs
Long-term receivable 4,569 - - 4,569  Non-current receivables
Future income tax assels 85,599 (489) 36,375 121,785 Deferred tax asset

997,856 1,382 36,375 1,035,613
Current assets Current assets
Inventory 6,906 - - 6,906 Inventory
Gas in storage 6,133 - - 6,133 Gas in storage
Gas delivered in excess of consumption 3481 - - 3,481 Gas delivered in excess of consumption
Accounts receivable 281,685 - - 281,685  Current trade and other receivables
Unbilled revenues 112,147 - - 112,147  Unbilled revenues
Accrued gas receivables 26,535 - - 26,535  Accrued gas receivables
Prepaid expenses and deposits 6,079 - - 6,07%  Prepaid expenses and deposits
Other assets — current 3,846 - - 3,846 Other current assets
Corporate tax recoverable 9,135 - - 9,135 Corporate tax recoverable
Current portion of future income tax assets 36,375 - (36,375) -
Cash 97,633 - 833 98,466 Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash 833 - {833) -

590,788 = (36,375) 554,413
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1588644 § 1,382 5% - % 1,590,026 TOTAL ASSETS
DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ deficiency Equity attributable to equity

holders of the parent
Deficit $ (1.063,179) 3286749 % - % (1,349,928) Deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive Accumulated other comprehensive
income 123,804 115 - 123,919 income

Sharehoiders’ capital 697,052 266,930 - 963,982 Shareholders’ capital
Equity compenent of convertible debt 33,914 {15,728) - 18,186  Equity component of convertible debt
Contributed surplus 22,503 29,820 - 52,723 Coniributed surplus
TOTAL DEFICIT § (185506) % (5612) % - % (191,118) TOTAL DEFICIT
LIABILITIES LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt $ 507460 % - % - $§ 507,460 Long-term debt
Future income taxes 2,657 7,046 13,216 22,919 Deferred tax liability
Deferred lease inducements 1,622 - - 1,622 Deferred lease inducements
Cther liabilities - long term 355,412 - - 355,412 Other non-current financial liabilities
Provisions - 3,244 - 3,244 Provisions

867,151 10,290 13,276 890,657
Current liabilities Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness 2,314 - - 2,314  Bank indebtecness
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 282,805 (7,302} - 275,503  Trade and other payables
Accrued gas payable 19,353 - - 19,353 Accrued gas payable
Corporate taxes payable 9,788 - - 9,782  Income taxes payable
Current portion of long-term debt 94,117 - - 94,117  Current portion of long-term cebt
Provisions - 4,006 - 4,006  Provisions
Current paortion ¢f future income tax liabilities 13,216 - (13,216) -
Other liabilities — current 485,406 - - 485,406  Other current financial liahilities

906,999 (3,296) (13,216) 890,487
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 1774150 3 6994 § ~ § 1,781,144 TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES $ 1588644 § 1382 % - $ 1,590,026 TOTAL DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the reconciliation of equity as at March 31, 2011
A. Property, plant and equipment
CGAAP - Component accounting required but typically not practiced in Canada.

IFRS - Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major compenants with different useful lives, the components
are accounted for as separate items. Management has reassessed the significant parts of the ethanol plant, which has resulted in
a decrease in amortization of the ethanol plant.

B. Transaction costs
CGAAP — The cost of the purchase includes the direct costs of the business combination.

IFRS — Transaction costs of the usiness combination are expensed as incurred.

Transacticn costs relating to the acquisition of Hudson have been expensed under IFRS. In addition, and in accordance with

IAS 39, management has allocated transaction costs directly attributable to the credit facility, which were previously included as
part of a businass combination, to the related long-term debt. These costs are now expensed using the effective interest rate
method over the life of the related debt.

C. Stock-based compensation and contributed surplus
CGAAP - For grants of share-based awards with graded vesting, the total fair value of the award is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the employment period necessary to vest the award.

IFRS - Each tranche in an award is considered a separate grant with a different vesting date and fair value, Each grant is accounted
for en that basis. As a result, just Energy adjusted its expense for share-based awards to reflect this difference in recognition.

D. Provisicns
CGAAP - Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and provisions are disciosed on the consolidated statement of financial position as
a singte line item.

IFRS — Provisions are disclosed separately from liabilities and accrued liabilities and reguire additional disclosure. Under IFRS,
provisions are also measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of meney and the risks specific to the abligation. This has
resulted in an adjustrment to Just Energy.

E. Deferred tax asset/liabitity
CGAAP — Deferred taxes are split betweaen current and non-current compenents on the kasis of either: {j) the underlying asset cr
liability or (ii) the expected reversal of items not related to an asset or liability.

IFRS - All deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

F. Impairment

CGAAP - A recoverability test is performed by first comparing the undiscounted expected future cash flows to be derived from
the asset to its carrying amount. If the asset does not recover its carrying value, an impairment loss is calculated as the excess of
the asset’s carrying amount over its fair value.

IFRS — The impairment loss is calculated as the excess of the asset's carrying amount over its recoverable amount, where
recoverable amount is defined as the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use. Under the value-in-use
calculation, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their net present value. The change in measurement
methedology did not result in additional impairment to Just Energy under iFRS.

G. Exchangeable Shares and equity-based compensation
CGAAP - The Class A preference shares and Exchangeable Shares issued by a subsidiary of an income fund are presented on the
consolidated statements of financial position of the income fund as part of unitholders’ capital if certain criteria are met,

Just Energy had met the criteria and the Class A preference shares and Exchangeable Shares were recorded as part of
unitholders’ capital.

JUST ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 2012

113



JUST ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 2012

-
-
i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IFRS — As a result of the Class A preference shares, Exchangeable Shares and equity-based compensation being exchangeable into
a puttable liability, the shares and equity-based compensation did not meet the definition of an equity instrument in accordance
with IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, and accordingly, were classified as financial liabilities. The Exchangeable Shares
and equity-based compensation were recorded upon transition to IFRS at redemption value and subsequent to transition were
adjusted to reflect the redemption value at each reporting date. The resufting change from carrving value to redemption value was
recorded at transition and at each reporting period to retained earnings and earnings, respectively, as a change in fair value of
derivative instruments. All distributions were recorded as interest expense in the reporting peried for which the dividends

were decfared.

H. Deferred taxes
CGAAP - There was an exemption that allowed issuers of convertible debentures to treat the difference in the convertible
debentures as a permanent difference between tax and accounting. This exemption does not exist under IFRS.

Under CGAAF, Just Energy’s deferred tax balances were calculated using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that were
expected to apply to the reporting pericd{s) when the temporary differences were expected to reverse.

IFRS — The discount an the convertible debentures has been included in assessing the Company's future tax position. IAS 12,
Income Taxes, requires the application of an "undistributed tax rate” in the calculation of deferred taxes, whereby deferred tax
balances are measured at the tax rate applicable to Just Energy’s undistributed profits during the periods when Just Energy was an
income trust.

Deferred taxes have been recalculated on the revised accounting values for the adjustments A to G.

1. Acquisition of minerity interest
CGAAP - The gain on the acquisition of minority interest, which occurred on January 1, 2011, was treated as a reduction to
goodwill on the original acquisition.

IFRS — The gain was reallocated to contributed surplus as this is considered an equity transaction.

1. Cash flow statements

Cash flow staternents prepared under IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, present cash flows in the same manner as under previous
GAAF. Qther than the adjustments noted above, reclassifications between net earnings and the adjustments to compute cash
fiows from operating activities, there were no material changes to the consclidated statement of cash flows.
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Highlights for the three months
ended June 30, 2012, included:

¢ Gross customer additions through
marketing of 338,000, up 49%
compared to 227,000 in the first
guarter of fiscal 2012. At 338,000,
this is the highest number of
customers ever aggregated by
Just Energy in a quarter.

4 Net additions of 107,000, up 143%
compared to 44,000 in the first
quarter of fiscal 2012.

4 Consumer customer additions were
162,000, up 105% from fiscal 2012.
Commercial additions of 176,000
were up 19% year over year. The
Company also renewed 252,000
customers with a renewal rate
of 74%, up from 66% a year
earlier and 64% in fiscal 2012.

Just Energy exited the quarter
with 3,977,000 customers, up 18%
from a year earlier.

¢ National Home Services installed
base up 34% year over year to
177,000 with gross margin up 36%
to $8.5 million.

€ Gross margin of $114.3 million,
up 21% {(19% per share).

€ Future embedded gross margin of
$2.1 billion, up 20% year over year
and up 6% in the quarter.

¢ Adjusted EBITDA of $42.3 million,

up 13% (11% per share) reflecting
earnings before marketing
expenditures to add new

gross margin.

Funds from Operations of $2.1 million
versus $24.9 million in Q1 fiscal 2012
as all cash from operations was

used to fund higher than expected
customer additions and faster than
expected growth of the Momentis
network marketing division.

Payout ratio on Adjusted EBITDA was
105% for the quarter, versus 116%
for the three months ended June 30,
2011, with Q1 being the lowest
energy consumption quarter.

First quarter results are ahead of

the published annual guidance of
10% to 12% growth in gross margin
(21% to date) and 8% to 10% growth
in Adjusted EBITDA (13% to date).

On July 23, 2012, Just Energy
announced its entry into the U.K.
commercial energy market.

On August 1, 2012, Just Energy
entered into an agreement with
Macquarie Bank Limited to provide
non-recourse debt financing for
solar projects generated by our
Hudson Energy Solar division.
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Message from the Chief Executive Officer

Fellow Shareholders,

Just Energy has completed the first quarter of its 2013 fiscal year. The Company forecasted higher published guidance for gross margin
and Adjusted EBITDA growth for fiscal 2013 than what was achieved for fiscal 2012 and the first quarter evidenced a resurgence in the
Company’s growth. Customer additions were 338,000, the highest in Just Energy’s history. Net additions of 107,000 resulted in a 3%
increase in the customer base over the guarter and an 18% increase over the past year. Qur energy customer base reached 3.9 million and,
including our 177,000 National Home Services {(“NHS") customers, we exceeded 4 million customers for the first time.

Our customer additions were split with 162,000 consumer customer additions, more than double the 79,000 added in the first quarter of
fiscal 2012, and 176,000 commercial additions, up 19% from the 148,000 added in the prior fiscal year. Over and abaove this, 252,000
of our customers renewed their contracts, with our renewal rate up shargly to 74% from 66% a year earlier and the 64% reported for
fiscal 2012. This is a result of very strong renewals from commercial customers. Commercial renewal rates are expected to be volatile as
they are normally subject to competitive bidding.

QUARTERLY CUSTOMER ADDITIONS

(thousands) 338
Gross additions :
3e
B et additions 310
261 254 2
25
232 227 238
140 137 131
116
97 92 .
3 73
36 a4 45
11 12 13 l I
_ m
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Qi Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 [w}]
Fiscal 2010 Fiscat 2011 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2013

The Company was able to realize this growth through success across its marketing channels. Our 1,200 independent contractors,
telemarketing team, 66,000 Momentis independent representatives, internet-based sales group and broker network all worked hard to
achieve record results.

April 1, Failed to June 30, % increase June 30, % increase
2012 Additions Attrition renew 2012 {decrease) 2011 {decrease)
Natural gas
Canada 558,000 32,000 {15,000) (14,000) 561,000 1% 635,000 (12)%
United States 551,000 36,000 (30,000) (13,0000 544,000 {1)% 567,000 (4%
Total gas 1,109,000 68,000 {45,000) (27,000} 1,105,000 0% 1,202,000 {8)%
Electricity
Canada 698,000 25,000 {16,000) (24,000} 683,000 (2)% 704,000 (3)%
United States 2,063,000 245,000 (66,000) (53,000) 2,189,000 6% 1,452,000 51%
Total electricity 2,761,000 270,000C {82,000) (77,000) 2,872,000 4% 2,156,000 33%
Combined 3,870,000 338,000 {127,000) {104,000 3,977,000 3% 3,358,000 18%

Erergy marketing was not our only growth engine. NHS, cur water heater/HVAC cperation, saw its custemer base grow to 177,000, up
34% from a year earlier.

The direct result of this growth was a 21% growth in our gross margin year over year. This rate of increase is well ahead of the 10% t0 12%
growth forecast for the year and gives the Company a strong start in what is, traditionally, the lowest cash flow quarter of the year.



MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

At the same time as the Company's core business has been growing, we have made a number of investments in new growth channels during
the guarter. The most significant of these was our investment in Momentis, our network marketing division. A year ago, Momentis had 5,000
independent representatives. At June 30, 2012, the total had reached 66,000, up 18,200 from the end of fiscal 2012.

Cur Hudson Energy Solar business increased its committed grojects to $108 million, up from $91 million at the beginning of the quarter. In
addition, following quarter end, we entered into an agreement with Macquarie Bank Limited to provide non-recourse debt financing for
our sclar projects.

Finally, we made a significant investment in the establishment of a U.K.-based commercial office, cur first presence in Europe. The office
opened for business on july 23, 2012.

As with past growth investments, each of these projects is expected to have the high returns and rapid payback for which Just Energy is
known. The projects required substantial spending on administrative costs and marketing costs for Momentis, capital for solar, and office
set-up and staff for U.K. operations, none of which made a material contribution in the quarter. Management believes that these
expenditures will broadean the base of the Company and allow us to continue our remarkable track record of growth inte the future.

Our overall administrative costs were up 28% over the comparable quarter due to the inclusion of $3.5 millicn in administrative costs
added with the Fulcrum acquisition. Excluding these costs, Energy marketing administrative expenses were up 14% and this included
administrative costs for the set-up of the London, U.K. office, expenditures that will benefit us in future periods.

Bad debt expenses were $8.6 million, 2.6% of relevant sales versus 2.8% in the quarter a year earlier. Custormer attrition rates averaged
14%, unchanged from a year earlier. Renewal rates were 74%, up from 66% reported a year earlier and 64% for fiscal 2012,

The results of the first quarter are highlighted by the table below:

Three months ended June 30
{miflions of dolars, except per share and customers)

Fiscal 2013 Per share Fiscal 2012 Per share
Sales $ 646.1 % 451 % 626.2 % 4,46
Gross margin 114.3 0.80 943 0.67
Administrative exgenses 36.1 0.25 283 0.20
Finance costs 17.9 D.12 13.8 0.10
Adjusted EBITDA 42.3 0.30 374 0.27
Adjusted Funds from Operations 29.2 0.20 325 0.23
Frofit for the period’ 3286 2.29 51.1 0.36
Dividends/distributions 44.4 0.31 436 0.31
Payout ratio — Adjusted EBITDA 105% 116%
Payout ratic — Adjusted Funds from Operations 152% 134%
Long-term custemers 3,977,000 3,358,000

Profit for the period includes the impact of unrealized gains {losses), which represents the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover future
customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices, minimizing any realizable impact of mark tc market gains and losses.

lustGreen and JustClean continued their growth. These high margin products were taken by 29% of our new residential customers who
took green supply for an average of 81% of their consumption. Green now makes up 12% of our consumer electricity portfolio (up from
10% & year ago) and 11% of our consumer gas portfolic (up from 9% a year ago). We are careful to tie green sales to green supply within
the same jurisdiction. We have participated in more than 70 carbon offset and renewable energy projects across North America.

Adjusted EBITDA growth followed our margin growth with a 13% increase year over year, again tracking ahead of our guidance of 8% to
10% growth for fiscal 2013. Adjusted EBITDA growth was less than margin growth largely because of the cost of the very high volume of
renewals in the period.

Funds from Cperations is & measure which shows where our cash flow stands comparad to cur dividend obligations. Funds from Operations
for the quarter was $2.1 million compared to $24.9 million in the comparable quarter. Adjusted for growth marketing expenditures, our
payout ratio was 152%, up fram 134%. More than $30.1 milficn was spent to grow our embedded grass margin versus $10.1 million a
year prior. Tha results of this growth spending can be tangibly measured within our embedded gross margin, which was up $111.4 million
during the quarter and reached a total of $2.1 billion. As can be seen on the next page, the value of the Company’s contracts increased 6%
in the quarter and 20% over the past year. This reflects the success of Just Energy’s growth expenditures and shows the ability of the
Company te both grow and pay a high yield.

JUST ENERGY 2013 FIRST QUARTER REPCRT TO SHAREHOLDERS
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EMBEDDED GROSS MARGIN

Canada — energy marketing (CAD$)
Home Services division (CAD$)

Canada — total (CADS)
U.S. ~ energy marketing (LS$}
Total (CADS)

As at As at June vs. As at June 2012 vs.

June 30, March 31, March 2012 Jure 30, June 2011
2012 2012 variance 2011 variance

$ 5877 % 592.1 M% 3 622.1 (6)%
465.7 393.¢ 18% 303.1 54%
1,053.4 985.1 7% 925.2 14%
1,016.4 994 .1 2% 851.3 19%

$ 20882 % 19768 6% ¢ 1,746.2 20%

Dividends were $0.31 per share, unchanged from thase paid g year earlier. Payout ratio an Adjusted EBITDA improved tc 105%, down from
116% a year ago in what Is seasonally the weakest quarter of the year. This continues a trend of improved payouts after the replacement of
all lost embedded gross margin for the period. To the extent that our growth continues to substantially exceed our published guidance, our
dividend obligations will exceed our Adjusted Funds from Operations. This is not an unusual situation for a business in a high growth phase.
The rapid payback on our investments will quickly resolve this situation and we are in the process of arranging funding fer this potential

accelerated growth rate, our capital expenditures and our dividends.

This was another excellent quarter for Just Energy. We believe that double-digit growth and a high dividend yield combine to make Just
Energy a unique investment. We have a long track record of taking proactive steps to perpetuate our growth. We are confident that the

investments we have taken in this guarter will reap similar success.

| thank my fellow sharehcliders for their continued support.

Yours sincerely,

B Mook

Ken Hartwick
Chief Executive Officer and President



Management’s discussion and analysis
(“MD&A") - August 9, 2012

QOverview

The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financtal condition and results of operations of Just Energy Group Inc. ("JE” or

“Just Energy” or the "Company”} (formerly Just Energy Income Fund {the “Fund”)) for the three months ended June 30, 2012, and has been
prepared with all information available up to and including August 9, 2012. This analysis should be read in conjunction with the unaudited
consciidated financial statements for the three months ended june 30, 2012. The financial information contained herein has been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB™).
Just Energy’s date of transition to IFRS was April 1, 2010. Ali dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Quarterly reports, the annual
report and supplementary information can be found on Just Energy’s corporate website at www.justenergygroup.com. Additional
information can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission at www.sec.gov.

Just Energy is a corporation established under the laws of Canada and holds securities and distributes the incomne of its directly or indirectiy
owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Effective January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed the canversion fram the Fund to Just Energy
(the "Conversion”), As part of the Conversion, Just Energy Exchange Corp. {"JEEC") was amalgamated with JE and, like the unitholders

of the Fund, the holders of JEEC's Exchangeable Shares received common shares of JE on a one for one basis. JE also assumed all of the
obligations under the $90m convertible debentures and $330m convertible debenturas.

Just Energy’s business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial custcmers under long-term
fixed-price, price-protected or variable-priced contracts. Just Energy markets its gas and electricity contracts in Canada, the United States and,
commencing in July 2012, the United Kingdom under the following trade names: Just Energy, Hudson Energy, Commerce Energy, Amigo
Energy and Tara Energy. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period
of up to five years, just Energy’s customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Variable rate
preducts allow customers to maintain competitive rates while retzining the ability to lock into a fixed price at their discretion. Just Energy
derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between the price at which it is able to sell the commedities to its customers and the
related price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers.

Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen and JjustClean programs. The electricity JustGreen product offers customers the
option of having ali or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or biomass.
The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits that allow customers to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of their homes or
businesses. JustClean products allow customers in certain jurisdictions to offset their carbon footprint without purchasing commodity from
lust Energy. JustClean can be offered in all states and provinces and is not dependent on energy deregulation. Management helieves that
the JustGreen and justClean products will not only add to profits but will also increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates.

In addition, Just Energy sells and rents high efficiency and tarkless water heaters, air conditioners and furnaces to Ontario residents,
through a subsidiary under the trade name National Home Services {"NHS"). Just Energy also operates a network marketing division under
the trade name Momentis. Through its subsidiary, Terra Grain Fuels, Inc, ("TGF"), Just Energy produces and sells wheat-based ethanol,

Just Energy‘s subsidiary, Hudson Energy Solar Corp ("HES"), and its subsidiaries provide solar project development platforms operating in
New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts, under the trade name Hudson Energy Solar. Just Energy also holds a 50% ownership in Just
Ventures LLC and Just Ventures L.P. {ccllectively, “Just Ventures”}, a jointly controlled entity that is primarily involved in the Internet-based
marketing of Just Energy’s gas and electricity contracts.

Forward-looking information

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information pertaining to customer additions and renewals, customer consumption levels,
EBITDA, Base EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes. These statements are based on current
expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ fram those anticipated. These risks
include, but are not limited to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, extreme weather conditions, rates of customer
additions and renewals, customer attrition, fluctuations in natural gas and electricity prices, changes in regulatory regimes, decisions by
regulatory authorities and competition, and dependence on certain suppliers. Additional information on these and other factors that could
affect Just Energy's operations, financial results or dividend levels are included in the May 31, 2012 Annual Informaticn Form and other
reports on file with Canadian security regulatory authorities, which can be accessed on our corporate website at www.justenergygroup.com
or through the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com or the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s wehsite at www.sec.gov.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Key terms

"$90m convertible debentures” represents the $90 million in convertible debentures issued by Universal Energy Group Ltd. {“Universal”} in
October 2007. Just Energy Exchange Corp. assumed the obligations of the debentures as part of the Universal acquisition on luly 1, 2009,
and Just Energy assumed the obligations of the debentures as part of the Conversion. See “Long-term debt and financing” on page 26 for
further details,

“$100m convertible debentures” represents the $100 million of convertible debentures issued by the Comgany to finance the purchase of
Fulcrum Retail Holdings, LLC, affective Octaber 1, 2011. See "Long-term debt and financing” on page 26 for further details.

"$330m convertible debentures” represents the $330 million in convertible debentures issued by the Fund to finance the purchase of
Hudson Energy Services, LLC, effective May 1, 2010. Just Energy assured the obligations of the debentures as part of the Conversion. See
“Long-term debt and financing” on page 26 for further details.

"customer” does not refer to an individual customer but instead an RCE (see Key term belows).
"Failed to renew” means customers who did not renew expiring cantracts at the end of their term.

“@Gross margin per RCE” represents the gross margin realized on Just Energy’s customer base, including gains/losses from the sale of excess
commodity supply.

“LDC* means a local distribution company; the natural gas or electricity distributor for a regulatory or governmentally defined
gecgraphic area.

"RCE” means residential customer equivalent, which is a unit of measurement equivalent tc a customer using, as regards natural gas,
2,815 m? {or 106 GlJs or 1,000 Therms or 1,025 CCFs) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity, 10 MWh {or 10,000 kWh)
of electricity on an annual basis, which represents the approximate amount of gas and electricity, respectively, used by a typical household
in Ontario.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Just Energy’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with IFRS. All non-GAAP financial measures do not have
standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers.
Management believes that Adjusted EBITDA is the best basis for analyzing the financia! results of just Energy.

EBITDA
“EBITDA” represents earnings before finance costs, taxes, depreciation and amortizatian. This is a non-GAAP measure that reflects the
pre-tax profitability of the business.

BASE EBITDA

“Base EBITDA" represents EBITDA adjusted to exclude the impact of mark to market gains {losses) arising from IFRS requirements for
derivative financial instruments on future supply positions. This measure reflects operating profitability as mark to market gains (losses} are
associated with supply already sold in the future at fixed prices.

Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protected by entering into fixed-price supply contracts. Under IFRS, the customer margins
are not marked to market but there is a reguirement to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized gains (losses)
depending upon current supply pricing. Management believes that these short-term mark ta markat non-cash gains (losses) do not impact
the long-term financial performance of Just Energy and management has therefore excluded it from the Base EBITDA calculation.

ADJUSTED EBITDA

“Adjusted EBITDA" represents Base EBITDA adjusted to deduct selling and marketing costs sufficient to maintain existing levels of
emhbedded gross margin and maintenance capital expenditures necessary to sustain existing operations. This adjustment results in the
exclusion of the marketing that Just Energy carried out and the capital expenditures that it had made to add to its future preductive
capacity. Management believes this is a useful measure of operating performance for investors.
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FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

“Funds from Cperations” refers to the net cash availakle for distribution through dividends to shareholders. Funds from Operations is
calculated by Just Energy as gross margin adjusted for cash items including administrative expenseas, selling and marketing expenses, bad
debt expenses, finance costs, corporate taxes, capital taxes and cther items. The gross margin used includes a seasonat adjustment for the
gas markets in Ontario, Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan in order to include cash received.

BASE FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

“Base Funds from Operations” refers to the Funds from Operations adjusted for capital expenditures purchased to maintain productive
capacity. Capital expenditures to maintain productive capacity represent the capital spend relating to capital assets and spending relating to
contract initiation costs to maintain embedded gross margin at the current level.

ADJUSTED FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

“Adjusted Funds from Operations” refers 1o the Base Funds from Operations adjusted to deduct the selling and marketing costs sufficient
to maintain existing lavels of embadded gross margin. This adjustment results in the exciusion of tha marketing carried cut by Just Erergy to
add 1o its future productive capacity.

EMBEDDED GROSS MARGIN

“Embedded grass margin” is a rolling five-year measure of management’s estimate of future contracted energy gross margin as well as the
margin associated with the average remaining life of Naticnal Home Services’ customer contracts. The energy marketing embedded gross
margin is the difference between existing customer contract prices and the cast of supply for the remainder of term, with appropriate
assumptions for customer attrition and renewals. It is assumed that expiring contracts will be renewed at target margin and renawal rates.

Financial highlights

For the three months ended June 30
{thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per share amounts)

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
per
shate
$ Per share change $  Pershare
Sales 646,074 $ 4.51 1% 626,200 $ 4.46
Gross margin 114,259 0.80 19% 94,261 0.67
Administrative expenses 36,104 0.25 25% 28,284 0.20
Finance costs 17,880 [V 4 27% 13,792 0.10
Profit for the pericd’ 328,639 2.29 530% 51,132 0.36
Dividends/distributions 44,390 0.31 0% 43,605 0.31
Base EBITDAZ 15,173 0.1 {50)% 29,867 0.27
Adjusted EBITDAZ 42,271 0.30 11% 37,431 0.27
Base Funds from Operations? {903) (0.01}) (104)% 22,373 0.16
Adjusted Funds from Operations? 29,224 .20 {(12)% 32,504 0.23
Payout ratic on Base EBITDA 293% 146%
Payout ratio on Adjusted EBITDA 105% 116%
Payout ratio on Base Funds from QOperations NEG? 195%
Payout ratio on Adjusted Funds from Cperations 152% 134%
Embedded Grass Margin (in millions)? 2,088 1,746
Energy customers (RCEs) 3,977,000 3,358,000
Home Services customers {installed units} 177,000 131,600
Total custamers (RCEs and installed units) 4,154,000 3,489,600

! Profit for the period includes the impact of unrealized gains (losses), which represents the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to caver future
customer demand. The supply bas been scld to customers at fixed prices, minimizing any realizable impact of mark to market gains and losses.

25ee discussion of “Non-GAAP financial measures” on page 6.

3 NEG represents a negative payout ratio.

JUST ENERGY 2013 FIRST QUARTER REPORT TO SHAREHCLDERS



JUST ENERGY 2013 FIRST QUARTER REPCRT TC SHAREHOLDERS

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSIGN AND ANALYSIS

Acquisition of Fulcrum Retail Holdings LLC
On October 3, 20171, Just Energy completed the acquisition of Fulcrum with an effective date of October 1, 2011, The acquisition was
funded by an issuance of $100 millicn in convertible debentures.

The consideration for the acquisition was U5$79.4 million paid at the time of closing and subject to customary working capital adjustments.
Just Energy will also pay up to US$11.0 million in cash and issue up to 867,025 common shares {collectively the “Earn-Cut” amount) to the
seller 18 months following the closing date, provided that certain EBITDA and billed volume targets are satisfied by Fulcrum during the
Earn-Out period.

In addition, the Company will pay, as part of the contingent consideration, an additional 4.006% on the cash portion of the contingent
consideration and $1.86 for each of the common shares that are issued at the end of the Earn-Out period.

The acquisition of Fulcrum was accountad for using the acquisition method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase price to the
identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acguisition as follows:

Fair value recognized on acquisition

Current assets (including cash of $3,875) $ 43,528
Froperty, plant and eguipment 758
Software 215
Customer contracts and relaticnships 39,533
Affinity relaticnships 42,359
Brand 13,034
Contract initiation costs 156
Non-controliing interest 540
140,123
Current liabilities (44,856)
Other liabilities — current (12,430)
Cther liabilities - fong term (2,768)
Deferred lease inducements (322)
Long-term debt (586)
{61,962)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 78,161
Goodwill arising on acquisition 21,108
Total consideration $ 99,267
Cash paid, net of estimated working capital adjustment $ 80,940
Contingent consideration (Earn-Qut amount) 18,327
Total consideration $ 99,267

The electricity customer contracts and affinity relationships are amortized cver the average remaining life at the time of acguisition. The
electricity customer contracts are amortized over 3.5 years. The affinity relationships are amortized over eight years. The brand value, which
represents the value allocated to the market awareness of the operating namas used to sell and promote its products, is considered to have
an indefinite life and, therefore, is not subject to amortization.

Operations

NATURAL GAS

Just Energy offers naturat gas customers a variety of products ranging from month-to-month variable-price offerings to five-year fixed-price
contracts. For fixed price contracts, Just Energy purchases gas supgly threugh physical or financial transactions with market counterparts in
advance of marketing, based on forecast customer aggregation for residential and small commercial customers. For larger commercial
customers, gas supply is generally purchased concurrently with the execution of a contract, Variable rate products allow customers to
maintain competitive rates while retaining the ability to lock into a fixed price at their discretion.

The LDC provides historical customer usage, which, when normalized to average weather, enables Just Energy to purchase the expected
normal customer load. Furthermore, Just Energy mitigates exposure to weather variations through active management of the gas portfolio,
which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase of options including weather derivatives. Just Energy’s ability to mitigate weather effects
is limited by the severity of weather from normal. To the extent that balancing reguirements are outside the forecast purchase, Just Energy
bears the financial responsibility for fluctuations in customer usage. Volume variances may result in either excess or short supply. In the case
of under consumption by the customer, excess supply is sold in the spot market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted
average cost of supply. Further, customer margin is lowered proportionately to the decrease in consumption. In the case of greater than
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expected gas consumption, Just Energy must purchase the short supply in the spot market resuiting in either a gain or Joss compared to the
weighted average cost of supply. Consequently, customer margin increases proportionately to the increase in consumption. To the extent
that supply balancing is not fully covered through active management or the options employed, Just Energy’s custormer gross margin may
be reduced cr increased depending upon market conditions at the time of balancing. Under some commercial contract terms, this
halancing may be passed onto the customer,

Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan

In Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan, the volumes delivered for a custamer typically remain constant throughout the year.
Just Energy does not recognize sales untit the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at a rate
that is greater than delivery and, in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer consumpticn. Just Energy receives cash from
the LDCs as the gas is delivered, which is even throughout the year.

Manitoba, Alberta and Saskatchewan

In Manitoba, Alberta and Saskatchaewan, the valume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month. Therefore,
the amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently, cash received from
customers and LDCs will be higher in the winter months.

New York, iifinois, Indiana, Ohio, California, Georgia, New Jersey and Pennsyivania

in New York, llingis, Indiana, Ohio, California, Georgia, New lersey and Pennsylvania, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated
consumption and storage reguirements for each month. Therefore, the amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the
spring and summer months. Censequently, cash flow received from these states is greatest during the third and fourth {(winter) quarters,

as cash is normally received from the LDCs in the same period as custemer consumption.

ELECTRICITY

In Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas, lllinois, Pennsylvania, New lersey, Maryland, Michigan, California, Ohio and Massachusetts, Just Energy
offers a variety of solutions to its electricity customers, including fixed-price and variable-price products on both short-term and longer-term
alectricity contracts. Some of these products provide customers with price-protection programs for the majority of their electricity requirements.
The customers may experience either a small balancing charge or credit {pass-through) on each bill due to fluctuations in prices agplicable
to their volume requirements not covered by a fixed grice. Just Energy uses historical usage data for alf enralled customers to predict future
customer consumption and to help with long-term supply procurement decisions.

Just Energy purchases power supply through physical or financial transactions with market counterparties in advance of marketing for
residential and small commercial customers based on forecast customer aggregation. Power supply is generally purchased concurrently
with the execution of a contract for larger commercial custemers. The LDC provides historical customer usage, which, when normalized to
average weather, enables Just Energy to purchase 1o expected normal customer load. Furthermere, Just Energy mitigates exposure to
weather variations through active management of the power portfolio. The expected cost of this strategy is incorporated into the price to
the customer. Our akility to mitigate weather effects is limited by the severity of weather from normal. In certain markets, to the extent that
balancing requirements are outside the forecast purchase, Just Energy bears the financial responsibility for excess or short supply caused by
fluctuaticns in customer usage. In the case of under consumption by the customer, excess supply is sold in the spot markst resulting in
either a gain or loss in relation to the ariginal cost of supply. Further, customer margin is lowered proportionately to the dacrease in
consumption. In the case of greater than expected power consumption, Just Energy must purchase the short supply in the spot market
resulting in either a gain or loss in relation to the fixed cost of supply. Customer margin generally increases proportionately to the increase
in consumption. To the extent that supply balancing is not fully covered through customer pass-throughs or active management or the
options employed, Just Energy’s custormer gross margin may be impacted depending upon market conditions at the time of balancing.

JUSTGREEN
Customers have the ability to choose an appropriate JustGreen program to supplement their electricity and natural gas contracts, providing
an effective method to offset their carbon footprint associated with the respective commodity consumption.

JustGreen programs for electricity customers involve the purchase of power from green generators (such as wind, solar, run of the river
hydro or biomass) via power purchase agreements and renewable energy certificates. JustGreen programs for gas customers involve the
purchase of carbon offsets from carbon capture and reducticn projects.

JUSTCLEAN

in addition to its traditional commedity marketing business, Just Energy alfows customers to effectively manage their carbon foctprint
without buying energy commedity products by signing a JustClean contract. The JustCiean products are essentially carbon offsets from
carbon capture and reduction projects as well as green power renewable energy certificates from green generators. This preduct can be
offered in all states and provinces and is not dependent on energy deregulation.

JUST ENERGY 2013 FRST QUARTER REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS
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BLEND AND EXTEND PROGRAM

As part of Just Energy’s retention efforts, electricity and natural gas customers may be contacted for early renewal of their contracts under &
Blend and Extend offer. These customers are cffered a lower rate, compared to their current contracted rate, but the term of their contract
is extended up fo five more years. Conseguently, Just Energy may experience a reduction in margins in the short term but wil} gain
additional future margins.

CONSUMER (RESIDENTIAL) ENERGY DIVISION

The sale of gas and electricity to customers of 15 RCEs and less is undertaken by the Consumer Energy division. The marketing of energy
praducts of this division is primarily done deor-to-door through 1,200 independent contractors, the Momentis network marketing
operation, and Internet-based and telemarketing efforts. Approximately 50% of Just Energy's customer base resides within the Consumer
Energy division, which is currently focused on longer-term price-protected and variable rate offerings of commedity products, JustGreen and
JustClean. To the extent that certain markets are better served by shorter-term or enhanced varizgble rate products, the Consumer Energy
independent contracters also offer thase products.

COMMERCIAL ENERGY DIVISION

Customers with annual consumption over 15 RCEs are served by the Commercial Energy division. These sales are made through three main
channels: docr-to-door commercial independent contractors; inside commerdial sales representatives; and sales through the broker channel
using the commercial platform acquired with the Hudson purchase. Commercial customers make up approximately 50% of Just Energy’s
customer base. Products offered to commaercial customers can range from standard fixed-price offerings to “one off* offerings, which are
tailored to meet the customer's specific needs. These praducts can be either fixed or floating rate or a blend of the two, and normally have
terms of less than five years. Margin per RCE for this division is lower than consumer margins but customer aggregation costs and ongaing
customer care costs are lower as well on a per RCE basis. Commercial customers tend to have combined attrition and failed-to-renew rates
that are lower than those of consumer customers.

HOME SERVICES DIVISION

NHS began operations in April 2008 and provides Ontario residential customers with a long-term water heater, furnace and air conditioning
rental, offering high efficiency conventional and power vented tanks and tankless water heaters and high efficiency furnaces and air
conditioners. NHS markets through approximately 190 independent contractors in Ontaric. See page 21 for additional information.

ETHANOL DIVISION

Just Energy owns and operates Terra Grain Fuels ("TGF*), a 150-million-litre capacity wheat-based ethanol plant located in Belle Plaine,
Saskatchewan. The plant produces wheat-based ethanol and high protein distiliers’ dried grain {"DDG”). See page 21 for additional
information on TGF.

NETWORK MARKETING DIVISION

Just Energy owns and operates Momentis, a network marketing comgany operating within Canada and the United States. Independent
representatives educate consumers about the benefits of energy deregulation and sell them products offered by Just Energy as well as a
number of other products. Independent representatives are rewarded through commissicns earned based on new custermers added. As of
June 30, 2012, there were approximately 66,000 independent representatives.

SOLAR DIVISION

Hudson Energy Solar {(“HES"), a solar project development platform operating in New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts, brings
renewatle energy directly to the consumer, enabling them to reduce their environmental impact ang energy costs. HES installs solar systems
on residential or commercial sites, maintaining ownership of the systern and providing maintenance and monitcring of the system for a
period of up to 20 years. HES sells the energy generated by the solar panels back to the customer. This division will contribute to operating
metrics through commeadity sales, renewable energy credit offset sales and tax incentives. As of June 30, 2012, the divisicn has made
cormmitments of approximately $108.0 million with the status of the associated projects ranging from contracted to completed.
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Adjusted EBITDA

For the three months ended June 30
(thousands of dolfars, except per share amounts)

Fiscal 2013 Per share Fiscal 2012 Per share

Reconciliation to consolidated statements of income
Prafit for the period $ 328639 % 229 % 51,132 % 0.36
Add (subtract):
Finance costs 17,880 13,792
Provision for income taxes 32,697 7,227
Amortization 30,015 37.419
Profit attributable to non-controliing interest (167} -
EBITDA $ 409,064 3§ 286 % 109564 § 0.78
Subtract:
Change in fair value of derivative instruments {393,891) (73,697)
Base EBITDA $ 15173 % 011 § 29867 ¢ 0.21
Add (subtract):
Selling and marketing expenses to add gross margin 30,127 10,131
Maintenance capital expenditures (2,029 (2,567)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 42271 § 030 § 37431 § 0.27
Adjusted EBITDA
Gross margin per financial statements $ 114,258 % 080 § 94261 § 0.67
Add (subtract):
Administrative expenses (36,104) (28,284)
Selling and marketing expenses {58,566) (34,554)
Bad debt expense (8,640) 6,814)
Stock-based compensation (3,232) (1,681)
Amortization included in cost of sales/selling and

marketing expenses 6,480 6,774
Other income 2,302 165
Proportionate share of loss from the joint venture (1,159) -
Profit attributable to non-controlling interest (167) -
Base EBITDA $ 15173 § 011 % 29867 $§ 0.21
Selling and marketing expenses to add gross margin 30,127 10,131
Maintenance capital expenditures {(3,029) (2,567)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 42271 $ 030 % 37431 % 0.27
Dividends/distributions
Dividends/distributions $ 43,197 $ 42,520
Restricted share grants and deferred share grant 1,193 1,085
Total dividends/distributions $ 44390 % 031 §$ 43605 % 0.31
Adjusted fully diluted average number of shares outstanding’ 143.2m 140.4m

"The per share amounts are calculated on an adjusted fully diluted basis, removing the impact of the $330m, $100m and $30m convertible debentures s all will
he anti-dilutive In future periods.
Base EBITDA differs from EBITDA in that the impact of the mark to market gains {losses) from the financial instruments is removed. This
measure reflects operating profitability as mark to market gains (iosses) are associated with supply already sold in the future at fixed prices.
Just Energy ensures that the value of customer contracts is protected by entering into fixed-price supply contracts. Under IFRS, the value of
the customer contracts is not marked to market but there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates
unrealized gains (lesses) depending upon current supply pricing volatiity. Management believes that these short-term mark to market
non-cash gains {josses} do not impact the long-term financial performance of Just Energy.
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For Adjusted EBITDA, selling and marketing expenses used for increasing gross margin are also removed along with maintenance capital
expenditures being deducted. As a corporation, management believes that Adjusted EBITDA is the best measure of operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDA amounted to $42.3 million ($0.30 per share} in the first quarter, an increase of 13% (11% per share) from $37.4 million
($0.27 per share) in the prior comparable quarter. The increase is attributable to the increase in gross margin, offset by higher operating
expenses. Gross margin increased 21% (19% per share} overall with energy marketing and home services gress margin increasing by 15%
and 36%, respectively. Margin contributions from TGF decreased gquarter over guarter due to lower ethanol prices and higher wheat
feedstock prices.

Administrative expenses increased by 28% from $28.3 million to $36.1 millicn quarter over guarter. The increase over the prior comparable
quarter was partially due to the inclusion of the administrative expenses of $3.5 million relating te Fulcrum. Excluding the Fulcrum-related
expenses, administrative expenses amounted to $32.6 million, a 15% increase over the prior quarter due to the expansion in the energy
marketing customer base, the growth of solar, network marketing and home services as well as the costs associated with the establishment
of a U.K. operations and marketing office.

Selling and marketing expenses for the quarter ended June 3G, 2012, were $58.6 million, a 69% increase from $34.6 million reported in

the pricr comparable quarter. This increase is attributable to the 49% increase in customer additions as well as the increased investments
related to the build-out of the independent representative network by Momentis. Excluding the $18.0 million of costs associated with the
building of Momentis, selling and marketing expenses increased by 23% to $42.6 million.

The selling and marketing expenses representing the costs associated with maintaining gross margin, which are deducted in Adjusted
EBITDA, were $25.1 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2012, 22% higher than $20.6 millicn in the pricr comparable quarter. This
increase was due to the higher number of customers to be replaced due to attrition or failure to renew.

Bad debt expense was $8.6 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2012, a 27% increase from $6.8 million recorded for the prior
comparanle quarter. This increase s a result of the 37% increase in revenue for markets for which Just Enargy bears the bad debt risk quarter
over quarter. For the quarter ended June 30, 2012, the bad debt expense of $8.6 million represents appreximately 2.6% of revenue in the
jurisdictions where the Company bears the credit risk, in comparison with 2.8% of revenue for the three menths ended June 30, 2011,

Dividends and distributions paid for the guarter ended June 30, 2012, were $44.4 million, an increase of 2% from the prior comparable
guarter as a result of a higher number cf shares outstanding. The payout ratio on Adjusted EBITDA was 105% for the three months ended
June 30, 2012, versus 116% in the first quarter of fiscal 2012. Tor the guarter ended June 390, 2012, the payout ratic on Adjusted Funds
from Operations was 152 % versus 134% in the grior comparable quarter. Just Energy’s operaticns are seasonal with first quarter typically
experiencing the lowest consumpticn and, consequently, the lowest gross margin in comparison to the other guarters.

For further information on the changes in the gross margin, please refer to “Segmented Adjusted EBITDA” on page 15 and "Administrative
expenses”, "Selling and marketing expenses”, “Bad debt expense” and “Finance costs”, which are further clarified on pages 22 through 24.

EMBEDDED GROSS MARGIN
Management’s estimate of the future embeddad gross margin is as follows:

(miftions of doffars)

As at As at June vs. As at June 2012 vs.

June 30, March 31, March 2012 June 30, June 2011

2012 2012 variance 2011 variance

Canada - energy marketing (CAD$} $ 5877 § 592.1 % 3 622.1 (€)%
Home Services division (CADS) 465.7 393.¢ 18% 3031 54%
Canada — total (CAD$) 1,053.4 985.1 7% 925.2 14%
U.5. — energy marketing {US$) 1,016.4 994.1 2% 851.3 19%
Total (CAD$) $ 20882 $ 19768 6% $ 1,746.2 20%

Management's estimate of the embedded gross margin amounted to $2,088.2 million as at June 30, 2012, an increasa of 6% from

$1,976.8 million three months pricr and an increase of 20% year over year. The embedded gross margin for Canadian operations increased 7%
driven by 18% higher embedded margin from the Home Services division. NHS embedded gross margins reflect a higher customer count as well
as an increase in the monthiy rental rate. The embedded gross margin for NHS represents the margin assaciated with the average remaining life
of the customer contracts.
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U.S. embeddead gross margin increased 2% over the prior period from US$994.1 million to U5$1,016.4 million, The growth in energy
marketing embedded gross margin for the quarter was lower than the 3% growth in customer base as commercial customers, which make
up a growing percentage of new additions, by design have lower margins and shorter base contract terms than consumer customers.
However, the addition of commercial customers also rasults in lower customer aggregation costs and lower annual customer servicing costs,
neither of which is captured in embedded gross margin.

The U.S. dollar strengthened 2% against the Canadian dollar over the first quarter of fiscal 2013, resulting in an increase of $20.9 miliion in
embedded gross margin when stated in Canadian dollars.

Funds from Operations

For the three months ended June 30
(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Fiscal 2013 Per share Fiscal 2012 Per share
Cash inflow from operations $§ 23109 3% 616 § 15894 % 0.11
Add:
Increase (decrease) in non-cash working capital (22,330) 4,049
Tax adjustment 1,347 5,197
Funds from Operations $ 2,126 % 001 § 24940 §% 0.18
Less: maintenance capital expenditures {(3,029) (2,567)
Base Funds from Operations $ (903) $ {0.01) % 22373 % 0.16
Base Funds from Operations payout ratio NEG? 195%
Add: selling and marketing expenses to add new gross margin 30,127 10,131
Adjusted Funds from Operations $ 29224 % 0.20 $ 32504 % 0.23
Adjusted Funds from Operations payout ratio 152% 134%
Adjusted fully diluted average number of shares cutstanding’ 143.2m 140.4m

" The per share amounts are calculated on an adjusted fully difuted basis, removing the impact of the $330m, $100m and $90m convertible debentures as all will
be anti-lilutive in future periods.

2 NEG represents a negative payout ratio.

Funds from Operations represents the cash available for distribution to the shareholders of Just Energy. For the three months ended June 30,
2012, Funds from Operations was $2.1 million ($0.01 per share), a $1% decrease from $24.9 million ($C.18 per share} in the prior
comparable guarter. Base Funds from QOperations, which represents Funds from Operations reduced by the maintenance capital
expenditures, was $(0.9) million for the three months endad June 30, 2012, compared with $22.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2012,

The lower Funds from Qperations and Base Funds from Operations are due to the substantial growth in selling and marketing expenses to
add new embedded gross margin. The $30.1 millicn in expenditures resuited in a $111.4 million increase in embedded gress margin during
the quarter. Given the auick payback on such investments, there is a clear longer-term benefit received from the cost in the quarter.

Adjusted Funds from Operations is adjusted to deduct only the sales and marketing expenses associated with maintaining gross margin for
the quarter. These expenditures totalled $25.1 millicn and resulted in the maintenance of the $1,976.8 millicn in embedded gross margin in
place at the beginning of the guarter. Selling and marketing expenses to add gross margin and growth capital expenditures resulted in an
increase in embedded gross margin of $111.4 million. For the three menths ended June 30, 2012, Adjusted Funds from Operations was
$29.2 million ($0.20 per share), a decrease of 10% over $32.5 million ($0.23 per share) in the prior comparable quarter. Payout ratios were
152% for the three months ended June 30, 2012, and 134% in the prior comparable quarter. Traditionally, the first guarter is seasonally the
slowest quarter for sales and gross margin due to lower gas and electricity consumption.
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Summary of quarterly results

{thousands of doilars, except per share amounts)

o} Q4 Q3 Qz

fiscal 2013 fiscal 2012 fiscal 2012 fiscal 2012

Sales $ 646,074 §$ 820,412 § 738614 § &00,043
Gross margin 114,259 173,260 147,407 102,561
Administrative expenses 36,104 34,031 31,308 28,774
Finance costs 17,880 16,426 16,377 14,340
Profit {loss) for the period 328,639 (76,895) (97,386) (3,494)
Profit (foss) for the period per share — basic 2.36 (0.55) 0.70) {0.03)
Profit {ioss) for the period per share — diluted 1.97 (0.55) 0.70) (0.03)
Dividends/distributions paid 44,390 44,152 43,934 43,691
Base EBITDA 15,173 76,948 63,563 38,604
Adjusted EBITDA 42,271 109,287 88,513 47,894
Base Funds from Operations (903} 55,236 49,967 42,059
Adjusted Funds from Operations 29,224 88,170 76,567 52,401
Payout ratio on Base EBITDA 293% 57% 69% 113%
Payaut ratio on Adjusted EBITDA 105% 40% 50% 91%
Payout ratio on Base Funds from Cperations NEG' 80% 88% 104%
Payout ratio on Adjusted Funds from Operations 152% 50% 57% 83%
Q1 Q4 3 Q2

fiscal 2012 fiscal 2011 tiscal 2011 fiscal 2011

Sales $ 626200 $ 941,334 § 744296 § 657,878
Gross margin 84,261 172,599 132,084 96,719
Administrative expenses 28,284 28,367 26,299 25,963
Finance costs 13,792 13,646 15,6792 12,8232
Pratit (fass) for the period 51,132 37,119 178,468 {133,436}
Profit (|oss) for the period per sharefunit — basic 0.37 0.27 1.4 {1.07)
Profit {loss) for the period per sharefunit — diluted 0.35 0.23 1.16 {1.07)
Dividends/distributions paid 43,605 43,208 42,450 42,276
Base EBITDA 29,867 109,282 68,823 31,441
Adjusted EBITDA 37,431 114,934 76,800 37,497
Base Funds from Cperations 22,373 67,150 50,034 43,227
Adjusted Funds from Operations 32,504 75,215 61,327 50,916
Payout ratio on Base EBITDA 146% 40% 62% 134%
Payout ratio on Adjusted EBITCA 116% 38% 55% 113%
Payout ratio on Base Funds from Operations 195% 64% 85% 98%
Payout ratio on Adjusted Funds from Operations 134% 57% 69% 83%

UNEG represents a nagative payout ratio.

2 Excludes distributions paid to holders of Exchangeable Shares prior to Conversion included as finance costs under IFRS.

Just Energy’s results reflect seasonality, as consumption s greatest during the third and feurth quarters (winter quarters). While year over
year quarterly comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters will vary materially. The main impact of this will te higher Base EBITDA,
Adjusted EBITDA, Funds from Operations and Adjusted Funds from Operations and lower payout ratios in the third and fourth guarters,
and lower Base EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Funds from Cperations and Adjusted Funds from Cperations and higher payout ratios in the

first and second quarters.

ANALYSIS OF THE FIRST QUARTER

Sales increased by 3% year over year to $646.1 million from $626.2 miflion. Sates from gas and electricity marketing increased by 3%
versus fiscal 2012 primarily as a result of an 18% increase in customer base offset by lower commaodity prices. Gross margin from energy
marketing increased by 15% with the increase associated with the growth in customer base being offset by the financial reconciliations
associated with the lower gas consumption due to the extremely warm winter temperatures experienced across Just Energy’s gas markets
during fiscal 2012, Gross margin from NHS and Momentis increased and helped contribute to an overall increase in margin of 21%.

The change in fair value of derivative instruments resulted in a gain of $393.2 miliion for the current quarter, in comparison with
$79.7 million in the first quarter of the prior fiscal year. Profit for the pericd ended June 30, 2012, was $328.6 million, representing profit of
$2.36 and $1.97 on a basic and diluted per share basis. For the prior comparable quarter, net profit was $51.1 million, representing income
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of $0.37 and $0.35 on a basic and diluted per share basis, respectively. The fair value of derivative instruments represents the mark to
market of future commedity supply acquired te cover future customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers in the future at fixed
prices, minimizing any impact of mark to market gains and losses.

Adjusted ERITDA increased by 13% te $42.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012, This increase is attributable to higher gross
margin being offset by higher administrative, bad debt, and selling and marketing expenses to mairtain gross margin. Base EBITDA (after all
selling and marketing costs) decreased by 49% to $15.2 million for the three menths ended June 30, 2012, down from $29.9 million in

the prior comparable quarter primarily as a result of record gross additions and the investment in the network marketing division. Thase
expenditures will support future growth for the Company. For the three months ended June 30, 2012, the provision for income tax expense
amounted to $32.7 million versus the prior comparable period expense of $7.2 million, which was a result of a change in the deferred tax.

As expected, Funds from Operations were negative as the available cash was utilized to fund record customer additions and embedded
gross margin growth of $111.4 million during the slowest seasonal quarter.

Dividends/distributions paid ware $44.4 million, an increase of 2% from the prior comparable quarter as a result of a higher number of
shares outstanding. Payout ratio on Adjusted EBITDA was 105% for the three months ended June 30, 2012, compared with 116% in the
pricr comparable guarter. The payout ratio on Adjusted Funds from Operations was 152% for the three months ended June 30, 2012,
compared with 134% reported for the first quarter of fiscal 2012.

Segmented Adjusted EBITDA

For the three months ended Jjune 30

Fiscal 2013
Energy Home
Marketing Ethanol Services Other  Consolidated
Gross margin per financial statements $ 97599 % 602 § 8479 % 7,579 ¢ 114,259
Add (sulstract):
Administrative expenses (27,905} (2,266) (3,792) (2,141} (36,104}
Selling and marketing expenses (41,475} - (1,081) (16,010} (58,566}
Bad debr expense (8,604) - (386) - (8,640)
Stock-based compensation {2,768) - (464) - (3,232)
Amortization included in cost of sales/selling
and marketing expenses 2,832 1,082 2,566 - 6,480
QOther income 411 - 2 1,889 2,302
Proporticnate share of loss from the joint venture (1,159} - - - (1,159}
Profit attributable to non-controlling interest (167) - - - {167)
Base EBITDA 18,764 (582) 5,674 (8,683) 15,173
Selling and marketing expenses to add gross margin 13,549 - 576 16,002 30,127
Maintenance capital expenditures (3,002) {1) (14) (12) (3,029)
Adjusted EBTDA $ 29311 § (583) $ 6,236 5 7307 5 4221
Fiscal 2012
Energy Hame
Marketing Ethanol services Other Consolidated
Gross margin per financial staternents $ 857122 § 2,545  § 6,232 § 362§ 947251
Add {subtract):
Administrative expenses (21,451) (2,765) (2,863) {1,205) (28,284)
Selling and marketing expenses (32,137 - (1,300) (1,117) (34,554)
Bad debt expense 6,811) - (3) - 6,814)
Stock-based compensaticn (1,358) - {323) - (1,681)
Amartization included in cost of sales/selling
and marketing expenses 3,563 1,438 1,773 - 6,774
Cther incamea 93 - - 66 165
Base EBITDA 27,027 1,218 3,516 (1,894) 29,867
Selling and marketing expenses to add gross margin 8,025 - 991 1,115 10,131
Maintenance capital expenditures (2,518) 27 (22) - (2,567)
Adjusted EBITDA § 32534 5§ 1,181 § 4,435 % (779) $§ 37,431

JUST ENERGY 2013 FIRST QUARTER REPORT TQ SHAREHOLDERS

-
i



JUST ENERGY 2013 FIRST QUARTER REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

—_
[=2]

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Adjusted EBITDA amcunted to $42.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012, an increase from $37.4 million in the prior
comparable guarter. Energy marketing contributed $29.3 million to Adjusted EBITDA for the current quarter, a decrease from $32.5 million
in the first quarter of fiscal 2012, as a result of the costs of the substantial increase in renewals versus the prior year, Just Energy’s Ethanol
division, TGF, contributed $(C.6) million to Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2012, compared with the $1.2 million in
Adjusted EBITDA in the prior comparable quarter as a result of higher wheat feedstock prices and lower ethanol prices experienced in the
current guarter.

NHS contributed $6.2 million to the consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the first quarter of fiscal 2012, an increase from $4.5 million in
the pricr comparable quarter due to the higher gross margin resulting from an increasing custemer base. Just Energy’s cther divisions,
Momentis and HES, contributed a combined $7.3 million to Adjusted EBITDA for the current quarter, an increase from $(0.8) million
contributed in the three months ended June 30, 2011.

For further information on each division, please refer to “Energy Marketing” induded below, "Ethanot division (TGF)” on page 21, “Home
Services divisicn {NHS)” on page 21 and "Other divisions (Momentis and HES)" on page 22.

Energy Marketing

Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended june 30, 2012, amounted to $29.3 million, a 10% decrease from $32.5 miliion reported in
the first quarter of fiscal 2012. Although gross margin increased by 15% quarter over quarter, higher operating expenses and, in particular,
higher selling and marketing costs reflecting higher renewals offset this increase during the quarter. Administrative and bad debt expenses
also increased as a result of the Fulcrum acquisition and the expanding customer base.

SALES AND GROSS MARGIN

For the three months ended June 30, 2012
(thousands of doflars)

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
Sales Gas Electricity Total Gas Electricity Total
Canada $ 68188 $ 98394 4§ 166582 $ 123278 § 120049 § 243,327
United States 51,908 385,026 436,934 79172 265,298 344,470
$ 120,096 $ 483,420 $ 603,516 $ 202450 $ 385347 $§ 587,797

Increase (decrease} {AN% 25% 3%
Gross margin Gas Electricity Total Gas Electricity Total
Canada $ 10636 $ 25991 $ 36627 % 16847 $ 18470 § 35317
United States 4,017 56,955 60,972 8,258 41,547 49,805
$ 14653 ¢ 82946 $ 97599 § 25105 § 60017 § 85122

Increase (decrease) (42)% 38% 15%

Sales for the three months ended June 30, 2012, were $603.5 million, an increase of 3% from $587.8 millicn in the pricr comparable
quarter. The sales increase reflects growth in the U.5. electricity segment from the 51% larger customer base, offset by the lower gas sales
as a result of the lower gas consumption due to extreme warm temperatures across all key gas markets. In addition, because of the lower
commodity prices, Just Energy has experienced a gradual reduction in average price within the customer base as new customers signed and
customer renewals are at lower prices than those of customers expiring or lost through attrition.

Gross margins were $97.6 million for the quarter, an increase of 15% from the $85.1 million earned during the three months ended
June 30, 2011, reflecting the Company's efforts to maintain per customer margins while selling prices decline. Again higher electricity
margins more than offset the lower gas margins due to the warm winter and the resulting lower consumption. The increasing proportion
of lower margin commercial customers results in lower margin growth than customer growth.

GAS

Sales were $120.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012, down 41% frem $202.5 miillion in the prior comparable quarter of
fiscal 2012. Gross margins were $14.7 million for the first quarter of fiscal 20713, a decrease of 42% from $25.1 million recorded for the
three months ended June 30, 2011. The number of gas customers has decreased by 8% during the past year.
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Canada

Canadian gas sales were $68.2 million, a decrease of 45% from $123.3 million recorded for the three months ended June 30, 2012. Gross
margin totalled $10.6 million, down 37% from the prior comparable quarter. The decrease in sales and margin is a result of the decline in
commodity prices reflected in recent contract offerings, the 12% smaller customer base and the guarterly consumption effects from the
warmest winter on record in the Company’s key markets.

After allowance for balancing and inclusive of acquisitions, realized average gross margin per customer (“GM/RCE™) for the rolling
12 months ended June 30, 2012, amounted to $179/RCE compared to $165/RCE for the prior comparable period. The GM/RCE value
includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta and British Columbia.

United States

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, gas sales totalied $51.9 million, a decrease of 34% from $79.2 million in the prior comparable
period. Gross margin for the gas markets in the U.S. was $4.0 million, a 51% decrease versus $8.3 million reported in the first guarter of
fiscal 2012. Total gas customers in the U.S. decreased by 4% during the past year. The lower sales and gross margin were the result of the
settlements associated with the lower consumption during the warmer than usual winter weather and the overall decrease in custormner
base. The lower commaodity price environment and its impact on recently signed contracts also contributed to the decline in gas sales in the
U.S. over the prior comparatle period.

Average realized gross margin after all balancing costs for the rolling 12 months ended June 30, 2012, was $108/RCE, a decrease from
$140/RCE. In addition to the impact from weather, a higher progortion of commercial custormers were added which have lower margins per
RCE by design. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for bad debt expense in lllincis, Georgia, Michigan and California.

ELECTRICITY

Sales for the three months ended June 30, 2012, were $483.4 million, an increase of 25% from $385.3 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2011. Gross margin was $82.9 million, up 38% from $60.0 million in the prior comparable guarter. The number of electricity
customers has increased by 33% during the past year.

Canada

Electricity sales were $98.4 million for the three menths ended June 30, 2012, a decrease of 18% from the pricr comparable period due to
a 3% decline in RCEs as well as new variable rate products cffered at lower sales prices. Gross margin increased 41% to $26.0 million,
compared to $18.5 millien from the prior comparaile guarter. Gross margin increased largely due to higher margins asscciated with the
lustGreen product offerings as well as pricing on attractive variable rate products.

Realized average gross margin per customer in Canada after all balancing and including acquisitions for the rolling 12 months ended June 30,
2012, amounted to $155/RCE, an increase from $121/RCE in the prior comparable period. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate
allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta.

United States

Electricity sales in the U.S. were $385.0 million for the three months ended june 30, 2012, an increase of 45% from $265.3 million in the
pricr comparable period. Gross margin for electricity in the U.S. was $57.0 million, a 37% increase from $41.5 million recorded in the three
months ended June 30, 2011. Driving sales growth was the 51% increase in customer base during the past year, as a result of strong
additions through marketing and 240,000 RCEs added through the Fulcrum acquisition effective Qctober 1, 2011.

Just Energy has entered into a weather swap related to its Texas operations to limit its exposure to losses as a result of supply price volatility
during extreme warm weather. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, a gain of $1.2 million has been recognized against the
carresponding deductible of $0.8 million. The weather swap will continue to be in effect for July and August 2012,

Average gross margin per customer for efectricity during the rolling 12 months decreased to $128/RCE, compared to $138/RCE in the prior
comparable period, as a result of a higher proportion of commercial customers added which have lower margins per RCE by design. The
GM/RCE value for Texas, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts and California includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense.
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Long-term energy customer aggregation

April 1, Failed to lune 30, % increase June 30, % increase
202 Additions Attrition renew 2012 (decrease) 2011 (decrease)
Natural gas
Canada 558,000 32,000 {15,000} (14,000) 561,000 1% 635,000 {12)%
United States 551,000 35,000 (30,000) (13,000) 544,000 {1)% 567,000 {4)%
Total gas 1,109,000 68,000 (45,000) (27,000) 1,105,000 0 1,202,000 (8%
Electricity
Canada 698,000 25,000 (16,000) (24,000) 683,000 (2)% 704,000 (3)%
United States 2,063,000 245,000 (66,000) (53,000 2,189,000 6% 1,452,000 51%
Total electricity 2,761,000 270,000 (82,000 (77.000) 2,872,000 4% 2,156,000 33%
Combined 3,870,000 338,000 (127,000) (104,000 3,977,000 3% 3,358,000 18%

Gross custcmer additions for the quarter were 338,000, up 49% from the previous 227,000 customers added through marketing in the
first quarter of fiscal 2012. Net additions from marketing were 107,000 for the quarter versus 44,000 net customers added in the prior
comparable guarter. Net additions from marketing exceeded 100,000 for the third consecutive quarter, reflecting improved perfarmance
across each of the sales channels in both the Consumer and Commercial divisions. The customer base increased by 3% during the quarter
and 18% year over year.

Consumer customer additions amounted to 162,000 for the guarter, mare than double the 79,000 customer additions recorded in the prior
comparable quarter. Management continues to diversify its sales platform beyond decrto-door sales to include the Momentis network,
telephone and cnline marketing channels.

Commercial additions were 176,000 for the year, a 19% increase from 148,000 additions in the first quarter of the previous fiscal year.
The broker sales channel continues to expand across Just Energy’s existing markets.

Total gas customers remained relatively flat during the quarter, reflecting a difficult price environment with a large disparity betwaen utility spot
prices and the five-year prices. The extended period of low, stable gas prices has reduced the customer appetite for the stability of higher
priced leng-term fixed contracts for consumer customers. As a result, Just Energy has moved to a variety of consumer products that provide a
different value proposition in the current environment, with variable and monthly flat rate contracts being well received while spot market
prices remain stable. During the quarter, Canadian gas customers increased by 1% representing its first increase in net additions in over

five years.

Total electricity customers were up 4% during the quarter, with a 6% growth in the U.S. market and a 2% decrease in customers in the
Canadian markets. The growth in the U.S. is & result of the strong additions, while the Canadian electricity market, particularly in Ontario,
continues to face competitive challenges due to low utility pricing.

JUSTGREEN AND JUSTCLEAN

Sales of the JustGreen products remain stable despite premium pricing in a low-price environment. The JustGreen program allows
customers to choose 1o purchase units of green energy in the form of renewable energy or carbon offsets, in an effort to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy, it creates a contractual obligation for Just Energy to
purchase a supply of green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer’s purchase. A review was conducted by Grant
Tharnton LLP of Just Energy’s Renewable Energy and Carbon Offsets Sales and Purchases report for the period from January 1, 2011,
through December 31, 2011, validating the match of Just Energy’s renewable energy and carbon offset purchases against customer
contracts. Just Energy has contracts with over 70 carbon offset and renewable energy projects across North America and is actively pursuing
new projects tc meet our growing demand for green energy alternatives. Just Energy purchases carbon offsets and renewable energy
credits for the current and future use of our customers. Qur purchases help developers finance their projects.

The Company currently sells JustGreen gas in the efigible markets of Ontario, Quebec, 8ritish Columbia, Alberta, Michigan, New York, Ohic,
llinois and Pennsylvania. JustGreen electricity is sold in Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas and Pennsylvania, Of all consumer customers who
contracted with Just Energy in the past year, 29% tock JustGreen for some or all of their energy needs. Cn average, these customers elected
to purchase 81% of their consumption as green supply. In comparison, the first quarter of fiscal 2012 reported that 32% of the consumer
customers who contracted with Just Energy in the previous year chose to include JustGreen for an average of 91% of their consumption.
The reduction in green take-up is primarily related to the high premium an the preduct in a low commodity price environment for our gas
consumers, Overall, JustGreen now makes up 11% of the Consumer gas portfolio, up from 9% a year ago. JustGreen makes up 12% of the
Consumer electricity partfalio, up from 10% a year ago.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

in addition, JustClean products are being offered in some markets within Canada and the United States. justClean products are carbon
offsets from carpon capture and reduction projects as well as green power renewable energy certificates from green generators that aliow
customers to offset a portion or all of their carbon footprint without an association to a commedity product. The JustClean product can be
offerad in all states and provinces and is not dependent on energy deregulation. The Company is exploring cpportunities to expand this
product offering to new markets threughout the U.S. and Canada, koth regulated and dereguiated.

ATTRITION
Trailing Trailing Tralling
12-month 12-month 12-month
attrition attrition attrition
june 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 March 31, 2012

Natural gas
Canada 11% 10% 10%
United States 24% 21% 24%

Electricity

Canada 11% 10% 9%
United States 13% 15% 13%
Total attrition 14% 14% 13%

Attrition rates remained constant quarter over quarter at 14%. The primary contributing factor to the stability in attrition rates is that
most customers signed in the past three years are on prices consistent with current market prices. The attrition from thase customers and
their eventual renewal will be assisted by this pricing; in addition, there are generally lower attrition rates among the growing base of
commercial custormers.

Natural gas

The annual natural gas attrition in Canada was 11% for the first quarter in fiscal 2013, slightly higher than from the attrition rate reported
in the prior comparabie guarter. In the U.5., annual gas attrition was 24%, an increase from 21% experienced in the prior comparable
quarter. Attrition levels for the current quarter were in line with what was reported for fiscal 2012.

Electricity

The annual electricity attrition rate in Canada was 11%, up from the 10% reported in the pricr comparable quarter. Electricity attrition in
the U.S. was 13% for the first three months in fiscal 2013, a slight decrease from 15% reported in the first quarter of fiscal 2012, due 1o
the increasing commercial customer base, which has historically experienced lower attrition rates.

RENEWALS
Consumer Commercial
Trailing Trailing Trailing Trailing
12-month T2-month 12-menth 12-month
renewal renewal renewal renewal
June 30, 2012 June 30,2011 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011
Natural gas
Canada 48% 67% 59% 59%
United States 80% 74% 47% 73%
Electricity
Canada 50% 59% 59% 58%
United States B0% 81% 834% 62%
Total renewals - consumer and commercial divisions 74% 66%

The Just Energy renewal process is a multifaceted program that aims to maximize the number of customers who choose tc renew their
contract prior to the end of their existing contract term. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance, allowing a customer to renew for an
additional period. Management’s targeted renewal rates for consumer customers are to be in the range of 70% overall, assuming
commodity price volatility remains low. The ranewal rates for Canadian gas and electricity continue to be impacted by the current high
spread between the Just Energy five-year price and utility spot price. The long period of stable low prices has reduced customer interest in
renewing higher fixed prices. Just Energy is focused on variable-price offerings in order to improve renewal rates.

Renewal rates for commercial customers are expected to be more volatile than those of consumer customers as a commercial renewal is often
2 function of a competitive bid process and these customers regularly change suppliers. This was the case for the U.S. gas market, where the
renewal rate was 47%, primarily due to customers that chose not to renew with Just Energy during the competitive bidding process.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The combired renewal rate for all custemers, both consumer and commercial was 74% for the first three maonths in fiscal 2013, an increase
from 66% for the prior comparable quarter. Commercial renewal rates are more volatile than these of residential customers. Renewal
decisicns are cften made through competitive bid processes. The U.S. electricity renewals are most affected by this volatility. 1t is anticipated
that Canadian renewal rates will improve towards target levels as more customers begin to renew off of current market priced contracts.

GAS AND ELECTRICITY CONTRACT RENEWALS

This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in each of the foilowing fiscal periods:

Canada - Canada - u.s. - Us. -

gas electricity gas electricity

Remainder of 2013 27% 23% 18% 22%
2014 19% 16% 13% 27%
2015 18% 13% 12% 14%
2016 20% 22% 17% 14%
Beyond 2016 16% 26% 40% 23%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

All month-to-month customers, which represent 345,000 RCEs, are excluded in the table above.

Gross margin earned through marketing efforts

The table below depicts the annual margins on contracts of consumer and commercial customers signed during the quarter. This table
reflects all margin earned on new additions and renewals including beth the brown commodity and JustGreen. Customers added through
marketing or renewal had lower margins than the customers lost through attrition or failure to renew due to the need to price closer to the
low utility floating rate alternative and substantially lower commadity prices on new contracts versus those up for renewal or lost through
attriticn. For commercial customers, the average gross margin for new customers added was $76/RCE. The aggregation cost of these

customers is lower per RCE compared to a consumer customer.

ANNUAL GROSS MARGIN PER CUSTOMER'

Consumer customers added in the period
Canada - gas
Canada — electricity
United States — gas
United States - electricity
Average annual margin
Consumer customers renewed in the pericd
Canada — gas
Canada - electricity
United States - gas
United States - electricity
Average annual margin
Consumer customers |ost in the period
Canada — gas
Canada — electricity
United States — gas
United States - electricity
Average annual margin
Commercial customers added in the period
Commercial customers lost in the period

! Custormer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt.

Nurmber of

Q1 Fiscal 2013 customers
$ 140 14,000
160 S,000

196 34,000

176 105,000

176 162,000

$ 167 6,000
138 10,000

198 9,000

170 50,000

169 85,000

i 195 23,000
150 30,000

168 32,000

196 46,000

178 131,000

$ 76 176,000
% 114 100,000




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Ethanol division (TGF)

TGF continues to remain focused on improving the plant producticn and run time of the Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan, wheat-based ethana
facility. However, in the first quarter of fiscal 2013, the plant completed scheduled maintenance, resu'ting in production downtime, and alsc
experienced wheat shortages requiring preduction shutdowns and slowdowns &s a result of unfavourable weather conditions. For the three
months ended June 30, 2012, the plant achieved an average production capacity of 63%, a decrease from average production capacity of
67% In the same quarter in the prior fisca! year.

Ethanol prices were, on average, $0.61 per litre and wheat prices averaged $252 per metric tonne for the three months ended June 30,
2012. For the prior comparable quarter, average ethanol prices were $0.68 per litre and wheat prices were $216 per metric tonne. As at
Jure 30, 2012, ethanol was priced at $0.59 per litre.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, TGF had sales of $23.5 million, a 22% decrease from $30.2 miliion in the pricr comparable
guarter. The decrease in sales is a result of lower praduction as well as lower ethanol prices during the current quarter. Cost of sales
amounted to $22.9 million, a decrease of 17% from $27.6 million in the prior comparable quarter as a result of higher wheat prices and

a reclassification of costs from administrative expenses in the first quarter of fiscal 2013. During the first quarter in fiscal 2013, the plant
produced 23.5 million litres of ethanol and 20,949 metric tonnes of DBG, resulting in & productive capacity of 63%. In the prior comparable
quarter, TGF produced 25.2 million litres of ethanol and 23,869 metric tonnes of DDG and experienced an average production capacity

of 67%. Administrative expenses declined due tc a reclassification of certain costs to cost of sales.

Adjusted EBITDA for the Ethanol division for the first quarter of fiscal 2013 amounted to $(0.6) million, in comparison with $1.2 million in
the prior comparable quarter. This decrease is directly attributable to the decrease in gross margin associated with the lower ethanol prices
and higher wheat prices than that which was experienced in the pricr comparable quarter.

TGF receives a federal subsidy related to the ecoEnergy for Biofuels Agreement initially signed on February 17, 2009, based on the volume
of ethanol produced. The subsidy is $0.07 per litre for fiscal 2013. The subsidy amount declines threugh time to $0.05 per litre of ethanai
produced in fiscal 2015, the last year of the agreement.

Home Services division (NHS)

NHS provides Ontario residential custamers with long-term water heater rental programs that offer conventional tanks, power vented tanks
and tankless water heaters in a variety of sizes as well as high efficiency furnaces and air conditioners. NHS continues its customer growth
with installations for the quarter amounting to 9,800 water heaters and 1,800 air conditioners and furnaces, compared with 11,300 water
heaters and 1,700 air conditioner and furnace units installed in the prior comparable quarter. Overall, installations declined versus the

first quarter of fiscal 2012, but were slightly higher additions during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. NHS currently markets through
approximately 190 independent contractors. As of June 30, 2012, the installed customer base, including water heaters, furnaces and air
conditioners, amounted to 177,000, an increase of 34% from the installad customer base of 131,600 as at June 30, 2011.

As NHS is a high growth, relatively capitai-intensive business, Just Energy’s management believes that, in order tc maintain stability of
dividends, separate non-recourse financing of this capital is appropriate. NAS entered into a leng-term financing agreement with Home
Trust Company (“HTC*) for the funding of the water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners in the Enbridge Gas and Union Gas distribution
territories. Under the HTC agreement, NHS receives funds egual to the amount of the five-, seven- or ten-year cash flow {(at its option) of
the water heater, furnace and air conditioner contracts discounted at the contracted rate, which is currently 7.99%. HTC is then paid an
amount that is equal to the customer rental payments on the water heaters for the next five, seven or ten years as applicable. The funding
received from HTC up to June 30, 2012, was $207.4 million. As at June 30, 2012, the balance cutstanding was $160.0 million, with an
average term of 6.3 years.

Managerment’s strategy for NHS is to self-fund the business through its growth phase, building value within the customer base. This way,
NHS will not require significant cash from Just Energy’s core operaticns nor will Just Energy rely on NHS's cash flow to fund dividends. The
resuft will be an asset, which will generate strong cash returns following repayment of the HTC financing. The embedded gross margin
within the NHS contracts grew 18% to $465.7 million during the quarter, up from $393.0 million as at March 31, 2012. NHS also realized a
margin of $8.5 million during the guarter in additicn te the growth in embedded gross margin.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the three months ended June 30, 2012, NHS had gross margin of 38.5 million, an increase of 36% from $6.2 million reported in the
prior comparable quarter. The increase in sales was slightly higher than the 34% increase in the number of units installed quarter over
guarter due to the fact that revenue associated with furnace and air conditioner installations is approximately 2.4 times that of a water
heater unit. Administrative costs, which relate primarily to administrative staff compensation and warehouse expenses were $3.8 million for
the three months ended lune 30, 2012, an increase of 32% quarter over guarter due to business growth.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Adjusted EBITDA for the Home Services division for the first quarter of fiscal 2013 amounted to $6.2 million, an increase of 32% from
$4.5 million in the prior comparable quarter. This increase is attributable to the increase in gross margin asscciated with the 34% increase in
installed customer base in comparison with a year prior.

Finance costs amounted to $3.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012, an increase frem $2.2 million expensed during the first
quarter of fiscal 2G12. NHS financing as at June 30, 2012, was $160.0 million, an increase of 9% from a year prior.

Other divisions (Network Marketing and Solar)
Adjusted EBITDA generated by Just Energy’s cther divisions amounted to $7.3 million, an increase from $(0.8) million in the prior
comparable guarter. The increase over the prior comparable guarter is primarily due to the growth in the network marketing division.

NETWORK MARKETING (MOMENTIS})

Gross margin for the three months ended June 30, 2012, amounted to $7.6 million, an increase from $C.4 million in the prior comparable
quarter. The grass margin relates to revenue generated by initial registration fees paid by new independent representatives as well as
revenue generated by the sale of third party products less the related cost of sales. During the quarter, an additional 18,200 independent
representatives joined Mcmentis bringing the total to 66,000. Momentis had approximately 5,000 representatives a year ago.

Selling and marketing expenses amounted to $16.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012, representing the initial cost of
building the network marketing division. The costs are recognized immediately although the gross margin will not be recognized until
future periods. These costs are added back as marketing expenses to add gross margin in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA.

SOLAR {HES)

Gross margin generated by the Solar division is not yet material as there are currently only a small number of projects that were completed
as of June 30, 2012, However, as at June 30, 2012, the divisicn has made commitments of $108.0 million, with project statuses ranging
from contracted to completed. On August 1, 2012, HES entered into a separate non-recourse US$30 million credit agreement with
Macguarie Bank Limited. Advances under the credit facility will be used to assist with the construction of solar projects. The credit facility
has a two-year term, under which advances will be made in connection with interconnacted solar projects located in the United States.

Overall consolidated results

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
For the three months ended June 30, 2012, administrative expenses were $36.1 million, an increase of 28% from $28.3 million in the prior
comparabie quarter.

Three months  Three months

ended ended % increase

June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 (decrease)

Energy marketing $ 27905 % 21,451 30%
NHS 3,792 2,863 32%
TGF 2,266 2,765 (18)%
Cther 2,141 1,205 78%
Total administrative expenses $ 36104 § 28284 28%

Energy marketing administrative costs were $27.9 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2013, an increase of 30% from $21.5 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2011. This increase is primarily attributable to the inclusion of $3.5 million in administrative costs added with
the Fulcrum acquisition. Management did not anticipate any material synergies to be gained from the Fulcrum acquisition with respect to
the administrative expenses. Excluding the Fulcrum-related costs, administrative expenses amounted to $24.4 million, a 14% increase
guarter over guarter due to the expansion in the energy marketing customer base as well as the cost associated with the establishment of a
U.K. gperations and marketing office.

The administrative expenses for NHS and Other {network marketing and solar divisions) were $3.8 million and $2.1 milltion, respectively,
both reflecting an increase from the prior comparable period &s a result of the substantial growth in operations during the past year. The
administrative expenses for TGF decreased as a result of a reallocation to cost of sales.
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SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Selling and marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors, brokers and independent
representatives as well as sales-related corparate costs, were $58.6 million, an increase of 69% from $34.6 million in the first quarter of
fiscal 2012. Excluding the $16.0 million of costs associated with the expansion of Momentis, selling and marketing expenses increased by
23% tc $42.6 million. New customers signed by the sales force totalled 338,000 during the first quarter of fiscal 2013, an increase of 49%
comparad to 227,000 customers added through our sales channels in the prior comparable quarter. The increase in selling and marketing
costs was lass than the increase in customers due to the large component of commercial customers added. Commissions per RCE for
commercial customers are lower than those of consumer customers.

Commissions refated to obtaining and renewing broker commaercial contracts are paid all or partially upfront or as residual payments over
the life of the contract. If the commission is paid ail or partially ugfront, the amortization is included in seliing and marketing expenses as
the associated revenue is earned. If the commission is paid as a residual payment, the amount is expensed as earned. Of the current total
commercial customer base, approximately 8% are commercial braker customers and approximately 62% of these commercial brokers are
being paid recurring residual payments. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, $3.8 million in commission-related expenses was
capitatized to contract initiation costs. Of the capitalized commissions, $1.1 million represents commissions paid to maintain gross margin
and therefore is included in the maintenance capital deducted in the Adjustad EBITDA calculation.

Selling and marketing expenses to maintain embedded gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of gross margin lost from attrition as
compared to the gross margin signed from new and renewed custormers during the quarter. Selling and marketing expenses to maintain gross
margin were $25.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012, an increase of 22% from $20.6 million for the first quarter in fiscal 2012 as
a result of significantly higher renewals and associated costs offset by the lower commission assodiated with the commaercial customer additions.

Selling and marketing expenses to add new gross margin calculates the pertion of costs that were required to create the increase in embedded
gross margin during the period. This measure increased $111.4 million in the guarter. Expenditures from home services, energy marketing and
network marketing resulted in this net growth after the replacement of all margin lost to attrition and failed to renew contracts. Selling and

marketing expenses to add new grass margin in the three months ended June 30, 2012, totalled $30.1 millian, of which $16.0 million related
ta the building of the netwaork marketing division. In the pricr comparable quarter, $10.1 miliion was spent to increase embedded gross margin.

In contrast to door-to-door marketing, there is an initial cost of building the Momentis channel as a result of the expansion of an
independent representative base that will contribute to the number of customers on a go forward basis. This cost is expensed immadiately,
with the margin for customer aggregaticn recognized cver future periods. The customers signed by independent representatives are not
customers that wouid normally have been signed by the traditional door-to-door marketing channel and typically experiance lower attrition
and better renewal rates. It is expected that this division will become a significant cash flow generator in future periods.

Selling and marketing expenses included in Base EBITDA exciude amortization related to the contract initiation costs for Hudson, Fulcrum
and NHS, For the three months ended June 30, 2012, the amortization amounted to $3.3 million, a decrease of 14% fram $3.9 million
reported in the prior comparable period.

The aggregation costs per customer for the three months ended June 30, 2012, for residential and commercial customers signed by
independent representatives and commercial customers signed by brokers were as follows:

Commercial
Residential Commercial broker
customers customers customers
Natural gas
Canada $ 257RCE $ 9O/RCE § 31/RCE
United States $ 202RCE $ MN3/RCE § 36/RCE
Electricity
Canada $ 237RCE $ 148RCE § 34/RCE
United States $ 126/RCE % B2RCE § 32/RCE
Total aggregation costs $ 188RCE § M15RCE § 32/RCE

The $32/RCE average aggregation cost for the commercial broker customers is based on the expected average annual cost for the respective
customer contracts. It should be noted that commercial broker contracts are paid further cammissions averaging $32/RCE per year for each
additional year that the customer flows. Assuming an average life of 2.8 years, this weuld add approximately $58 (1.8 x $32/RCE) to the
quarter's $32/RCE average aggregation cost for commercial broker customers reported abeve. For the prior comparable year, total aggregation
costs per residential, commercial and commercial brokers were $215/RCE, $137/RCE and $35/RCE, respectively, with a combined cost

of $107/RCE.
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BAD DEBT EXPENSE

In NMinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, California, Massachusetts, Michigan and Georgia, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with
the collection of customer accounts. In addition, for commercial direct-billed accounts in British Calumbia, New York and Ontario, Just
Energy is responsible for the bad debt risk. NHS has also assumed credit risk for customer account collection for certain territories within
Ontario. Credit review processes have been established to manage the customer default rate. Management factors default from credit risk
into its margin expectations for all of the above-noted markets. During the three menths ended June 30, 2012, Just Energy was exposed to
the risk of bad delst on approximately 51% of its sales.

Bad debt axpense is included in the consolidated income statement under other cperating expenses. Bad debt expense for the three
months ended June 30, 2012, was $3.6 million, an increase of 27% from $6.8 million expensed for the pricr quarter ended June 30, 2017,
The bad debt expense increase was a result of a 37% increase in total revenues for the current year for the markets where Just Energy bears
the credit risk, including the additional revenue earned in Texas from the customers acquired from Fulcrum. Management integrates its
default rate for bad debts within its margin targets and continuously reviews and moniters the credit approval process to mitigate customer
delinquency. For the three months ended June 3C, 2012, the bad debt expense of $8.6 millicn represents 2.6% of relevant revenue, lower
than the bad debt for the comparable quarter in fiscal 2012, which represented 2.8% of relevant revenue.

Management expects that bad debt expense will remain in the range of 2% to 3% of relevant revenue. For each of Just Energy’s other
markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debt owing from Just Energy’s customers for a regulated fee.

FINANCE COSTS

Total finance costs for the three months ended June 30, 2012, amounted to $17.9 million, an increase of 30% from $13.8 million recorded
in the first quarter of fiscal 2012. The increase is a result of interest associated with the $100m convertitle shares issued to fund the
Fulcrum acquisition in September 2011 as well as higher interest costs for the credit facility and NHS financing.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Just Energy has an exposure to U.S. dollar exchange rates as a resuit of its U.S. cperations and any changes in the applicable exchange rate
may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income, For the three months ended June 30, 2012, a foreign exchange
unrealized gain of $3.1 million was reported in other comprehensive income versus a loss of $3.7 million in the prior comparable quarter.

Overall, a weaker 1.5, dollar decreases the value of sales and gross margin in Canadian dollars but this is partially offset by lower operating
costs denominated in U.S. dollars. Just Energy retains sufficient funds in the U.S. tc suppert ongoing growth and surplus cash is repatriated
to Canada. U.S. cross border cash flow is forecasted annually, and hedges for cross border cash flow are placed. Just Energy hedges
between 25% and 90% of the next 12 months’ cross border cash flows depending on the level of certainty of the cash flow.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX

For the three months ended June 30

(thcusands of dollars)
June 30, 2012 lune 30, 2011

Current income tax expense {recovery) 4 257 % (2,238)
Deferred tax expense 32,440 2,459
Provision for income tax $ 32697 3§ 7,221

Just £nergy recorded a current income tax expense of $0.3 million for the first three months of this fiscal year versus a $2.2 million recovery
in the same period of fiscal 2012. The increase in current tax expense is mainly due to lower U.S. income tax racovery recorded in this
quarter than in the same period of the pricr fiscal year.

During the first three months of this fiscal year, the cumulative mark to market losses from financial instruments further declined as a resuit
of a change in fair value of these derivative instruments during this period and, as a result, a deferred tax expense of $32.4 million has been
recorded for the current period. During the first guarter of fiscal 2012, the comparabie deferred tax expense was $3.5 million.

After the Canversion on January 1, 2011, Just Energy has been taxed as a taxable Canadian corperation. Therefore, the deferred tax asset
or liability associated with Canadian liabilities and assets recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as at that date will be realized over
timea 2s the temporary differences between the carrying value of assets in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax
bases are realized. Current Canadian income taxes are accrued to the extent that there is taxable income in Just Energy and its underlying
corporations. Canadian corporations under Just Energy are subject to a tax rate of approximately 26% after the Conversicn.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Under IFRS, Just Energy recognized income tax liabilities and assats based on the estimated tax conseguences attributable to the temporary
differences between the carrying value of the assets and liabilities on tha consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases,
using substantively enacted income tax rates. A deferred tax asset will not be recognized If it is not anticipated that the asset will be realized
in the foreseeable future. The effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating deferred income tax liabilities and assets is
recognized in income during the period in which the change occurs.

Liquidity and capital resources
SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS

For the three months ended June 30

(thousands of doflars)

Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
Operating activities $ 23,109 § 15694
Investing activities (34,852) (22,538)
Financing activities, excluding dividends/distributions 61,451 19,174
Effect of foreign currency translation (85) 342
increase in cash before dividends/distributions 49,623 12,672
Dividends/distributicns (cash payments) (44,348) (34,897}
Increase (decrease) in cash 5,275 (22,225)
Cash and cash eguivalents — beginning of period 53,220 97,633
Cash and cash eguivalents — end of period $ 58495 § 75408

QPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash flow from operating activities for the period ended June 30, 2012, was $23.1 million, an increase from $15.7 million in the prior
comparable period. Cash flow from operations increased as a result of changes in non-cash working capital and increased gross margin and
was offset by higher selling and marketing and administrative expenses.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Just Energy purchased capital assets totalling $24.3 million during the period, an increase from $11.6 million in the prior comparable
period. Just Energy’s capital spending related primarily to the installations for the Home Services and Solar divisions. Contract initiation costs
increased by $8.2 million during the guarter, an increase frem $6.9 million in the prior comparable quarter.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Financing activities, excluding dividends/distributions, relates primarily to the issuance and repayment of long-term debt. During the three
months ended June 30, 2012, $65.2 million in long-term debt was issued primarily to fund capital investments made by the Home Services
and Solar divisions. Long-term debt amounting to $8.7 million was repaid during the period. In the comparable quarter, $68.9 million was
issued in long-term debt relating to the credit facility and NHS financing with $53.7 million being repaid.

As of June 30, 2012, Just Energy had a credit facility of $350 million expiring on December 31, 2013. As Just Energy continues to expand in
the U.S. markets, the need to fund working capital and collateral posting requirements will increase, driven primarily by the nurmber of
customers aggregated, and to a lesser extent, by the number of new markets. Based on the markets in which Just Energy currently operates
and others that management expects the Company to enter, funding requirements will be fully supported through the credit facility.

Just Energy’s liquidity requirements are driven primarily by the delay from the time that a customer contract is signed until cash flow is
generated. For consumer customers, approximately 60% of an independent sales contractor’s commissicn payment is made fellowing
reaffirmaticn or verbal verification of the customer contract, with most of the remaining 40% being paid after the energy commaodity
begins flowing to the customer. For caommercial customers, commissions are paid either as the energy commodity flows throughout the
contract or partially upfront once the customer begins to flow.

The efapsed period betwean the time a customer is signed to when the first payment is received frem the customer varies with each
market. The time delays per market are approximately two 1o nine months. These periods reflect the time required by the various LDCs to
enroll, flow the commaodity, bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy. In Alberta and Texas, Just Energy receives payment
directly from the customer.

DWIDENDS/DISTRIBUTIONS (CASH PAYMENTS)

puring the three months ended June 20, 2012, Just Energy paid dividends/distributions to its shareholders and holders of restricted share
grants and deferred share grants in the amount of $44.3 million, compared te $34.9 million in the prior comparable quarter. For the three
months ended June 30, 2011, $8.7 million of the dividends wera paid in shares under the dividend reinvastment plan ("DRIP“). The DRIP was
suspended as of February 1, 2012, with the approval of the normal course issuer bid, and remained suspended as at June 30, 2012.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSICN AND ANALYSIS

Just Energy maintains its annual dividend rate at $1.24 per share. The current dividend policy provides that shareholders of record on the 15th
day of each month or the first business day thereafter receive dividends at the end of the month. Investors should note that in the past, due to
the DRIP, a porticn of dividends {and prior to January 1, 2011, distributions) declared are not paid in cash. Under the program, shareholders
could have elecied to receive their dividends in shares at a 2% discount to the prevailing market price rather than the cash equivalent.

Just Energy will continue to utilize its cash rescurces for expansion into new markets and grow its existing energy marketing customer base,
JustGreen and JustClean praducts, and Sofar and Home Services divisions, and make accretive acquisitions of customears as well as pay
dividends to its shareholders.

Balance sheet as at June 30, 2012, compared to March 31, 2012

Cash increased from $53.2 million as at March 31, 2012, to $58.5 million. The utilization of the credit Tacility increasad from $98.5 million
to $144.1 million. The increase in the utilization of the credit facility is a result of the funding requirements of the Solar and Networking
Marketing divisions as well as the normal seasonal working requirements of the Energy Marketing division.

As at June 30, 2012, trade receivables and unbilled revenue amounted to $268.8 million and $125.4 million, respectively, compared to
March 31, 2012, when the trade receivables and unbilled revenue amounted to $299.9 million and $130.8 million, respectively. The
decrease is related to the seascnality of energy marketing, with consumpticn being higher during January through March as opposed to
April through June. Trade payables have increased slightly from $287.1 million to $287.6 millien in the quarter.

As at June 30, 2012, Just Energy had dealivered more gas to the LDCs than had heen consumed by customers in Ontaric, Manitoba, Quebec
and Michigan, resulting in gas delivered in excess of consumption and deferred revenue of $42.5 million and $42.0 million, respectively.
This build-up of inventory at the LDCs has been impacted by the consumption being lower than expected with the much warmer than
normal temperatures experienced in the winter months. At March 31, 2012, Just Energy had gas delivered in excess of consumption and
deferred revenue amounting to $12.8 milion and $12.0 million, respectively. in addition, gas in storage increased from $11.5 million as at
March 31, 2012, to $30.8 million as at June 30, 2012, due to seasonal lower consumption as well as lowar consumptian from the mild
winter temperatures.

Cther assets and other liahilities relate entirely to the fair value of the financial derivatives. The mark to market gains and losses can result
in significant changes in profit and, accordingly, shareholders’ equity from vear to year due to commaodity price volatility. Given that

Just Energy has purchased this supply to cover future customer usage at fixed prices, managemant believes that these non-cash quarterly
changes are not meaningful.

Intangible assets include the goodwill and acquired customer contracts, as well as other intangibles such as brand, broker network and
information technology systems, primarily related to the Hudson, Fulcrum ang Universal purchases. The total intangible asset balance
decreased to $516.3 million, from $543.8 millicn as at March 31, 2012, as a result of amortization.

Long-term debt (excluding the current peortion) has increased from $679.1 million to $737.3 million in the three months ended June 30,
2012, primarily as a result of the increase in borrowings on the credit facility and additional funding related to NHS financing.

Shareholders’ equity remains in a deficit position of $1.4 billion, lower than the deficit of $1.7 billion at March 31, 2012. Just Energy's profit
includes an amount relating to the change in fair value of derivative instruments. Under IFRS, the customer margins are not marked to
market but there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized non-cash gains or (losses}
depending upen current supply pricing. During the year ended March 31, 2009, lust Energy commenced full reparting of mark to market
impact and recorded an unrealized non-cash loss on the change in fair value of derivative instruments of $1.3 billion. Since then, the
change in fair value of derivative instruments has fluctuated from year to year, with the gains experienced to date not yet fully offsetting the
$1.3 billion loss in fiscal 2009.

Long-term debt and financing
{thousands of doflars)

As at As at

June 30, March 31,

2012 2012

Just Energy credit facility $ 144,097 § 98,455
TGF credit facility 30,888 32,046
TGF debentures 35,707 35,818
NHS financing 159,965 147,220
$90m convertible debenturas 86,469 86,101
$330m convertible debentures 293,379 291,937
$100m convertible debentures 86,295 85,87%




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUST ENERGY CREDIT FACILITY

Just Energy holds a $350 million credit facility to meet working capital requirements, The syndicate of lenders includes Canadian Imperial
Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Société Générale, The Bank of Nova Scotia, Toronto Dominion Bank
znd Alberta Treasury Branches. Under the terms of the credit facility, Just Energy was able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and LIBOR
advances at stamping fees that vary between 2.88% and 3.65%, prime rate advances at rates of interest that vary between bank prime
plus 1.88% and 2.65%, and letters of credit at rates that vary between 2.88% and 3.65%. Interest rates are adjusted quarterly based on
certain financial performance indicators.

Just Energy’s obligations under the credit facility are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates, excluding among others,
TGF and NHS, and secured by a pledge of the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy
is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. The credit facility agreement was amended,
pursuant to which certain covenants were renegotiated fo facilitate the growth of the business. As at June 30, 2012, all of the covenants
had been met. Subsequent to June 30, 2012, the credit facility was increased by $20 million to $370 million.

TGF CREDIT FACILITY

A credit facllity of up to $50 million was established with a syndicate of Canadian ienders led by Conexus Credit Union and was arranged to
finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, and was converted to a fixed repayment
term of ten years, commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a prime rate plus 3% with principal repayments that
commenced on March 1, 2010. The credit facility is secured by & demand debenture agreement, a first priority security charge on all assets
and undertakings of TGF, a mortgage on title to the fand cwned by TGF and a general security interest cn all other current and acquired
assets of TGF. The credit facility includes certain financial covenants, the most significant of which refate to current ratio, debt to equity
ratio, debt service coverage and minimum sharehalders’ capital. The covenants were measured as of March 31, 2012, and TGF failed to
meet &ll required covenants. The non-compliance was waived by the ienders but did result in a non-compliance fee of $0.08 million,
representing 0.25% of the loan balance as of March 31, 2012. The covenants will be re-measured at March 31, 2013,

TGF DEBENTURES

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40 million aggregate principal
amount cf debentures was entered intc in 2006. On April 1, 2011, the interest rate was increased to 12%. The agreement includes certain
financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capitalization ratio, debt service coverage, debt to EBITDA
and minimum shareholders” eguity. Compliance with the new covenants has been extended to May 15, 2014, with a call right any time
after April 1, 2013. On March 31, 2012, TGF agreed with the debenture holders to increase the quarterly blended payments 1o $1.2 million.
TGF afso agreed to make an additional debt repayment after March 31, 2012, if the cash flow from operations exceeds $0.5 million for
fiscal 2013, provided that this type of payment will not create a nen-compliance issue for the corporation under the TGF credit facility.

NHS FINANCING

NHS has entered into a long-term financing agreement with HTC for the funding of new and existing rental water heater, furnace and air
conditioner contracts. Pursuant to the agreement, NHS will recgive financing of an amount equal to the net present value of the first five,
seven or ten years (at its option) of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon financing rate of 7.89%, and is required to remit
an amount eguivalent to the rental stream from customers on the water heater and air conditioner and furnace contracts for the first five,
seven or ten years, respectively. Under the agreement, up tc one-third of rental agreements may be financed for each of the seven- or ten-
year terms. As at June 30, 2012, the average term of the HTC funding was 6.3 years.

The financing agreement is subject tc a heldback provisicn, whereby 3% in the Enbridge Gas distribution territory and 5% in the Union Gas
distribution territory of the outstanding balance of the funded amount is deducted and deposited to a reserve account in the event of
default. Once all of the obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be released
to NHS. HTC holds security aver the contracts and equipment it has financed. NHS is required to meet a number of nan-financial covenants
under the agreement and, as at June 30, 2012, afl of these covenants had been met.

$90M CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

In conjunction with the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009, Just Energy assumed the obligations of the convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures issued by Universal in October 2007, which have a face value of $90 million. The fair value of the convertible
debenture was estimated by discounting the remaining contractual payments at the time of acquisition. This discount will be accreted using
an effective interest rate of 8%, These instruments mature on September 30, 2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at
an annual rate of 6%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 of each year. As at june 30, 2012, each $1,000 princigal
amount cf the $90m convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the opticn
of the holder, intc approximately 34.96 Just Energy common shares, representing a conversion price of $28.60 per share. Pursuant tc the
$90m conwvertible debentures, if just Energy fixes & record date for the payment of a dividend on fts shares, the conversion price shall be
adjusted in accordance therewith.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSICN AND ANALYSIS

On and after October 1, 2010, but pricr to September 30, 2012, the $30m convertible debentures are redeemable, in whele or in part, at a
price equal to the principal amcunt thereof, pius accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s sole option an not more than 60 days’ and
not fess than 30 days’ prior natice, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redempticn is given is not less
than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30, 2012, but prior to the maturity date, the $90m convertible debentures are
redeemable, in whale or in part, at a price equat to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s sole
option on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice.

$330M CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

To fund the acguisition of Hudson, Just Energy entered into an agreement with a syndicate of underwriters for $330 million of convertible
extendible unsecured subordinated debentures issued on May 5, 2010. The $330m cenvertible debentures bear an interest rate of £.0%
per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 in each year, with maturity on June 30, 2017, Each $1,000 of
principal amount of the $330m convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redempticn, at
the option of the holder, intc approximately 55.6 shares of Just Energy, representing a conversion price of $18 per share.

The $330m convertible debentures are not redeemable pricr to June 30, 2013, except under certain conditions after a change of control
has occurred. On or after June 30, 2013, but prior to June 30, 2015, the debentures may be redeemed by Just Energy, in whole or in part,
on nct more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ pricr notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than
125% of the conversion price. On or after June 30, 2015, and prior to the maturity date, the debentures may be redeemed by Just Energy,
in whale or in part, at a redemgtion price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

$100M CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

On September 22, 2011, Just Energy issued $100 millicn of convertible unsecured subordinated debentures which were used to purchase
Fulcrum. The $100 million convertible debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 5.75%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and
September 30 in each year, commencing March 31, 2012, and have a maturity date of September 3G, 2018. Each $1,000 principal amount
of the $100 million convertible debentures is convertible at the option of the halder at any time prior to the close of business on the earlier
of the maturity date and the last business day immediately preceding the date fixed far redemption into 56.0 common sharas of Just Energy,
representing a conversion price of $17.85.

The $100 million convertible debentures are not redeemable at the ogtion of the Company on or before September 30, 2014. After
September 30, 2014 and prior 1o September 30, 2016, the $100 million convertible debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part from
time to time at the option of the Company on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a price equal to their
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the weighted average trading price of the comman shares of Just Energy
on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days ending five trading days preceding the date an which the natice of
redemption is given is at least 125% of the conversion price. On or after September 30, 2016, the $100 million convertitle debentures may
be redeemed in whole or in part from time to time at the option of the Company on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’
prior notice, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Contractual obligations
In the normat course of business, Just Energy is obligated to make future payments for contracts and other commitments that are known
and non-canceliable.

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD

(thousands of dollars)

Total Lessthan 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years
Trade and other payables $ 287,585 § 287585 % - % - 3 -
Bank indebtedness 5,963 5,963 - - -
Long-term debt {contractual cash flow} 891,443 99,252 300,304 29,576 462,317
Interest payments 253,619 48,658 85,362 68,152 51,447
Prernises and equipment ieasing 33,444 7,958 11,699 7,259 6,528
Grain production contracts 14,372 14,372 - - -
Long-term gas and electricity contracts 2,588,906 1,310,947 1,086,062 189,737 2,16C

$4,075338 $1,774,735 $1483427 § 294,724 % 522,452




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSIOGN AND ANALYSIS

OTHER QBLIGATIONS

In the opinion of management, Just Energy has no material pending actions, claims or proceedings that have not been included in either
its accrued liabilities or in the consclidated financial statements. In the normal course of business, Just Energy could be subject to certain
cantingent obligations that become payable only if certain events were to occur. The inherent uncertainty surrcunding the timing and
financial impact of any events prevents any meaningful measurement, which is necessary to assess any material impact on future liquidity.
Such obligations include potential judgments, settlements, fines and other penalties resulting from actions, claims or proceedings.

Transactions with related parties
Just Energy does not have any material transactions with any individuals or companies that are not considered independant of Just Energy
or any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates.

Critical accounting estimates

The consolidated financial statements of Just Energy have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Certain accounting policies require
management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost of sales, selling and
marketing, and administrative expenses. Estimates are based on historical experience, current information and various other assumptions
that are believed to be regsonable under the dircumstances. The emergence of new information and changed circumstances may result in
actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates.

The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. Just Energy might realize different results frem the
applicaticn of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making bodies.

ACCRUED GAS RECEIVABLE/ACCRUED GAS PAYABLE

Accrued gas receivable results when custemers consume mere gas than has been delivered by Just Energy to the LDCs. These estimates

are stated at net realizable value. Accrued gas payable represents just Erergy’s obligation to the LDC with respect to gas consumed by
customers in excess cf that delivered and valued at net realizable vaive. This estimate is required for the gas business unit only, since
electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery, Management uses the current average customer contract price and the current average
supply cost as a basis fer the valuation.

GAS DELIVERED IN EXCESS OF CONSUMPTION/DEFERRED REVENUES

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections from LDCs
in advance of their consumption results in deferred revenues, which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas
business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average custcmer contract price
and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation,

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collaction of all customers’ accounts in Alberta, lllinois, Texas, Pennsylvania,
California, Massachusetts, Michigan and Georgia. In addition, for large direct-billed accounts in British Columbia, New York and Ontario,
Just Energy is responsible for the bad debt risk. NHS has alsc assumed credit risk for customer accounts within certain territories in Cntario.
Management estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts in these markets based on the financial conditicns of each jurisdiction, the
aging of the receivables, customer and industry concentrations, the current business environment and historical experience.

GOODWILL

In assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Just Energy’s future cash flow. If the estimates
change in the future, Just Energy may be required to record impairment chargeas related to goodwill. An imgairment review of goodwill was
performed as at March 31, 2012, and as a result of the review, it was determined that no impairment of goodwill existed.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments and risk management

Just Energy has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments as part of the business of purchasing and selling gas, electricity and
JustGreen supply. Just Energy enters into contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices and provide comfort to
certain customers that a specified amount of energy will be derived from green generation or carbon destruction. These customer contracts
expose Just Energy to changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity market price
changes, Just Energy uses derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixed-price commodity supply to cover its estimated fixed-
price delivery or green commitment.

Just Energy’s objective is to minimize commodity risk, other than consumption changes, usually attributable to weather. Accordingly, it is
Just Energy’s policy to hedge the estimated fixed-price requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of natural gas and electricity at
fixed prices for terms equal tc those of the customer contracts. The cash flow from these supply contracts is expected to be effective in
offsetting Just Energy’s price exposure and serves to fix acguisition costs of gas and electricity to be delivered under the fixed-price or price-
protected customer contracts. Just Enargy’s policy is not to use derivative instruments for speculative purposes.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Just Energy’s U.5. operations introduce foreign exchange-related risks. Just Energy enters into foreign exchange forwards in crder to hadge
its exposure to fluctuations in cross border cash flows.

The consolidated financial statements are in compliance with 1AS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation; IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recogniticn and Measurement; and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosure. Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy ceased the utilization of
hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes on Just Energy’s derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the
consolidated income statement. Due to the commodity volatility and size of Just Energy, the guarterly swings in mark tc market on these
positions will increase the volatility in Just Energy’s earnings.

Just Energy common shares
As at August 9, 2012, there were 139,378,283 common shares of Just Energy outstanding.

Normal course issuer bid

During fiscal 2012, Just Energy announced that it had received approval to make a normal course issuer bid to purchase for cancellation up
to 13,200,917 of its common shares, approximately 10% of the public float, during a 12-month pericd commencing December 16, 2011
and ending December 15, 2012. A maximum of 82,430 shares, approximately 25% of the average daily trading volume, may be purchased
on any trading day. As at June 30, 2012, just Energy purchased and cancelled 84,100 shares at an average price of $11.36 for total cash
consideration of $1.0 million. There were no additional shares purchased for cancellation during the three months ended June 30, 2012.

Legal proceedings

Just Energy’s subsidiaries are party to a number of legal proceedings. Other than as set out below, Just Energy believes that each proceeding
censtitutes a routine legal matter incidental to the business conducted by Just Energy and that the ultimate dispositicn of the proceedings
will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated earnings, cash flows or financial position.

The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC ™) against many suppliers of
electricity, including Commerce Energy Inc. {"CEI"), a subsidiary of Just Energy, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy crisis in
California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC's enforcement of its market-based rate system. Although
CEl did nct own generation facilities, the State of Calffornia is claiming that CEl was unjustly enriched by the run-up in charges caused by the
alleged market manipulation of other market particicants. On March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge in the matter granted a motion
to strike the claim for all parties in one of the complaints, holding that California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation
of market power. California has appealed the decision. Cn June 13, 2012, the FERC denied the plaintiff's request for a rehearing, affirming its
initial decision. The California party still has the ahility to appeal to the United States Courts for the Ninth Circuit. CEl continues to vigorcusly
contest this matter, which is not expected to have a material impact on the financial condition of the Company.

Controls and procedures

At June 30, 2012, the Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO") of the Company, along with the assistance of
senior management, have designed disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to
Just Energy is made known to the CEQ and CFO, and have designed internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial staternents in accordance with IFRS.

Except for the limitation on scope of design as noted below, during the three months ended June 30, 2012, there was no change in Just
Energy’s internal controls over financial reperting that occurred that have significantly affectad, or are reasonably likely to significantly
affect, the Company's internal controls over financial reperting.

LIMITATION ON SCOPE OF DESIGN

Section 3.3(1) of National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings, states that the Company may
limit its design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reperting for a business that it acquired not more
than 365 days before the end of the financial period to which the certificate relates. Under this section, the Company’s CEO and CFO have
limited the scope of the design, and subsequent evaluation, of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial
reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of Fulcrum, acquired effective October 1, 2011.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Summary finandial informaticn pertaining to the Fulcrum acquisition that was included in the consclidated financial statements of Just Energy
as at June 30, 2012, is as follows:

{in thousands of dollars)

Total
Sales! $ 79,347
Profit for the period! 20,302
Current assets 35,038
Non-current assets 101,806
Current liabilities 33,583
Non-current liabilities 733

T Far the threz months ended June 30, 2012, prefit includes the non-cash mark to market gain on financial instruments.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

lust Energy is committed to transparancy in our operations and our approach to governance meets all recommended standards. Full
disclosure of our comgliance with existing corporate governance rules is available on our website at www justenergygroup.com and is
included in Just Energy’s May 18, 2012 Management Proxy Circular. Just Energy actively monitors the corporate governance and disclosure
environment to ensure timely compliance with current and future requirements.

Outlook

The first quarter of fiscal 2013 was a period which saw the impact of past diversification and growth expenditures resulting in double-digit
growth, ahead of the pace necessary to meet the Company’s published growth guidance. In providing the Company guidance, it was
indicated that Just Energy would have to have customer growth greater than 10% in fiscal 2013 in order to meet growth guidance. At the
end of the first quarter, the customer base is up 18% year aver year and grew by & net 3% in the quarter. While the first quarter is seascnally
the slowest quarter for sales and margin, resuits to date are entirely consistent with meeting or exceeding published growth guidance.

The major uses of cash from operations at Just Energy are expenditures for future growth and dividends. During the quarter, the dividend
was maintained at $1.24 per share. One result of growth investments was an increase in embedded gross margin within the Company’s
contracts. This measure of future value grew to $2.1 billion in the quarter, up 20% year over year and up 6% in the quarter. This growth is
the direct result of Just Energy’s growth investments.

The quarter reflected a number of these investments in diversification and future growth. The Momentis network saw its independent
representative force grow to 86,000, up 18,200 in the quarter and up from 5,000 one year ago. This investment has generated some
revanue i the pericd but the true potential of Momentis is expected to be seen in guarters to come.

Funds committed to solar installations similarly are subject to leng-term contracts and will generate their returns on completion of
instaliation. On August 1, 2012, Just Energy entered into an agreement with Macguarie Bank Limited to provide non-recourse debt
financing of US$30 million for solar projects generated by our Hudson Energy Solar division.

The Company also invested in the establishment of a commercial operations and marketing office in the U.K., Just Energy’s first entry into
Europe. On July 23, 2012, lust Energy announced the commencerment of sales from this cffice.

Each of these invastments will contribute to continued growth in future periods.

The core energy marketing business had strong results which are expected to be a trend the Company will maintain going forward.
Customer growth was seen in both the Consumer division {additicns up 105% year over year) and Commerciai division {additions ug

19% year over year). The resurgence of residential additions is important as these are higher margin customers. Attrition rates were
effectively unchanged at 14% for the rolling 12 months. Renewal rates increased up to 74% for the rolling 12 months, ug from 6% a year
earlier, This is largely due to high renewals of commercial contracts for which renewal is often dependent on competitive bids. As such,
renewal rates will be more volatile as the commercial segment continues to grow. Subsequent to the quarter end, New York City Housing
Authority's natural gas contract expired and was not renewed following competitive bids. The contract totalled approximately 75,000

RCEs (2% of the Company’s total); however, the contract represented less than 0.2% of the energy marketing business's gross margin.
Management believes that the loss of this contract will have no meaningful effact on future results.
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Growth at NHS remained steady with substantial embedded value created in the business over the year. The installation base grew by 34% to
177,000. Gross margin was up by 36% reflecting both growth and higher margin furnace and air canditioner unit installations. The best
measure of the success of NHS is the growth of embedded gross margin within customer contracts. Over the year, embadded margin grew to
$455.7 million, up $72.7 million (18%) in the quarter. NHS continues testing its products for geographic expansion outside Ontario. While the
rate of growth is expected to siow on the more substantial customer base, the impact of new markets is expected to be positive over the
coming years.

Take-up on Just Energy’s green offerings was 29% of new consumer customers taking 81% of their consumption in green supply.
JustGreen makes up 12% of the Censumer division electricity portfolio, up from 10% a year earlier. Eleven percent of the Consumer
division gas portfolio is green, up from 9% in fiscal 2011. Management believes that there is a certain percentage of the public that will
zlways elect green and that any increase in underlying “brown™ electricity or gas will result in a return to traditional take-up levels,

The Company continues to actively monitor possible acquisition opportunities within its current business segments.

just Energy has partnered on a power-purchase-agreement basis with a number of green energy projects and plans to enter into more such
partnerships concentrated in jurisdictions where the Company has an established customer base. Just Energy continues to monitor the
progress of the deregulated markets in various jurisdictions, which may create the oppoertunity for further geographic expansion.

Just Energy believes it is impartant to promote the sale of several products to the current customer, adding operating leverage and business
efficiency. Energy use contrels through thermostats and commodity cpportunities surrounding the growth of use of the electric car are also
important developments which witl have an impact on the energy marketing business in the future. Just Energy Is reviewing opportunities
and developing products in order to be a major participant in these market segments.



Interim consolidated statements
of financial position

As at
(unaudited in thousands of Canadian dolfars)

June 30, March 31,
Notes 2012 2012
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and eguipment $ 311,864 § 291,061
Intangible assets 516,255 543,775
Contract initiation costs 49,794 44,225
Other non-current financial assets 7 31,185 15,315
Non-current receivables 7,295 6,475
Deferred tax asset 50,783 78,398
967,176 979,249
Current assets
Inventory 8,908 9,988
Gas delivered in excess of consumption 42,467 12,844
Gas in storage 30,801 11,453
Current trade and other receivables 268,804 269,945
Accrued gas receivables 1,758 2,875
Unbilled revenues 125,364 130,796
Prepaid expenses and deposits 9,828 9,451
Other current assets 7 48,647 12,799
Corporate tax recoverable 8,885 8,225
Restricted cash 12,426 12,199
Cash and cash equivalents 58,495 53,220
616,383 563,795
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,583,559 §1,543,044
DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES
Deficit attributable to equity holders of the parent
Deficit $(1,368,106} $(1,652,188)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 8 64,078 70,293
Shareholders’ capital g 993,623 993,181
Equity compenent of convertible debenture 25,795 25,795
Contributed surplus 64,980 62,147
Shareholders’ deficit (219,630) (500,772}
Non-controlling interest {465} (637)
TOTAL DEFICIT (220,095) (501,409
Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt 10 737,336 679,072
Provisions ERRD 3,068
Deferred lease inducements 1,810 1,778
Other non-current financial liabilities 7 209,381 309,617
Deferred tax liability 8,467 6,073
960,105 999,608
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness 5,963 1,060
Trade and other payables 287,585 287,145
Accrued gas payable 1,621 2,960
Deferred revenue 41,954 11,985
Income taxes payable 4,046 4,814
Current portion of long-term debt 10 99,252 97,611
Provisions: 3,296 3,226
Other current financial liabilities 7 399,832 636,044
843,549 1,044,845
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,803,654 2,044,453
TOTAL DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES $ 1,583,559 §1,543.044

Commitments (Note 16)

See accompanying notes to the interim condensed consolidated financial statements
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Interim consolidated statements of income

For the three months ended June 30

{unaudited in thousands of Canadian doliars, except where indicated and per share amounts)

Notes 2012 201
SALES 13§ 646,074 626,200
COST OF SALES 12(b} 531,815 531,939
GROSS MARGIN 114,259 94,261
EXPENSES
Administrative expenses 36,104 28,284
Selling and marketing expenses 58,566 34,554
Other operating expenses 12(a) 35,407 39,140
130,077 101,978
Operating loss {15,818) (7,717}
Finance costs 1¢ (17.880) {13,792)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 7 393,891 79,697
Proportionate share of loss from joint venture 6 {1,159) -
Other income 2,302 165
Income before income taxes 361,336 58,353
Provision for income taxes 1 32,697 7,221
PROFIT FCR THE PERIOD $ 328,639 51,132
Attributable to:
Shareholders of Just Energy $ 328,472 51,132
Non-controlling interest 167 -
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD $ 328,639 51,132
See accompanying notes to the interim condensed consolidated financial statements
Earnings per share 14
Basic $ 2.36 0.37
Diluted $ 1.97 0.35



Interim consolidated statements of
comprehensive income

For the three months ended June 30
(unaudited in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Unrealized gain (loss) on translation of foreign operations

Amgrtization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges,
net of income taxes of $2,289 (2011 - §7,375}

Other comprehensive loss for the period, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Sharehclders of Just Energy
Nen-centrolling interest

Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax

Notes 2012 2011
328,639 § 51,132
8

3,077 (3,745)
(9,292) (13,017
(6,215) (16,762)

322,424 % 34,370

322,257 § 34370

167 -

322424 ¢ 34370

See accompanying notes to the interim condensed consolidated financial statements
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Interim consolidated statements of changes in

shareholders’ deficit

For the three months ended June 30
{unaudited in thousands of Canadfian doflars)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated deficit, beginning of period

Frofit for the period, attributable to the shareholders
Accumulated deficit, end of period

DIVIDENDS

Dividends, beginning of period

Dividends

Dividends, end of period

DEFICIT

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of period
Other comprehensive loss

Accumulated other comprehensive income, end of period

SHAREHOLDERS’ CAPITAL

Shareholders’ capital, beginning of period

Share-based compensation awards exercised

Dividend reinvestment plan

Shareholders’ capital, end of period

EQUITY COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

Balance, beginning of period

Balance, end of period

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

Balance, beginning of period

Add: Share-based compensation awards and
nen-cash deferred share grant distributions

Less: Share-based awards exercised

Balance, end of period

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Balance, beginning cf period

Foreign exchange on non-controlling interest
Profit attributable to non-controlling interest
Balance, end of period

TOTAL DEFICIT

Notes 2012 2011
$ (442,812) $ (315,934)
328,472 51,132
{114,340) (264,802)
{(1,209,376)  (1,033,594)
15 {44,390) (43,605)
{1,253,766)  (1,077,559)
$(1,368,106) $(1,342,401)
8
$ 70,293 $ 123919
(6,215) (16,762)
$ 64078 $ 107157
9

$ 993,181 $ 963,982
442 587
- 8,676
$ 993623 § 973,245
$ 25795 $ 1B,186
25,795 12,186
§ 62147 § 52723
3,275 1,713
(442) (587)
$ 64980 § 53,849

$ (637} §
5 -
167 -

$ (465} §
$ (220,095) § (189,964)

See accompanying notes to the interim condensed consclidated financial statements



Interim consolidated statements of cash flows

For the three months ended June 30
{unaudited in thousands of Canadian doilars)

2012 2011
Net inflow {outflow) of cash related to the following activities
OPERATING
Income hefore income taxes $ 361,336 § 58,353
Items not affecting cash
Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts 21,779 29,304
Amortization of contract initiation costs 3,338 3,871
Amortization of property, plant and equipment 1,756 1,347
Amortization inciuded in cost of sales 3,142 2,903
Share-based compensation 3,232 1,681
Financing charges, non-cash portion 2,502 1,923
Other 18 (85)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments (393,891) (72,697)
{358,124) (38,759)
Adjustment required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales (829) 3,108
Changes in non-cash working capitat 22,330 (4,049)
24,713 18,653
Income tax paid (1,604) {2,959)
Cash inflow from operating activities 23,109 15,694
INVESTING
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (24,328} {11,595}
Purchase of intangible assets (1,542} {1,597}
Release of holdback on acquisition - {2,223)
Advances of long-term receivables (818} (261)
Contract initiation costs (8,164} {6,862)
Cash outflow from investing activities (34,852} {22,538
FINANCING
Dividends paid (44,348} {34,897}
Increase in bank indebtedness 4,903 3,939
Issuance of long-term debt 65,232 68,941
Repayment of long-term debt (8,684) {53,706}
Cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities 17,103 (15,723
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances (85} 342
Net cash inflow (outflow) 5,275 (22,225)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 53,220 97,633
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 58495 § 75408
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 17,700 $ 15600

See accompanying notes to the interim condensed consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the interim condensed
consolidated financial statements

For the three months ended June 30, 2012
{unaudited in thousands of Canadian doflars, except where indicated and per share amounts)

NOTE 1

NOTE 2

NOTE 3
(a)

(b}

ORGANIZATION

Just Energy Group Inc. {"JEGI”, “Just Energy” or the "Company”) is a corporation established under the laws of Canada to
hold securities and to distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Effective
January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed the conversion from an income trust, Just Energy Income Fund (the “Fund”), to a
corporation {the “Conversicn™).

The registered office of Just Energy is First Canadian Place, 100 King Street West, Torante, Ontario, Canada. The interim
condensed consolidated financial statements consist of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The interim condensed
consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on August 9, 2012.

OPERATIONS

Just Energy’s business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under
long-term fixed-price, price-protected or variable-priced contracts. Just Energy markets its gas and electricity contracts in Canada
and the U.S. under the following trade names: Just Energy, Hudson Energy, Commerce Energy, Amiga Energy and Tara Energy.
By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a pericd of up to five
years, Just Energy’s customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Variable rate products
allow customers to maintain competitive rates while retaining the ability to lock inta a fixed price at their discretion. Just Energy
derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between the price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers
and the related price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers.

Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen and JustClean programs. The electricity JustGreen product offers
customers the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run cf the
river hiydro or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits that allow customers to reduce or eliminate the
carbon footprint of their homes or businesses. JustClean products allow customers in certain jurisdictions to offset their carbon
footprint without purchasing commaodity from just Energy. JustClean can be offered in all states and provinces and is not
dependent on energy deregulation. Management believes that the JustGreen and JustClean products will not only add to profits
but will also Increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates.

In addition, Just Energy sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters, air conditioners and furnaces to Cntario
residents, through a subsidiary under the trade name Naticnal Home Services (“NHS"). Just Energy also operates a network
marketing division under the trade name, Momentis. Through its subsidiary, Terra Grain Fuels, Inc, (*“TGF"), Just Energy produces
and sells wheat-based ethanol. Just Energy’s subsidiary, Hudson Energy Solar Corp. {"HES"), and its subsidiaries also provide a
solar project development platform operating in New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts, under the trade name, Hudson
Energy Solar.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 1AS 34, Interim
Financial Reporting, as issued by the international Accounting Standards Board ("1ASB™). Accordingly, certain information and
footnote disdosure normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reperting
Standards (“IFRS"), as issued by the 1ASB, have been omitted or condensed.

Basis of presentation and interim reporting

These unaudited interim condensed censolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with and follow the same
accounting pelicies and methods of application as those used in the audited consclidated financial statements for the years ended
March 21, 2012 and 2011.

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, the functicnal currency of Just Energy,
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand.



(c)

NOTE 4

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The interim operating results are not necessarlly indicative of the results that may be expected for the fuli year ending March 31,
2013, due to seasonal variations resulting in fluctuations in guarterly results. Gas consumption by customers is typically highest in
October through March and lowest i April through September. For the 12 moniths ended June 30, 2012, the gas segment
reported gross margin of $129,681 (2011 - $180,453) and profit of $68,468 (2011 - $180,130). Electricity consumption is
typically highest in January through March and July through September. Electricity consumption is lowest in October through
December and April through June. For the 12 months ended June 30, 2012, the electricity segment reported gross margin of
$338,806 (2011 - $275,792) and profit {loss) of $154,783 (2011 - $(33,680)).

Principles of consolidation

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Just Energy and its directly or indirectly owned
subsidiaries and affiliates as at June 30, 2012. Subsidiaries and affiliates are consolidated from the date of acquisition and control,
and continue to be consalidated until the date that such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries and affiliates
are prepared for the same reporting pericd as Just Energy, using consistent accounting pclicies. All intercompany balances,
income, expenses, and unrealized gains and |osses resulting from intercornpany transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the interim condensed consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions to be
made in applying the accounting policies that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and the
disclesure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and related assumptions are based on previous experience and other factors
considered reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the assumptions about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estirates are recognized in
the pericd in which the estimate is revised. Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant
impact on the interim condensed consclidated financial statements relate to the following:

Impairment of non-financial assets

Just Energy’'s impairment test is based on value-in-use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are
derived from the budget for the next five years and are sensitive to the discount rate used as well as the expected future cash
inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

Deferred taxes
Significant managemant judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can ba recognized, based upon
the likefy timing and the ievel of future taxable income realized, including the usage of tax-planning strategies.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalized when the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and sufficient resources
have been allocated to complete development. Initial capitalization of costs is based on management's judgment that technical
and economical feasibility is confirmed, usually when a project has reached a defined milestone according to an established
project management medei. As at June 30, 2012, the carrying amount of capitalized development costs was $12,517 (March 31,
2012 - $13,343). This amount primarily includes costs for the internal development of software tools for the customer billing and
analysis in the various operating jurisdictions. These software tools are developed by the internal information technology and
operations department, for the specific regional market requirements.

Useful life of key property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The amortization method and useful lives reflect the pattern in which management expects the asset’s future economic benefits
to be consumed by Just Energy.
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5
(a)

Provisians for litigation

The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC ") against many
suppliers of electricity, including Commerce, a subsidiary of Just Energy, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy crisis
in California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC's enforcement of its market-based rate
system. At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if any, with respect to this litigation are not
certain; however, an estimated amount has been recorded in these interim condensed consclidated financial statements as at

June 30, 2012. In the generai course of operations, Just Energy has made additional provisions for litigation matters that have arisen.

Trade receivables

Just Energy reviews its individually significant receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment loss should be
recorded in the consolidated statements of income. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, Just Energy makes
judgments abcout the borrower’s financial situation and the net realizable value of collateral. These estimates are based on
assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, rasulting in future changes to the allowance.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities racorded in the consolidated statements of financial position cannot
be derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models. The
inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, & degree of judgment is
required in establishing fair values. The judgment includes consideration of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Refer to Note 7 for
further details about the assumptions as well as sensitivity analysis.

Acquisition accounting

For acquisition accounting purposes, all identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination
are recognized at fair value on the date of acquisition. Estimates are used to calculate the fair value of these assets and liabilities
as at the date of acguisition.

ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition of Fulcrum Retail Holdings LLC

On Qctober 3, 2011, Just Energy completed the acquisition of the 100% equity interest of Fulcrum Retail Holdings LLC
(“Fulcrum™) with an effective date of October 1, 2011. The acquisition was funded by an issuance of $100 million in convertible
debentures (Note 10{f)).

The consideration for the acquisition was 1J5$79.4 millien paid at the time of closing, subject to customary working capital
adjustments. Just Energy paid US$7.3 million in connection with the preliminary working capital adjustment, which is still subject
to finalization. Just Energy will also pay up to US$11.0 million in cash and issue up to 867,025 common shares {collectively, the
“Earn-Out” amount) o the sellers 18 months following the closing date, provided that cartain EBITDA and killed volume targets
are satisfied by Fulerum. On the Earn-Out amount, Just Energy will pay 4.006% interest on the cash portion and $1.86 per share
issued at the end of the Earn-Out pericd. The $11.0 million is being held in a restricted cash account untii the amount is finalized.
The fair value of the contingent consideration at acquisition was estimated to be $18,327. Changes in the fair vaiue of the
contingent consideration are recorded in the consolidated statements of income as a change in fair value of derivative instruments.
The contingent consideration was valued at $15,826 as at June 30, 2012, and is included in ather current financial liabilities.



NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The acquisition of Fulcrum was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase
price to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acguisition as follows:

Fair value recognized on acquisition

Current assets (including cash of $3,875) $ 43,528
Property, plant and equipment 758
Software 215
Customer contracts and relationships 39,533
Affinity relationships 42,359
Brand 12,034
Contract initiation costs 156
Nen-centrolling interest 540
140,123
Current liabilities (44,856)
Other liabilities — current {12,430
Other liabilities - long term (3,768)
Deferred lease inducements (322)
Long-term debt (586}
{61,962)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 78,161
Goodwill arising on acquisition 21,106
Total consideration $ 99267
Cash paid, net of estimated working capital adjustment $ 80940
Contingent consideration {Earn-Out amaount) 18,327
Total consideration § 99,267

The transaction costs related to the acquisition of Fulcrum were expensed in fiscal 2012. There were no changes made to the
purchase price allocation during the three months ended June 30, 2012. Goodwill of $21,106 comprises the value of expected
ongoing synergles from the acquisiticn. Nene of the goodwiil recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
Goodwill associated with the Fulcrum acquisition is part of the electricity marketing segmeant. The purchase price allocation is
considered preliminary, and as a result, it may be adjusted during the 12-manth period following the acquisition, in accordance
with IFRS.

The fair value of the trade receivables amounted to $20,600 at the date of acquisition. The gross amount of trade receivables
was §27,540.

The custemer contracts and relaticnships and affinity relationships are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of
acquisition. The electricity customer contracts and customer relaticnships are amortized over 42 months (3.5 years). The affinity
relationships are amertized over eight years. The brand value is considered to be indefinite and, therefore, is not subject to
amortization. Brand represents the value allocated to the market awareness of the operating names used to seli angd promote
its products.

If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the prior fiscal year, consolidated sales would have been $686,521,
and the consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of Just Energy would have been $53,871 {or the three months ended
June 30, 2011.
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6

NOTE 7

(a)

JOINT VENTURE

Effective July 1, 20711, Just Energy has a 50% interest in Just Ventures LLC and Just Ventures L., (collectively “Just Ventures”),
jointly controlled entities that are involved in the marketing of Just Energy products. The marketing effarts of iust Ventures are
primarily Internet- and telemarketing-based, which differs from Just Energy’s traditional sales channels.

Just Venturas is currantly funded by its investors and all advances are recorded as additional capital contributions.

2012
Share of the associate’s revenue and |oss:
Revenue eliminated on consolidation $ 375
Loss $  (1,159)

Carrying amount of the investment $ -

At any time subsequent to the second anniversary of the joint venture agreements, the cther participant in the joint venture has
the abiiity to self part or alf of its membership interest in Just Ventures or part or all of the customer cash flows it is entitled to
(the “Put”). As at June 30, 2012, the Put was estimated to have a nominal value and is therefore not reflected in these interim
condensed consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value

Fair value is the estimated amount that Just £nergy would pay or receive to dispose of the supply contracts in an arm’s iength
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. Management has estimated the value of
alectricity, unforced capacity, heat rates, heat rate options, renewable and gas swap and forward contracts using a discounted
cash flow method, which employs market forward curves that are either directly sourced from third parties or are developed
internally based on third party market data. These curves can be volatile thus leading to velatility in the mark to market with no
impact to cash flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value mode! using the applicable market forward
curves and the implied volatility from other market traded gas options.

Effective July 1, 2008, lust Energy ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes

on Just Energy’s derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the consolidated statements of income. Due to the
commaedity volatility and size of Just Energy, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the volatility
in Just Energy’s earnings.



NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table illustrates gains/{losses) related te Just Energy’s derivative financial instruments classified as held-for-trading
and recarded on the interim condensed censolidated statements of finandial position as other assets and other liabilities, with
their offsetting velues recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments.

For the three  For the three For the three For the thres
months ended months ended months ended  months ended

June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 2012 2012 (USD) 201 2011 {UsDy
Canada
Fixed-for-floating eiectricity swaps (i) $ 45,076 nfa $ 40,089 n‘a
Renewable energy certificates i) (683) n/a 554 n/a
verified emission-reduction credits (i) 880 nfa (19) nfa
Options (iv} 480 n/a 4,324 n/a
Physical gas forward contracts (v} 59,766 n/a 28,502 nfa
Physical efectricity forward contracts (55) n/a - n/a
Transportation forward contracts (vi) 4,549 n/a 661 nfa
Fixed financial swaps (vii) 3,441 n/a (2172) n/a
United States
rixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) 39,597 39,201 15,504 16,023
Physical electricity forward contracts {ix} 160,403 158,799 (563) (582)
Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) {303) (300) (1,340} {1,384}
Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi) 2,794 2,766 104 108
Renewable energy certificates (xii) 1.825 1,806 833 861
Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) a9 486 (324) (335)
Cptions {xiv) 193 189 647 669
Physical gas forward contracts {xv) 11,551 11,436 5,845 6,040
Transportation forward contracts (xvi) 444 439 250 258
Heat rate swaps (xvii) 23,361 23,127 (1,055) (1,091)
Fixed financial swaps (xviii} 40,873 40,464 5,193 5,367
Weather derivative (xx) 2,689 2,641 - -
Foreign exchange forward contracts (xix} (318) n/a (549) n/a
Ethanel physical forward contracts - nfa (45) n/a
Share swap (7.016) nfa n/a n/a
Amortization of deferred unrealized gains on discontinued hedges 11,581 n/a 20,392 n/a
Amortization of derivative financial instruments related
to acquisitions (13,506) nfa (37,134) n/a
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 5,778 n/a n/a n/a
Change in fair vaiue of derivative instruments $ 393,891 $ 79,697
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATERMENTS

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the interim condensed

consalidated financial statements as at June 30, 2012:

Canada
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i)
Renewable energy certificates (ii)
Verified emission-reduction credits {ii}
Options {iv)
Physical gas forward contracts (v)
Transportation forward contracts (vi)
Fixed financial swaps {vil)

United States
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii)
Physical electricity forward contracts (ix)
Unfarced capacity Torward contracts (x}
Unfarced capacity physical contracts {xi}
Renewable energy certificates {xii)
Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii}
Cptions {xiv)
Physical gas forward contracts {xv)
Transportation forward contracts {(xvi)
Heat rate swaps {xvii}
Fixed financial swaps {xviii}

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xix)

Weather derivative (o)
Share swap
Contingent censideration

As at June 30, 2012

Other Other Other Qther
assets assets liabilities liabilities
{current)  (non-current) (current)  (non-current)
$ 12 % - $ 77554 § 57,844
93 33 354 706

74 79 31 40

764 155 1,530 281

55 65 123,689 65,961

185 - 2,338 1,471

- 29 7,003 11,937

- 29 64,042 30,916

9,891 9,254 12,161 334
68 - 2,604 1,591
2,372 - 4,546 261
1,030 1,080 737 635
74 175 220 149

34 - 569 222

- - 22,275 3,970

58 7 801 188
28,855 20,019 - -
2,388 250 54,666 32,875

- - 139 -

2,689 - - -

- - 7,016 -

- - 17,507 -

$ 48647 $ 31,185 $ 399832 $ 209,381




NCTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the interim condensed
consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2012:

Other Other Other Other
assets assets liabilities liabilities
{current) (non-current} (current) (non-current)
Canada

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps i) $ - 3 — $ 105794 §$ 74614
Renewable energy certificates (ji) 154 49 158 292
Verified emission-reduction credits (jii} - - 387 462
Cptions {iv) 975 359 1,644 &56
Physical gas forward contracts {v) - - 159,742 89,576
Transportation forward contracts (vi) - - 5,356 2,776
Fixed financial swaps (vii) - - 8,192 14,159

United States
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps {viii) - 11 90,698 41,425
Physical electricity forward contracts (ix) - - 121,213 30,674
Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) 5 - 1,664 2,086
Unforced capacity physical contracts {xi) 724 - 4,642 1,225
Renewable energy certificates (xi) 266 305 750 889
Verified emission-reduction credits (i)} 42 80 304 420
Options {xiv) 73 - 601 349
Physical gas forward contracts {(xv) 40 - 29,442 7,720
Transportation forward contracts (xvi) 34 - 1,137 241
Heat rate swaps {xvii) 10,307 14,511 - -
Fixed financial swaps (xviii) - - 81,497 42,053
Foreign exchange forward contracts (xx} 179 - - -
Contingent consideration - - 22,783 -
As at March 31, 2012 $ 12799 § 15315 $ 636,044 $ 309,617
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table summarizes financial instruments classified as held-for-trading as at June 30, 2112, to which Just Energy

has committed:

Total Fair value
Notional remaining favourable/ Notional
Contract type volume volume Maturity date Fixed price  (unfavourable) value
Canada
(i} Fixed-for-floating 0.000148 7,830,133 July 31,2012 - $16.75-%$128.13 {$135,387) $430,497
alectricity swaps* MwWh MwWh December 31, 2019
(il Renewable energy 10-187.500 1,376,810 Decernber 31, 2012 - $3.00-$26.00 (3930) $8,713
certificates MWh MWh December 31, 2016
(iii) Verified emissior- €,000-50,000 598,000 December 31, 2012 $6.25-311.50 $32 $5,307
reduction credits tonnes tonnes December 31, 2016
{iv) Options 119-25,500 481,717 July 31,2012 - $7.16-312.39 ($892) ($3,792)
GJ/month GJ February 28, 2014
(v) Physical gas forward 1-14,294 65,060,957 July 31,2012 - $2.22-$10.00 ($189,529) $397,71%
contracts Gliday G June 30, 2017
{vi) Transportation forward 25-24,917  28,789.852 Juby 31, 2012 - $0.0025-$1.5500 {$3,623) $13,128
contracts Gliday G) August 31, 2015
i) Fixed financial swaps 14,000-139,500 20,724.272 July 31,2012 - $2.34-$5.20 ($18,911) $91,127
Glmanth Gl March 31, 2017
United States
(vill) Fixed-for-floating 0.10-160 10,007,392 July 1, 2012 - $24.75-3136.75 (594,929 $498,857
slectricity swaps* MWh MWh March 31, 2017 (US$24.31-$134.32)  (US($93,242) {US$489,998)
{ix} Physical electricity 1-102 13,812,398 Juty 15, 2012 - $0.35-$110.25 $6,649 $641,189
forward contracts Mwh MWh September 30, 2017 (US$0.34-5108.29) (US$6,531)  (US$629,790)
) Unforced capacity 1-150 106,051 July 31, 2012 - $60.57-38,000 (34,127) 514,228
forward contracts MWCap MwCap May 31, 2014 {U$$59.49-$7,857.77) (US(54,054)) (LU5%13,975)
(i) Unforced capacity 1-285 7.017 July 31, 2012 - $1,620-%9,350 {$2,433) $47,230
physical contracts MWCap Mwap May 31, 2016 (U5$1,591.2-89,183.77) Us($2,390n (U5$46,390)
(xii} Renewable energy 10-160,000 4,237,450 Decemnber 31, 2012 — $0.2-$310 t749 $22.127
certificates Mwh Mwh December 31, 2017 (US$0.2-5304.49) (US$736) Us$21,734)
{xiity Verified emission- 1-50,060 658,001 December 31, 2012 - $3.5-38.75 {$120) 34,193
reduction credits tonnes tonnes December 31, 20156 (Us$3.44-38.59) {Us{$118) (Us$4,118)
(xiv) Options 110-60,000 917,325 July 31, 2012 - $8.05-%13.8 1$758) ($1.040)
mmBTU/month mmBTU December 31, 2014 (US$7.91-313.55) {US(37450 (US(51,022))
(xv) Physical gas forward 10-2,500 5,466,781 July 2, 2012 - $2.87-511.88 ($26,246) $45,529
centracts mmBTi/month mmBTU July 31, 2014 (Us$282-511.67)  (US(325.779))  (US$44,720)
(xvi) Transportation forward 1-27%,000 8,302,780 July 2, 2012 - $0.0075-31.15 {§924) $22,835
contracts mmBTU/day mmBTU August 31, 2015 (U5$0.0073-$1.13) U5($908)  (US$20,260)
(xvii) Heat rate swaps 1-100 3,143,370 July 31, 2012 - $19.99-986.77 $48,876 $113,079
Mwh Mh Qctober 31, 2016 {US$19.63-385.23) {US$48,007)  {Us$111,068)
{xviil)Fixed financial swaps 930-1,000,000 44,474,828 July 7, 2012 - $2.33-$9.26 {$84,904) $244,358
mmBTU/month mmBTU May 31, 2017 (US$2.29-39.10)  {US{$83,394)) (US$240,014)
(xix) Foreign exchange ($509-%5,091) n'a July 3, 2012 - $0.9935-$1.0365 ($139) (545,242)
forward contracts (US$500-$5,000) Apni 1, 2013 (Us($136)  (US($44,438)
(o) Weather derivative 40 n/a August 31, 2012 $56-$92 $2,689 n/a
IV (US555-590) {US§2.641)

* Some of the electricity fixed-for-floating contracts related to the Province of Alberta and the Province of Ontario are load-following, wherein the

quantity of electricity contained in the supply contract “follows” the usage of customers designated by the supply contract. Notienal volumes
associated with these contracts are estirnates and are subject to change with customer usage reguirements. There are also load shaped fixed-for-
floating contracts in these and the rest of Just Energy’s electricity markets wherein the quantity of electricity is established but varies throughout the

term of the contracts.



NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The estimated amortization of deferred gains and fosses on the discontinued hedges reported in accumulated other
comprehensive income that is expected to be amortized to net income within the next 12 months is a gain of approximately
$24.5 million.

These derivative financial instruments create a credit risk for Just Energy since they have been transacted with a limited number of
counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its obligations under the contracts, Just Energy may not be able to
realize the other asset balance recegnized in the interim condensed consclidated financial statements.

Share swap

The Company has entered into a share swap agreement to manage the risks asscciated with the Company’s restricted share grant
and deferred share grant plans. The value of the 2.5 million shares under this share swap agreement is appraximately $33,803.
Net monthly settiemnents received under the share swap agreement are recorded in other income. The Company marks to market
the fair value of the share swap agreement and has included that value as other current financial liabilities on the statement of
financial position. Changes in the fair value of the share swap agreement are recorded through the statements of income as a
change in fair value of derivative instruments. The fair value of the equity swap as at June 30, 2012, was 37,016 {2011 - $NIL).

Fair value (“"FV") hierarchy

Level 1

The fair value measurements are classified as Level 1 in the FV hierarchy if the fair value is determined using guoted, unadjusted
market prices. Just Energy values its cash and cash equivalents, current trade and other receivables, unbilied revenues, bank
indebtedness, trade and other payables, and long-term debt under Lavel 1.

Level 2

Fair value measurements that require inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1, either directly or indirectly, are classified as Level 2
in the FV hierarchy. This could include the use of statistical technigues to derive the FV curve from observable market prices.
However, in order to be dassified under Level 2, inputs must be substantially observable in the market. Just Energy values its

New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX") financial gas fixed-for-floating swaps under Leve] 2.

Level 3

Fair value measurements that require uncbservable market data or use statistical technigues to derive forward curves from
observable market data and unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy. For the supply contracts, Just Energy
uses quoted market prices as per availabie market forward data and applies a price-shaping profile to calcutate the monthly prices
from annual strips and hourly prices from block strips for the purposes of mark to market calculations. The profile is based on
historical settlements with counterparties or with the system aperator and is considered an unobservable input for the purposes of
establishing the level in the FV hierarchy. For the natural gas supply contracts, Just Energy uses three different market observable
curves: iy Commodity {gredominately NYMEX}, i) Basis and iii) Foreign exchange. NYMEX curves extend for over five years (thereby
covering the length of just Energy’s contracts); however, most basis curves only extend 12 to 15 months into the future. In order
to calcuiate basis curves for the remaining years, Just Energy uses extrapolation, which leads natural gas supply contracts to be
classified under Leval 3.
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NQOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fair value measurement input sensitivity

The main cause of changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are changes in the forward curve prices used for the fair
value calculaticns. Just Energy provides a sensitivity analysis of these forward curves under the market risk section of this note.

Other inputs, including volatility and correlations, are driven off histarical settlements.

The following table illustrates the classification of financial assetsA(liabilities) in the FV hierarchy &s at June 30, 2012;

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets
Cash and short-term deposits § 70921 % - 3 - % 70,921
Loans and receivables 401,463 - - 401,463
Derivative financial assets - 2,612 77,220 79,832
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities - (73,381) (535,832) {609,213)
Other financial liabilities 1,130,136 - - 1,130,136
Total net derivative liabilities $1,602520 § (70,769) $ (458612) $1,073,139

The following table illustrates the classification of financial assets/liabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at March 31, 2012:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets
Cash and short-term deposits $ 65419 % - - % 85419
Loans and receivables 437,216 - - 437,216
Derivative financial assets - - 28,114 28,114
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities - (98,193) (847,468) (945,661)
Other financial liabilities {(1,064,888) - - (1,064,888)
Total net derivative liabilities $ (562,253) % (98,193) § (819,354) $(1,479,800)

The following table illustrates the changes in net fair value of financial assets/{liabilities) classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy for

the three months ended June 30, 2012, and the year ended March 31, 2012;

Balance, beginning of period

Total gain/losses) — Profit for the period
Purchases

Sales

Settlernents

Transfer out of Level 3

Balance, end of period

June 30, March 31,
2012 2012
$ (819,354) $ (743,488)
164,323 (376,121)
1.566 (201,235)
3,074 41,547
191,779 459,943

$ (458,612) $ (819,354)
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Classification of financial assets and liabilities
The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost.

As at June 30, 2012

Carrying

amount Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 58495 % 58,495
Restricted cash 12,426 12,426
Current trade and other receivables 268,804 268,804
Unbiiled revenues 125,364 125,364
Non-current receivables 7,295 7,295
Other financial assets 79,832 79,832
Bank indebtedness, trade and other payables 293,548 293,548
Long-term debt 236,582 864,560
Other financial liabilities 609,213 609,213

For the three months
ended June 30

2012 2011

Interest expense on financial liabitities not held-for-trading $ 17880 § 13,792

As at June 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, current trade and other
receivables, unbilled revenues and trade and other payables approximates fair value due to their short-term liquidity.

The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair valua as the interest payable on outstanding amaounts is at rates that
vary with Bankers’ Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate, with the exception of the $90 million,
$330 million and $10C milkon convertible debentures, which are fair valued, based on market value. As at March 31, 2012, the
fair value of long-term debt was $82¢,991.

Management of risks arising from financial instruments
The risks associated with Just Energy’s financial instruments are as follows:

(v Market risk

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular
instrument or commodity. Components of market risk to which Just Energy is exposed are discussed below.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is created by fluctuations in the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign
exchange rates and exposure as a result of investments in U 5. operations.

A portion of just Energy’s income is generated in U.S. dallars and is subject to currency fluctuations. The performance of the
Canadian dellar relative to the U.S. dellar could positively or negatively affect Just Energy’s income. Due 1o its growing
operaticns in the U.S., Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure to U.5. fluctuations in the future than in prior years.
Just Energy has economically hedged between 25% and 90% of certain forecasted cross border cash flows that are expected
to cccur within the next year. The level of hedging is dependent on the source of the cash flow and the time remaining until
the cash repatriation occurs.

Just Energy may, frem time to time, experience losses resuiting from fluctuations in the values of its foreign currency
transactions, which could adversely affect its operating results. Translation risk is not hedged.

With respect to translation exposure, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or wegker against the U.5. dollar for the
three months ended June 30, 2012, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, profit for the period would
have been $12,400 higher/lower and other comprehensive income would have been 36,700 lower/higher.
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interest rate risk

Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations associated with its floating rate credit facility. Just Energy’s current
exposure 1o interest rates does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. Just Energy’s exposure to interest
rete risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. Just Energy dees not currently believe that this long-tarm debt
exposes it to material financial risks but has set out parameters to actively manage this risk within its Risk Management Policy.

A 1% increase {decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase} in income before income taxes for the
pericd ended June 30, 2012, of approximately $395.

Commuodity price risk

Just Energy is exposed to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer
reguirements do not match actual customer requirements. Management actively monitors these pesitions on a daily basis in
accordance with its Risk Management Palicy. This policy sets out a variety of fimits, most importantly, thresholds for cpen
positions in the gas and eiectricity portfolios which aiso feed & Value at Risk limit. Should any of the limits be exceeded, they
are closed expeditiously or express approval t¢ continue to hold is obtained. Just Energy’s exposure to market risk is affected by
a number of factors, including accuracy of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commeodity prices, volatility and
liquidity of markets. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order tc manage exposures to changes in commodity
prices. The derivative instruments that are used are designed te fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity
demand and thereby fix margins such that shareholder dividends can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are
generzlly transacted over the counter. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks
couid have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. just Energy mitigates the exposure for
variances in customer requirements that are driven by changes in expected weather conditions, through active management
of the underlying portfolio, which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase of options including weather derivatives.

Just Energy’s ability to mitigate weather effects is limited by the severity of weather from ncrmal.

Caommodity price sensitivity — all derivative financial instruments

If the energy prices including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits and renewable energy certificates had
risen {fallan) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before income taxes for the three
months ended June 30, 2012, would have increased (decreased) by $185,029 {$184,531) primarily as a result of the change in
fair value of Just Energy's derivative instruments.

Commodity price sensitivity — Level 3 derivative financial instruments

If the energy prices including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits and renewable energy certificates had
risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before income taxes for the three
menths ended June 30, 2012, would have increased (decreased) by $171,022 {($170,541) primarily as a result of the change in
fair value of Just Energy’s derivative instruments.

Credit risk
Crediit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails te discharge an cbligation and causes financial loss tc
another party. Just Energy ts exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk.

Customer credit risk

In Alberta, Texas, lllinois, British Columbia, New York, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, California, Michigan and Georgia,
Just Energy has customer credit risk and, therefors, credit review processes have been implemented to perform credit
evaluations of customers and manage customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on their
payments, it could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows cf Just Energy. Management factors
default from credit risk in its margin expectations for all the above markets.

The aging of the accounts receivable from the above markets was as foliows:

June 30, March 31,

2012 2012

Current $ 85012 $ 69738
1-30 days 13,356 15,530
31-60 days 5,107 5,681
61-90 days 2,709 2,905
Over 21 days 18,068 19,947
$ 124252 § 113,801
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Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows;

June 30, March 31,

2012 2012

Balance, beginning of pericd $ 34926 $ 25115
Allowance on acquired receivables - 6,940
Provision for doubtful accounts 8,640 28,514
Bad debts written off (8,688) (29,215)
Cther 1,055 3,572
Balance, end of period $ 35933 $ 34926

For the remaining markets, the local distribution companies {"LDCs”) for a fee, provide collection services and assume the
risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy's custcmers. Managament believes that the risk of the LDCs failing tc deliver
payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no assurance that the LDCs that provide these services wilt continue to do so in
the future.

Counterparty credit risk

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails te perform under its contractual
obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting
the related customer margin. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exceptions te these
limits require approval from the Board of Directors of JEGI. The Risk Department and Risk Committee moniter current and
potential credit exposure to individual counterparties and also moenitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. However, the
failure of a countarparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash
fiows of Just Energy.

As at June 3¢, 2012, the maximum counterparty credit risk exposure amounted to $204,084, representing the risk relating to
the Company’s derivative financiai assets and accounts receivabla.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial otligations as they fafl due. just Energy manages this risk by meonitoring
detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling six-week period, monthiy cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and
guarterly forecasts for the following two-year period to ensure adequate and efficient use of cash resources and credit facilities.

The following are the contractual maturities, excluding interest payments, reflecting undiscounted disbursements of Just Energy’s
financial liabilities as at June 30, 2012:

Carrying Contractual Less than More than
amount cash tlows 1 year 1 to 3 years 410 5 years 5 years
Trade and other payables $¢ 287585 ¢ 287585 ¢ 287585 % - % - % -
Bank indebtedness 5,963 5,963 5,963 - - -
Long-term debt* 836,588 891,449 99,252 300,304 29,576 462,317
Derivative instruments 609,213 2,588,906 1,310,947 1,086,062 189,737 2,160

$1,739,349 $3,773,903 $1,703,747 $1,386366 $ 219,313 $ 464,477

As at March 31, 2012:

Carrying Contractual Less than More than
amaunt cash flows 1 year 1 to 3 years 4 1o 5 years 5 years
Trade and other payables § 287145 § 287145 ¢ 287145 % - % - % -
Bank indebtedness 1,060 1,060 1,060 - - -
Long-term debt* 776,683 833,962 97,611 252,570 26,433 457,348
Derivative instruments 945,661 2,596,314 1,363,421 1,057,222 175,049 622

$2,010,549 $3,718481 $1,749,237 $1,308,792 $ 201,482 $ 457,970

* Included in long-term debt is $330,000, $100,000 and $90,000 relating to canvertible debentures, which may be settled through the issuance
of shares at the option of the holder or Just Energy upon maturity.
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note 8 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NOTE 9

In addition to the amecunts noted abecve, at June 30, 2012, net interest payments over the life of the long-term debt and bank

credit facility are as follows:

Interest payments

More than
110 3 years 4 to 5 years 5 years
$§ 85362 $§ 68152 § 51,447

vy Supplier risk

Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and electricity delivered to its customers through long-term contracts entered
into with various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to sugplier risk as the ability to continue to deliver gas and electricity
to its customers is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contractual
abligations. just Energy has discounted the fair value of its financial assets by $2,945 to accommodate for i1s counterparties’

risk of default.

Foreign currency

translation Cash flow
For the three months ended June 30, 2012 adjustments hedges Total
Balance, beginning of period $4 31,419 $ 38874 $ 70,293
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 3,077 - 3,077
Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued
hedges, net of income taxes of §2,289 - (9,292} (9,292)
Balance, end of periad $ 3449 $ 29582 $ 64,078
Foreign currency
translation Cash flow
For the three months ended June 30, 2011 adjustments hedges Total
Balance, beginning of period $ 29033 % 94886 § 123,919
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment (3,745) - (3,745)
Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued
hedges, net of income taxes of $7,375 - (13,017) (13,017)
Balance, end of pericd $ 25728 ¢ 81,869 § 107157

SHAREHOLDERS' CAPITAL
Details of issued and autstanding sharehelders’ capital are as follows for the three months ended June 30, 2012, with
comparatives for the year ended March 31, 2012:

Three manths ended Year ended

June 30, 2012 March 31, 2012

Issued and outstanding Shares Amount Shares Arnaunt
Balance, beginning of period 139,348,926 $ 993,181 136,963,726 § 963,382
Share-hased awards exercised 29,357 442 91,684 1,385
Dividend reinvestment plan - - 2,377,616 28,413
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (i) - - (84,100 {599)
Balance, end cf period 139,378,283 § 993,623 139,348,926 § 993,181

(i) Repurchase and cancellaticn of shares

During the prior fiscal year, Just Energy obtained approval from its Board of Directors and the Toronto Stock Exchange to make
a nermal course issuer bid to purchase up to 13,200,917 common shares for the 12-month period commencing December 16,
2011, and ending December 15, 2012. A maximum of 82,430 comman shares can be purchased during any trading day.

During the prior fiscal year, Just Energy purchased and cancelled 84,100 common shares for a cash consideration of $955. The
average book value of $599 was recorded as a reduction to share capital and the remaining loss of $356 was allocated to
accumulated deficit.



noTe 10 LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING

Credit facility (a)

tess: debt issue costs {a)
TGF credit facility (o))
TGF debentures (b)ii)
NHS financing (c}
$90 mitlion convertible debentures (d)
$330 million convertible debentures (e)
$100 million convertible debentures (f)
Capital leases (g}

Less: current portion

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, March 31,
2012 2012

$ 144,097 $ 98,455
{1,004) (1,198)
30,888 32,046
35,707 35,818
159,965 147,220
86,469 86,101
293,379 291,937
86,295 85,879
792 423
836,588 776,683
(99,252) {97.611}

$ 737336 $ 679,072

Future annual minimum repayments are as follows:

Credit facility (a}

TGF credit facility (b))

TGF debenturas (b(ii)

NHS financing (¢}

$9C million convertible debentures (d)
$330 million convertible debentures (e)
$100 million convertible debentures (f)
Capital leases (g}

More than 5
lessthan 1 year 1to 3vyears 4 to5vyears years Total
3 —$ 144,097 3 -3 - % 144,097
30,888 - - - 30,888
35,707 - - - 35,707
32,23C 65,842 29,576 32,317 159,965
- 90,000 - - 90,000

- - - 330,000 330,000
100,000 100,000
427 365 — - 792

$ 99252 ¢ 300,304 § 29576 $ 462,317 § 891,449

The following table details the finance costs for the three months ended June 30. Interest is expensed at the effective interest rate.

Credit facility {a}

TGF credit facility (b)()

TGF debentures (byii}

NHS financing (c)

$90 million convertible debentures (d)
$330 million convertible debentures {g)
$100 million convertible debentures ()
Capital lease interest (g)

Unwinding of discount on provisions

Three months  Three months
ended ended
June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011

$ 3213 % 1,946

468 537
1,083 1,130
3,020 2,149
1,718 1,690
6,392 6,273
1,854 -

49 -
83 67

$ 17880 3§ 13,792

{a} As at June 30, 2012, Just Energy has a $350 millicn credit facility to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of
lenders includes Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Société Générale,
The Bank cf Nova Scotia, The Toronte-Dominion Bank and Alberta Treasury Branches. The term of the facility expires on

December 31, 2013,

interest is payable on outstanding lcans at rates that vary with Bankers” Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S.
prime rate. Under the terms of the operating credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers’ Acceptances and LIBOR
advances at stamping fees that vary between 2. 88% and 3.65%. Prime rate advances are at rates of interest that vary
between bank prime plus 1.88% and 2.65% and letters of credit are at rates that vary between 2.88% and 3.65%. Interest
rates are adjusted quarterly based on certain financial performance indicators.
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As at June 30, 2012, the Canadian prime rate was 3.0% and the LS. prime rate was 3.25%. As at June 30, 2012, Just Energy
had drawn $144,097 (March 31, 2012 - $98,455) against the facility and total letters of credit outstanding amounted to
$126,114 (March 31, 2012 - $127,054). As at June 30, 2012, unamortized debt issue costs relating to the facility are $1,004
{March 31, 2012 — $1,196). As at June 30, 2012, Just Energy has $79,789 of the facility remaining for future working capital
and security requirements. Just Energy’s obligations under the credit facility are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries
and affiliates and secured by a general security agreement and a pledge of the assets and securitfes of Just Energy and the
majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates excluding, among others, NHS, HES and TGF. Just Energy is required to meet
a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. The credit facility agreement was amended, pursuant to
which certain covenants were renegotiated to facilitate the growth of the business. As at June 30, 2012, all of these covenants
had been met. Subseguent to June 30, 2012, the credit facility was increased by $20 million to $370 million.

(b} In connection with an acquisition, Just Energy acquired the debt obligations of TGF, which currently comprise the following
separate facilities:

(iy TGF credit facility

A credit facility of up to $50,000 was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union and
was arranged to finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007, The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, and
was converted to a fixed repayment term of ten years, commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a rate
of prime plus 3% with principal repayments scheduled to commence on March 1, 2010. The credit facility is secured by a
demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all assets and undertakings of TGF, a mortgage on title to
the land owned by TGF and a general security interest on all ather current and acguired assets of TGF. The credit facility
includes certain financial covenants, the most significant of which relate to current ratic, debt to equity ratio, debt service
coverage and minimum sharehelders' capital. The covenants were measured as at March 31, 2012, and TGF failed to meet
all required covenants. The non-compliance was waived by the lenders but did result in a non-compliance fee of $80,
representing 0.25% of the loan balance as at March 31, 2012. The covenants will be re-measured at March 31, 2013.

As at June 30, 2012, the amount owing under this facility amounted to $30,888. The lenders have no recourse to the
Company or any other Just Energy entity.

{iiy TGF debentures

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40,000 aggregate
principal amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. On April 1, 2011, the interest rate was increased to 12%. The
agreement includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capitalization
ratio, debt service coverage, debt to EBITDA and minimum shareholders” equity. Compliance with the new covenants will
be measured annually beginning with the fiscal 2013 year-end. The maturity date has been extended to May 15, 20714,
with & call right any time after April 1, 2013. On March 31, 2012, TGF agreed with the debenture holders to increase the
quarterly blended principal and interest payments to $1,186 and to amend the financial covenants for fiscal 2013 to be
more in fine with the expected financial results of TGF for the year. TGF also agreed to make an additional debt repayment
after March 31, 2013, if the cash flow from operations exceeds $500 for fiscal 2013, provided that this type of payment
will not create a non-compliance issue for the Company under the TGF credit facility. The debenture holders have no
recourse to the Company or any other Just Energy entity. As at June 30, 2012, the amount owing under this debenture
agreement amounted to $35,707.

{iiiy TGF has a working capital operating line of $7,000 bearing interest at a rate of prime plus 2%. In addition to the amount
shown on the consclidated statements of financial position as bank indebtedness, TGF has total fetters of credit issued of $250.

{¢) NHS entered into a long-term financing agreament for the funding of new and existing rental water heater and HVAC
contracts in the Enbridge and Union Gas distribution territories. Pursuant to the agreement, NHS raceives financing of an
amount equal to the present value of the first five, seven cr ten years of monthly rental income, discounted at the agread
upon financing rate of 7.99% and, as settlement, is required to remit an amount equivalent to the rental stream from
customers on the water heater, furnace and air conditioner contracts for the first five, saven or ten years. As security for
parformance of the obligation, NHS has provided security over the water heaters, HVAC equipment and rental contracts,
subject to the financing rental agreement, 35 collateral.

The financing agreement is subject to a holdback provision, whereby 3% in the Enbridge territory and 5% in the Union Gas
territory of the outstanding balance of the funded amecunt is deducted and deposited intc a reserve account in the event of
default. Once all obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be
released to NHS.
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NHS has $159,965 owing under this agreement, including $7,231 relating to the holdback provision, recorded in non-current
receivables, as at fune 30, 2012. NHS is required to meet a number of non-financial covenants under the agreement. As at
June 30, 2012, all of these covenants had been met.

(d) In conjunction with an acquisition, the Cempany also acquired the cbligations of the convertible unsecured subordinated
debentures {the “$30 million convertibie debentures”) issuad in October 2007. The fair value of the $20 millien convertible
debentures was estimated by discounting the remaining contractual payments at the time of acguisition. This discount will be
accreted using an effective interest rate of 8%. These instruments have a face value of $90,000 and mature on September 30,
2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annual rate of 6% payable semi-annually on March 31 and
September 30 of each year. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $30 million convertible debentures is convertible at any time
prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 34.96 shares as at
June 30, 2012, representing a conversicn price of $28.60 per common share as at June 30, 2012. Pursuant to the $90 million
convertible debentures, if the Company fixes a record date for the payment of a dividend, the conversion price shall be
adjusted in accordance therewith. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, interast expense amounted to $1,718.

On and after October 1, 2010, but pricr to September 30, 2012, the $90 million convertible debentures are redeemable, in
whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s sole
option on not moare than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ pricr notice, provided that the current market price on the date
on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversicn price. On and after Septernber 30, 2012, but
prior to the maturity date, the $90 million convertible debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the
principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s scle opticn on not more than 60 days’ and not less
than 30 days' prior nctice. On January 1, 2017, as part of the Conversion, Just Energy assumed all of the obligations under the
$90 millien convertible debentures.

The Cempany may, at its aption, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 3C days' prior notice, subject t¢ applicable
regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay all
or any portion of the principal amount of the $90 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to
mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing
the principa! amount of the $90 million convertible debenturas being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date
of redemption or maturity, as applicable.

T
L

fn order tc fund an acguisition on May 5, 2010, lust Energy issued $330 million of convertible extendible unsecured
subordinated debentures (the “$330 million convertible debentures”). The $330 millicn convertible debentures bear interest at
a rate of 6.0% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31, with & maturity date of June 30,
2017. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or
cn the date fixed for redemgtion, at the opticn of the holder, into approximately 55.6 shares of the Company, representing a
conversion price of $18 per share. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, interest expense amounted to $6,392. The
$330 millien convertible debentures are not redeemakle prior to June 30, 2013, except under certain conditions after a change
of control has occurred. On or after June 30, 2013, but pricr to June 30, 2015, the $330 million convertible debentures may
be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on nct more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at &
redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market
price {as defined herein) on the date on which notice of redemption is given is rot less than 125% of the conversion price
($22.50). On and after June 30, 2015, and prior to maturity, the $330 million convertible debentures may be redeemed by
Just Energy, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company may, at its own option, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 40 days” prior notice, subject to applicable
regulatory approval and provided that no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay
all or any portion of the principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures that are to be redeered or that are to
mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing
the principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures being repaid by 5% of the current market price on the date
of redemption or maturity, as applicable.

The conversion feature of the $330 million convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate compeneant of
sharehalders’ deficit in the amount of $33,%14. Upon initial recognition of the convertible debentures, Just Energy recorded a
deferred tax liability of $15,728 and reduced the value of the equity component of convertible debentures by this amount. The
remainder of the net proceeds cf the $330 million convertible debentures has been recorded as long-term debt, which will be
accreted up to the face value of $330,000 over the term of the $330 million convertible debentures using an effective interest
rate of 8.8%. If the $330 million convertible debentures are converted into common shares, the value of the conversion will be
reclassified to share capital aleng with the principal amount converted. Cn January 1, 2011, as part of the Conversion, Just
Energy assumed all of the obligations under the $330 million convertible debentures.
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 11

(f) On September 22, 2011, Just Energy issued $100 million of convertible unsecured subordinated debentures {the *$10C million

convertible debentures”} which was used to purchase Fulcrum. The $10Q miliion convertible debentures bear interest at an
annual rate of 5.75%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 in each year commencing March 31, 2012, and
have a maturity date of September 30, 2018, Each $1,000 principal amount of the $100 million convertible debentures is
convertible at the opticn of the holder at any time prior 1o the close of business on the earlier of the maturity date and the [ast
business day immediately precading the date fixed for redemption into 56.0 common shares of lust Energy, representing a
conversion price of $17.85. The $100 million convertible debentures are not redeemable at the option of the Company on or
before September 30, 2014. After September 30, 2014, and pricr to September 30, 2016, the $100 million convertible
debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days” and net less than 30 days’ prior
notice, at a price equal to their principai ameunt plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the weighted average trading
price of the common shares is at least 125% of the conversion price. On or after September 30, 2016, the $100 million
convertible debentures may be redeemed in whoie or in part from time to time at tha option of the Company on nat more than
60 days’ and not less than 30 days' prior notice, at a price equal to their principal amount pius accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company may, at its optien, on not more than 60 days’ and not fess than 30 days’ prior notice, subject to applicable
regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation tc repay all
or any portion of the principal amount of the $100 millicn convertitle debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to
mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing
the principal amount of the $100 millicn convertible debentures being repaid by 5% of the current market price on the date
of redemption or maturity, as applicable.

The conversion faature of the $100 million convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of
shareholiders' deficit in the amount of $10,188. Upon initial recognition of the convertible debentures, just Energy recorded a
deferred tax liability of $2,579 and reduced the equity component of the convertible debenture by this amount. The remainder
of the net proceeds of the $100 million convertible debentures has been recorded as long-term debt, which wili be accreted
up 1o the face value of $100,000 over the term of the $100 million convertible debentures using an effective interest rate of
8.6%. If the $100 million convertible debentures are converted into common shares, the value of the Conversion will be
reclassified to share cagital along with the principal amount converted. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, interest
expense amounted to $1,854.

(g) The Company leases certain computer, office equipment and software. These financing arrangements bear interest at rates

ranging from 0% to 29% and mature between April 20, 2013 and lanuary 31, 2015.

INCOME TAXES
For the three For the three
months ended  months ended
June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011
Current income tax expense (recovery) $ 257 % (2,238
Deferred tax expense 32,440 9,459
Provision for income taxes $ 32697 3 7,221




NOTE 12
(a)

(b}
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(d)

NOTE 13

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOQUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES AND ADJUSTMENTS
Other operating expenses

Amortization of acguired gas contracts

Amecrtization of acquired electricity contracts

Amartization of acquired water heater and HVAC contracts
Amertization of other intangible assets

Amortization of property, plant and equipment

Bad debt expense

Share-based compensation

For the three
months ended
June 30, 2012

For the three
months ended
June 30, 201

$ 3959 ¢ 6740
9,471 16,166

414 399

7,935 5,999
1,756 1,341

8,640 6,814
3,232 1,681

$ 35407 $ 39,140

Amortization and cost of inventories included in the consolidated statements of income

Included in cost of sales

Far the three
months ended
June 30, 2012

For the three
months ended
June 30, 2011

Amortization $ 3,142 3§ 2,503
Costs recognized as an expense 528,673 529,036
$ 531,815 % 531,939
Included in change in fair value of derivative instruments
For the three For the three

months ended
June 30, 2012

months ended
June 30, 2011

Amortization of acquired gas contracts $ 3,219 $ 12,765
Amortization of acquired electricity contracts 10,287 24,369
Employee benefit expense

For the three For the three

Wages, salaries and commissions
Benefits

months ended
June 30, 2012

months ended
June 30, 2011

$ 59,005 $ 38203
5,006 5,250
$ 64,011 % 43453

REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Just Energy operates in the following reportable segments: gas marketing, electricity marketing, ethanol, home services and
other. Other represents HES and Momentis. Reporting by products and sarvices is in line with Just Energy's performance

measdrement parameters.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm'’s length basis in @ manner similar to transactions with third parties.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpese of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured
consistently with operating profit or loss in the interim condensed consolidated financial statements. Just Energy is not considered

to have any key custorners.
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the three months Gas Electricity
ended June 30, 2012 marketing marketing Ethanol Home services Other  Consclidated
Sales $ 120,096 § 483420 ¢ 23537 ¢ 10929 3% 8,097 $ 646,074
Gross margin 14,653 82,946 602 8,479 7,579 114,259
Amortization of property,

plant and equipment 241 777 665 57 16 1,756
Amortization of intangible assets 5,796 15,558 6 14 5 21,779
Administrative expenses 1,795 20,110 2,266 3,792 2,141 36,104
Selling and marketing expenses 10,704 30,771 - 1,081 16,010 58,566
Other operating expenses (826) 11,917 - 500 281 11,872
Operating profit (loss) for the period §  {9,057) § 3813 § {2335 § 2635 § {10874 % (15818
Finance costs (3,648) (9,641) (1,570) (3,021) - (17,880)
Change in fair value of

derivative instruments 85,528 308,663 - (305) - 393,891
Propertionate share of loss from

joint venture (322) {837) - - - {1,159}
Other income 509 (98) - 2 1,889 2,302
Provision for income taxes 1,901 5,275 - 25,521 - 32,697
Frofit (loss) for the period $ 71,109 $ 296630 $ (3,905 $ (26,210) $ (8985} % 328,639
Capital expenditures $ (1,780) % 88) % (M $ (9,151 $ (13,3100 $ (24,328)
Total goodwill $ 127341 § 123,186 § - 4 283 - § 250,810
Total assets $ 408774 $ 815558 % 146,129 3 164,013 $ 49,085 $ 1,583,559
Totat liakilities $ 625728 % 925848 § 79359 $ 169,081 § 3,638 $ 1,803,654
For the three months Gas Electricity
ended June 30, 2011 marketing marketing Ethanol  Home services Other Censolidated
Sales $ 202450 $ 385347 $ 30,192 3§ 7807 % 404 § 626,200
Gross margin 25,105 60,017 2,545 6,232 362 94,261
Amartization of property, plant

and equipment 337 670 2593 38 3 1,311
Amortization of intangible assets 8,878 20,022 5 399 - 29,304
Administrative expenses 8.830 12,621 2,765 7,863 1,205 28,284
Selling and marketing expenses 10,537 21,600 - 1,300 1,117 34,554
Qther operating expenses 1,058 7,143 - 294 - 8,495
QOperating profit {loss) for the period $ (4,535 § (2033 § (518) % 1,338 % (1,963) $ (7,717)
Finance costs (3,512) (6,437) (1,687) (2,151 {5) (13,792}
Change in fair value of

derivative instruments 51,582 28,160 (45) - - 79,697
Other income 40 60 - - &5 165
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes 2,635 4,620 - - 34 7.221
Profit (loss) for the period $ 40940 § 15124 § 2,250) % (813) (1,869) § 51,132
Capital expenditures $ 667 § 1,284 § 27 % 9526 & 281 ¢ 11,595
As at March 31, 2012:
Totai goodwill $ 127,055 § 121,827 § - 3 283 % - $ 249,185
Total assets $§ 350915 § 904,504 $§ 123,604 § 159,896 § 4,325  $1,543,044
Total liabilities $ 543,062 $1,250564 § 76995 $ 168715 § 5117 $2,044,453




NOTE 12

Geographic information
Revenues from external custemers

Canada
United States

Total revenue per interim censolidated statements of income

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the three For the three
months ended  months ended
June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011

$ 201,569 § 281,415
444,505 344,785

$ 646,074 $ 626,200

The revenue is based on the location of the customer.

Nan-current assets

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and are summarized as follows:

Canada
United States
United Kingdom'

Total

As at June 30, Asat March 31,

2012 2012
$ 480,759 § 480,452
346,518 354,334
842 -

$ 828119 § 834,836

T Subsequent to June 30, 2012, Just Energy began operating in the United Kingdom.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

2012 2011
Basic earnings per share
Profit available to shareholders $ 328472 % 51,132
Basic shares outstanding 139,352,152 137,180,059
Basic earnings per shara S 236 § 0.37
Diluted earnings per share
Profit available tc shareholders $ 328472 § 51,132
Adjustmenit for dilutive impact of convertible debentures 7,250 6,017
Adjusted earnings $ 335722 % 57,149
Basic shares outstanding 139,352,152 137,180,052
Dilutive effect of:
Restricted share grants 3,711,204 3,076,12¢
Deferred share grants 136,730 108,335
Convertible debentures 27,082,427 21,188,081
Shares outstanding on a diluted basis 170,282,513 161,552,604
Diluted earnings per share $ 197 % 0.35
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 15

NOTE 1¢&

NOTE 17

NOTE 18

DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

For the three menths ended June 30, 2012, dividends of $0.31 (2011 - $0.31) per share were declared and paid by Just Energy.
This amounted to $44,390 (2011 — $43,605), which was approved throughout the pericd by the Board of Directors and was paid
cut during the period,

Declared dividends subsequent to quarter end

On July 3, 2012, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amount of $0.10333 per common share

{$1.24 annually). The dividend was paid on July 31, 2012, to shareholders of record at the close of business on July 16, 2012,

On August 1, 2012, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amcunt of $0.10333 per common share
($1.24 annually). The dividend will be paid on August 31, 2012, to sharehatders of record at the clase of business on August 15, 2012.

COMMITMENTS
Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

As at June 20, 2012

Exceeding
Lessthan 1year  1to3years  4toSyears 5 years Tetal
Premises and equipment leasing $ 7,958 § 11,693 % 7,259 % 6,528 § 33,444
Grain production contracts 14,372 - - - 14,372
Long-term gas and electricity contracts 1,310,947 1,086,062 188,737 2,160 2,588,906

$1.333,277 $1,097,761 § 196,996 § 8,688 $2,636,722

Just Energy is alse committed under long-term contracts with custorners to supply gas and electricity. These contracts have various
expiry dates and renewal options. Just Energy has entered into leasing contracts for office buildings and administrative equipment.
These leases have a leasing period of between one and eight years. For the main office building of Just Energy, there is a renewal
option for an additional five years. No purchase options are included in any major leasing contracts.

COMPARATIVE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certain figures from the comparative interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been reciassified from statements
praviously presented to conform to the presentation of the current period’s interim condensad censolidated financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On August 1, 2012, HES entered into a US$30 million credit facility that will be used to assist with the construction of solar projects.
The credit facility has a two-year term, under which advances will be made in connection with interconnected solar projects
located in the United States. Advances will bear interest, payable quarterly, at a rate of either LIBOR plus 7.9% or the prime rate
as published in the Eastern Edition of the Wail Street Journal plus 6.8%. The credit facility may be increased from time to time
upon agreement by the lender.



ANNUAL REPORT 20




PROVIDING ENERGY AND INNOVATION
ACROSS NORTH AMERICA

Just Energy has been providing price-protected energy supply to North American homes and
businesses since 1997. We provide gas and electricity sufficient to meet the needs of more
than 3.3 million commercial and residential customer equivalents in 13 states and 6 provinces.

LEADER IN GREEN ENERGY
Just Energy is one of North America’s largest competitive green energy retailers. We invest
in green energy generation and carbon reduction projects that broaden customer choice
and accessibility. By putting more choice and control in the hands of consumers, we provide
them with easy, hassle-free options to mitigate the environmental impact associated with
their home energy use. Since 2007, our hundreds of thousands of green customers have
helped offset over 443,000 metric tonnes of carbon emissions and inject 1.95 million MWh
of renewable energy into electricity grids —see page 6.

STRENGTH IN RESIDENTIAL
We are one of the dominant suppliers in every region in which we compete. During fiscal
2011, we added a record 428,000 customers through marketing. Today, few retailers
can match Just Energy’s geographic reach and sales force —see page 8.

GROWTH IN COMMERCIAL
We added 571,000 new commercial customers in fiscal 2011. Mid-sized businesses and
institutional users such as hospitals and school boards now represent approximately 40%
of our total customer base ~see page 10.

Just Energy's business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or elediricity to residential and comrmerdal customners under long-term, fixed-price, price-
protected or variable~-priced contracts and green energy products. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program
contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s customers offset their exposure 10 changes in the price of these essential commodities. Just Energy derives
its margin or gross profit from the difference between the fixed price at which it is able to selt the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which

it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers. fust Energy afso offers “green” products through its JustGreen program. In addition, through National
Home Services, Just Energy rents and selfs high efficiency and tankless water heaters, air conditioners and furnaces to Ontario residents. Through Hudson Solar,
the Company completes solar power instaliations for customers in New Jersey. Through Terra Grain Fuels, Just Energy preduces and sells wheat-based ethanol.



